

Workplace health promotion, volume II

Edited by Leah Okenwa Emegwa, Danijela Gasevic, and Sheikh Alif

Published in Frontiers in Public Health Frontiers in Psychiatry





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-267-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-267-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Workplace health promotion, volume II

Topic editors

Leah Okenwa Emegwa — Swedish Red Cross University College, Sweden Danijela Gasevic — Monash University, Australia Sheikh Alif — Monash University, Australia

Citation

Emegwa, L. O., Gasevic, D., Alif, S., eds. (2023). *Workplace health promotion, volume II*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-267-8

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Editorial: Workplace Health Promotion, volume II Leah Okenwa Emegwa, Sheikh M. Alif and Danijela Gasevic

08 From Cognition to Behavior: Associations of Workplace Health Culture and Workplace Health Promotion Performance With Personal Healthy Lifestyles Yao-Tsung Chang, Feng-Jen Tsai, Ching-Ying Yeh and Ruey-Yu Chen

- 17 Challenges Faced by Emergency Physicians in China: An Observation From the Perspective of Burnout Shijiao Yan, Xin Shen, Rixing Wang, Zhiqian Luo, Xiaotong Han, Yong Gan and Chuanzhu Lv
- 29 The Association Between the Number of Consecutive Night Shifts and Insomnia Among Shift Workers: A Multi-Center Study

Juho Sim, Byung-Yoon Yun, Jiho Lee, Sung Kyung Kim, Seunghyun Lee, Ara Cho, Seunghan Kim, Chang-young Kim, Yeon Suh Oh and Jin-Ha Yoon

- 35 The Influence of Human-Organizational Factors on Falling Accidents From Historical Text Data Xixi Luo, Quanlong Liu and Zunxiang Qiu
- 48 Job Demands and Resources, Positive and Negative Affect, and Psychological Distress of Social Workers in China Chienchung Huang, Xiaoxia Xie, Shannon P. Cheung and Yuqing Zhou
- 57 Trajectories of Mental Health Status Among Police Recruits in Sweden

Mikael Emsing, Mojgan Padyab, Mehdi Ghazinour and Anna-Karin Hurtig

66 The Moderating Effects of Social Media Activities on the Relationship Between Effort-Reward Imbalance and Health and Wellbeing: A Case Study of the Oil and Gas Industry in Malaysia

Noreen Kanwal and Ahmad Shahrul Nizam Isha

80 Attention to Progression Principles and Variables of Exercise Prescription in Workplace-Related Resistance Training Interventions: A Systematic Review of Controlled Trials Gerrit Stassen, Lukas Baulig, Ole Müller and Andrea Schaller

97 Effects of Workplace Gossip on Employee Mental Health: A Moderated Mediation Model of Psychological Capital and Developmental Job Experience Sheng Cheng, Chien-Chih Kuo, Huai-Chieh Chen, Mei-Chi Lin and

Sheng Cheng, Chien-Chih Kuo, Huai-Chieh Chen, Mei-Chi Lin and Vincent Kuo 108 Do Differences in Drinking Attitudes and Alcohol-Related Problems Explain Differences in Sick Leave? A Multilevel Analysis of 95 Work Units Within 14 Companies From the WIRUS Study

> Neda S. Hashemi, Ingvild Dalen, Jens Christoffer Skogen, Hildegunn Sagvaag, David Gimeno Ruiz de Porras and Randi Wågø Aas

- 119 Social Support and Coping Style of Medical Residents in China: The Mediating Role of Psychological Resilience Chao Xu, Yongyi Wang, Zongqin Wang, Biao Li, Chuandong Yan, Sheng Zhang, Bei Chen, Di Zhang and Juan Peng
- 125 Improving Employee Mental Health: A Health Facility-Based Study in the United States Gerald Chia Gwain, Hubert Amu and Luchuo Engelbert Bain
- 134 Leave Me Alone With Your Symptoms! Social Exclusion at the Workplace Mediates the Relationship of Employee's Mental Illness and Sick Leave

Benjamin Pascal Frank, Clara Magdalena Theil, Nathalie Brill, Hanna Christiansen, Christina Schwenck, Meinhard Kieser, Corinna Reck, Ricarda Steinmayr, Linda Wirthwein, Kathleen Otto and the COMPARE-family Research Group

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Susana Viegas, New University of Lisbon, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Leah Okenwa Emegwa leok@rkh.se

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Occupational Health and Safety, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 18 November 2022 ACCEPTED 29 November 2022 PUBLISHED 20 December 2022

CITATION

Okenwa Emegwa L, Alif SM and Gasevic D (2022) Editorial: Workplace Health Promotion, volume II. *Front. Public Health* 10:1102042. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1102042

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Okenwa Emegwa, Alif and Gasevic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Workplace Health Promotion, volume II

Leah Okenwa Emegwa^{1*}, Sheikh M. Alif¹ and Danijela Gasevic²

¹Department of Health Sciences, Swedish Red Cross University, Stockholm, Sweden, ²School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

KEYWORDS

wellbeing, performance, psychology, mental health, social media, intervention, shift work, employee assistance program

Editorial on the Research Topic Workplace health promotion, volume II

The purpose of this Research Topic, a continuation of Workplace Health promotion Volume 1, was to understand issues connected to population health from a workplace perspective such as factors mitigating against the health of workers, barriers to occupational health promotion, and other emerging problems (1-3). The aim was also to identify enabling factors, best practices, and other crucial aspects relevant for workplace health promotion and to explore the need for a strategic approach to WHP, described as a systematic and continuous process of needs analysis, priority setting, planning, implementation, and evaluation (4, 5).

A total of 88 researchers from across the globe contributed to 13 articles in this volume. The study participants were from sectors such as health and social welfare and include doctors, medical students, social workers, and the Police, to name a few. Several of the articles explored the impact of workplace issues on mental health and wellbeing; some examples include working conditions, gossip, feelings of exclusion at the workplace, and social media usage. One study investigated the outcome of an intervention to address depression among workers. Articles in this volume also highlight the role of social support, leadership, and supervision in addressing health-related workplace challenges. Other key features include, alcohol and sick leave, shift work and insomnia, performance, and work culture, fall accidents and supervision as well as burnout and the role of sleep quality, workplace violence and shift work. Each of the articles are summarized below.

According to Chang et al. WHP performance was significantly related to workplace health culture, especially health policies, healthy climate, and peer and supervisor support. In their study, the Workplace Health Scorecard was administered to WHP representatives at each workplace, while a personal questionnaire was used to measure workplace health culture, healthy lifestyles, and health statuses at the individual level. A total of 27 enterprises and 1,732 individuals participated in the cross-sectional study, and data analyzed using a hierarchical linear model.

Using the job demands and resources (JD-R) model, Huang et al. studied the relationship between work conditions and outcomes like psychological distress among social workers in Chengdu, China. The study also investigated the mediational effects of positive affect (PA) and negative affect (NA) among the 897 participants. Results suggest that JR has a greater effect on PA and NA relative to the effects of JD on PA and NA. The authors conclude by suggesting interventions to promote PA in order to buffer against the effects of JD among social workers.

Emsing et al. using the SCL-90-R survey, aimed to find if there are differences in the mental health of two cohorts of Swedish police recruits totaling 376 from 2009 and 2020. The mental health of both cohorts was also compared to that of the general population using data from 2002. Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) and bivariate analyses were conducted. Results showed that recruits from 2020 fared better, and that while some recruits scored above the Swedish patient mean, the prevalence and intensity of mental health disorders among recruits were generally low. Findings also showed that gender, educational level and relationship status were important predictors of mental health.

What is the prevalence of insomnia caused by consecutive night shifts? What night shift duration worsens insomnia the most? These were the questions which Sim et al. attempted to answer by using e.g., multivariate logistic regression to analyze night shift profiles and baseline demographics data of three hospitals between January 2015 to December 2017 (n = 13,025). Findings showed that the prevalence of insomnia was 38.7%, and that there was a significant relationship between consecutive night shifts and insomnia. The authors conclude that findings from the study could be a basis for developing policies and guidelines to improve the health of night shift workers.

In the study by Yan et al. the aim was to investigate the prevalence of burnout among emergency physicians and its associated factors using a nationally representative cross-sectional survey of 15,243 emergency physicians between July and September 2019 in 31 provinces across China. The prevalence of burnout was 14.9%. Associated factors were depression, shift work, workplace violence, having poor self-perceived health status and sleep quality, working in developed regions and governmental hospitals, and having an intermediate professional title. Recommendations for prevention are discussed.

Given findings from a literature review and the characteristics of fall accidents in construction, Luo et al. propose a modification of the human factor classification analysis system (HFACS) framework. They also construct a Bayesian network (BN) topology based on the dependence between human factors and organizational factors, as well as determine the sensitivity of causal factors. Findings show that the most important reason for falling accidents is unsafe on-site supervision, the BN risk assessment model suggests that the most likely causes are loopholes in site management work, lack of safety culture, insufficient safety inspections and acceptance, amongst others.

According to Kanwal and Isha social media activities among office workers in the oil and gas industry significantly moderate the effect of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing and impact job rewards. The conclusions are based on exploratory factor analysis and confirmatory factor analysis of data from 424 participants using an online questionnaire. Findings showed among others, that social media activities related to work-life decreased health and wellbeing by 11%, and social media activities related to personal life negatively affected job rewards by about 55%.

Cheng et al. studied the effect of workplace gossip on employees' mental health using data collected in three waves from 222 full-time employees of a Taiwanese tourism company. Results suggest that workplace gossip is associated with employees' mental health through psychological capital, and that the relationships among workplace gossip, psychological capital, and mental health are moderated by developmental job experience.

To understand the relationship between alcohol-related problems and drinking attitudes with sick leave, Hashemi et al. linked data from the WIRUS study (Workplace Interventions preventing Risky alcohol Use and Sick leave) to companyregistered sick leave data. The study included a total of 2,560 employees from 95 different work units in 9 public companies and 5 private companies in Norway. Negative binomial regression models were used, adjusted for gender, age, cohabitation status, educational attainment, work position, and employment sector. Findings show that although there were variations of 1-day, short-term, and overall sick leave days between companies than between work units within companies, neither alcohol-related problems nor drinking attitudes were associated with sick leave.

Stassen et al. conducted a systematic review to investigate the attention to principles of resistance training (RT) progression and variables of RT exercise prescription in workplace-related RT interventions. The databases searched were LIVIVO, PubMed, SPORTDiscus, and Web of Science for publications between 2000 and 2020. Results from 21 articles (18 primary studies, three protocols) revealed that interventions showed different positive effects on strength- or performance-related and/or health- or complaint-related outcomes. However, several key RT principles and variables were reported inconsistently, thus reducing reproducibility, suggesting the need for standardized RT intervention reporting in workplace-related interventions.

The study by Xu et al. aimed to investigate medical residents' levels of social support, psychological resilience, and coping style, and explore the mediating role of psychological resilience. An online questionnaire was administered to a total of 577 medical residents from China recruited *via* convenience sampling, and the data were analyzed using Pearson correlation

analysis. Findings show positive correlations between social support, psychological resilience and coping style and a significant mediating effect of psychological resilience in the relationship between social support and coping styles. The importance of paying attention to the psychological status of medical residents, as well as the need for increasing enthusiasm for coping style and promoting their mental health using social support and psychological flexibility, are discussed.

Building on the stereotype content model and allostatic load theory, Frank et al. investigated whether employees with a mental illness become socially excluded at the workplace and if they have more days of sick leave. A total of 86 employees diagnosed with a mental disorder were interviewed and completed online-surveys, and Path analyses were conducted. Results show that the interview-rated severity of the mental disorder had an indirect effect on the days of sick leave, and that this was mediated by the symptomatic burden and social exclusion at the workplace. The need for organizations, especially supervisors, to be attentive for signs of exclusion and address same is discussed as important given the financial implications of employee absenteeism on organizations.

Gwain et al. conducted a pre-intervention and postintervention study to assess an intervention which they developed to reduce depression among workers at the Outpatient Mental Health Clinic in Washington District of Columbia, United States. In order to determine the preintervention prevalence of depression, a survey was conducted on 43 employees using the Patient Health Questionnaire depression scale (PHQ-9). Thereafter, the WHO Healthy Workplace Model was adopted to design an instrument for determinants of depression at the workplace, followed by the development and implementation of a mHealth intervention. Finally, a post-intervention survey was conducted among the cohort, and the data was analyzed using descriptive and inferential statistics in STATA. Findings show that the prevalence of depression went from 30.2%, pre-intervention, to 12.6% post-intervention. The findings suggest that improving employee mental health can be achieved using cheap mhealth solutions.

The need for clear policys and routines, as well as increase in wellness packages offered and strategies to improve their uptake thus remains (6). In conclusion, more attention should continually be given to barriers, enabling factors and best practices for health promotion in the workplace given its strategic role for population health promotion.

Author contributions

LO-E was responsible for project idea, design, implementation, manuscript drafting, and final version of the manuscript. DG and SA contributed to project implementation and manuscript final version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Gasevic D, Okenwa Emegwa L. Workplace Health Promotion. Frontiers (2022). doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-356-8

2. Kent K, Goetzel RZ, Roemer EC, Prasad A, Freundlich N. Promoting healthy workplaces by building cultures of health and applying strategic communications. *J Occup Environ Med.* (2016) 58:114–22. doi: 10.1097/JOM.000000000000629

3. Kossek EE, Valcour M, Lirio P. The sustainable workforce: organizational strategies for promoting work-life balance and wellbeing. In: *Wellbeing: A Complete Reference Guide.* (2014). p. 1–24.

4. The Center for Disease Control. Workplace Health Program Definition and Description. (2016). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/ workplacehealthpromotion/pdf/Workplace-Health-Program-Definition-and-Description.pdf (accessed October24, 2016).

^{5.} World Health Organisation. *Workplace Health Promotion: The Workplace:* A Priority Setting for Health Promotion. (2010). Available online at: https:// www.who.int/occupational_health/topics/workplace/en/ (accessed October 24, 2010).

^{6.} Sigblad F, Savela M, Okenwa Emegwa L. Managers' perceptions of factors affecting employees' uptake of workplace health promotion (WHP) offers. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:145. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020. 00145





From Cognition to Behavior: Associations of Workplace Health Culture and Workplace Health Promotion Performance With Personal Healthy Lifestyles

Yao-Tsung Chang¹, Feng-Jen Tsai^{2,3}, Ching-Ying Yeh¹ and Ruey-Yu Chen^{1*}

¹ School of Public Health, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ² Ph.D. Program in Global Health and Health Security, and Master Program in Global Health and Development, College of Public Health, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Taipei Medical University, Graduate Institute of Health and Biotechnology Law, Taipei, Taiwan

Introduction: The aim of this study was to explore associations of workplace health culture and workplace health promotion (WHP) performance with employees' healthy lifestyles and health statuses.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Leah Okenwa Emegwa, Swedish Red Cross University College, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Siti Munira Yasin, MARA University of Technology, Malaysia Antonino Maniaci, University of Catania, Italy

> *Correspondence: Ruey-Yu Chen Rueyyu@tmu.edu.tw

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Occupational Health and Safety, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 22 July 2021 Accepted: 15 October 2021 Published: 08 November 2021

Citation:

Chang Y-T, Tsai F-J, Yeh C-Y and Chen R-Y (2021) From Cognition to Behavior: Associations of Workplace Health Culture and Workplace Health Promotion Performance With Personal Healthy Lifestyles. Front. Public Health 9:745846. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.745846 **Methods:** In total, 27 enterprises and 1,732 participants were recruited for a cross-sectional designed survey. At the group level, Workplace Health Scorecard was used to measure WHP performance, and it was filled out by the WHP representative at each workplace. At the personal level, a personal questionnaire was used to measure workplace health culture, healthy lifestyles, and health statuses. A hierarchical linear model analysis was used to assess correlations between these variables.

Results: Workplace health culture was significantly related to WHP performance, healthy lifestyles, and health statuses. In particular, the peer support domain was greatly related to healthy behaviors like physical activity ($\beta = 0.596$, p < 0.001), vegetable consumption ($\beta = 0.291$, p < 0.001) and fruit consumption ($\beta = 0.285$, p < 0.05), and it may illustrate the importance of establishing peer support to promote healthy behaviors.

Conclusions: WHP performance was significantly related to workplace health culture especially health policies, health climate, and peer and supervisor support. Hence, building a good workplace health culture should be taken seriously, and more studies exploring associations of health culture and WHP performance with employees' health are needed.

Keywords: workplace health culture, workplace health promotion, healthy lifestyle, workplace health culture scale, health promotion performance

INTRODUCTION

It has been over 30 years since the World Health Organization (WHO) promoted workplace health promotion (WHP) (1, 2). During the past three decades, thousands of studies on WHP have been published worldwide, targeting workplace safety, employee healthy lifestyles, reducing health and medical costs, improving health productivity, etc. and trying to make health promotion become a

8

part of daily life. However, although most researchers reported that WHP programs have positive economic effectiveness (3–5), almost all WHP promoters stuck to a core issue: How to improve the participation rate of WHP. Regardless of how comprehensive and accessible a program is, a lack of employee involvement brings about no or insufficient benefits. Therefore, finding ways to increase participation rates, reduce barriers to participation, and increase the willingness to participate has finally become a hot research topic in recent years.

Taiwan has been promoting WHP for more than 20 years. The WHP certification program promoted by the government has provided free workplace health promotion counseling and a certification system since 2007 (6). Up to the present, over 24,000 workplaces have obtained certifications (7). The government referred to the models and tools of the WHO and the US Centers for Disease Control (CDC) (8–11) and appropriately modified and localized that information to make it suitable for implementation in Taiwan while adhering to the issue of improving the participation rate of WHP programs at the same time. Hence, we realized the potential to research on workplace health culture.

Culture is a concept related to employees' attitudes, behaviors, and norms, and it affects specific behaviors (12, 13). The culture of WHP, or "workplace health culture", is defined by considering norms, shared values, the health climate/morale, leadership support, peer support, and touch points (14). A culture of health reflects the attitudes and perceptions of the health of a company's employees, and these attitudes and cognition affect healthy behaviors. Regardless of which theory of healthy behavior one considers, behavior is driven by attitudes and cognition (15–17). Therefore, before trying to improve participation rates of WHP programs, it is more important to explore the workplace health culture. Although workplace health culture is not a novel topic, it seems that there have been few publications in the past two decades.

Since we previously developed a Workplace Health Culture Scale (WHCS) for Taiwan (18), it is time to explore deeper into the health culture. This study aimed to explore associations of workplace health culture and WHP performance with employees' healthy lifestyles and health statuses. Based on this study, we wanted to learn more about the factors that could increase participation rates in WHP programs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was a cross-sectional study approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Taipei Medical University (no. N201903113). In this study, we recruited enterprises of different sizes and from different industry categories to ensure sufficient generalizability.

Study Population and Features

We recruited participating companies from Taiwan's WHP certification program database to ensure that the recruited

companies have sufficient knowledge of WHP to fill in the checklists and questionnaires in this survey. Since the certification has three different tiers according to different levels of WHP, there is a clear difference in the effectiveness of WHP between each level. We recruited companies that participated in the certification program in 2018 and collected date between May 2019 and June 2021. In 2018, a total of 885 companies in northern Taiwan renewed or received the certification, and among them data were collected from 27 enterprises, including 11 manufacturing establishments, four professional scientific enterprises, three publishing firms, three financial and insurance organizations, two utility companies, one wholesale and retail trade enterprise, one transportation and storage firm, one human health company, and one public administration and defense contractor. A health promotion representative from each company was assigned to recruit volunteers to fill out the questionnaire and be responsible for answering the Taiwan workplace health scorecard. Most of the representatives were nurses, occupational safety and hygiene officers, or human resources personnel who were familiar with issues relating to health promotion and employees' health conditions. Since the work style and workplace characteristics of each company are different, the health promotion representative distributed and collected questionnaires in the most suitable way for the company, such as recruiting respondents through internal company letters, health promotion activities, health seminars, etc. All full-time and part-time adult company employees were eligible to participate.

Sample Size

The sample size of each enterprise was decided by the company size. According to the sampling standards suggested by Glenn (19), the sample size for $\pm 10\%$ precision levels where confidence level is 95% and p = 0.05 for companies with 100–150 people, it is recommended that the number of samples should be about 50 people. For companies with more than 1,000 people, it is recommended that the number of samples should be about 100 people. If it is a small business with fewer than 100 people, it is encouraged to use the census as much as possible to increase its representativeness. In addition, according to the recommendations of Comrey and Lee (20), since this study would adopt a multi-level analysis, there should be more than 1,000 samples. Hence, in this study, we suggested that smallsize companies (fewer than 150 employees) complete as many as 50 forms and medium- and large-size companies complete 100 forms.

Measures

Workplace health culture was measured by the WHCS (18), which contained 25 items in six domains of health policy, health climate, peer support, supervisor support and role modeling, personal values, and common values. We developed this Traditional Chinese questionnaire in 2019. WHCS has good construct validity and can explain about 69% of the variation, and the Cronbach's α of each domain is between 0.804 and 0.919. Every item began with "I think…" or "My colleagues and I feel that…" to reflect employees' attitudes and feelings,

Abbreviations: WHP, Workplace Health Promotion; WHCS, Workplace Health Culture Scale; IRB, Institutional Review Board; SD, Standard deviation.

and items were rated on a five-point Likert scale, ranging from "strongly agree" (5 points) to "strongly disagree" (1 point). We calculated scores for each domain and a total score. The items and total scores of the six domains were: Health policy: 3 items, 3–15 points; health climate:7 items, 7–35 points; peer support: 3 items, 3–15 points; supervisor support: 4 items, 4–20 points; personal value: 3 items, 3–15 points; and common value: 5 items, 5–25 points.

WHP performance was measured by the "Taiwan Workplace Health Scorecard" (21), and it was filled out by the person responsible for promoting WHP in each workplace. This tool was designed by referring to the US CDC's worksite health scorecard for a tool suitable to Taiwan's current environment and regulations of the WHP system, and it contained 46 items in five domains of health policy and planning (seven items, 15 points), workplace health needs assessments (four items, 10 points), health promotion activities (23 items, 50 points), healthy work environment (nine items, 20 points), and enterprise community involvement (three items, 5 points). All items were in a Yes/No format. Each item had a weighted point value (1–3 points) according to its importance. Overall and domain scores were summed on the items that received a "Yes" response, and "No" responses were given 0 points.

Healthy lifestyle variables were comprised of physical activity, vegetable consumption, fruit consumption, and regular weight measurement. Physical activity was measured with the Godin leisure-time physical activity scale (22, 23), which marks the number of days in a week a subject does vigorous (9 points), medium (5 points), and light (3 points) physical activities. After weighting and summing up each level of physical activity, it defines an active person as one with a total of >24 points, a moderately active person as one with 14-23 points, and an insufficiently active person as one with ≤ 13 points. Both vegetable and fruit consumption levels were measured by a single item, which evaluated the number of servings per day consumed in the past week. According to WHO's recommendations (24), we set the sufficient vegetables and fruits intake to at least three servings of vegetables and two servings of fruits a day. Regular weight measurement behavior was also measured by a single item to evaluate the frequency of weighing oneself.

Health status variables consisted of self-rated health, mental health, and the number of chronic diseases. Self-rated health was measured by a six-point item, ranging from "very good" (6 point) to "very bad" (1 point). Mental health was measured by the Brief Symptom Rating Scale Short Version (BSRS-5), which has good reliability and validity (25). It is a five-item, self-rated questionnaire, with each item ranging from 4 ("extremely") to 0 ("not at all"). Total scores of <5 points are considered "normal mental health", 6–9 points with a "mild mood disorder", 10–14 points as a "moderate mood disorder", and >14 might as a "severe mood disorder". Chronic diseases were measured by a multiple-choice question, and the total number was calculated.

Sociodemographic variables included group- and personallevel items. Group-level items included the enterprise size and industry category. Personal-level items included gender, age, educational level, and position. We classified managers above the first-line supervisor as supervisors, and other employees, including general staff, researchers, professional services, etc., were classified as general staff.

Statistical Analysis

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) test and Chi-squared test were employed to assess differences in sociodemographic factors, healthy lifestyles, health statuses, workplace health culture, and WHP performances among different-sized enterprises at the baseline (Tables 1, 2). Pearson correlations were used to assess correlations between workplace health culture at the personal level and WHP performance (Table 3). Before the model analysis, we assessed simple correlations among sociodemographic factors, healthy lifestyles, health statuses, and personal-level workplace health culture to explore potential confounding variables. Finally, a hierarchical linear model analysis was used to assess correlations of personal-level workplace health culture (dependent variables) with healthy lifestyles and health statuses (independent variables), setting the company as the group-level adjusted variable and adjusting for gender, age, educational level, position, and enterprise size. The reference group set in the hierarchical linear model included those with insufficient physical activity, insufficient vegetable and fruit consumption, weight measurement less than weekly, and with a normal weight and normal mental health. All analyses were performed according to the intention-to-treat principle, and all tests were analyzed at a 95% significance level (p < 0.05). Analyses were conducted using PASW 22.0 software for Windows (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Between May 2019 and June 2021, 27 enterprises and eventually a total of 1,732 subjects were enrolled in the study, including three small enterprises, 18 medium enterprises, and six large enterprises. The demographic characteristics of the study group are listed in Table 1. Of the 27 enterprises, small enterprises had significantly more female employees, medium enterprises had significantly more general staff, and large enterprises had the most employees with a master's degree or above. Most health behaviors exhibited no significant differences among enterprise sizes except for physical activity and regular weight measurement. Large enterprises had the lowest percentage of employees who were insufficiently active and the highest percentage of employee who were active. Of 1,732 participants, 52.0% were female, the mean age was 39.3 (standard deviation (SD) = 9.55) years, 90.3% had a bachelor's degree or higher, 88.1% were general staff, the mean body-mass index (BMI) was 24.0 (SD = 4.09) kg/m², and 42.7% were overweight or obese. As to healthy lifestyles, 49.6% of participants were insufficiently active, 66.3% consumed insufficient fruit, 65.3% consumed insufficient vegetables every day, and 17.2% were smokers. As to the health statuses, 84.1% had good mental health, while 50.3% rated their health status as normal and 38.2% as good.

All indicators of the workplace health culture and WHP performance were significant among different enterprise sizes (**Table 2**). Large enterprises had the best health culture, but

TABLE 1 | Basic demographic characteristics, healthy lifestyles, and health status information.

		Enterprise size ^a		<i>p</i> -value
	Small (<i>N</i> = 3, <i>n</i> = 131)	Medium (<i>N</i> = 18, <i>n</i> = 1,046)	Large (<i>N</i> = 6, <i>n</i> = 555)	
Demographic characteristic, n (%)				
Gender				0.025*
Male	48 (36.6)	514 (49.2)	266 (48.0)	
Female	83 (63.4)	530 (50.8)	288 (52.0)	
Age (years)				0.074
18–29	13 (10.2)	168 (16.2)	93 (16.8)	
30–39	46 (35.9)	423 (40.7)	231 (41.8)	
40–49	51 (39.8)	289 (27.8)	142 (25.7)	
≥50	18 (14.1)	160 (15.4)	86 (15.6)	
Educational level				< 0.001*
Senior high school or below	3 (2.3)	123 (11.9)	34 (6.1)	
University	91 (70.5)	553 (53.5)	257 (46.6)	
Master's degree or above	35 (27.1)	358 (34.6)	261 (47.3)	
Job position				0.001**
Supervisor	23 (18.3)	100 (9.7)	80 (14.8)	
General staff	103 (81.7)	935 (90.3)	460 (85.2)	
Healthy lifestyle and health status				
Physical activity				<0.001**
Insufficiently active	75 (57.7)	542 (52.2)	235 (42.8)	
Moderately active	31 (23.8)	205 (19.7)	114 (20.8)	
Active	24 (18.5)	291 (28.0)	200 (36.4)	
Vegetable consumption				0.136
Insufficiently	44 (33.8)	344 (33.0)	211 (38.0)	
Sufficient	86 (66.2)	697 (67.0)	344 (62.0)	
Fruit consumption				0.228
Insufficiently	50 (38.5)	337 (32.3)	196 (35.4)	
Sufficient	80 (61.5)	707 (67.7)	358 (64.6)	
Regular weight measurement				0.020*
Almost everyday	7 (5.3)	57 (5.5)	50 (9.1)	
Weekly	58 (44.3)	373 (35.8)	192 (34.8)	
Monthly or less	66 (50.4)	612 (58.7)	310 (56.2)	
Mental health	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			0.600
Normal	113 (86.3)	875 (83.7)	469 (84.5)	
Light pressure	16 (12.2)	115 (11.0)	63 (11.4)	
Medium pressure	2 (1.5)	47 (4.5)	19 (3.4)	
High pressure	0 (0.0)	9 (0.9)	4 (0.7)	
Body-mass index	- ()	- ()	(-··)	0.137
Underweight	4 (3.1)	42 (4.1)	11 (2.0)	
Normal weight	72 (55.4)	538 (53.1)	297 (55.2)	
Overweight	50 (38.5)	350 (34.6)	192 (35.7)	
Obese	4 (3.1)	83 (8.2)	38 (7.1)	
Self-rated health (mean \pm SD)	3.35 ± 0.84	3.38 ± 0.91	3.46 ± 0.94	0.166

^aSmall size: <150 employees, medium size: 150–999 employees, large size: ≥1,000 employees. n, number of participants; N, number of enterprises.

 $^{*}0.01$

SD, standard deviation.

WHP performances did not significantly differ among different enterprise sizes.

Correlations of personal level workplace health culture and WHP performance are listed in **Table 3**. A healthy work environment was not significantly correlated with any of the workplace health culture domains, and community involvement was significantly related to all health culture domains. In addition, personal values and common values were

TABLE 2 | Characteristic of workplace health culture and workplace health promotion (WHP) performance.

		Enterprise size (Mean \pm SD)		<i>p</i> -value
	Small (<i>N</i> = 3, <i>n</i> = 131)	Medium (<i>N</i> = 18, <i>n</i> = 1,046)	Large (N = 6, n = 555)	
Workplace health culture ^a				
Health policy	10.48 ± 3.61	10.87 ± 3.56	11.46 ± 3.04	0.001**
Health climate	23.55 ± 5.48	24.66 ± 5.39	25.63 ± 4.79	<0.001**
Peer support	11.21 ± 2.20	11.20 ± 2.16	11.58 ± 2.12	0.004**
Supervisor support	13.84 ± 2.82	14.40 ± 2.95	14.63 ± 2.94	0.018*
Personal values	11.24 ± 1.86	11.00 ± 2.10	11.30 ± 1.98	0.015*
Common values	21.03 ± 2.72	20.35 ± 2.95	21.10 ± 2.79	<0.001**
WHP performance				
Health policies and plans	11.33 ± 6.35	14.17 ± 1.54	13.33 ± 1.86	0.187
Health needs assessments	8.33 ± 2.89	9.78 ± 0.73	10.00 ± 0.00	0.076
Health promotion activities	39.33 ± 12.90	42.56 ± 7.21	40.50 ± 3.27	0.616
Healthy work environment	20.00 ± 0.00	19.61 ± 0.92	18.00 ± 1.67	0.100
Community involvements	3.33 ± 2.31	3.50 ± 1.79	3.33 ± 1.97	0.189

^a The total scores of each domains are: Health policy: 3 items, 3–15 points; health climate: 7 items, 7–35 points; peer support: 3 items, 3–15 points; supervisor support: 4 items, 4–20 points; personal value: 3 items, 3–15 points; and common value: 5 items, 5–25 points.

 $^{*}0.01$

SD, standard deviation.

TABLE 3 | Correlations of personal health culture cognition with company workplace health promotion (WHP) performance.

WHP performance	Workplace health culture							
	Health policies	Health climate	Peer support	Supervisor support	Personal values	Common values		
Health policies and plans	0.118**	0.158**	0.093**	0.083**	0.016	0.022		
Health needs assessments	0.111**	0.182**	0.080**	0.080**	0.033	0.014		
Health promotion activities	0.107**	0.128**	0.047	0.055*	0.016	-0.015		
Healthy work environment	0.023	0.004	-0.020	0.029	-0.004	-0.022		
Community involvement	0.151**	0.161**	0.146**	0.132**	0.108**	0.089**		

*p<0.05, **p<0.01.

not significantly related with almost any WHP performance domains except community involvement.

Results of the hierarchical linear model analysis of workplace health culture with healthy lifestyles and health statuses are listed in Table 4. People who had better physical activity, vegetable consumption, and fruit consumption and measured their weight daily or weekly felt that they had significantly better peer support. With better physical activity habits, the participants had better personal values and common values of health. If they measured their weight every day or at least once per week, they felt that they had better peer support, supervisor support, and common values of health. People who had better self-rated health believed that they had a significantly better workplace health culture. In addition, the participants with fewer chronic diseases felt that they had significantly better health policies and health climate support. Also, people who had better mental health thought that they had a significantly better workplace health culture except for peer support. However, it seems that the BMI had no significant correlation with the workplace health culture.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we found that WHP performance was significantly related with workplace health culture especially health policies, health climate, and peer and supervisor support, but was less related to personal and common values of health. In addition, self-rated health and mental health were significantly related to the health culture, and people who had better physical activity habits felt that they had a better workplace health culture.

The significant correlation between health culture and WHP performance means that the more a company invests in WHP, especially in the domains of health policies, health needs assessments, and health behavior promotion, the better their employees will feel about health culture. Employees can really feel and agree with the company's efforts to promote WHP though there is not much research on health culture as seen in the research on safety culture (26, 27). In addition, those enterprises with better community involvement also had significantly better health cultures, e.g., providing health promotion to

TABLE 4 | Hierarchical linear model analysis: associations of workplace health culture with healthy lifestyles and health statuses, after adjusting for gender, age, educational level, position, and business size.

Variable						
	Health policies	Health climate	Peer support	Supervisor support	Personal values	Common values
Healthy lifestyle						
Physical activity	0.293#	0.321	0.596**	0.078	0.306**	0.416**
Vegetable consumption	-0.224	0.015	0.291**	0.074	-0.103	0.035
Fruit consumption	0.221	0.231	0.285*	0.209	0.138	0.171
Frequent weight measurement	0.312#	0.538*	0.409**	0.433**	0.158	0.334*
Health status						
Self-rated health	0.346**	0.873**	0.456**	0.479**	0.286**	0.424**
Number of chronic diseases	-0.280**	-0.415**	-0.042	-0.123	-0.065	-0.029
Body-mass index (kg/m ²)						
<18	-0.180	-1.304#	-0.090	-0.469	0.226	-0.441
≥24	0.208	0.216	-0.017	0.190	0.003	0.272#
Mental health	-0.658**	-2.086**	-0.230	-0.875**	-0.277*	-0.280

 $^{\#}0.05$

employees' family members, affiliated companies, and people in the community.

The reason why there were no significant correlations between a healthy work environment and any of the workplace health culture domains may have been because this sub-scale focused on the safety environment rather than healthy lifestyles, and these items were related to the basic safety environment which most workplaces can meet. Some studies also found that it is not easy to change the health behaviors of employees by merely improving the health environment without promoting healthy lifestyles (28, 29). This does not mean that improving the health environment is not important, but designing and promoting workplace health policies, promoting health needs assessments, and actual health promotion actions can allow employees to experience the health culture more directly. After all, creating a supportive environment and making more-convenient, accessible, and healthier choices will also benefit healthy lifestyle building (30).

An interesting point is that in this study we found that there is almost no significant correlation between the scores of personal value and common value and WHP performance. This may indicate that basic workplace health promotion is not easy to change employees' health values related to WHP. In past studies, health values were mainly discussed on issues related to health beliefs, and health beliefs are the mediator of health culture and health behaviors (31). Although personal health beliefs are indeed related to personal health behaviors, there have been few discussions on beliefs related to participation in workplace health promotion in the past. This may mean that most studies did not regard participation in workplace health promotion as a "behavior". Although in recent years there have been more and more health coaching studies in the workplace region to improve the employees' healthy lifestyle and the WHP participation (32, 33), whether health coaching can improve employees' personal and common values of WHP still needs more studies.

It is not surprising that large-sized companies had significantly better health cultures in this study. Many studies found that smaller companies are less likely to fund WHP implementation due to fewer resources and experience than larger companies (34, 35), and the rate of implementing WHP in small companies was indeed lower than that in large companies. However, the enterprise size might not be the main factor in the WHP performance, since smaller companies can more easily achieve higher participant rates than large companies (36), and smaller companies also have relatively simple company structures which might make it easier for them to promote comprehensive WHP. This might explain why the WHP performance was not significant among enterprise sizes in our study.

In this study, we found those people who rated having a higher peer support score had significantly healthier lifestyles, and those with higher self-rated health also felt that they had a better health culture. In addition, people with better health e.g., fewer chronic diseases and better mental health, felt that they had better health policies and a healthy climate. Interestingly, it seemed that most health culture domains did not affect a healthy diet except for peer support, but one study indeed indicated that peer support and role models can help promote healthy eating (37). It also might mean that peer support is the most important cultural factor in improving personal healthy lifestyles. However, physical activity was also related to personal values and common values. One of the reasons why there were different results from a healthy diet may be because Taiwan has worked hard to promote physical activity in the workplace in recent years, providing a considerable number of resources to promote it in the workplace, or perhaps a healthy diet is more irrelevant to personal and common values. As to the correlation between chronic diseases and health culture, a possible explanation for only health policies and a healthy climate being significantly related to it is that interpersonal health support and values might have more direct correlations with a healthy lifestyle and an indirect linkage to the health status, but this needs to be verified by future studies.

Finally, the assumption and some findings from other studies that health promotion cognitive/attitudes/values affect motivations for healthy behaviors and actual healthy behaviors, and thus affect the health status may be correct (31, 38). In the past, there were many studies which found that supervisor support could increase employees' participation in WHP (39, 40), and the participation rate greatly determines the effectiveness of WHP implementation (41). In fact, "participation in health promotion" is a kind of behavior, and it is inevitably affected by motivation. Many studies have explored ways to increase participants' motivation and participation rates in WHP programs or found out the reason why employees do not participate in such programs (30, 42, 43). For example, employers can provide participation rewards, shape a health-promoting environment, and provide healthy working conditions, which will be reflected in the domain of health policies and supervisor support of culture. Peer pressure and support are also important motivations for participation (44, 45), which will be reflected in the domain of peer support and common values of culture.

The main strength of this paper is that it is the first study conducted to examine correlations of workplace health culture and WHP performance with healthy lifestyles and health statuses. In addition, even though WHP has been promoted for quite a long time, so far, there have been few studies with largescale investigations attempting to explore the correlation between WHP in the work environment, personal health behavior, and personal cognition. This study has a large sample size involving 27 enterprises, making it possible to use multi-level analysis to explore these relationships more comprehensively. Moreover, the scarcity of research related to workplace health culture also makes this research more important. However, there remain some limitations. First, the cross-sectional design did not allow us to draw causal relationships among these variables. Considering the assumptions that we can improve employees' motivation to engage in healthier behaviors by implementing WHP programs, this should involve a large, long-term, rigorous longitudinal test. Second, the workplaces which participated in this experiment may have had better WHP performances and a greater willingness to implement it. This might explain why the most WHP performance indicators had no significant difference among enterprise sizes in our study. Those workplaces that were willing to participate in this research may have had a higher willingness to promote WHP in the first place. At the same time, some samples in this study were collected during the COVID-19 pandemic, and pandemic prevention policies and workplace restrictions may affect the willingness to participate in the investigation. In addition, although some studies have pointed out that strict prevention policies during the COVID-19 pandemic may affect work efficiency and quality of life (46, 47), it caused little impact on the validity of this study due to the fact that Taiwan is only slightly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Hence, to heighten generalizability and representativeness of similar research in the future, diversified industries or companies should be incorporated.

Here are some suggestions for future work on WHP and studies according to our study results. First, actual health policy making and communication with employees, regular health needs assessments, and health promotion activities are worth implementing because these actions can improve the health culture except values. Considering that peer support is the most influential factor in a healthy lifestyle, implementing WHP should indeed help improve employee health through promoting healthy lifestyles. Second, building stronger peer support such as encouraging the building of healthy communities, organizing team competitions, and providing group workshops or group coaching to provide social support may improve healthy lifestyles more efficiently. And finally, it is important to provide resources to increase the willingness of small enterprises to invest in WHP. Our study results showed that small enterprises can also implement comprehensive and effective WHP, but the number of small enterprises that can do this is indeed far fewer than that of medium and large companies. Of course, it is also necessary to conduct more-comprehensive research on health culture, WHP performance, and employee health.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of Taipei Medical University. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Y-TC and R-YC oversaw all aspects of the study. Y-TC contributed to study design, data collection, data analysis, interpretation of results, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. F-JT contributed to study design, data collection, and data analysis. C-YY contributed to study design and data analysis. R-YC contributed to study design, data collection, interpretation of results, manuscript writing, and compiled edits from other authors. All authors had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the participants of the study for their time and efforts.

REFERENCES

- The Ottawa charter for health promotion (Reprinted). Am J Prev Med. (1994) 10:48–50. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(18)30556-7
- WHO. The Bangkok Charter for Health Promotion in a Globalized World. (2005). Available online at: http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/ conferences/6gchp/bangkok_charter/en/
- Musich S, McCalister T, Wang S, Hawkins K. An evaluation of the Well at Dell health management program: health risk change and financial return on investment. *Am J Health Promot.* (2015) 29:147– 57. doi: 10.4278/ajhp.131115-QUAN-582
- Mitchell RJ, Ozminkowski RJ, Serxner S. Improving employee productivity through improved health. J Occup Environ Med. (2013) 55:1142–8. doi: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e3182a50037
- Grimani A, Aboagye E, Kwak L. The effectiveness of workplace nutrition and physical activity interventions in improving productivity, work performance and workability: a systematic review. *BMC Pub Health*. (2019) 19:1676. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-8033-1
- Chen RY, Yu LH. Following the trend for a comprehensive healthy workplace in Taiwan. *Glob Health Promot.* (2016) 23:35–45. doi: 10.1177/1757975916635505
- Ministry of Health and Welfare, R.O.C. *Healthy Workplace Certification* Counting [Online] (2021). Available online at: https://health.hpa.gov.tw/hpa/ info/select.aspx (accessed May 1, 2021).
- 8. Burton J. WHO healthy workplace framework and model. *Geneva*, *Switzerland: World Health Organisation*. Geneva: WHO (2010). p. 12.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Website. CDC workplace health model [Online] (2021). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/ workplacehealthpromotion/model/index.html (accessed May 1, 2021).
- Roemer EC, Kent KB, Mummert A, McCleary K, Palmer JB, Lang JE, et al. Validity and reliability of the updated CDC Worksite Health ScoreCard. *J Occup Environ Med.* (2019) 61:767. doi: 10.1097/JOM.0000000000 01660
- 11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Worksite Health ScoreCard* [Online] (2021). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/ workplacehealthpromotion/initiatives/healthscorecard/index.html (accessed May 1, 2021).
- Kroeber AL, Kluckhohn C. Culture: a critical review of concepts and definitions. In: *Peabody Museum of Archaeology & Ethnology*. Harvard University (1952).
- Schein EH. Organizational culture. Am Psychol. (1990) 45:109–19. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.45.2.109
- Safeer R, Allen J. Defining a culture of health in the workplace. J Occup Environ Med. (2019) 61:863–7. doi: 10.1097/JOM.000000000001684
- Deci EL. Self-determination theory and education. Ceskoslovenska Psychologie. (1994) 38:420–6.
- Prochaska JO, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. Am J Health Promot. (1997) 12:38–48. doi: 10.4278/0890-1171-12.1.38
- Bandura A. Social cognitive theory: an agentic perspective. Annu Rev Psychol. (2001) 52:1–26. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1
- Chang Y-T, Tsai F-J, Kuo C-C, Yeh C-Y, Chen R-Y. Exploring and developing the workplace health culture scale in Taiwan. *Front Publ Health.* (2020) 7:397. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019. 00397
- Israel, Glenn D. Sampling the Evidence of Extension Program Impact. Gainesville, FL: University of Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agriculture Sciences (1992).
- Comrey AL, Lee HB. A First Course in Factor Analysis. (2013). New York: Psychology press. doi: 10.4324/97813158 27506
- Ministry of Health and Welfare, R.O.C. *Taiwan Workplace Health Scorecard*. [Online] (2021). Available online at: https://health.hpa.gov.tw/content/form/ ScoreV2.aspx (accessed May 1, 2021).
- 22. Godin G, Shephard R. A simple method to assess exercise behavior in the community. *Can J Appl Sport Sci.* (1985) 10:141–6.
- 23. Amireault S, Godin G. The Godin-Shephard leisure-time physical activity questionnaire: validity evidence supporting its use for classifying healthy

adults into active and insufficiently active categories. *Percept Mot Skills*. (2015) 120:604–22. doi: 10.2466/03.27.PMS.120v19x7

- World Health Organization. European Food and Nutrition Action Plan 2015– 2020 (2015).
- Lee M-B, Liao S-C, Lee Y-J, Wu C-H, Tseng M-C, Gau S-F, et al. (2003). Development and verification of validity and reliability of a short screening instrument to identify psychiatric morbidity. *J Formos Med Assoc*. 102:687–94.
- Aburumman M, Newnam S, Fildes B. Evaluating the effectiveness of workplace interventions in improving safety culture: a systematic review. Saf Sci. (2019) 115:376–92. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2019.02.027
- Thorp J, Baqai W, Witters D, Harter J, Agrawal S, Kanitkar K, et al. Workplace engagement and workers' compensation claims as predictors for patient safety culture. J Patient Saf. (2012) 8:194–201. doi: 10.1097/PTS.0b013e3182699942
- Brehm BJ, Gates DM, Singler M, Succop PA, D'Alessio DA. Environmental changes to control obesity: a randomized controlled trial in manufacturing companies. *Am J Health Promot.* (2011) 25:334–40. doi: 10.4278/ajhp.090128-QUAN-37
- Lassen AD, Beck A, Leedo E, Andersen EW, Christensen T, Mejborn H, et al. Effectiveness of offering healthy labelled meals in improving the nutritional quality of lunch meals eaten in a worksite canteen. *Appetite*. (2014) 75:128– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2013.12.005
- Nea FM, Pourshahidi LK, Kearney J, Livingstone MBE, Bassul C, Corish CA. A qualitative exploration of the shift work experience: the perceived barriers and facilitators to a healthier lifestyle and the role of the workplace environment. J Occup Environ Med. (2017) 59:1153– 60. doi: 10.1097/JOM.000000000001126
- Melnyk BM, Amaya M, Szalacha LA, Hoying J. Relationships among perceived wellness culture, healthy lifestyle beliefs, and healthy behaviors in university faculty and staff: implications for practice and future research. West J Nurs Res. (2016) 38:308–24. doi: 10.1177/0193945915615238
- 32. Lang J, Cluff L, Payne J, Matson-Koffman D, Hampton J. The centers for disease control and prevention: findings from the national healthy worksite program. J Occup Environ Med. (2017) 59:631–41. doi: 10.1097/JOM.00000000001045
- 33. Kouwenhoven-Pasmooij TA, Robroek SJ, Nieboer D, Helmhout PH, Wery MF, Hunink M, et al. Quality of motivational interviewing matters: the effect on participation in health-promotion activities in a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2018) 44:414–22. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3716
- 34. Jessiman-Perreault G, Alberga A, Jorge F, Makwarimba E, Allen Scott L. Size matters: a latent class analysis of workplace health promotion knowledge, attitudes, practices and likelihood of action in small workplaces. *Int J Environ Res Publ Health*. (2020) 17:1251. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17041251
- Taylor A, Pilkington R, Montgomerie A, Feist H. The role of business size in assessing the uptake of health promoting workplace initiatives in Australia. *BMC Publ Health.* (2016) 16:353. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3011-3
- Lier LM, Breuer C, Dallmeyer S. Organizational-level determinants of participation in workplace health promotion programs: a cross-company study. BMC Public Health. (2019) 19:268. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6578-7
- Tabak RG, Hipp JA, Marx CM, Brownson RC. Workplace social and organizational environments and healthy-weight behaviors. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0125424. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0125424
- van Scheppingen AR, de Vroome EMM, ten Have KCJM, Zwetsloot GIJM, Bos EH, van Mechelen W. Motivations for health and their associations with lifestyle, work style, health, vitality, and employee productivity. *J Occupational Environ Med.* (2014) 56:540–6. doi: 10.1097/JOM.00000000000143
- DeJoy DM, Bowen HM, Baker KM, Bynum BH, Wilson MG, Goetzel RZ, et al. (2009) Management Support and Worksite Health Promotion Program Effectiveness. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. p. 13–22. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-02731-4_2
- Schult TM, Galway AM, Awosika ER, Schmunk SK, Hodgson M. Management support, worksite culture, and local resources for healthier employees the veterans affairs experience. *J Occup Environ Med.* (2013) 55:310–7. doi: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e31827dba1e
- Robroek SJ, van Lenthe FJ, van Empelen P, Burdorf A. Determinants of participation in worksite health promotion programmes: a systematic review. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2009) 6:26. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-6-26

- 42. Groeneveld IF, Proper KI, van der Beek AJ, Hildebrandt VH, van Mechelen W. Factors associated with non-participation and drop-out in a lifestyle intervention for workers with an elevated risk of cardiovascular disease. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2009) 6:1–9. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-6-80
- 43. Wong JY, Gilson ND, Bush RA, Brown WJ. Patterns and perceptions of physical activity and sedentary time in male transport drivers working in regional Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. (2014) 38:314–20. doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12214
- 44. Christensen JR, Pajevic M, Ilvig PM, Søgaard K, Jessen-Winge C. Why people engage in a weight loss intervention at their workplace—a stratified case study. *BMC Public Health.* (2019) 19:20. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6346-0
- Wang ML, Pbert L, Lemon SC: Influence of family, friend and coworker social support and social undermining on weight gain prevention among adults. *Obesity*. (2014) 22:1973–80. doi: 10.1002/oby. 20814
- 46. Young KP, Kolcz DL, O'Sullivan DM, Ferrand J, Fried J, Robinson K. Health care workers' mental health and quality of life during COVID-19: results from a mid-pandemic, national survey. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2021) 72:122–8. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.2020 00424

 Maniaci A, Ferlito S, Bubbico L, Ledda C, Rapisarda V, Iannella G, et al. Comfort rules for face masks among healthcare workers during COVID-19 spread. Ann Ig. (2021) 33:615–27. doi: 10.7416/ai.2021.2439

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chang, Tsai, Yeh and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Challenges Faced by Emergency Physicians in China: An Observation From the Perspective of Burnout

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danijela Gasevic, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Matteo Riccò, Azienda Unità Sanitaria Locale-IRCCS di Reggio Emilia, Italy Inmaculada Méndez, University of Murcia, Spain Andreas Tsounis, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

*Correspondence:

Chuanzhu Lv lvchuanzhu677@126.com Yong Gan scswj2008@163.com Xiaotong Han hanxiaotong2021@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 28 August 2021 Accepted: 26 October 2021 Published: 17 November 2021

Citation:

Yan S, Shen X, Wang R, Luo Z, Han X, Gan Y and Lv C (2021) Challenges Faced by Emergency Physicians in China: An Observation From the Perspective of Burnout. Front. Psychiatry 12:766111. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.766111 Shijiao Yan^{1,2†}, Xin Shen^{3†}, Rixing Wang⁴, Zhiqian Luo^{2,5,6}, Xiaotong Han^{7*}, Yong Gan^{3*} and Chuanzhu Lv^{6,8*}

¹ School of Public Health, Hainan Medical University, Haikou, China, ² Key Laboratory of Emergency and Trauma of Ministry of Education, Hainan Medical University, Haikou, China, ³ Department of Social Medicine and Health Management, School of Public Health, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China, ⁴ Department of Emergency, Hainan Clinical Research Center for Acute and Critical Diseases, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Hainan Medical University, Haikou, China, ⁵ Emergency and Trauma College, Hainan Medical University, Haikou, China, ⁶ Research Unit of Island Emergency Medicine, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences (No. 2019RU013), Hainan Medical University, Haikou, China, ⁷ Department of Emergency Medicine, Hunan Provincial Key Laboratory of Emergency and Critical Care Metabolomics, Hunan Provincial Institute of Emergency Medicine, Hunan Provincial People's Hospital/The First Affifiliated Hospital, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China, ⁸ Department of Emergency Medicine, Sichuan Provincial People's Hospital, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, Chengdu, China

Background: Burnout is considered a global problem, particularly in the emergency health sector; however, no large-sample cross-sectional study has assessed the prevalence of burnout among emergency physicians and its associated factors.

Methods: A nationally representative cross-sectional survey of 15,243 emergency physicians was conducted in 31 provinces across China between July and September 2019. Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to identify correlates of burnout.

Results: The participants' mean scores were 25.8 (SD = 15.9) on the emotional exhaustion (EE) subscale, 8.1 (SD = 7.9) on the depersonalization (DP) subscale, and 26.80 (SD = 12.5) on the personal accomplishment (PA) subscale, indicating a pattern of moderate EE, moderate DP, and high PA. The results of the large-sample survey found that 14.9% of emergency physicians had a high level of burnout in China, with 46.8% scoring high for EE, 24.1% scoring high for DP, and 60.5% having a high risk of low PA. Having poor self-perceived health status and sleep quality, working in developed regions and governmental hospitals, having an intermediate professional title, experiencing depression, performing shift work and experiencing workplace violence made emergency physicians more likely to experience occupational burnout.

Conclusion: Positive measures should be taken to reduce the burnout of emergency physicians and improve their work enthusiasm to maintain the quality of emergency medical services.

Keywords: burnout, emergency medicine, emergency physicians, organizational psychology, prevalence

17

BACKGROUND

Burnout is a psychological syndrome that is a reaction to the long-term, accumulated negative effect of chronic work-related stress (1). It is a syndrome characterized by feelings of overextension and the depletion of resources (emotional exhaustion, EE), negative or callous responses to job responsibilities (depersonalization, DP), and feelings of incompetence and a lack of achievement (decreased personal accomplishment, PA) (2). DP is often referred to a coping strategy, while PA could be a way of burnout addressing. Burnout has been shown to exert adverse effects on organizations (e.g., turnover, higher absenteeism, lack of job commitment, and job dissatisfaction), the mental and physical health of healthcare practitioners, and the quality of healthcare delivery (2-5). In the United States alone, physician burnout has an estimated economic burden of \$4.6 billion a year (6). Therefore, a growing number of researchers have studied physician burnout and found that emergency physicians have the highest burnout rate of any physician group (7-10).

Emergency physicians, who often need to provide urgent care and make important decisions that can affect whether a patient recovers or dies (11, 12), face high levels of stress and are more prone to burnout (13, 14). Emergency physicians often need to deal with numerous patients and various diseases during providing medical services; while they also faced staff shortages and the chaotic work environment characterized by unpredictability in the medical setting. Although many studies on burnout among emergency physicians have been conducted in recent years (15, 16), according to a recent systematic review, the samples of these studies are often small and underrepresentative (N = 23-315) (17). Specific data in low-income and middleincome countries are particularly scarce (18). In addition, systematic exploration of the potential factors associated with physicians' burnout is not available (17). Therefore, it is urgent to carry out large-sample studies and clarify the influencing factors on the occupational burnout of emergency physicians.

China has the largest number of emergency patients every year around the world, with more than 166.5 million (19), and China is also the country with the most emergency physicians, with nearly 60 thousand, accounting for more than 2% of all doctors in the country (19). Emergency treatment plays an important role in China's medical system, and it has received ample attention from the government (20). However, according to previous studies, emergency physicians in China still face many underlying dilemmas, including the following:

- (1) Emergency physicians in China are often under great work pressure. Work pressure may have an impact on their daily lives (21), such as reducing their sleep quality (22, 23), and may also have an impact on their mental health (24, 25), such as triggering psychological problems such as depression (26).
- (2) An excessive work burden can easily cause health damage (22). Many emergency physicians still need to keep working

even when they are ill, which further aggravates the decline in emergency physicians' physical health (27), as well as their mental health.

- (3) There are regional and sociodemographic differences in China's demand for health resources (28, 29). Hospitals in developed areas or government in China are often faced with an excessive demand for health services and need to provide adequate medical services (30), while hospitals in underdeveloped areas and non-governmental hospitals have an insufficient number of patients (31–33). The imbalance between health resources and needs exacerbates the work burden of emergency physicians in hospitals in developed areas and government-run hospitals.
- (4) Many hospitals in China have not yet established reasonable management systems, and the management of health human resources is not based on scientific evidence (27, 34). For example, many emergency physicians have to engage in shift work, which greatly increases their work burden (35, 36).
- (5) In recent years, physician-patient conflicts in China have become more frequent (37, 38). As emergency physicians often deal with patients in the acute stage of illness, they are more vulnerable to verbal or physical violence from patients or their relatives (39). Estrangement between physicians and patients reduces physicians' enthusiasm and sense of achievement.

The difficulties faced by emergency physicians in China reflect the contradictions faced by physicians in China and the deficiencies in health and healthy development. However, the potential impact of these challenges on emergency physicians and the mechanism by which these factors may lead to emergency physicians' burnout are unclear. This study aim to investigate these issues to further develop emergency care, maintain the stability of the population of emergency physicians and determine the influencing factors that have not previously been examined. As China is the largest developing country, understanding the prevalence of burnout among emergency physicians in China and its influencing factors can provide a reference for policy makers and researchers in global health care.

METHODS

Ethics Statement

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Ethics Board of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Hainan Medical University, Haikou, China (HYLL-2018-035). All individuals provided written informed consent.

Study Participants and Survey Design

A cross-sectional study was carried out in China from July 2019 to September 2019. A multistage stratified random sampling design was used in this study. First, a total of 31 Chinese provinces were classified as developed, developing, or lessdeveloped regions according to per capital household income in 2018. Second, we selected 10 hospitals randomly from each province. Third, based on the number and scale of the hospitals, 40% of the emergency physicians who had practiced in the emergency department for at least 6 months were randomly

Abbreviations: EE, Emotional Exhaustion; DP, Depersonalization; PA, Personal Accomplishment; BMI, Body Mass Index; CES-D, Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depression Scale.

selected from each hospital to complete a self-administered questionnaire. The inclusion criteria for study participants were: (1) emergency physicians performing emergency medicine services; (2) Have been working for at least 6 months. Exclusion criteria for the study were: (1) nurses or other medical technical service personnel; (2) Have worked for <6 months. In total, 15,455 emergency physicians were asked to participate in this survey, and 182 physicians did not respond. Additionally, 30 questionnaires were discarded due to missing information. Ultimately, 15,243 eligible questionnaires were used in this analysis, and response rate was 98.6%.

Instrument and Measurement

The questionnaire was designed based on literature reviews, group discussions, and preliminary interviews. Independent variables were selected based on previous studies and findings, including demographic characteristics, workplace violence, shift work, and depression. Furthermore, a pilot study was conducted in one Wuhan community to improve the quality of the questionnaire. A total of 50 physicians filled out the questionnaire and made sure the questions were understood. The questionnaire consisted of questions on sociodemographic information (e.g., region, age, gender, education level, marital status, and professional title), burnout, depression status and workplace violence.

Burnout was measured with the Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI-HSS) that consisted of three subscales and 22 items on a six-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (never) to 6 (every day) (40). The three dimensions of EE, DP, and PA were measured in 9, 5, and 8 items, respectively. Higher scores on the EE and DP subscales were positively associated with higher levels of burnout, while the PA subscale score was inversely associated with burnout. In the analysis of the prevalence of burnout, we analyzed the subscales as categorical variables. The cutoff points for different categories (low, moderate, and high) for each subscale were defined in the study according to the MBI-HSS scoring guidelines (41). Emergency physicians were categorized as having a high level of burnout if they scored high on EE and DP and low on PA. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients for the MBI-HSS total scale and the EE, DP, and PA subscales were 0.86, 0.92, 0.88, and 0.89, respectively, suggesting that the overall measurement was reliable.

The Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression scale (CES-D) was used to assess depression. The scale includes includes 20 items; each item is scored on a four-point scale ranging from 0 ("little or none of the time") to 3 ("most or almost all of the time"). The items are declarative expressions such as "I feel I can't get out of my gloomy mood even with the help of my family and friends." "I can't concentrate." The total score ranges from 0 to 60 points, and the higher the score is, the more severe the depressive symptoms. On the original CES-D scale, a total score of 16 was used to detect the presence of depressive symptoms (42). However, a large number of studies have assessed the diagnostic accuracy of CES-D in detecting depression in the general population and have proposed multiple cutoff points, such as a cutoff point of 18 for elderly people living in residential homes (43) and a cutoff score of 22 for older Chinese individuals

(44). A meta-analysis systematically reviewed 28 CES-D studies, including several Chinese studies, and obtained an optimal cutoff point of 20 points (45). As a result, an overall score of 20 or higher was considered an indicator of depressive symptoms in this study, consistent with previous research (46). The CES-D has good reliability and validity, and it has been widely used in the Chinese population. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient of the scale was 0.90.

Workplace violence was measures by Workplace violence Scale (WVS) was developed by Wang et al. (47), has a good reliability and validity for measuring the incidence of workplace violence when applied to medical staff in China. It includes 5 items measured with a four-point ordinal scale ranging from 0 (never) to 3 (more than 3 times/year). In this study, the Cronbach's alpha for WPV was 0.81.

Data Collection and Quality Control

Our research includes the following steps: (1) determining research objectives; (2) Define the research type; (3) Determine the research object; (4) Determine sample content and sampling method; (5) Data collection and statistical analysis. A web link to the online questionnaire, which was designed using Questionnaire Star, was disseminated to the participants through WeChat (similar to WhatsApp in Western countries, WeChat is the largest communication platform in China, with over one billion users). To prevent the same participants from repeatedly answering the questionnaire, each device (e.g., smartphone or computer) was eligible to complete the questionnaire only once, and logical checks were concurrently run on the WeChat platform to identify invalid questionnaires. The data were entered into a web-based database by trained investigators to ensure accuracy.

Statistical Methods

In the descriptive analysis, the mean and standard deviation were calculated for continuous variables, and the quantity and percentage were calculated for categorical data. The dependent variables (EE, DP, PA, and overall burnout) were treated as continuous variables. The ANOVA were used to compare differential factors for burnout. No clustering was observed among the respondents (correlation = 0.03, P < 0.001). A multiple linear regression model was performed to identify the correlates of three distinct dimensions of burnout, as identified by EE, DP, and PA subscales. Predictive variables such as age (continuous), gender, marital status, education level, work tenure, average monthly income, contract status, professional level, managerial responsibility, practice setting, and workplace violence were included in the multiple linear regression analysis. All statistical analyses were performed with Statistical Analysis System (SAS) version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Statistical significance was accepted at the 5% level (P < 0.05).

RESULTS

Table 1 presents the main characteristics of the surveyrespondents. Among the 15,243 respondents, most weremarried (83.3%), were men (69.9%) and had a bachelor's degree

TABLE 1 | Statistical description of study samples.

Variables	N (%)	EE scores [M (SD)]	P-value	DP scores [M (SD)]	P-value	PA scores [M (SD)]	P-value
Total	15,243 (100.00)	25.78 (15.94)	NA	8.13 (7.85)	NA	26.80 (12.53)	NA
Gender							
Male	10,650 (69.87)	25.36 (16.05)	<0.001	8.46 (8.08)	< 0.001	26.46 (12.77)	<0.001
Female	4,593 (30.13)	26.76 (15.64)		7.38 (7.23)		27.61 (11.91)	
Age group, y							
≤31	4,089 (26.83)	24.96 (15.76)	<0.001	8.31 (7.72)	< 0.001	25.45 (12.37)	<0.001
>31 and ≤37	4,117 (27.01)	28.04 (15.69)		9.20 (8.22)		26.05 (11.86)	
>37 and ≤43	3,291 (21.59)	27.00 (15.85)		8.46 (7.92)		27.05 (12.23)	
>43	3,746 (24.59)	23.13 (16.04)		6.48 (7.21)		28.90 (13.37)	
Region		, , ,		. ,		x y	
Developed	6,000 (39.36)	25.65 (15.80)	0.431	8.13 (7.74)	0.991	27.03 (12.28)	<0.001
Viddle-developed	4,097 (26.88)	26.05 (15.83)		8.14 (7.88)		27.20 (12.37)	
_ess-developed	5,146 (33.76)	25.72 (16.19)		8.12 (7.95)		26.23 (12.91)	
Education level	0,110 (00.10)	20.12 (10.10)		0.12 (1.00)		20.20 (12.01)	
Associate's degree or	894 (5.86)	20.66 (15.76)	<0.001	5.93 (6.86)	<0.001	26.58 (13.91)	0.507
vocational diploma*	0.00	20.00 (10.10)	~0.001	0.00 (0.00)	~0.001	20.00 (10.01)	0.007
Bachelor degree	10,293 (67.53)	25.92 (15.94)		8.17 (7.92)		26.88 (12.57)	
Master degree or higher	4,056 (26.61)	26.56 (15.80)		8.52 (7.79)		26.65 (12.10)	
Marital status	.,						
Married/widow/divorced	12,691 (83.26)	25.88 (15.94)	0.099	8.06 (7.85)	0.012	26.99 (12.56)	<0.001
Jnmarried	2,552 (16.74)	25.31 (15.93)	0.000	8.49 (7.84)	0.012	25.87 (12.34)	<0.001
ncome level	2,002 (10.14)	20.01 (10.00)		0.40 (1.04)		20.07 (12.04)	
	1 672 (10 07)	01 64 (15 47)	<0.001	6 97 (7 05)	<0.001	09 21 (12 40)	<0.001
High	1,672 (10.97)	21.64 (15.47)	<0.001	6.87 (7.25)	<0.001	28.31 (13.40)	<0.001
Viddle	6,746 (44.26)	25.04 (15.37)		7.73 (7.45)		27.17 (12.26)	
_OW	6,825 (44.77)	27.53 (16.36)		8.84 (8.30)		26.07 (12.52)	
Nork tenure, y	1 001 (00 00)		0.001	7 07 (7 50)	0.001		0.001
≤3	4,921 (32.28)	24.41 (15.75)	<0.001	7.87 (7.52)	<0.001	26.03 (12.45)	<0.001
>3 and ≤ 6	3,114 (20.43)	26.76 (15.94)		8.67 (8.16)		26.20 (12.46)	
>6 and ≤ 11	3,424 (22.46)	27.79 (15.80)		8.77 (8.18)		27.01 (12.19)	
>11	3,784 (24.82)	24.94 (16.09)		7.44 (7.62)		28.12 (12.86)	
Contract status							
Permanent	9,715 (63.75)	25.55 (15.91)	0.186	8.07 (7.83)	0.214	27.11 (12.55)	<0.001
Femporary	5,528 (36.27)	25.91 (15.96)		8.24 (7.89)		26.26 (12.47)	
Professional title							
Elementary or below	5,349 (35.09)	25.25 (16.08)	<0.001	8.31 (7.92)	< 0.001	25.56 (12.57)	<0.001
ntermediate	5,861 (38.45)	27.71 (15.72)		8.78 (8.06)		26.90 (11.91)	
Senior	4,033 (26.46)	23.68 (15.77)		6.95 (7.29)		28.32 (13.15)	
Ownership							
Governmental	14,599 (95.78)	25.97 (15.96)	<0.001	8.20 (7.88)	< 0.001	26.78 (12.50)	0.242
Non-governmental	644 (4.22)	21.51 (14.98)		6.51 (6.79)		27.37 (13.08)	
_evel of hospital							
Three-grade level	10,152 (66.60)	26.14 (15.83)	<0.001	8.29 (7.87)	< 0.001	26.86 (12.35)	0.513
Fwo-grade level	4,841 (31.76)	25.38 (16.14)		7.94 (7.84)		26.72 (12.81)	
Other	250 (1.64)	18.78 (14.95)		5.53 (6.53)		26.04 (14.07)	
Shift work		× ,		. ,		× *	
/es	13,288 (87.17)	26.76 (15.87)	<0.001	8.55 (7.98)	<0.001	26.50 (12.29)	<0.001
No	1,955 (12.83)	19.14 (14.81)		5.31 (6.19)		28.87 (13.87)	
Norkplace violence	,	((
Yes	13,699 (89.87)	27.13 (15.65)	<0.001	8.65 (7.92)	<0.001	26.95 (12.07)	<0.001
	,	13.79 (13.27)	-0.001	3.54 (5.27)	-0.001	25.50 (15.97)	~0.001

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Variables	N (%)	EE scores [M (SD)]	P-value	DP scores [M (SD)]	P-value	PA scores [M (SD)]	P-value
Self-perceived health	status						
Good	4,707 (30.88)	17.60 (14.04)	< 0.001	5.54 (6.40)	< 0.001	27.70 (14.25)	< 0.001
Fair	7,729 (50.71)	26.85 (14.90)		8.31 (7.53)		26.53 (11.88)	
Poor	2,807 (18.42)	36.55 (14.38)		11.99 (9.14)		26.05 (11.01)	
BMI (kg/m²)							
<25	9,588 (62.90)	25.53 (15.86)	0.013	7.89 (7.67)	< 0.001	26.64 (12.50)	0.032
≥25	5,655 (37.10)	26.20 (16.08)		8.54 (8.12)		27.09 (12.57)	
History of hypertensio	n						
Yes	2,317 (15.20)	28.72 (16.21)	< 0.001	9.38 (8.56)	< 0.001	27.57 (12.16)	0.001
No	12,926 (84.80)	25.25 (15.84)		7.91 (7.69)		26.67 (12.59)	
History of diabetes							
Yes	598 (3.92)	28.19 (17.22)	<0.001	9.29 (9.01)	< 0.001	27.15 (12.94)	0.496
No	14,645 (96.08)	25.68 (15.88)		8.08 (7.79)		26.79 (12.51)	
History of coronary he	eart disease						
Yes	471 (3.09)	34.17 (16.10)	< 0.001	11.10 (9.29)	< 0.001	28.33 (12.00)	0.007
No	14,772 (96.91)	25.51 (15.87)		8.04 (7.78)		26.75 (12.54)	
Smoking status							
Non-smokers	12,287 (80.61)	25.56 (15.88)	0.001	8.01 (7.73)	< 0.001	26.64 (12.47)	0.001
Smokers	2,956 (19.39)	26.68 (16.16)		8.63 (8.32)		27.49 (12.73)	
Alcohol drinking							
Non-drinkers	1,1451 (75.12)	25.86 (15.90)	0.270	7.93 (7.71)	< 0.001	26.78 (12.44)	0.753
Drinkers	3,792 (24.88)	25.53 (16.07)		8.74 (8.22)		26.86 (12.79)	
Physical inactivity							
Yes	11,098 (72.81)	27.29 (15.76)	< 0.001	8.56 (7.94)	< 0.001	26.49 (12.05)	< 0.001
No	4,145 (27.19)	21.75 (15.73)		6.98 (7.49)		27.64 (13.69)	
Sleeping quality							
Good	2,295 (15.06)	15.39 (13.15)	< 0.001	4.66 (5.74)	< 0.001	28.55 (14.62)	< 0.001
Fair	7,347 (48.20)	23.46 (14.91)		7.58 (7.31)		26.48 (12.63)	
Poor	5,601 (36.74)	33.09 (14.99)		10.28 (8.61)		26.51 (11.36)	
CES-D scores							
<20	9,818 (64.41)	18.54 (12.86)	<0.001	5.02 (5.36)	< 0.001	27.40 (13.64)	< 0.001
≥20	5,425 (35.59)	38.88 (12.18)		13.76 (8.47)		25.72 (10.12)	

P-value is the result of ANOVA analysis.

*Associate's degree or vocational Diploma: Mainly cultivate vocational and technical students. Education level below bachelor's degree.

EE, Emotional Exhaustion; DP, Depersonalization; PA, Personal Accomplishment; BMI, Body Mass Index; CES-D, Center for EpidemiologicalStudies-Depression Scale.

or above (94.2%). The mean age (SD) was 37.66 (8.1) years. Approximately 65% of the participants had intermediate or senior professional titles. In total, 55.23% of the respondents were in the middle- and lower-income groups, more than half estimated their own health to be at the general level, and \sim 40% were from developing regions. A minority of the participants (27.2%) participated in regular physical activity (**Table 1**).

The participants' mean scores were 25.8 (SD = 15.9; range = 0-54) on the EE subscale, 8.1 (SD = 7.9; range = 0-30) on the DP subscale, and 26.8 (SD = 12.5; range = 0-48) on the PA subscale, indicating a pattern of moderate EE, moderate DP, and high PA. The distribution of the sample is normally distributed. The plots of the mean domain score and thresholds can be seen in **Figure 1**. **Table 2** shows the prevalence of burnout and its dimensions among emergency physicians. Among the participants, 46.8% reported high levels

of EE burnout, 24.1% reported high levels on DP burnout, and 60.5% exhibited reduced feelings of PA. In total, 15.0% scored high for all three dimensions.

The factors associated with the emergency physicians' burnout and three dimensions of burnout are presented in **Table 3**, including gender, age, region, education level, marital status, work tenure, professional title, ownership, shift work, workplace violence, self-perceived health status, BMI, history of hypertension and coronary heart disease, smoking and alcohol drinking status, physical inactivity, sleeping quality and depression.

For emotional exhaustion, respondents who are female ($\beta = 1.8$) and smokers ($\beta = 0.8$), worked in developed country ($\beta = 0.6$) and governmental ownership ($\beta = 2.1$), had higher education level [bachelor degree ($\beta = 2.4$) or master degree or higher ($\beta = 2.4$)] and higher CES-D scores ($\beta = 16.1$),

longer work tenure [>6 and ≤ 11 ($\beta = 0.9$) or >11 ($\beta = 0.6$)], intermediate professional title ($\beta = 0.5$), poorer self-perceived health status [fair ($\beta = 3.6$) or poor ($\beta = 6.7$)] and better sleeping quality [fair ($\beta = 2.9$) or poor ($\beta = 5.8$)], had history of hypertension ($\beta = 0.7$) and coronary heart disease ($\beta = 2.1$), participate in physical inactivity ($\beta = 1.2$), experienced shift work $(\beta = 2.2)$, and workplace violence $(\beta = 5.8)$ have higher EE scores. For depersonalization, respondents who are unmarried $(\beta = 0.4)$ and drinker $(\beta = 0.7)$, worked in developed country $(\beta = 0.3)$, had higher education level [bachelor degree ($\beta = 1.1$) or master degree or higher ($\beta = 1.4$)], poorer self-perceived health status [fair ($\beta = 0.8$) or poor ($\beta = 2.0$)] and poorer



FIGURE 1 | Violin plot showing threshold and distribution for burnout. Yellow lines indicate high burnout threshold with respect to each domain. Arrows indicate all participants who met or exceeded the high threshold for burnout. EE, emotional exhaustion; DP, depersonalization; PA, personal achievement.

sleeping quality [fair ($\beta = 0.9$) or poor ($\beta = 0.8$)], had history of hypertension ($\beta = 0.5$), coronary heart disease ($\beta = 0.8$) and higher CES-D scores ($\beta = 16.1$) have higher DP scores; while those who are female ($\beta = -0.8$) and older [>37 and <43 (β = -0.4) or >43 ($\beta = -1.1$)] have lower DP scores.

For personal accomplishment, respondents who are female $(\beta = 2.0)$, smoker $(\beta = 1.4)$ and older [>37 and ≤ 43 $(\beta = 1.0)$ or >43 ($\beta = 2.6$)], worked in middle-developed ($\beta = 0.8$) or developed country ($\beta = 0.7$), had intermediate professional title ($\beta = 0.6$), the BMI of over 25 ($\beta = 0.6$) and coronary heart disease ($\beta = 1.3$), experienced workplace violence ($\beta = 2.4$) have higher PA scores; while those who had poorer self-perceived health status [fair ($\beta = -0.9$) or poor ($\beta = -1.2$)], poorer sleeping quality [fair ($\beta = -1.4$) or poor ($\beta = -0.8$)] and higher CES-D scores ($\beta = -1.4$), experienced shift work ($\beta = -1.0$).

DISCUSSION

According to the findings of a previous meta-study (N = 4-7,830) (48), this study is the largest cross-sectional study of physician burnout in the world (7, 8). We found that 15.0% of the emergency physicians had a high level of burnout in China, with 46.9% scoring high for emotional exhaustion, 24.1% scoring high for depersonalization, and 60.5% having a high risk of low PA. Compared with a previous meta-analysis (17) on the level of burnout among emergency physicians (high EE = 40%, high DP = 41%, low PA = 35%), this study showed that more emergency physicians had high DP and low PA and fewer physicians had high DP. In addition, we identified a number of representative factors that clearly correlate with the development of occupational burnout among emergency physicians and reflect potential challenges in the practice of emergency physicians.

Sleep Quality and Depression Were Significantly Associated With Burnout Among Emergency Physicians

Previous research has shown that job stress can have a variety of consequences, including damage to health (49), reduced quality of life (22), and psychological problems (24, 25). Another study reported that long-term work stress will lead to the potential for negative effects on the quality of patient care (50).

TABLE 2 The prevalence of burnout in emergency physicians according to three distinct dimensions of burnout.
--

Variables	Burnout in all three dimensions		E	а	DF	b	PA	C
	N	% (95%CI)	N	%	N	%	N	%
Low ^d	1,301	8.5	5,098	33.4	8,601	56.4	3,112	20.4
Moderate	11,662	76.5	3,015	19.8	2,970	19.5	2,908	19.1
High ^e	2,280	15.0	7,130	46.8	3,672	24.1	9,223	60.5

DP, Depersonalization; EE, Emotion exhaustion; PA, Personal accomplishment.

^aScore < 16 indicated low level; 17–26 indicated moderate level; >27 indicated high level.

^bScore ≤ 6 indicated low level; 7–12 indicated moderate level; ≥13 indicated high level.

^cScore ≥ 39 indicated low level; 32–38 indicated moderate level; ≤31 indicated high level.

^d Low degree of burnout was defined by a low score on the subscales for EE and DP, and a high score on the PA subscale.

^e High degree of burnout was defined by a high score on the subscales for EE and DP, and a low score on the PA subscale.

TABLE 3 | Correlates of burnout in emergency physicians: results of stepwise regression.

Variables		EE	DP			PA
	β	95%CI	β	95%CI	β	95%CI
Gender (Ref: male)						
Female	1.776	1.334 to 2.217	-0.779	-1.023 to -0.535	1.995	1.527 to 2.462
Age group, y (Ref: ≤31)						
>31 and ≤ 37	_	_	_	_	_	_
	_	_	-0.401	-0.675 to -0.127	1.033	0.520 to 1.547
>43	_	_	-1.117	-1.411 to -0.823	2.551	2.025 to 3.077
Region (Ref: less-developed)						
Developed	0.598	0.206 to 0.990	0.332	0.117 to 0.548	0.709	0.243 to 1.175
Middle-developed	_	_	_	_	0.826	0.315 to 1.336
Education level (Ref: associate	e's degree or voc	ational diploma)				
Bachelor degree	2.411	1.601 to 3.221	1.089	0.640 to 1.539	_	_
Master degree or higher	2.827	1.954 to 3.701	1.446	0.960 to 1.932	_	_
Marital status (Ref: married/w	idow/divorced)					
Unmarried	_	_	0.361	0.069 to 0.654	_	_
Income level (Ref: low)						
High	_	_	_	_	_	_
Middle	_	_	_	_	_	_
Work tenure, y (Ref: ≤3)						
>3 and ≤ 6	_	_	_	_	_	_
>6 and ≤ 11	0.861	0.369 to 1.352	_	_	_	_
>11	0.600	0.120 to 1.080	_	_	_	_
Contract status (Ref: tempora						
Permanent	_	_	_	_	_	_
Professional title (Ref: elemen	tary or below)					
Intermediate	0.501	0.095 to 0.906	_	_	0.590	0.168 to 1.012
Senior	_	_	_	_	_	_
Ownership (Ref: non-governm	ental)					
Governmental	2.088	1.153 to 3.024	0.846	0.330 to 1.362	_	_
Level of hospital (Ref: other)						
Three-grade level	_	_	_	_	_	_
Two-grade level	_	_	_	_	_	_
Shift work (Ref: no)						
Yes	2.164	1.566 to 2.762	0.815	0.475 to 1.155	-0.965	-1.618 to -0.31
Workplace violence (Ref: no)						
Yes	5.802	5.160 to 6.444	2.152	1.798 to 2.506	2.406	1.730 to 3.082
Self-perceived health status (F	Ref: good)					
Fair	3.633	3.172 to 4.094	0.803	0.550 to 1.056	-0.933	-1.414 to -0.45
Poor	6.732	6.086 to 7.379	1.907	1.553 to 2.261	-1.185	-1.856 to -0.513
BMI (kg/m ²) (Ref: <25)						
≥25	_	_	_	_	0.619	0.196 to 1.043
History of hypertension (Ref: r	10)					
Yes	0.748	0.196 to 1.299	0.478	0.169 to 0.788	_	_
History of diabetes (Ref: no)						
Yes	_	_	_	_	_	_
History of coronary heart dise	ase (Ref: no)					
Yes	2.062	0.950 to 3.173	0.798	0.184 to 1.412	1.251	0.089 to 2.414
Smoking status (Ref: non-smo						
Smokers	0.761	0.259 to 1.264	_	_	1.397	0.869 to 1.925
Alcohol drinking (Ref: non-dri						
Drinkers	_	_	0.742	0.485 to 0.999	_	_

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Variables		EE		DP		PA	
	β	95%CI	β	95%CI	β	95%CI	
Physical inactivity (Ref: no)							
Yes	1.168	0.727 to 1.609	_	_	_	_	
Sleeping quality (Ref: good)							
Fair	2.898	2.321 to 3.475	0.905	0.588 to 1.222	-1.400	-2.005 to -0.794	
Poor	5.757	5.103 to 6.410	0.819	0.460 to 1.178	-0.825	-1.509 to -0.141	
CES-D scores (Ref: <20)							
≥20	16.137	15.707 to 16.568	7.663	7.426 to 7.901	-1.433	-1.886 to -0.980	

R²: EE: 0.457; DP: 0.318; PA: 0.025.

EE, Emotional Exhaustion; DP, Depersonalization; PA, Personal Accomplishment; BMI, Body Mass Index; CES-D, Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depression Scale.

This study demonstrates that these adverse effects ultimately lead to occupational burnout among emergency physicians. Because emergency physicians need to deal with patients in the acute stage, they are one of the groups experiencing the most stress among all types of physicians (27) and should be given full attention.

Studies have shown that chronic work stress can affect sleep quality, especially among physicians (22, 51). Emergency physicians are under great work pressure, and burnout occurs along with a decline in sleep quality. Similarly, the participants in this study with a previous history of hypertension and coronary heart disease showed higher emotional exhaustion and depersonalization. The results of a previous meta-study suggest that job stress has a significant impact on burnout (52). Therefore, emergency physicians must be alert to their high work burden and take corresponding measures to improve their quality of life.

Work stress can not only cause quality of life and health to decline but also take a toll on mental health (24, 53). Previous studies have suggested that a high workload can affect mental health (27, 54). This phenomenon is particularly common for emergency physicians and may lead to psychological problems such as depression, and depression is significantly correlated increased emotional exhaustion and depersonalization as well as a deficiency in personal accomplishment. Therefore, it is necessary to pay full attention to the mental health of emergency physicians and take targeted measures to improve their well-being, which is of great significance for maintaining the stability of emergency physician groups (24, 53).

Emergency Physicians in Governmental Hospitals and Developed Areas Showed a High Level of Burnout

China's public hospitals, especially emergency departments, must receive a large number of patients (55). This is because Chinese residents generally trust governmental hospitals to maintain a high quality of medical care (especially in emergency situations); in addition, the Chinese government implements a universal health care policy, and the average cost of treatment in governmental hospitals is lower than that in non-governmental hospitals (56). Residents prefer to select governmental hospitals for medical treatment, and governmental hospitals face far more emergency demands than non-governmental hospitals, which leads to emergency physicians in governmental hospitals needing to treat a large number of emergency patients (55). In this study, as the workload increased, the emergency physicians' EE and DP increased. In recent years, the Chinese government has been working hard to develop the diagnosis and treatment capacity of non-governmental hospitals and reduce the cost of diagnosis and treatment to support non-governmental hospitals in sharing the excess demand of governmental hospitals (57).

In addition, emergency physicians in China also show different levels of burnout in different regions, with emergency physicians in developed regions having higher EE and DP.

This phenomenon may be the result of regional differences in the demand for medical services (29). Due to regional economic differences (32), the population of developed regions is much larger than that of less developed regions, so hospitals in developed regions face a greater burden, and the physicians in these hospitals are more prone to occupational burnout. In addition, highly skilled physicians are more likely to practice in developed regions, which further exacerbates the imbalance in the supply of health resources and induces more patients to seek medical treatment in developed regions (27). At present, the Chinese government has taken a series of measures to try to balance the supply of medical services in different regions, including through the development of remote diagnosis and treatment (58) and the construction of medical confederations to improve the level of diagnosis and treatment in underdeveloped areas and to reduce the workload of physicians in developed areas in the future.

Physicians With Intermediate Titles and Those Who Worked Shift Work and Experienced Workplace Violence Were More Likely to Suffer From Burnout

One group that needs to be considered is physicians with intermediate titles. In previous studies, this group has not been given sufficient attention. However, this study found that physicians with intermediate professional titles had the highest

EE and the highest PA, indicating that on the one hand, they had a higher sense of job achievement, but on the other hand, they had a higher sense of burnout. This finding is very interesting, and it is very likely that this phenomenon reflects the current state of physician practice in China. Compared with young physicians, physicians with intermediate titles are given more important tasks, and compared with physicians with senior professional titles, they need to work harder to gain promotion opportunities (59). Therefore, physicians with intermediate professional titles in China are the backbone of medical services and the hardest working physician group. However, due to the heavy work and family burdens that these physicians may face, they need to take care of their parents as well as their children and manage complex social relations, so they are more prone to burnout. More attention should be given to the physical and mental health statuses of middle-aged physicians, which should be the focus of health researchers and policy makers.

Another group that needs to be considered is emergency physicians who engage in shift work, who have higher EE and DP as well as significantly lower PA than those who do not. Previous studies have documented the physical effects of shift work, which can lead to decreased energy levels and physical and mental health problems (36, 60). Emergency physicians are required to provide emergency medical services around the clock, so most emergency physicians have to perform shift work, which is especially common in China, where a large amount of medical services must be provided. Therefore, the managers of medical institutions should further improve the scientific basis of management (61) and avoid emergency physicians having to perform shift work.

Physician-patient conflict also affects the occupational burnout of emergency physicians. In recent years, conflict between physicians and patients has become increasingly prominent in China (37). This conflict mainly refers to the imbalance between the supply and demand of medical services but also reflects the tension in interpersonal relations, the frequent occurrence of violent incidents and the instability of the social environment (38). In the face of workplace violence, physicians may become suspicious of medical services, which in turn reduces the quality of medical services provided and ultimately damages patients' health (39). Physicians are also more prone to burnout and occupational rejection after being exposed to violence. This study proves that workplace violence has a strong impact on occupational burnout, which leads to an increase in EE and DP and a decrease in PA. In recent years, China has taken an increasing number of measures to improve the relationship between physicians and patients and maintain the professional image of physicians, which will help to maintain the stability of the emergency physician group (27).

Organizational psychology research has explored ways to ameliorate physician burnout. Gagné and Deci suggested that financial incentives may not directly prevent or reduce burnout (60), and our results support the hypothesis that income level may not be a factor in burnout among emergency physicians. In reality, Gagné and Deci posited three pillars that support professionals' intrinsic motivation and psychological well-being: competence, autonomy, and relatedness (60). However, in China, emergency physicians with only intermediate professional titles have to take on a large amount of work, which is not in line with the principle of competence. Management systems that are not based on scientific evidence rob emergency physicians of the right to take volitional action and force them to perform shift work and comply with other unreasonable institutional arrangements. In addition, the high incidence of workplace violence undermines the intimacy of the doctor-patient relationship. Our results support previous suggestions that stripping away these three competencies may be a deeper cause of physician burnout. Therefore, an important direction for future research is to explore strategies to reduce physicians' burnout from the perspective of organizational psychology.

Finally, this study found that several demographic characteristics also influenced the burnout of emergency physicians to varying degrees. Studies have shown that female physicians have higher EE and PA, while male physicians have higher DP, and that burnout declines as physicians age. In addition, the physicians in this study who had higher education levels, who were unmarried, and who had been in the emergency department for longer were more likely to report burnout. In conclusion, this study systematically demonstrated the potential sources of occupational burnout among emergency physicians by analyzing various factors. Together with previous evidence that burnout can effectively be reduced with moderate levels of investment, these findings suggest substantial economic value of policy and organizational expenditures for burnout reduction programs for physicians (6). Therefore, appropriate measures should be taken to reduce the job burnout of emergency physicians according to the findings of this study.

Strengths and Limitations

Conducted in China, the largest developing country in the world, our study used a large-sample cross-sectional survey to explore the influencing factors of occupational burnout among emergency physicians. First, the large sample size significantly increased the statistical power to detect burnout. We surveyed nearly a quarter (19) of the nation's emergency physicians, so the study was representative. Second, this study presented a broad view of the challenges faced by emergency physicians and reflects the practice status of physicians in China. This study closely examined the challenges faced by emergency physicians, such as decreased sleep quality, poor physical condition, depression, and workplace violence, and demonstrated the impact of these factors on burnout. Through quantitative analysis, it was found that working in public hospitals, working in developed areas and performing shift work were important reasons for increased occupational burnout in emergency physicians. In particular, the study innovatively proposed that emergency physicians with intermediate titles have the highest sense of achievement and burnout, which provides a reference for future research. Third, the survey was anonymous and self-administered, which likely made the respondents provide more valid responses and eliminated interviewer bias.

This study had several limitations. First, the study used a cross-sectional study design, which precluded the evaluation of the temporality of the observed relationships. Second, the data were collected from the participants' self-reports; thus, recall bias was unavoidable. Finally, the study was performed before the COVID-19 pandemic, which may have led to changes in the burnout of emergency physicians after the pandemic.

Suggestions for Future Research

The findings of our study can serve as a reference for further research in the future. Based on our findings, we suggest that, first, prospective studies are needed to investigate the association between the identified factors and burnout. Second, this study highlights the need for the investigation or implementation of interventions to improve emergency physicians' wellbeing or promote strategies to reduce work burnout on emergency physicians in China's emergency healthcare settings, include more rest time, more flexible schedules, and adequate salary. Finally, investigating the potential impact of burnout on emergency physicians' work performance, the quality of patient care delivery, and family life would provide important insights.

CONCLUSION

The results of the large-sample survey showed that 14.9% of emergency physicians had a high level of burnout in China, with 46.78% scoring high for EE, 24.1% scoring high for DP, and 60.5% having a high risk of low PA. Self-perceived health status, sleep quality, depression, region, ownership, professional title, workplace violence, shift work and other factors were the main factors associated with the prevalence of burnout. Positive measures should be taken to reduce the burnout of emergency physicians and improve their work enthusiasm to maintain the quality of emergency medical services.

REFERENCES

- 1. Jin MU, Jeong SH, Kim EK, Choi YH, Song KB. Burnout and its related factors in Korean dentists. *Int Dent J.* (2015) 65:22–31. doi: 10.1111/idj.12142
- Maslach C, Schaufeli WB, Leiter MP. Job burnout. Annu Rev Psychol. (2001) 52:397–422. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.397
- Panagioti M, Geraghty K, Johnson J. How to prevent burnout in cardiologists? A review of the current evidence, gaps, and future directions. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* (2018) 28:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2017.06.018
- Aiken LH, Clarke SP, Sloane DM, Sochalski J, Silber JH. Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. *JAMA*. (2002) 288:1987–93. doi: 10.1001/jama.288.16.1987
- Adriaenssens J, De Gucht V, Maes S. Determinants and prevalence of burnout in emergency nurses: a systematic review of 25 years of research. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2015) 52:649–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.11.004
- Han S, Shanafelt TD, Sinsky CA, Awad KM, Dyrbye LN, Fiscus LC, et al. Estimating the attributable cost of physician burnout in the United States. *Ann Intern Med.* (2019) 170:784–90. doi: 10.7326/M18-1422
- Lepnurm R, Lockhart WS, Keegan D. A measure of daily distress in practising medicine. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2009) 54:170– 80. doi: 10.1177/070674370905400305

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Ethics Board of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Hainan Medical University, Haikou, China, in accordance with the Chinese Statistical Law. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SY, XS, YG, and CL conceived and designed the study. RW and ZL participated in the acquisition of data. XS analyzed the data. SY gave advice on methodology. SY and XS drafted the manuscript. XH, YG, and CL revised the manuscript. CL is the guarantors of this work and had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for its integrity and the accuracy of the data analysis. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82160647) and the Hainan Provincial Key Research and Development Project (ZDYF2020112).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the study participants and all staff members involved in this study for their efforts in the data collection.

- Shanafelt TD, Boone S, Tan L, Dyrbye LN, Sotile W, Satele D, et al. Burnout and satisfaction with work-life balance among US physicians relative to the general US population. *Arch Intern Med.* (2012) 172:1377– 85. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2012.3199
- Gulalp B, Karcioglu O, Sari A, Koseoglu Z. Burnout: need help? J Occup Med Toxicol. (2008) 3:32. doi: 10.1186/1745-6673-3-32
- Arora M, Asha S, Chinnappa J, Diwan AD. Review article: burnout in emergency medicine physicians. *Emerg Med Australas*. (2013) 25:491– 5. doi: 10.1111/1742-6723.12135
- Xu T, Xu J, Yu X, Ma S, Wang Z. Clinical decision-making by the emergency department resident physicians for critically ill patients. *Front Med-Prc.* (2012) 6:89–93. doi: 10.1007/s11684-012-0183-9
- Lu X, Xu S. Important role of emergency department doctors after the outbreak of COVID-19 in China. Br Assoc Accident Emerg Med. (2020) 37:334. doi: 10.1136/emermed-2020-209633
- Durand AC, Bompard C, Sportiello J, Michelet P, Gentile S. Stress and burnout among professionals working in the emergency department in a French university hospital: prevalence and associated factors. *Work*. (2019) 63:57–67. doi: 10.3233/WOR-192908
- 14. Moukarzel A, Michelet P, Durand AC, Sebbane M, Bourgeois S, Markarian T, et al. Burnout syndrome among emergency department

staff: prevalence and associated factors. *Biomed Res Int.* (2019) 2019:6462472. doi: 10.1155/2019/6462472

- Lu DW, Weygandt PL, Pinchbeck C, Strout TD. Emergency medicine trainee burnout is associated with lower patients' satisfaction with their emergency department care. AEM Educ Train. (2018) 2:86–90. doi: 10.1002/aet2.10094
- Baier N, Roth K, Felgner S, Henschke C. Burnout and safety outcomes a cross-sectional nationwide survey of EMS-workers in Germany. *BMC Emerg Med.* (2018) 18:24. doi: 10.1186/s12873-018-0177-2
- Zhang Q, Mu M, He Y, Cai Z, Li Z. Burnout in emergency medicine physicians: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Medicine*. (2020) 99:e21462. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000021462
- The Lancet. Physician burnout: a global crisis. Lancet. (2019) 394:93. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31573-9
- Pan C, Pang J, Cheng K, Xu F, Chen Y. Trends and challenges of emergency and acute care in Chinese mainland: 2005-2017. World J Emerg Med. (2021) 12:5–11. doi: 10.5847/wjem.j.1920-8642.2021.01.001
- Zhou H, Li C, Yan Y. The emergency department in China: status and challenges. Br Assoc Accident Emerg Med. (2014) 31:85–6. doi: 10.1136/emermed-2013-202912
- Williams ES, Konrad TR, Scheckler WE, Pathman DE, Linzer M, McMurray JE, et al. Understanding physicians' intentions to withdraw from practice: the role of job satisfaction, job stress, mental and physical health. (2001). *Health Care Manage Rev.* (2010) 35:105–15. doi: 10.1097/01.HMR.0000304509.58297.6f
- Sun T, Gao L, Li F, Shi Y, Xie F, Wang J, et al. Workplace violence, psychological stress, sleep quality and subjective health in Chinese doctors: a large cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7:e17182. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017182
- Yang G, Li C, Zhu X, Yan J, Liu J. Prevalence of and risk factors associated with sleep disturbances among HPCD exposed to COVID-19 in China. *Sleep Med.* (2021) 80:16–22. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2020.12.034
- Song X, Fu W, Liu X, Luo Z, Wang R, Zhou N, et al. Mental health status of medical staff in emergency departments during the Coronavirus disease 2019 epidemic in China. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 88:60– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.06.002
- 25. Kang L, Ma S, Chen M, Yang J, Wang Y, Li R, et al. Impact on mental health and perceptions of psychological care among medical and nursing staff in Wuhan during the 2019 novel coronavirus disease outbreak: a cross-sectional study. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 87:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.028
- Fu C, Wang G, Shi X, Cao F. Social support and depressive symptoms among physicians in tertiary hospitals in China: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2021) 21:217. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03219-w
- Hu Y, Zhang Z. Skilled doctors in tertiary hospitals are already overworked in China. *The Lancet Global Health*. (2015) 3:e737. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(15)00192-8
- Chen J, Xu J, Zhang C, Fu X. Medical professionalism among clinical physicians in two tertiary hospitals, China. *Soc Sci Med 1982*. (2013) 96:290– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.09.044
- Yu X, Zhang W. All-cause mortality rate in China: do residents in economically developed regions have better health? *Int J Equity Health*. (2020) 19:12. doi: 10.1186/s12939-020-1128-6
- Li J, Liu J, Ma Y, Peng P, He X, Guo W. Imbalanced regional development of acute ischemic stroke care in emergency departments in China. *Emerg Med Int.* (2019) 2019:3747910. doi: 10.1155/2019/3747910
- Zhou L, Xu X, Antwi HA, Wang L. Towards an equitable healthcare in China: evaluating the productive efficiency of community health centers in Jiangsu Province. *Int J Equity Health.* (2017) 16:89. doi: 10.1186/s12939-017-0586-y
- Nong S, Yao NA. Reasons behind stymied public hospital governance reform in China. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e222204. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0222204
- Zhao D, Zhang Z. Qualitative analysis of direction of public hospital reforms in China. Front Med. (2018) 12:218–23. doi: 10.1007/s11684-017-0534-7
- 34. Yip WC, Hsiao WC, Chen W, Hu S, Ma J, Maynard A. Early appraisal of China's huge and complex health-care reforms. *Lancet.* (2012) 379:833– 42. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61880-1
- Kimo TJ, Ramoska EA, Clark TR, Hansoti B, Dougherty J, Freeman W, et al. Factors associated with burnout during emergency medicine residency. *Acad Emerg Med.* (2014) 21:1031–5. doi: 10.1111/acem.12464

- Angerer P, Schmook R, Elfantel I, Li J. Night work and the risk of depression. DTSCH Arztebl Int. (2017) 114:404–11. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.20 17.0404
- 37. Wu Y, Jiang F, Ma J, Tang Y, Wang M, Liu Y. Experience of medical disputes, medical disturbances, verbal and physical violence, and burnout among physicians in China. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 11:556517. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.556517
- Xu W. Violence against doctors in China. Lancet. (2014) 384:745. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61438-0
- 39. Panagioti M, Geraghty K, Johnson J, Zhou A, Panagopoulou E, Chew-Graham C, et al. Association between physician burnout and patient safety, professionalism, and patient satisfaction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2018) 178:1317–31. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.3713
- Maslach C, Jackson SE. The measurement of experienced burnout. J Organ Behav. (1981) 2:99–113. doi: 10.1002/job.4030020205
- Maslach C. ISLM Maslach Burnout Inventory. Menlo Park, CA: Mind Garden Inc. (1996).
- Cosco TD, Lachance CC, Blodgett JM, Stubbs B, Co M, Veronese N, et al. Latent structure of the centre for epidemiologic studies depression scale (CES-D) in older adult populations: a systematic review. *Aging Ment Health.* (2020) 24:700–4. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2019.1566434
- 43. Dozeman E, van Schaik DJ, van Marwijk HW, Stek ML, van der Horst HE, Beekman AT. The center for epidemiological studies depression scale (CES-D) is an adequate screening instrument for depressive and anxiety disorders in a very old population living in residential homes. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2011) 26:239–46. doi: 10.1002/gps.2519
- Cheng ST, Chan AC. The center for epidemiologic studies depression scale in older Chinese: thresholds for long and short forms. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2005) 20:465–70. doi: 10.1002/gps.1314
- 45. Vilagut G, Forero CG, Barbaglia G, Alonso J. Screening for depression in the general population with the center for epidemiologic studies depression (CES-D): a systematic review with meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e155431. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155431
- 46. Jiang L, Wang Y, Zhang Y, Li R, Wu H, Li C, et al. The reliability and validity of the center for epidemiologic studies depression scale (CES-D) for Chinese university students. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:315. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00315
- Wang PX, Wang MZ, Hu GX, Wang ZM. Study on the relationship between workplace violence and work ability among health care professionals in Shangqiu City. Wei Sheng Yan Jiu. (2006) 35:472–4.
- Rotenstein LS, Torre M, Ramos MA, Rosales RC, Guille C, Sen S, et al. Prevalence of burnout among physicians: a systematic review. *JAMA*. (2018) 320:1131–50. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.12777
- Hersch RK, Cook RF, Deitz DK, Kaplan S, Hughes D, Friesen MA, et al. Reducing nurses' stress: a randomized controlled trial of a web-based stress management program for nurses. *Appl Nurs Res.* (2016) 32:18–25. doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2016. 04.003
- Schrijver I. Pathology in the medical profession? Taking the pulse of physician wellness and burnout. Arch Pathol Lab Med. (2016) 140:976–82. doi: 10.5858/arpa.2015-0524-RA
- Xiao Y, Wang J, Chen S, Wu Z, Cai J, Weng Z, et al. Psychological distress, burnout level and job satisfaction in emergency medicine: a crosssectional study of physicians in China. *Emerg Med Australas*. (2014) 26:538– 42. doi: 10.1111/1742-6723.12315
- Watanabe M, Yamauchi K. The effect of quality of overtime work on nurses' mental health and work engagement. J Nurs Manag. (2018) 26:679– 88. doi: 10.1111/jonm.12595
- Maharaj S, Lees T, Lal S. Prevalence and risk factors of depression, anxiety, and stress in a cohort of Australian nurses. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2018) 16:61. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16010061
- 54. Ni T, Chen M, Zhou W, Zhao J, Jia D. Difference of physicians achievements between from public hospitals Medical Center in prehospital emergency. and emergency Medicine. (2018)97:e13070. doi: 10.1097/MD.0000000000 13070

- Yip W, Hsiao W. Harnessing the privatisation of China's fragmented health-care delivery. *Lancet.* (2014) 384:805– 18. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61120-X
- Han Y, Lie RK, Guo R. The internet hospital as a Telehealth model in China: systematic search and content analysis. J Med Internet Res. (2020) 22:e17995. doi: 10.2196/17995
- Yip WC, Hsiao W, Meng Q, Chen W, Sun X. Realignment of incentives for health-care providers in China. *Lancet.* (2010) 375:1120–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60063-3
- Maltese F, Adda M, Bablon A, Hraeich S, Guervilly C, Lehingue S, et al. Night shift decreases cognitive performance of ICU physicians. *Intens Care Med.* (2016) 42:393–400. doi: 10.1007/s00134-015-4115-4
- Panagioti M, Panagopoulou E, Bower P, Lewith G, Kontopantelis E, Chew-Graham C, et al. Controlled interventions to reduce burnout in physicians: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2017) 177:195– 205. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.7674
- Gagné M, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and work motivation. J Organ Behav. (2005) 26:331–62. doi: 10.1002/job.322
- Friedberg MW, Chen PG, Van Busum KR, Aunon F, Pham C, Caloyeras J, et al. Factors affecting physician professional satisfaction and their implications for patient care, health systems,

and health policy. Rand Health Q. (2014) 3:1. doi: 10.7249/R B9740

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Yan, Shen, Wang, Luo, Han, Gan and Lv. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Association Between the Number of Consecutive Night Shifts and Insomnia Among Shift Workers: A Multi-Center Study

Juho Sim¹, Byung-Yoon Yun², Jiho Lee³, Sung Kyung Kim^{4,5}, Seunghyun Lee⁶, Ara Cho⁷, Seunghan Kim², Chang-young Kim⁸, Yeon Suh Oh⁹ and Jin-Ha Yoon^{2,10*}

¹ Department of Public Health, Graduate School, Yonsei University, Seoul, South Korea, ² Department of Preventive Medicine, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, ³ Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Ulsan, South Korea, ⁴ Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Wonju Severance Christian Hospital, Wonju College of Medicine, Yonsei University, Wonju, South Korea, ⁵ Institute of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Yonsei University Wonju College of Medicine, Wonju, South Korea, ⁶ Research Affairs of Yonsei University, Seoul, South Korea, ⁷ Department of Occupational Health, Graduate School of Public Health, Yonsei University, Seoul, South Korea, ⁸ BigData Center, Ulsan University Hospital, Ulsan, South Korea, ⁹ Environmental Health Center, Ulsan University Hospital, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Ulsan, South Korea, ¹⁰ The Institute for Occupational Health, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danijela Gasevic, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Kyoung-Mu Lee, Korea National Open University, South Korea Giovanni Maria Ferri, University of Bari Medical School, Italy

> *Correspondence: Jin-Ha Yoon flyinyou@yuhs.ac

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Occupational Health and Safety, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 19 August 2021 Accepted: 25 October 2021 Published: 17 November 2021

Citation:

Sim J, Yun B-Y, Lee J, Kim SK, Lee S, Cho A, Kim S, Kim C-y, Oh Y and Yoon J-H (2021) The Association Between the Number of Consecutive Night Shifts and Insomnia Among Shift Workers: A Multi-Center Study. Front. Public Health 9:761279. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.761279 **Objectives:** There is a need to determine the optimal limit of consecutive night shift work to reduce insomnia caused by the accumulation of sleep problems among night shift workers. This study aimed to investigate the prevalence of insomnia caused by consecutive night shifts and evaluate the night shift duration that worsens insomnia the most, using a large amount of medical examination data.

Methods: Night shift profiles and baseline demographics data of three hospitals were collected from January 2015 to December 2017. For subjects who had been examined more than once at the same institution, information corresponding to the most recent date was used. Multivariate logistic regression was performed to estimate odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Pooled ORs were calculated by using the results of the three institutions.

Results: Of the 33,669 participants, 31.3% were female. The average age was 41.1 \pm 11.1 years and the prevalence of insomnia was 38.7% (n = 13,025). After adjusting for potential confounders and compared to workers who reported not working in consecutive night shifts, odds of insomnia were greatest among workers reporting working three consecutive nights (OR 2.65, 95% Cl 1.97–3.56) followed by those working two nights (OR 1.81, 95% Cl 1.45–2.26), five nights (OR 1.78, 95% Cl 1.56–2.03), and four nights (OR 1.68, 95% Cl 1.55–1.82).

Conclusion: Our study demonstrates a significant relationship between consecutive night shift and insomnia with multicenter examination data, using common data model. This study could be a basis for establishing policies and guidelines that improve night shift workers' health.

Keywords: insomnia, consecutive night shifts, shift workers, common data model (CDM), medical examination data

INTRODUCTION

Shift work is a working system used by 15-20% of employers worldwide as a way to provide continuous production or service every day (1). The change in working hours due to shift work was a social change related to the expansion in service industries (2). According to a survey conducted in 2015, 19% of workers worked at night in Europe (3), and approximately 40% of workers in the healthcare field of the European Union had shift work (4). In Republic of Korea, ~15.5% of all 89,582 companies worked shifts including night shifts (5).

Many studies have shown that shift work, including night shifts, was associated with the occurrence of various diseases. Shift work showed a significant correlation with cardiovascular disease, breast cancer, digestive disorders, arthritis, attention deficit, and fatigue as a consequence of mental and sleep problems (6–13). Working night shifts is associated with short sleep time, and causes sleep disorders such as insomnia and drowsiness (14, 15). Furthermore, insomnia, which is related to night shifts, has been shown to cause hypertension (16). According to a study of electronic manufacturers' employees in Republic of Korea, shift work was associated with insomnia, depression, and suicidal thoughts, respectively (17).

Various factors could be considered when studying the relationship between night shift work and sleep disorders, including insomnia. One study implied that nurses having <11 h between shifts showed significant positive association with insomnia, excessive sleepiness, and excessive fatigue (18). Another study revealed that fixed night shifts were more related to sleep and mental health problems than fixed day, rotating day, and rotating night shifts (19). Studies like these, which should be continuously performed, could help improve the health of night shift workers by providing basic data to be used as a management guideline for those workers.

Consecutive night shift can be a risk factor for various health problems. A quasi-experimental crossover study of police officers, showed that continuous night work shortened sleep time and caused deterioration of sleep quality, and there was an increase in sleep debt with longer consecutive night shifts (20). Therefore, there is a need for a study on the optimal limit of consecutive night shift work to reduce the fatigue caused by the accumulation of sleep problems among night shift workers.

Thus, this study aimed to investigate the prevalence of insomnia according to consecutive night shifts and to provide basic data for finding the safest consecutive night shift duration, using a large medical examination data.

METHODS

Study Population

Korean Workers Health Examination-Common Data Model (KWHE-CDM) was applied for five medical institutions that conduct special health checkups, two of which participated in this study. Data of the KWHE-CDM consists of general measurement, common questionnaires, special questionnaires, and night shift questionnaires. Data on night shift and baseline demographics were collected from January 2015 to December 2017. For subjects who had been examined more than once at the same institution, information corresponding to the most recent date was used.

In total, 13,311 workers from Sinchon Severance Hospital, 6,429 workers from Wonju Severance Hospital, and 13,929 workers from Ulsan University Hospital (33,669 workers) were recruited. The same analysis was conducted at each medical institution with the same statistic syntax so that equivalent results were calculated using the CDM method.

Procedure

The primary outcome of this study was the presence of insomnia. Insomnia was measured using the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) questionnaire, which has been broadly used as a reliable scale of insomnia. ISI is a survey tool used to quantify insomnia severity (21) and has been proven to be valid in Republic of Korea (22). Each question of the ISI is rated by a 5-point Likert scale, yielding a total score ranging from 0 to 28. Based on the score, the participants were categorized into four groups as follows: 0–7 (absence of insomnia), 8–14 (sub-threshold insomnia), 15–21 (moderate insomnia), and 22–28 (severe insomnia) (23). Those with scores ranging from 0–7 were classified into the non-insomnia group, and those in the other score categories (sub-threshold, moderate, and severe insomnia) were classified into the insomnia group.

Data on night shift work were collected from the participants, using the night shift questionnaires in the CDM. The number of consecutive night shifts was collected through a question "How many consecutive night shifts did you usually work in the past year?" using a 5-point Likert scale with the following answers: none, 2 nights, 3 nights, 4 nights, and \geq 5 nights, respectively.

Covariates used in the multivariate analysis were obtained from baseline demographics (age and sex) and night shift profiles including shift type, shift interval, and working hours. Shift type at current workplace was assessed, and the answers were categorized as follows: 3 shifts, 2 shifts, every other day, fixed, and irregular. Workers whose rest time between shifts was <11 h were classified into the "quick return" group; others were classified into "slow return" group. Whether workers worked 52 or more hours per week on average or not was used as a working-hour covariate.

Statistical Analysis

For continuous and categorical data, differences between participants with and without insomnia were evaluated using the independent *t*-test and the chi-square test, respectively. Odds ratios (ORs) of insomnia with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were estimated using a multiple logistic regression model. The association between shift work and insomnia was explored using multivariable logistic regression, and OR and 95%CI were reported. Model 1 was adjusted for sex and age, Model 2 was adjusted for sex, age, working hours, and rest time between shifts. The data of each hospital were analyzed with equivalent statistical methods. Based on the logistic regression results of each organization, meta-analysis was implemented to confirm the integrated results, and a random effect model was applied to

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of the entire participants stratified by insomnia.

	Total	Insomnia	Non-insomnia	P-value
	(N = 33,669)	(<i>N</i> = 13,025)	(N = 20,644)	
Sex				
Male	23,140 (68.7%)	8,391 (64.4%)	14,749 (71.4%)	<0.001
Female	10,529 (31.3%)	4,634 (35.6%)	5,895 (28.6%)	
Age				
$Mean\pmSD$	41.1 ± 11.1	40.4 ± 10.8	42.2 ± 11.2	<0.001
Working hours				
Under 52 h	24,595 (73.0%)	9,389 (72.1%)	15,206 (73.7%)	0.002
Over 52 h	9,074 (27.0%)	3,636 (27.9%)	5,438 (26.3%)	
Rest time between shifts				
Slow return (11 h or more)	26,094 (77.5%)	9,817 (75.4%)	16,277 (78.8%)	<0.001
Quick return (<11 h)	7,575 (22.5%)	3,208 (24.6%)	4,367 (21.2%)	
Consecutive night shifts				
None	7,238 (21.5%)	1,955 (15.0%)	5,283 (25.6%)	<0.001
2 nights	3,274 (9.7%)	1,331 (10.2%)	1,943 (9.4%)	
3 nights	4,041 (12.0%)	2,095 (16.1%)	1,946 (9.4%)	
4 nights	5,066 (15.0%)	1,983 (15.2%)	3,083 (14.9%)	
5 or more nights	14,050 (41.7%)	5,661 (43.5%)	8,389 (40.6%)	

"consecutive night shift" to further implement subgroup metaanalysis. The weight acquired through the standard error was used to generate pooled ORs and 95% CIs for insomnia.

All statistical tests were two-sided, and statistical significance was defined as a p < 0.05. The R software version 4.0.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) was used for all statistical analyses.

Ethics Statement

The study protocol was approved by Severance Hospital's Institutional Review Board and followed the ethical requirements of the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki (IRB: Y-2020-0011). Because of the retrospective nature of this study, informed permission from the participants was waived.

RESULTS

The baseline characteristics of the entire participants are summarized in **Table 1**. In total, 33,669 participants were recruited in this study, with an average age of 41.1 ± 11.1 years. The proportion of females was 31.3%, and the prevalence of insomnia was 38.7% (n = 13,025).

The workers with and without insomnia were 13,025 and 20,644, respectively. The proportion of women in insomnia group was 35.6% and that in the non-insomnia group was 28.6%, statistically significant differences (p < 0.001). The average age in insomnia group was 40.4 ± 10.8 years, 1.8 years younger than 42.2 ± 11.2 years in non-insomnia group, with a statistically significant difference (p < 0.001). Compared to workers with non-insomnia, those with insomnia were more likely to be female, having rest time between shifts of <11 h ("quick return"), and having five or more consecutive night shifts (p < 0.01 for all).

 TABLE 2 | Pooled odds ratios of insomnia in multivariable logistic regression models.

	Model 1	Model 2
Consecutive night shifts		
None	(Reference)	(Reference)
2 nights	1.69 (1.29–2.21)	1.81 (1.45-2.26)
3 nights	2.32 (1.59–3.39)	2.65 (1.97–3.56)
4 nights	1.78 (1.64–1.93)	1.68 (1.55–1.82)
5 or more nights	1.78 (1.54–2.06)	1.78 (1.56–2.03)

Adjusted for Model 1: sex, age.

Adjusted for Model 2: sex, age, working hours, Rest time between shifts.

Pooled ORs were calculated by using the results of the three institutions in **Table 2**. The factors affecting insomnia were sex, age, quick return, and consecutive night shift in all institutions. Model 1 was adjusted using age and sex as covariates. The final adjusted model used age, sex, working hour and quick return as covariates. In Model 2, all the answers regarding consecutive night shifts were significantly associated with insomnia compared with the "none." Additionally, "3 nights" had the highest OR of 2.65 (95% CI 1.97–3.56), followed by 2 nights, 5 nights, and 4 nights [2 nights: OR 1.81 (95% CI 1.45–2.26); 5 or more nights: OR 1.78 (95% CI 1.56–2.03); 4 nights: OR 1.68 (95% CI 1.55–1.82)].

The ORs of insomnia by consecutive night shifts in each institution are shown in **Figure 1**. Regardless of the number of consecutive night work days, all institutions showed higher OR values compared to those who did not. Moreover, all three institutions showed the highest OR in workers with 3 nights. The completed version of the baseline characteristics and the

Consecutive days	Case group		Control group				
	IS	Non IS	IS	Non IS			Odds Ratio [95% Cl]
Consecutive 5 days							
u_5days	2178	3632	833	2181		H	1.57 [1.43, 1.73]
w_5days	766	1288	487	1539		- ()-	1.88 [1.64, 2.15]
s_5days	2717	3469	635	1563			1.93 [1.74, 2.14]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 9.233, df = 2, p = 0.010; l^2 = 76.4%, τ^2 = 0.010)						•	1.78 [1.56, 2.03]
Consecutive 4 days							
u_4days	1296	2031	833	2181		H∰>	1.67 [1.50, 1.86]
w_4days	112	172	487	1539			2.06 [1.59, 2.67]
s_4days	575	880	635	1563		HB	1.61 [1.40, 1.85]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 2.74	40, df = 2, p = 0.254;	$l^2 = 0.1\%, \tau^2 = 0.000$))			•	1.68 [1.55, 1.82]
Consecutive 3 days							
u_3days	461	573	833	2181		H∎4∭≫	2.11 [1.82, 2.44]
w_3days	399	506	487	1539		Her	2.49 [2.11, 2.94]
s_3days	1235	867	635	1563			3.51 [3.09, 3.98]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 28.2	207, df = 2, p < .001;	$l^2 = 92.0\%, \tau^2 = 0.06$	33)			+	2.65 [1.97, 3.56]
Consecutive 2 days							
u_2days	282	462	833	2181		H	1.60 [1.35, 1.89]
w_2days	394	766	487	1539		H e ⊳_	1.63 [1.39, 1.90]
s_2days	655	715	635	1563		<##H	2.25 [1.96, 2.60]
RE Model for Subgroup (Q = 13.0	081, df = 2, p = 0.001	; $I^2 = 83.8\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0$)32)			+	1.81 [1.45, 2.26]
Test for Subgroup Differences:	Q _M = 10.727, df =	3, p = 0.013					
					0.25	1 2 4	
					Odds F	atio (log scale)	

FIGURE 1 | Odds ratios for prevalence of insomnia by consecutive night shift in each institution. IS, insomnia; u, Ulsan University; s, Severance; w, Wonju Severance.

multivariable logistic regression model of the institutions is summarized in **Supplementary Table 1**.

DISCUSSION

According to the results of this study, consecutive night shift was significantly associated with the presence of insomnia. This relationship was significant even after adjusting for covariates including age, sex, working hours, and quick return. Although a few studies have elucidated the relationship between consecutive night shift and insomnia, many people still worked night shifts for five consecutive nights or more on average in this study.

In a study of Korean nurses, the incidence of insomnia increased as the number of consecutive night shifts increased (24); however, in this study, the OR for insomnia was highest at "3 nights" compared to "none." When consecutive night shift was implemented, although the quality of sleep and the duration of sleep were shortened, the difference was not significant on days other than the last day, even with an increase in the number of consecutive night shifts and the presence of accumulated lack of sleep on the last day (25). Although consecutive night shift is an important factor in insomnia, insomnia does not seem to increase as the number of consecutive night shifts increases. Since it is wellknown that insomnia is associated with the development of various diseases including hypertension, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and mortality, consecutive night shifts should be adjusted, considering the health effects on workers (6, 7, 16).

In our study, working three consecutive night shifts had the highest OR for insomnia compared to others. Bjorn et al. conducted a study of adaptation and readaptation of night work on oil Rig night workers. The study implies that more consecutive night shifts induce circadian rhythm adaptation, resulting in better and longer sleep throughout the day (26). On the other hand, according to a study of police officers, sleep length adaptation did not occur even after six consecutive night shifts, and last day fatigue is the most difficult to recover from regardless of the number of consecutive shifts (20). This implies that workers with 3 consecutive shifts were more repetitively exposed that situation, which could result in higher OR of insomnia. Considering that short-term consecutive night shifts result in frequent fatigue and the effect of long-term continuous night shift on sleep is unclear, it is necessary to establish accurate standards for consecutive night shifts, considering sleep health. Another explanation is linked with a healthy worker effect. Healthy worker effect indicates that healthier workers could selectively survive in harsh working environment (27). In our study, it is plausible that healthy workers who have already adapted to the harsh environment, which indicates 4 or 5 consecutive night shifts, might remain in the workplace, thus OR of insomnia could be underestimated.

Danish police officers preferred four consecutive night shifts to seven or two (28). The preferred number of consecutive night shifts in Republic of Korea has not been investigated, but it is expected that this number should depend on an individual's ability to recover. Shift work schedules varies according to economic incentives and family/individual life (29), and it was discovered that shift work schedules were established with family life as the primary consideration (30). Therefore, when adjusting the schedule for health, it will be impossible to do only the schedule that the individual wants. Further studies should be implemented to elucidate the appropriate number of consecutive night shifts with respect to workers' health.

This study has several strengths. First, using the CDM method for multiple institutions, many multicenter participants were enrolled. The same night shift questionnaires were used at each hospital and the data were standardized into an identical structure. Second, analysis was performed with verified variables, and validated survey of insomnia was used as an outcome. Through ISI, a valid assessment of insomnia could be made. Working year, working hours, short return, and consecutive night shift were all validated with several studies, as most workers in Republic of Korea answered the same questions (31, 32). Third, because we enrolled participants from various occupational field, the health effects of consecutive night shift on shift workers makes this study generalizable to various workers in other fields.

There are also some limitations in this study. First, lifestyle factors including drinking history, smoking history were not adjusted, which could affect the quality of sleep. Second, history of sleep disorders or related diseases including thyroid disease, psychiatric disease were not clarified in this study due to lack of data. It might be better to exclude or adjust for diseases related to insomnia if possible. Third, the exact profile of night shift was not provided. The number of consecutive shifts or shift intervals were not provided and the average trend in the questionnaire were used. Finally, this is a cross-sectional study and a causal relationship could not be established. However, insomnia symptoms were reported in the health examination data based on the symptoms in the last 2 weeks, whereas the questionnaires on night shift intensity reported data obtained 6-month prior to the survey date. Since exposure occurred before health consequence, some degree of temporal relationship could be achieved from this study. Therefore, causal relationship between consecutive night shifts and insomnia should be surely further studied in the future.

In conclusion, our study elucidates a significant relationship between consecutive night shift and insomnia using the CDM method with multicenter examination data. This study could be a basis for establishing policies and guidelines that improve night shift workers' health. Further studies should be performed to identify the causal relationship of consecutive night work and insomnia based on this study.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Severance Hospital's Institutional Review Board. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS has written the manuscript and responsible for the conception and data analyses in cooperation with B-YY, JL, C-yK, YO, SKK, and J-HY has collected data each institution. SL, AC, and SK have contributed with literature review. J-HY has contributed with insight, scientific discussion, and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Republic of Korea Health Industry Development Institute through Social and Environmental Risk Research funded by the Ministry of Health & Welfare (HI19C0052).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Editage (www.editage.co.kr) for English language editing.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2021.761279/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Alterman T, Luckhaupt SE, Dahlhamer JM, Ward BW, Calvert GM. Prevalence rates of work organization characteristics among workers in the U.S.: data from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey. *Am J Ind Med.* (2013) 56:647–59. doi: 10.1002/ajim.22108
- Johnson JV, Lipscomb J. Long working hours, occupational health and the changing nature of work organization. Am J Ind Med. (2006) 49:921– 9. doi: 10.1002/ajim.20383
- Piasna A. Scheduled to work hard: The relationship between non-standard working hours and work intensity among European workers (2005–2015). *Human Resour Manag J.* (2018) 28:167–81. doi: 10.1111/1748-8583.12171
- 4. Eurofound. Sixth European Working Conditions Survey-Overview report (2017).
- 5. 배규식. 교대제와 노동시간. 한국노동연구원. (2013).
- Vyas MV, Garg AX, Iansavichus AV, Costella J, Donner A, Laugsand LE, et al. Shift work and vascular events: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*. (2012) 345:e4800. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e4800
- Knutsson A. Health disorders of shift workers. Occup Med. (2003) 53:103– 8. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqg048
- Kolstad HA. Nightshift work and risk of breast cancer and other cancers—a critical review of the epidemiologic evidence. *Scand J Work Environ Health*. (2008) 34:5–22. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.1194
- Costa G, Haus E, Stevens R. Shift work and cancer considerations on rationale, mechanisms, and epidemiology. *Scand J Work Environ Health*. (2010) 36:163–79. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.2899
- Knutsson A, Bøggild H. Gastrointestinal disorders among shift workers. Scand J Work Environ Health. (2010) 36:85–95. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.2897
- Chadolias D, Zissimopoulos A, Nena E, Agathokleous MN, Drakopoulos V, Constantinidis TC, et al. Association of occupational exposures and work characteristics with the occurrence of gastrointestinal disorders. *Hippokratia*. (2017) 21:74–9.
- Hedström AK, Åkerstedt T, Klareskog L, Alfredsson L. Relationship between shift work and the onset of rheumatoid arthritis. *RMD Open.* (2017) 3:e000475. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2017-000475
- Sallinen M, Kecklund G. Shift work, sleep, and sleepiness differences between shift schedules and systems. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2010) 36:121–33. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.2900
- Belcher R, Gumenyuk V, Roth T. Insomnia in shift work disorder relates to occupational and neurophysiological impairment. J Clin Sleep Med. (2015) 11:457–65. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.4606
- Drake CL, Roehrs T, Richardson G, Walsh JK, Roth T. Shift work sleep disorder: prevalence and consequences beyond that of symptomatic day workers. *Sleep.* (2004) 27:1453–62. doi: 10.1093/sleep/27.8.1453
- Jarrin DC, Alvaro PK, Bouchard M-A, Jarrin SD, Drake CL, Morin CM. Insomnia and hypertension: a systematic review. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2018) 41:3–38. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2018.02.003
- Kang M-Y, Kwon H-J, Choi K-H, Kang C-W, Kim H. The relationship between shift work and mental health among electronics workers in South Korea: A cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0188019. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188019
- Eldevik MF, Flo E, Moen BE, Pallesen S, Bjorvatn B. Insomnia, excessive sleepiness, excessive fatigue, anxiety, depression and shift work disorder in nurses having less than 11 hours in-between shifts. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e70882. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070882
- Cheng W-J, Cheng Y. Night shift and rotating shift in association with sleep problems, burnout and minor mental disorder in male and female employees. *Occup Environ Med.* (2017) 74:483–8. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2016-1 03898
- 20. Garde AH, Nabe-Nielsen K, Jensen MA, Kristiansen J, Sørensen JK, Hansen ÅM. The effects of the number of consecutive night shifts on

sleep duration and quality. Scand J Work Environ Health. (2020) 46:446-53. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3885

- Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the Insomnia Severity Index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med.* (2001) 2:297–307. doi: 10.1016/S1389-9457(00)00065-4
- Cho YW, Song ML, Morin CM. Validation of a Korean version of the insomnia severity index. J Clin Neurol. (2014) 10:210–5. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2014.10.3.210
- Morin CM, Belleville G, Bélanger L, Ivers H. The Insomnia Severity Index: psychometric indicators to detect insomnia cases and evaluate treatment response. *Sleep*. (2011) 34:601–8. doi: 10.1093/sleep/34.5.601
- Seunghwa S, Su Hyun K. Influence of consecutive night-shift work and working time on insomnia among hospital nurses. *Korean J Occup Health Nurs.* (2020) 29:133–9. doi: 10.5807/kjohn.2020.29.2.133
- Garde AH, Begtrup L, Bjorvatn B, Bonde JP, Hansen J, Hansen ÅM, et al. How to schedule night shift work in order to reduce health and safety risks. Scand J Work Environ Health. (2020) 46:557–69. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3920
- Bjorvatn B, Stangenes K, Øyane N, Forberg K, Lowden A, Holsten F, et al. Subjective and objective measures of adaptation and readaptation to night work on an oil rig in the North Sea. *Sleep.* (2006) 29:821– 9. doi: 10.1093/sleep/29.6.821
- 27. Li C-Y, Sung F-C. A review of the healthy worker effect in occupational epidemiology. *Occup Med.* (1999) 49:225–9. doi: 10.1093/occmed/49.4.225
- Nabe-Nielsen K, Jensen MA, Hansen ÅM, Kristiansen J, Garde AH. What is the preferred number of consecutive night shifts? Results from a crossover intervention study among police officers in Denmark. *Ergonomics*. (2016) 59:1392–402. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2015.1136698
- Garde AH, Albertsen K, Nabe-Nielsen K, Carneiro IG, Skotte J, Hansen SM, et al. Implementation of self-rostering (the PRIO project): effects on working hours, recovery, and health. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2012) 38:314–26. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3306
- Nabe-Nielsen K, Lund H, Ajslev JZ, Hansen ÅM, Albertsen K, Hvid H, et al. How do employees prioritise when they schedule their own shifts? *Ergonomics*. (2013) 56:1216–24. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2013.8 15804
- Chung Y, Kim H, Koh D-H, Park J-H, Yoon S. Relationship between shift intensity and insomnia among hospital nurses in korea: a cross-sectional study. J Prev Med Public Health. (2021) 54:46–54. doi: 10.3961/jpmph.20.555
- Cho Y-S, Lee S, Yoon J-H, Lee J, Park JB, Lee K-J, Jeong I. Short rest between shifts and risk of hypertension in hospital workers. J Hypertens. (2020) 38:2264. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0000000000 002264

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Sim, Yun, Lee, Kim, Lee, Cho, Kim, Kim, Oh and Yoon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Influence of Human-Organizational Factors on Falling Accidents From Historical Text Data

Xixi Luo, Quanlong Liu* and Zunxiang Qiu

School of Economics and Management, China University of Mining and Technology, Xuzhou, China

This paper firstly proposes a modified human factor classification analysis system (HFACS) framework based on literature analysis and the characteristics of falling accidents in construction. Second, a Bayesian network (BN) topology is constructed based on the dependence between human factors and organizational factors, and the probability distribution of the human-organizational factors in a BN risk assessment model is calculated based on falling accident reports and fuzzy set theory. Finally, the sensitivity of the causal factors is determined. The results show that 1) the most important reason for falling accidents is unsafe on-site supervision. 2) There are significant factors that influence falling accidents at different levels in the proposed model, including operation violations in the unsafe acts layer, factors related to an adverse technological environment for the unsafe acts layer, loopholes in site management in the unsafe on-site supervision layer, lack of safety culture in the adverse organizational influence layer, and lax government regulation in the adverse external environment layer. 3) According to the results of the BN risk assessment model, the most likely causes are loopholes in site management work, lack of safety culture, insufficient safety inspections and acceptance, vulnerable process management and operation violations.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sheikh Alif, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Jianlan Zhou, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, China Yuke Tien Fong, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

*Correspondence:

Quanlong Liu 183509403@qq.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Occupational Health and Safety, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 26 September 2021 Accepted: 10 December 2021 Published: 11 January 2022

Citation:

Luo X, Liu Q and Qiu Z (2022) The Influence of Human-Organizational Factors on Falling Accidents From Historical Text Data. Front. Public Health 9:783537. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.783537 Keywords: falling accidents, human-organizational factors, human factor analysis and classification system (HFACS), Bayesian network, fuzzy set theory

INTRODUCTION

To improve the legal system for emergency management, standardize the investigation and handling of production safety accidents, and protect people's lives and property, China issued the "Regulations on Reporting and Investigation and Handling of Production Safety Accidents," which clearly proposes measures to improve accident investigation mechanisms and the preparation of accident investigation reports. These measures can be applied to assess responsibility and learn from accidents over time, which is conducive to promoting the implementation of safe production measures (1). In recent years, the accident rate in the construction industry has been the highest among all industrial production sectors, and the safety of construction workers has become a global problem (2, 3). According to statistics from the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development in China, 7,878 construction safety accidents not only generated vast economic losses but also seriously affected societal stability. Among the reported construction accidents, falling from heights
was most common for 54.57% of all accidents. Thus, the occurrence of safety accidents can be potentially limited by studying falling accidents in construction and implementing corresponding measures. In terms of the causes of falling accidents, Martín et al. (5) suggested that many factors can cause falls in the construction process, but a maximum of 90% of accidents are caused by human-related factors. It is important to reduce the occurrence of falling accidents, identify the human factors that contribute to falling accidents and propose corresponding improvement measures according to the key influential factors.

An increasing number of high-risk industries have gradually realized that human factors and organizational factors are the main causes of accidents (6), and many scholars have conducted research on the definition of human-organizational factors, the mechanisms of accidents and influencing factors, the methods of analyzing human error and other related topics. For example, Leveson (7) proposed the system-theoretic accident modeling and processes (STAMP) method, which emphasizes not only the identification of accident causes from the perspective of complex social technology systems but also includes coupled and interactive factors, such as human factors and organizational factors. Daramola (8) utilized the human factor analysis and classification system (HFACS), which is a human factor research tool based on system theory, to analyse human error factors related to safety accidents. Hollnagel (9) proposed the cognitive reliability and error analysis method (CREAM), emphasizing the important influence of the situational environment on human behavior; the unique cognitive model provides root cause traceability and human error probability prediction. There are many methods and tools for human factor analysis in different fields, among which HFACS is currently one of the most widely applied tools. Comprehensive and effective accident analysis results have sparked significant research attention on HFACs in various industrial fields (10, 11). Although the HFACS framework provides a reliable tool for the identification and analysis of human-organizational factors related to safety accidents, there are limitations in specific research applications due to the lack of quantitative analysis and the unclear causal relationships among research factors. To enhance the ability of the HFACS to assess human factors in detail during the process of accident investigation, many studies have combined quantitative analysis with the HFACS framework. For example, the HFACS framework has been combined with the analytical network process (ANP) method (12), fuzzy Bayesian network (FBN) method (13), structural equation model (SEM) method (14) and other quantitative research theories. Notably, BNs are considered the most effective for analyzing the dependence among factors in an uncertain research environment and are widely employed in the field of security.

There have been many studies of the causative factors of construction accidents, but few studies have conducted human factor analysis based on actual historical accident reports. The non-reproducibility of construction accidents determines that the investigation of accident causes mainly depends on interviews and sensing information. Therefore, the investigation of accident causes has strong uncertainty and subjectivity. How to improve the accuracy of accident cause investigations through relevant information after the occurrence of accidents has become a very important research topic. Therefore, this paper, first, revises the original HFACS framework according to the characteristics of falling accidents and establishes a risk assessment model for falling accidents based on interfactor dependence. Second, the collected falling accident reports and fuzzy set theory were combined to infer a BN. Finally, the probability distribution and human-organizational sensitivity factors in falling accidents are calculated to identify the potential causes of falling accidents in construction and to provide theoretical guidance for impact mechanism analysis, safety risk prevention, and accident report rectification related to falling accidents.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research Methods

Human Factors Analysis and Classification System (HFACS)

The HFACS was proposed by Shappell and Wiegmann (15); its development was inspired by the "Swiss cheese" model of Reason (16). The HFACS is currently widely employed in human factor analyses of safety accidents based on system theory. The "Swiss cheese" model proposed by Reason divides the causes of accidents into four levels and visually compares errors to "holes" in the systems corresponding to different levels. When errors at all levels yield risks that break through the defence line, a safety accident occurs. Based on the "Swiss cheese" model, the HFACS method can be utilized to determine the causes of accidents at different levels, and the human-organizational factors of safety accidents can be comprehensively and systematically analyzed. Notably, the causes of accidents can be traced, and targeted safety precautions can be established at all levels.

The research related to the HFACS has mainly supplemented the framework content and expanded HFACS applications. Specifically, the original HFACS framework has four levels of human error: adverse organizational influences, unsafe onsite supervision, preconditions for unsafe acts, and unsafe acts from top to bottom. With the development of accident cause theory, research on human factors at the government and environmental levels has gradually received attention. Reinach and Viale (17) added "outside factors" to the HFACS framework for the railway field, which classified causes into "regulatory oversight" and "other" categories. When Chen et al. (18) investigated the human-organizational causes of maritime accidents, a fifth layer that included external factors and "legislation gap," "administrative oversight," and "design flaw" categories in combination with the International Maritime Organization (IMO) guidelines, was added. In view of the increasing emphasis on external factors such as the economy and environment, the identification of potential influential factors with the HFACS model must be supplemented and improved according to actual cases. In the expansion of the HFACS research scope, Shappell and Wiegmann (19) initially developed an HFACS model for safety analyses of military aviation accidents. Similar models have been applied in shipping (20), coal mine (21), chemical industry (22), railway (23), and construction (24)

research, as shown in **Table 1**. Although it has been widely applied in different fields, the HFACS model has rarely been applied in studies of the construction industry, potentially due to the insufficient attention given to the human- and organization-based causative factors associated with safety accidents in the construction industry.

Bayesian Networks

A BN is a tool that combines probability theory with graph theory to perform uncertainty reasoning and data analysis in complex fields; specifically, a visual network graph is used to visualize the probability relationships among variables. The composition of a BN is divided into qualitative parts and quantitative parts. At the qualitative level, a directed acyclic graph (DAG) is used to represent the dependent and independent relationships between two variable sets, and at the quantitative level, a conditional probability table (CPT) is utilized to describe the dependent relationships among variables and their parent nodes (25). A BN can be defined as $N = \langle G, P \rangle$, where G is the structure diagram of the BN, $G = \langle V, E \rangle$, V represents the set of nodes V_1, V_2, \dots, V_n , and each node represents different random events. There are three types of nodes in BNs: target node (leaf node), evidence node (parent node) and intermediate node (child node). E represents the set of directed edges with dependencies between two nodes, usually from the parent node to the child node. P represents the parameter set of the BN, including the prior probability table and CPT of nodes, which are utilized to represent the dependency strength between two nodes. The prior probability can be learned from prior knowledge or data, and the conditional probability distribution of each variable (X_i) is based on its parent node. The parameter is expressed as $p(X_i | \pi(X_i))$, where $\pi(X_i)$ is the parent set of the variable X_i . Semantically, a BN represents the union of the CPTs of all nodes. By decomposing the joint probability distribution, the complexity of the probability calculation process is reduced. Via the independent and dependent relationships among variables, a BN provides predictions and solutions for uncertain problems. The essence of BN calculations is to optimize the relevant parameters by determining the prior and posterior probabilities for a specific network structure.

Fuzzy Bayesian Networks

Existing construction accident reports focus on identifying the responsible parties of an accident. The in-depth, human factor investigation of an accident has a strong uncertainty, and available historical data are limited, so it is difficult to express the probability of an event with a definite numerical value. However, BN analysis that is based on fuzzy theory is suitable for modeling research in the new field of uncertainty. Therefore, BNs and fuzzy set theory can be combined to construct FBNs, which can be employed for the quantitative treatment of boundary uncertainty and uncertainty problems at nodes (26, 27). The steps involved in applying a BN for safety accident risk assessment can be divided into network topology establishment, probability determination of node parameters, network learning and reasoning, risk assessment and sensitivity analysis. 1) The establishment of a network topology refers to the formation of a network association structure based on real accident scenes and the relationships among security risks and accidents. The following factors need to be considered in this process: ① factor identification and status determination, ② logic structure combination, and ③ BN transformation.

2) Probability determination for node parameters refers to measuring the prior probability and conditional probability of each node in the BN based on statistics or expert consultation. Many data samples need to be collected when node parameters are calculated based on statistical methods these samples are obtained according to probability theory and a Bayesian formula. If the data sample size is insufficient, the expert consultation method combined with fuzzy set theory is generally adopted to obtain the prior probability distribution table for evidence nodes (without parent nodes) and conditional probability distribution table for intermediate nodes.

① Bayesian parameter estimation with complete data

After construction of the BN topology, the maximum likelihood estimation (MLE), maximum a posteriori (MAP) estimation, Bayesian estimation and empirical Bayesian (EB) can be applied for parameter learning to determine the conditional probability distribution among the relevant variables (28). MLE is generally applicable to the parameter estimation of large sample sizes, and the estimated value shows agreement with the actual value. In this paper, a large number of construction falling accident report texts can be collected, so MLE can be utilized for parameter learning. Conceptually, MLE uses parameter θ to calculate the value with the highest fitting degree for data set D (29). The calculation process is expressed as follows:

Step 1: Construct the likelihood function for $\theta: L(\theta) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} P(X_i|\theta)$

Step 2: Take the logarithm of $L(\theta)$, and obtain the derivative: $\frac{d \ln L}{d\theta} = 0$

Step 3: Solve the likelihood function and obtain the MLE value θ^* for parameter θ .

where X_i is the state value of the dataset D, θ is the parameter to be estimated, and $P(X_i | \theta)$ is the conditional probability of variable X_i based on parameter θ .

⁽²⁾Bayesian parameter estimation in the case of missing data

To overcome issues related to uncertainty and a lack of sufficient data support, the concept of "linguistic variables" can be considered in semantic and probability conversion (30). Based on a fuzzy semantic probability table, experts give fuzzy scores for different risk states; then, by processing the obtained data, the BN parameter values for the target nodes are obtained. In this study, seven language terms are used to estimate the probability of occurrence of basic events, and each fuzzy number is processed according to a triangular fuzzy function. The results are shown in **Table 2**.

The probabilities of the parameters can be obtained by averaging, defuzzifying and normalizing the fuzzy probabilities. Firstly, the fuzzy probabilities obtained from different experts are arithmetically averaged, and the formula is expressed

TABLE 1 | List of HFACSs in continuous improvement in different industries.

Literature sources	Industry	HFACS version	Key modifications	Main findings
Daramola (8)	Aviation industry	Modified- HFACS	The improved framework was more suitable for the analysis of human factors related to civil aviation accidents, and the technical environment was added to the second layer.	Findings from the research highlight the need to address personnel skills, physical environment issues (mostly weather-related) and supervisory competence.
Wrobel et al. (43)	Shipping industry	HFACS- MA	The addition of a fifth level called external influence includes administration oversights, design flaws and legislation gaps. In the second level, the impact of software and hardware on the safety performance has been added.	Implementation of unmanned ships might reduce the number of navigation-related accidents like collisions or groundings.
Kaptan et al. (44)	Shipping industry	HFACS- PV	The addition of a fifth level called operational conditions includes internal conditions and external conditions.	Unqualified crew assignment and lack of training and familiarization were found to be the most critical factors.
Verma and Chaudhari (45)	Coal mine industry	Modified- HFACS	The addition of a fifth level called outside factors with the factors of regulatory factors and other.	Skill-based errors are most critical and require immediate attention for mitigation.
Liu et al. (14)	Coal mine industry	HFACS- CM	The addition of a fifth level called external environment includes management factors, political factors, economic factors and historical factors.	From the most impactful factor to the least impactful factor are external environment, unsafe leadership, preconditions for unsafe acts, and organizational influences.
Xia et al. (33)	Chemical industry	Modified- HFACS	The addition of a fifth level called emergency failure includes emergency resource errors; not timely emergency; inappropriate emergency.	The individual level human factors should be managed from the perspectives of safety skills, work attitude and personal health status.
Wang et al. (46)	Chemical industry	HFACS- CSME	The definition of each cause factor in the original model was retained and supplemented with corresponding specific manifestations.	Based on the further revision of manifestations and causes classification, a new model consisting of 15 cause factors and 56 manifestation forms was obtained.
Zhan et al. (47)	Railway industry	HFACS- RAs	The accident casual factors in the second level are further changed to Substandard Conditions of Operators, Substandard Conditions of Team, Adverse Conditions of Mission and Adverse Physical Environment.	The critical problem existing in organization level indirectly such as insufficient training quality and management.
Hale et al. (48)	Construction industry	Modified- HFACS	Combine the content of the third and fourth levels and increase a fifth level called environmental influences, including political, regulatory, market and social influences.	The underlying factors associated with inadequacies in planning and risk assessment, competence assurance, hardware design, purchase and installation, and contracting strategy.
Ye et al. (49)	Construction industry	I-HFACS	The addition of a fifth level with the two categories called regulatory factors and economic/political/social/legal environment. In level 4, the factors of organizational climate were replaced with safety culture.	Seven key factors were regulatory factors, organizational process, supervisory violations, adverse spiritual state, skill underutilization, skill-based errors, and violations.

as follows:

$$P_{ij} = \frac{P_{ij}^{1} + P_{ij}^{2} + \dots + P_{ij}^{m}}{m} = (a_{ij}, n_{ij}, b_{ij})$$
(1)

where P_{ij} is the fuzzy probability that the state of the *i*-th node is *j*; P_{ij}^{m} is the fuzzy probability given by the *m*-th expert for the *i*-th node status of *j*; and (a_{ij}, n_{ij}, b_{ij}) are the parameters of the triangular fuzzy function.

Then, the probability of occurrence for different events is converted into a precise value through the process of defuzzifying. In this paper, the "mean area method" is utilized in the defuzzifying process, and the formula is expressed as follows:

$$P_{ij}' = \frac{a_{ij} + 2n_{ij} + b_{ij}}{4} \tag{2}$$

Finally, the accurate probability values of the nodes in different risk states are normalized, and the sum of the probabilities for the same node in different states is 1. The corresponding process can be expressed as follows:

$$\overline{P_{ij}} = P_{ij}' / \sum_{j=0}^{k} P_{ij}'$$
(3)

3) Network learning and reasoning

Network learning and reasoning involve calculating the probability of a target node based on the prior probability table and CPT associated with a known node. According to the different directions of reasoning and the roles of node variables, the Bayesian reasoning process can be divided into two

TABLE 2 Semantic terms ar	d corresponding	triangular fuzzy numbers.
-----------------------------	-----------------	---------------------------

Number	Semantic term	Triangular fuzzy numbers		
1	Certain	(0.85,1,1)		
2	Probable	(0.75,0.85,1)		
3	Expected	(0.5,0.75,0.85)		
4	Fifty-fifty	(0.25,0.5,0.75)		
5	Uncertain	(0.15,0.25,0.5)		
6	Improbable	(0,0.15,0.25)		
7	Impossible	(0,0,0.15)		

modes. The first mode is 1) positive causal reasoning, that is, the reasoning process from cause to effect. Given the probability values of all root nodes at different risk levels, the BN topology and parameter values are combined to obtain the probability results. The second mode is 2) reverse diagnostic reasoning, that is, the reasoning process from result to cause. Given the probability values of the target node at different risk levels, the probability of each cause can be determined for a given event.

4) Risk assessment and sensitivity analysis

Risk assessment refers to the identification of accident risk levels and key causal factors under different conditions based on the reasoning process. In a positive causal reasoning network, the grade corresponding to the maximum probability value in the target probability distribution is selected as the risk probability grade, and the key causative factors of accidents can be determined by combining this approach with a reverse diagnostic reasoning network. Sensitivity analysis involves identifying the factors that have the greatest impact on the occurrence of accidents and quantifying them considering the degree of influence and the parameters of the target node (31). The sensitivity factor is denoted as α and expressed as follows for the *i*-th basic event:

$$\alpha_{i} = \frac{(P^{T} - P^{T}_{i})/P^{T}}{\max\left\{(P^{T} - P^{T}_{i})/P^{T}\right\}}$$
(4)

where P^T is the probability of a risk event; P^T_i is the probability of a risk event when the *i*-th basic event does not occur; and $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$.

Data Sources

This paper mainly collects safety accident reports through network screening to obtain original data related to the human-organizational causative factors of falling accidents in construction. Safety accident reports were mainly collected from the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, State Administration of Production Safety Supervision and Management, websites of various administrative departments, safety management network, municipal governments and various safety supervision bureaus. A total of 432 reports of construction falling accidents in China from 29 to 29 were collected (32), focusing on the major production safety accident reports and general production safety accident reports. The cases judged as non-liability accident or near misses were excluded from the analysis. In addition, the text of the accident report mainly included the following four aspects: general situation of the accident unit, process of the accident, casualties and direct economic losses caused by the accident, causes and nature of the accident, and identification of the accident responsibility.

Research Framework

To clearly describe the overall research process of the humanorganizational factor analysis of falling accidents by integrating the HFACS and BN methods, the research framework is shown in **Figure 1**.

REVISED DESIGN OF THE HFACS FRAMEWORK FOR FALLING ACCIDENTS IN CONSTRUCTION

Constructing the Corrected HFACS Framework for Falling Accidents

The original HFACS framework was proposed for human factor analyses of aviation accidents without considering the influence of external factors. As the application of HFACS has gradually expanded, it has become necessary to modify the general model accordingly. Garrett and Teizer applied the HFACS in the construction industry for the first time in conjunction with the human error awareness training (HEAT) model to investigate the causes of human errors in construction. Xia et al. (33) adjusted the HFACS framework according to the specific characteristics of the construction industry to effectively analyse construction safety performance. In addition to adding to and deleting some of the original components, external environmental impact layers, including stakeholders, social and industrial environments, legislation and enforcement, were added. In this paper, the HFACS framework is applied to falling accidents in building construction. Based on the collected accident cases and an analysis of the existing literature, the original HFACS framework is modified, and an HFACS framework suitable for falling accidents in building construction is proposed, as shown in Figure 2.

L1: Unsafe Acts

Reason proposed that in analyses of safety accidents, human factors can be divided into errors and violations. Errors indicate that a person's ability or psychological level did not achieve the expected results. Zhang and Fang (34) proposed that errors can be divided into cognitive, decision-making and skill errors. According to the different forms of deviation, decision-making errors will occur when the available information and knowledge is insufficient; cognitive errors will occur when the concept of personal safety is not prioritized or does not conform to realistic requirements; and skill errors will occur when individuals who engage in the work do not understand or remember the skills required. A violation is a deliberate deviation from the defined safety rules and operating procedures, and violations can be habitual or accidental (35). For example, individuals working at high altitudes need to wear protective equipment correctly, but



some personnel deliberately do not wear or improperly wear protective equipment during climbing, thus creating a potential safety hazard.

In summary, the unsafe acts of construction workers are influenced by three factors: perception and decision-making errors (L1R1), skill errors (L1R2), and operational violations (L1R3).

L2: Preconditions for Unsafe Acts

Liang (36) noted that unsafe acts are usually the result of a combination of individual status, operating machinery and the operating environment. Individual status issues are mainly related to a poor physical state, poor mental state, or physical intelligence deficiency. Based on the characteristics of construction industry personnel, it is proposed that individual state problems are mainly manifested through poor physical and mental states and insufficient skill levels. There are many situations in which mechanical equipment is employed in construction at high altitudes, and there are potential unsafe factors related to the specification, configuration and proper operation of mechanical equipment. Therefore, the factors that influence machinery are mainly considered from the aspects of mechanical model configuration and operation standardization. According to the traditional HFACS framework, the factors that influence the working environment are related to the technical environment and the physical environment. In the technical environment, protection during work and personnel safety are emphasized. In the physical environment, surface cleanliness, good lighting and suitable weather will affect employee risk.

In summary, the preconditions for unsafe acts include the employee mental state (L2R1), physiological state (L2R2), and skill level (L2R3); mechanical equipment (L2R4); equipment operation and maintenance (L2R5); physical environment (L2R6); and technical environment (L2R7).

L3: Unsafe On-Site Supervision

Aksorn and Hadikusumo (37) verified the 16 key success factors identified in the safety literature and existing studies. The



survey results showed that the factor that had the greatest impact on the safe production of construction projects was onsite safety management behavior. A construction site requires not only strict management but also timely inspection and acceptance, real-time assessments of the on-site conditions and employee behavior, and timely correction of unsafe phenomena (38). Supervisors of construction projects face severe penalties if regulations are violated, such as authorizing unqualified personnel to perform special operations and deliberately directing operators to perform dangerous work (39).

In summary, unsafe on-site supervision includes design work (L3R1), on-site management work (L3R2), safety inspection and acceptance (L3R3), and violations of regulations (L3R4).

L4: Adverse Organizational Influences

In the construction industry, it is necessary to rationally allocate relevant personnel, funds and supplies, and resource allocation has an important influence on organizational safety management (40). Yang and Fu (41) proposed that the internal safety culture of an enterprise will influence the behavior and attitude of employees through different channels and ultimately reduce the occurrence of safety accidents. Based on analyses of the factors that influence organizational success, strengthening process management at the enterprise level can ensure the smooth development of safe production activities. Additionally, decision-making and daily supervision at the organizational level can guide the scientific approach and standardized behavior at a project site.

In summary, the main adverse organizational influences include resource management (L4R1), safety culture (L4R2), and process management (L4R3).

L5: Adverse External Environment

Compared with the levels in the original HFACS framework, this level is new; it focuses on the influential factors outside an enterprise organization. Yang and Li (42) suggested that improving government supervision capabilities can effectively reduce the occurrence of construction safety accidents. Through expert consultation, it was found that external factors such as policy support, legal improvement, economic stability, and cultural penetration have a positive effect on construction safety.

In summary, the adverse external environment includes government supervision (L5R1) and the effects of politics, the economy, law and culture (L5R2).

Manifestations of the Components of the Revised HFACS Framework

Based on a literature analysis and the opinions of 5 experts, the preliminary manifestations of the various components of the HFACS framework for construction falling accidents were sorted and revised. A total of 432 accident cases were utilized to assess the specific influence of each human-organizational factor. The open-loop analysis method was utilized to test the consistency of the description accuracy of the extracted factors, and expressions were obtained, as shown in **Table 3**.

ANALYSIS OF THE INFLUENCE OF HUMAN-ORGANIZATIONAL FACTORS ON FALLING ACCIDENTS IN CONSTRUCTION

Bayesian Network Model Construction and Parameter Calculations

Based on the revised HFACS model, the initial topological structure of the BN is constructed according to the dependence and independent relationships among factors. The model is adjusted in combination with the opinions of field experts to establish the human-organizational factor-BN risk assessment model for falling accidents in construction, as shown in Figure 3. According to the sample data obtained from the accident reports and fuzzy set theory, combined with Netica software and a Bayesian formula, the prior probabilities of root nodes and conditional probabilities of intermediate nodes in the network graph are calculated. Notably, there are two main methods for parameter estimation. For the nodes that have been fully reflected in the accident report, MLE is performed to obtain the BN parameter values. For the nodes that are not fully reflected in the accident report, fuzzy set theory is used to estimate the corresponding values. After sorting and coding the humanorganizational factors involved in the falling accident reports, the parameter values for nodes L1R1, L1R2, L1R3, L2R3, L2R4, L2R5, L2R6, L2R7, L3R1, L3R2, L3R3, L4R1, L4R2, and L4R3 were calculated from accident reports, and the parameter values for nodes L2R1, L2R2, L5R1, and L5R2 were estimated with fuzzy set theory. The probability table of all nodes in the BN structure was obtained. Due to the limitation of content length, certain calculation details of the node parameters in BN are given in Appendix A.

Bayesian Network Reasoning

Inference Analysis Process of the Bayesian Network Under the condition that the BN topology and parameter values are determined, it is necessary to perform subsequent inference analysis on human-organizational factors of falling accidents of construction. The relevant data based on historical accident reports and expert consultations are collated and input into Netica for inference calculations, and the risk probability values at the nodes when a falling accident occurs are calculated. The calculation results are shown in **Figure 3**.

As shown in **Figure 3**, the following conclusions can be drawn when a falling accident occurs during construction.

1) As a five-layer defensive barrier for accident risks, unsafe on-site safety supervision (L3) has the greatest influence on the occurrence of falling accidents, followed by adverse organizational influence (L4), unsafe acts (L1), adverse external environment (L5), and preconditions for unsafe acts (L2). This result suggests that the on-site supervision of projects and the influence of the organization have a substantial roles in the occurrence of accidents. In addition, unsafe personal behavior has an important influence on risk prevention.

2) In the unsafe acts layer (L1), the number of falling accidents related to operation violations (L1R3) is the highest, accounting

TABLE 3 Components and manifestations of the HFACS framework for falling accidents.

Level serial number	Level contents	Human factor	Manifestation
First layer L1 (Phenomenon layer)	Unsafe acts	Perception and decision-making errors (L1R1)	A: The risk perception is inconsistent with the actual situation; B: Encountering problems beyond the scope of ability; C: The measures implemented to address the problem are incorrect; D: Employee safety awareness is limited
		Skill error (L1R2)	A: Insufficient safety skills and literacy; B: The method used in the implementation process is incorrect
		Operation violation (L1R3)	A: Habitual violations; B: Accidental violations
Second layer L2 (Influence layer)	Preconditions for unsafe acts	Poor mental state (L2R1)	A: There are random, habitual, and exploitative psychological behaviors, as well as the effects of being tired, in high office work; B: Inner pressure in dai work; C: Negative emotions in the process of getting along with co-worker
		Poor physiological condition (L2R2)	A: Overtired; B: Work with illness; C: Work after alcohol abuse; D: Physical impairment of hearing or vision
		Poor skill level (L2R3)	A: Insufficient construction experience; B: Lack of safety knowledge and safety training
		Mismatched work machine design (L2R4)	A: Safety warning label design for mechanical equipment is not obvious; B: Specifications and models of the equipment are inconsistent with the plan
		Irregular operation of equipment (L2R5)	A: The equipment is not used in strict accordance with the operation instructions; B: When the equipment fails, it is still used; C: The equipment is not regularly maintained
		Poor physical environment (L2R6)	A: Dirty, chaotic, and poor working environment; B: Inadequate lighting in the workplace; C: Limited working surface space
		Poor technical environment (L2R7)	A: Safety protection equipment is not utilized; B: No safety warning signs
Third layer L3 (Action layer)	Unsafe on-site supervision	Unreasonable design work (L3R1)	A: There is a lack of safety consideration in the design of the operation process; B: Too many tasks must be performed; C: Mismatched team members
		Loopholes in site management work (L3R2)	A: Safety rules and regulations are not implemented; B: Failure to quickly correct workers' incorrect behaviors; C: Failure to perform production safet management; D: Lack of timely and adequate technical disclosure
		Insufficient safety inspection and acceptance (L3R3)	A: Daily safety inspections are not performed; B: Insufficient investigations of hidden dangers; C: Lack of phased acceptance of a project
		Violation of regulations (L3R4)	A: Safety management personnel are not qualified to practice; B: Supervisors violate safety rules and regulations; C: False reporting and concealment of safety incidents
Fourth layer L4 (Root layer)	Adverse organizational influences	Inadequate resource management (L4R1)	A: Insufficient number of safety management personnel; B: Insufficient investment in safety production; C: Poor quality of purchased machinery and equipment
		Lack of safety culture (L4R2)	A: Management personnel do not pay attention to safety procedures; B: Lack of safety production regulations; C: Inadequate safety training
		Vulnerable process management (L4R3)	A: Lack of emergency plans; B: Unsound production safety responsibility system; C: Untimely work feedback; D: Inadequate safety precautions
Fifth layer L5 (Environmental ayer)	Adverse external environment	Lax government supervision (L5R1)	A: Few on-site inspections by competent authorities; B: Insufficient punishment for illegal acts; C: Overlap of regulatory responsibilities and mutual prevarication in certain cases
		Influence of politics, economy, law and culture (L5R2)	A: Nonoptimal building safety laws and regulations; B: Unsound building safety policies and systems; C: Inadequate safety policy publicity; D: Overl formalized public supervision, public opinion supervision and social group supervision

for 67.4% of all accidents, followed by perception and decisionmaking errors (L1R1), accounting for 47.5%. The number of accidents related to skill level errors (L1R2) is the lowest, accounting for 19.4% of all accidents. The results are consistent with those of Fogarty and Shaw in their study of unsafe behaviors: although the frequency of operational violations in daily work is much lower than the frequency of errors, the accident risk caused by violations is higher, and the potential harm is more serious.

3) In the preconditions of the unsafe acts layer (L2), the number of falling accidents related to the technical environment (L2R7) is the highest, accounting for 44.4% of all accidents, followed by poor physiological conditions (L2R2), which



accounted for 43.3% of accidents. Poor skill level (L2R3), poor mental state (L2R1), irregular operation of equipment (L2R5), poor physical environment (L2R6), and mismatched work machine design (L2R4) had comparatively small impacts on the occurrence of accidents, accounting for 19.2, 18.1, 11.5, 5.24, and 3.16% of accidents, respectively. The results indicate that the occurrence of falling accidents in construction is closely related to construction safety protection measures and employee physiological factors; therefore, high-altitude operation requires rigorous and meticulous management of employees with appropriate climbing qualifications and the use of mechanical equipment.

4) In the unsafe on-site supervision layer (L3), the number of falling accidents related to loopholes in site management work (L3R2) is the highest, accounting for 95.4% of all accidents, followed by insufficient safety inspection and acceptance (L3R3), accounting for 87.5%. Violations of regulations (L3R4) and unreasonable design work (L3R1) factors were noted in only 41.7% and 17.6% of accidents, respectively. The results indicate that management and supervision factors at the field level have a decisive role in the occurrence of falling accidents, and the prevention of falling accidents should focus on these two factors.

5) In the adverse organizational influences layer (L4), the number of falling accidents related to the lack of safety culture (L4R2) is the highest, accounting for 72.9% of all accidents, followed by the vulnerable process management (L4R3) factor, accounting for 63% of all accidents. Inadequate resource

management (L4R1) accounts for the smallest proportion of accidents at 24.7%. The results suggest that falling accidents are greatly affected by the safety culture of the enterprise, and cultural penetration and process management at the organizational level need to be considered by the internal management personnel of enterprises.

6) In the adverse external environment layer (L5), the number of falling accidents related to lax government supervision (L5R1) is the highest, accounting for 77.2% of all accidents, while the politics, the economy, law and culture (L5R2) factor accounts for a relatively small proportion of accidents at 43.3%. Government supervision problems occur not only in the preliminary bidding stage of a project but also in the acceptance stage, and the relevant law enforcement agencies must strictly comply with the management requirements throughout the project life cycle.

Sensitivity Analysis

With Netica software and relevant calculation formulas, the changes in target node probabilities caused by changes in parent node factors were quantified, and the key factors in the Bayesian risk assessment model were identified based on the measured sensitivity of human-organizational factors, as shown in **Figure 4**. Based on the calculation results in the figure, the sensitivity factors corresponding to loopholes in site management work, lack of safety culture, insufficient safety inspection and acceptance, vulnerable process management, and operation violations are relatively large, that is, these factors are



the key causal factors of falling accidents in construction. It is necessary to focus on the management of these factors during risk identification and control at the human-organizational level to reduce the occurrence of falling accidents in construction.

CONCLUSION

As the accident type accounting for the largest proportion of construction safety accidents, reducing the number of falling accidents by assessing the key causes and proposing control and defensive measures can effectively decrease financial and personnel losses. Due to the lack of adequate description of certain human factors, it is difficult to obtain an exact estimation of their occurrence possibility. Therefore, a BN risk analysis based on fuzzy theory under uncertainty is proposed to calculate the system reliability and identify the most sensitive factors of an accident. The final conclusions are presented as follows:

1) Based on the HFACS framework, characteristics of falling accidents in construction and existing literature, a revised HFACS framework for falling accidents was established. This framework encompasses the human-organizational factors that can cause falling accidents. A systematic structural framework including 5 layers (L1 phenomenon layer, L2 influence layer, L3 action layer, L4 root layer, and L5 environment layer) and 19 detailed causal factors was obtained to assess the causes of falling accidents.

2) With the BN inference analysis method, the revised HFACS framework was converted to a BN topology, and the probability value of each node in the network diagram was calculated based on the collected accident reports and fuzzy set theory. Through BN reasoning, the following results were obtained. In the five-layer falling accident prevention system, on-site safety supervision, organizational factors and unsafe acts of employees have vital roles in the occurrence of accidents. At the level of on-site safety supervision, lack of on-site management and insufficient safety inspection have the largest impacts on the occurrence of accidents. A lack of safety culture and vulnerable process management at the organizational factor level highly influence the organization and management of enterprises. At the level of unsafe acts, operation violations and perception and decision-making errors directly cause the occurrence of major falling accidents.

3) By combining BN reasoning with relevant formulas, a sensitivity factor analysis of the nodes in the BN risk assessment model was performed. The results indicate that when falling accidents occur, the most likely human-organizational factors are loopholes in site management work, lack of safety culture, insufficient safety inspection and acceptance, vulnerable process management, and operational violations. The calculated values of the corresponding sensitivity factors were relatively large, indicating that these factors are the key human-organizational factors of falling accidents.

4) Through sorting and coding of the collected accident reports, it was determined that management, inspection and education should be prioritized. Moreover, employee skill level, physiological state, psychological state, external politics, economy, law, and other factors had relatively minimal influence on falling accidents. Thus, in-depth investigations of specific scenarios are necessary. In addition, during the analysis of causal factors, illegal supervision behavior and a poor technical environment account for small proportions of the total number of falling accidents, but they have a considerable impact on project safety risks. Additionally, a single factor may create considerable safety hazards for a project, and influential factors should be fully considered by construction safety and risk management personnel.

In this paper, the combination of HFACS and BN is applied to the analysis of the impact of human-organizational factors of falling accidents in construction, which not only expands the application of BN in the field of safety but also helps to realize the quantitative analysis of accident human factors based on accident investigation data. However, this paper has limitations. BN reasoning based on historical accident texts is helpful for accident investigators to more accurately and comprehensively investigate the human-organizational factors that cause accidents. However, the existing accident investigation reports focus more on the description of accident responsibility identification, and the indepth human factor investigation of the accident is insufficient. Therefore, it is necessary to rely on field experts in the process of risk identification and BN model construction. Our subsequent

REFERENCES

- Ren ZG, He Y, Zeng MR, Jin LZ. My country's current production safety accident statistics system and model analysis and improvement suggestions. *China Work Saf Sci Technol.* (2018) 14:69–77. doi: 10.11731/j.issn.1673-193x.2018.09.011
- Wang J, Zou PXW, Li PP. Critical factors and paths influencing construction worker' safety risk tolerances Accid. *Anal Prev.* (2016) 93:267– 79. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2015.11.027
- Zou PXW, Sunindijo RY. Skills for managing safety risk, implementing safety task, and developing positive safety climate in construction project Autom. *Construct.* (2013) 34:92–100. doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2012. 10.018
- Li YJ, Yang LQ, Huang X. Statistical analysis of construction safety accidents in my country from 2007 to 2017. *Sci Technol Innovat.* (2017) 22:138–9.
- Martín JE, Rivas T, Matías JM, Taboada J, Argüelles A. A bayesian network analysis of workplace accidents caused by falls from a height. *Saf Sci.* (2009) 47:206–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2008.03.004
- Hendershot DC. Lessons from human error incidents in process plants. Process Saf Environ Protect. (2006) 84:174–8. doi: 10.1205/psep.05184
- Leveson N. A new accident model for engineering safer systems. Saf Sci. (2004) 42:237–70. doi: 10.1016/S0925-7535(03)0 0047-X
- Daramola AY. An investigation of air accidents in nigeria using the human factors analysis and classification system (hfacs) framework. J Air Transport Manag. (2014) 35:39–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jairtraman.2013.11.004
- 9. Hollnagel E. Cognitive Reliability and Error Analysis Method(CREAM). London; Elsevier Science Ltd. (1998).
- 10. Rostamabadi A, Jahangiri M, Zarei E, Kamalinia M, Samaei MR. A novel fuzzy bayesian network-hfacs (fbn-hfacs) model for analyzing human and

research objectives will focus on the collection of multisource data for security performance prediction and the use of more intelligent knowledge analysis technology to realize automatic knowledge management.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XL and QL contributed to conception and design of the study. ZQ organized the database. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The authors gratefully acknowledge the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (grant no. 2020ZDPYSK02).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2021.783537/full#supplementary-material

organization factors (hofs) in process accidents. *Process Saf Environ Protect.* (2019) 132:59–72. doi: 10.1016/j.psep.2019.08.012

- Zhou JL, Lei Y. Paths between latent and active errors: analysis of 407 railway accidents/incidents' causes in China. Saf Sci. (2017) 110:S0925753517313085. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2017.12.027
- Zhou JL, Bai ZH, Sun ZY. A hybrid approach for safety assessment in highrisk hydropower-construction-project work systems. *Saf Sci.* (2014) 64:163– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2013.12.008
- Wang ZZ, Chen C. Fuzzy comprehensive bayesian network-based safety risk assessment for metro construction projects. *Tunnell Underground Space Technol.* (2017) 70:330–42. doi: 10.1016/j.tust.2017.09.012
- Liu RL, Cheng W, Yu Y, Xu Q, Jiang A, Tong L. An impacting factors analysis of miners' unsafe acts based on hfacs-cm and sem. *Process Saf Environ Protect*. (2019) 122:221–31. doi: 10.1016/j.psep.2018.12.007
- Shappell SA, Wiegmann DA. Human error analysis of commercial aviation accidents: application of the human factors analysis and classification system (HFACS). Aviat Space Environ Med. (2001) 72:1006–16. doi: 10.1016/S1352-2310(01)00481-2
- 16. Reason J. Human Error. New York, NY:Cambridge University Press (1990).
- Reinach S, Viale A. Application of a human error framework to conduct train accident/incident investigations. Accid Anal Prev. (2006) 38:396– 406. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2005.10.013
- Chen ST, Wall A, Davies P, Yang Z, Wang J, Chou Y-H. A human and organisational factors (HOFS) analysis method for marine casualties using HFACS-maritime accidents (HFACS-MA). *Saf Sci.* (2013) 60:105– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2013.06.009
- Shappell S, Detwiler C, Holcomb K, Hackworth C, Boquet A, Wiegmann DA. Human error and commercial aviation accidents: an analysis using the human factors analysis and classification system. *Hum Factors*. (2007) 49:227–42. doi: 10.1518/001872007X312469

- Mazaheri A, Montewka J, Nisula B, Kujala P. Usability of accident and incident reports for evidence-based risk modeling - a case study on ship grounding reports. Saf Sci. (2015) 76:202–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2015.02.019
- Patterson JM, Shappell SA. Operator error and system deficiencies: analysis of 508 mining incidents and accidents from Queensland, Australia using HFACS, Accid. Anal Prev. (2010) 42:1379–85. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2010.02.018
- Wang YF, Roohi SF, Hu XM, Xie M. Investigations of human and organizational factors in hazardous vapor accidents. J Hazard Mater. (2011) 191:69–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.04.040
- Zhou JL, Lei Y. A slim integrated with empirical study and network analysis for human error assessment in the railway driving process. *Reliabil Eng Syst Safety*. (2020) 204:107148. doi: 10.1016/j.ress.2020.107148
- Garrett JW, Teizer J. Human factors analysis classification system relating to human error awareness taxonomy in construction safety. J Construct Eng Manag. (2009) 135:754–63. doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0000034
- 25. Zhang LW, Guo HP. Introduction to Bayesian Nets. Beijing: Science Press (2006).
- Zarei E, Khakzad N, Cozzani V, Reniers G. Safety analysis of process systems using fuzzy bayesian network (fbn). J Loss Prevent Process Ind. (2019) 57:7– 16. doi: 10.1016/j.jlp.2018.10.011
- Zhang L, Wu X, Skibniewski MJ, Zhong J, Lu Y. Bayesian-network-based safety risk analysis in construction projects. *Reliabil Eng Syst Safety*. (2014) 131:29–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ress.2014.06.006
- Wu X, Jiang Z, Zhang MJ. Dynamic risk analysis for adjacent buildings in tunneling environments: a bayesian network based approach. *Stochastic Environ Res Risk Assess.* (2015) 29:1447–61. doi: 10.1007/s00477-015-1045-1
- Yin DL, Chen ZB, Zeng JC, Li HY. Analysis of influencing factors of unsafe behavior of coal mine workers. *Chin Saf Sci J.* (2015) 25:151–6. doi: 10.16265/j.cnki.issn1003-3033.2015.12.026
- Li P, Chen G, Dai L, Zhang L. A fuzzy Bayesian network approach to improve the quantification of organizational influences in HRA frameworks. *Saf Sci.* (2012) 50:1569–83. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2012.03.017
- Zhu ZL, Zhou XA. Human factors analysis of cavern accidents based on fuzzy Bayesian network. *Peoples Pearl River*. (2019) 40:147–52. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1001-9235.2019.03.025
- Safety management network (2020). Available online at: http://www.safehoo. com/Case/Case/Drop/.
- Xia NN,Zou PXW, Liu X, Wang X, Zhu R. A hybrid bn-hfacs model for predicting safety performance in construction projects. Saf Sci. (2018) 101:332–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2017.09.025
- Zhang MC, Fang DP. Unsafe behavior of construction workers produce cognitive cause and management measures. *Civil Eng J.* (2012) 45:197–305.
- Diller T, Helmrich G, Dunning S, Cox S, Buchanan A, Shappell S. Shappell the human factors analysis classification system (HFACS) applied to health care. *Am J Med Qual.* (2014) 29:181–90. doi: 10.1177/1062860613491623
- 36. Liang ZD. The research on the behavior of mining industry employees from the perspective of the management of the human machine environment management system. *China Mining*. (2014) 23:20–4.
- Aksorn T, Hadikusumo BHW. Critical success factors influencing safety program performance in thai construction projects. Saf Sci. (2008) 46:709– 27. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2007.06.006

- Fang DP, Xie F, Huang XY, LI H. Factor analysis-based studies on construction workplace safety management in China. *Int J Project Manag.* (2004) 22:43– 9. doi: 10.1016/S0263-7863(02)00115-1
- Vee C, Skitmore C. Professional ethics in the construction industry. Eng Construct Archit Manag. (2003) 10:117–27. doi: 10.1108/09699980310466596
- Borys D. The role of safe work method statements in the australian construction industry. Saf Sci. (2012) 50:210– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2011.08.010
- 41. Yang YJ, Fu G. On the concept of safety culture is the root of the prevention of accidents. *China Mining.* (2007) 16:33–5.
- Yang GS, Li J. Analysis on the ethical game of government supervision and safety management of construction enterprises. *Build Econ.* (2011) 10:87–90. doi: 10.14181/j.cnki.1002-851x.2011.10.002
- Wrobel K, Montewka J, Kujala P. Towards the assessment of potential impact of unmanned vessels on maritime transportation safety. *Reliabil Eng Syst Saf.* (2017) 165:155–69. doi: 10.1016/j.ress.2017.03.029
- 44. Kaptan M, Ugurlu O, Wand J. The effect of nonconformities encountered in the use of technology on the occurrence of collision, contact and grounding accidents. *Reliabil Eng Syst Saf.* (2021) 215:107886. doi: 10.1016/j.ress.2021.107886
- 45. Verma S, Chaudhari S. Safety of workers in indian mines: study, analysis, and prediction. *Saf Health Work*. (2017) 8:267–75. doi: 10.1016/j.shaw.2017.01.001
- Wang J, Fan Y, Gao Y. Revising hfacs for smes in the chemical industry: hfacs-csmes. J Loss Prevent Process Ind. (2020) 65:104138. doi: 10.1016/j.jlp.2020.104138
- Zhan Q, Zheng W, Zhao B. A hybrid human and organizational analysis method for railway accidents based on HFACS-Railway Accidents (HFACS-RAs). Saf Sci. (2017) 91:232–50. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2017. 08.017
- Hale A, Walker D, Walters N, Bolt H. Developing the understanding of underlying causes of construction fatal accidents. Saf Sci. (2012) 50:2020– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2012.01.018
- Ye G, Tan Q, Gong X, Xiang Q, Wang Y, Liu Q. Improved hfacs on human factors of construction accidents: a china perspective. *Adv Civil Eng.* (2018) 2018(PT.5):1–15. doi: 10.1155/2018/4398345

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Luo, Liu and Qiu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Job Demands and Resources, Positive and Negative Affect, and Psychological Distress of Social Workers in China

Chienchung Huang^{1*}, Xiaoxia Xie^{2*}, Shannon P. Cheung¹ and Yuqing Zhou²

¹ School of Social Work, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, New Brunswick, NJ, United States, ² Research Institute of Social Development, Southwestern University of Finance and Economics, Chengdu, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sheikh Alif, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Amish Singh, University of Lucknow, India Aries Susanty, Diponegoro University, Indonesia Azura Abdullah Effendi, Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM), Malaysia Aizza Anwar, University of Management and Technology, Pakistan Muhammad Shariat Ullah, University of Dhaka, Bangladesh Noor Fareen Abdul Rahim, Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM), Malaysia

*Correspondence:

Chienchung Huang huangc@ssw.rutgers.edu Xiaoxia Xie xiexx@swufe.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 August 2021 Accepted: 27 December 2021 Published: 18 January 2022

Citation:

Huang C, Xie X, Cheung SP and Zhou Y (2022) Job Demands and Resources, Positive and Negative Affect, and Psychological Distress of Social Workers in China. Front. Psychiatry 12:752382. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.752382 Globally, human service professionals, like social workers, experience significant job demands (JD) which can lead to outcomes like psychological distress, burnout, and high turnover rates. This is especially true in China, where the social work profession has grown substantially in recent decades. Because social workers play a crucial role in supporting vulnerable communities, there is a need to understand how their work conditions affect outcomes like psychological distress. This study applies the job demands and resources (JD-R) model to study this relation, along with the mediational effects of positive affect (PA) and negative affect (NA), in social workers from Chengdu, China (n = 897). The results of structural equation modeling indicate that JD-R differentially affect psychological distress. PA and NA partially mediate these relations. Job resources (JR) reduced psychological distress by reducing NA and increasing PA. JD did not have any effect on PA but significantly increased NA, which was associated with higher psychological distress. The magnitudes of each estimate suggest that JR has a greater effect on PA and NA, relative to the effects of JD on PA and NA. Interventions that seek to promote PA and reduce NA may be able to work with existing JR to buffer against the effects of JD in social workers.

Keywords: job demands, resources, positive affect, negative affect, psychological distress, social workers, China

INTRODUCTION

Industrialized economies have undergone a significant transformation in workforce structure in past decades, leading to greater job demands and work-related stress (1-4). Work-related stress is associated with a range of health-compromising behaviors which individuals may use to cope with or to manage stress (5-7). It is no surprise, then, that studies have also shown that work-related stress is a significant risk factor of poorer physical (6, 8) and psychological health and well-being (3, 4, 6). While work-related stress is not specific to any singular occupation, research has found that some occupational groups experience greater-than-average work-related stress (7, 9, 10). Social workers, for example, experience a high degree of work-related stress and, therefore, have a greater risk of burnout (7, 10, 11). This stress is often associated with the emotional labor demands required of many who work human service jobs (10, 11). Indeed, compassion fatigue has been found to be a positive predictor of psychological distress among social workers from several cross-cultural studies (12-14). Given this, mediational studies of how job demands like emotional workload or

labor—and other work conditions—affect psychological distress in social workers are needed to better understand possible points of intervention and to promote the psychological well-being of social workers, an occupational group which provides critical services to vulnerable populations. The goal of this study is to apply the job demands and resources (JD-R) model to examine how job demands (JD) and job resources (JR) differentially affect psychological distress and whether these relations are parallelly mediated by positive affect (PA) and negative affect (NA) in a sample of Chinese social workers.

LITERATURE REVIEW

In China, the social work profession has developed rapidly over the last two decades. In <10 years, the workforce increased from 0.2 million in 2010 to 1.2 million in 2018 (15, 16). This unprecedented rate of professionalization was brought upon by increasing social problems that followed the country's economic reform in 1978. While social workers in China provide essential services to vulnerable community members in schools, hospitals, community centers, and other social agencies, the future of the profession is threatened by high burnout and psychological distress rates, comparable to those found in international studies (17, 18).

The Job Demands and Resources (JD-R) Model

Work-related conditions, such as job demands (JD) and job resources (JR), and their effects on employee outcomes have been studied significantly. Studies often apply the job demands and resources (JD-R) model, which posits a conceptual framework to explain how work conditions affect the work and health outcomes of employees (7, 19, 20). This model divides working conditions into the categories of JD and JR, each with different effects on worker outcomes. JD are those aspects of a job that require sustained physical and/or mental effort from an individual. These aspects result in physiological and psychological costs, such as exhaustion. JD act as stressors that activate a performance-protection strategy which results in "strategy adjustments" such as reduced attention and "fatigue after-effects" (e.g., risky decision making; (21), p. 501). JR, on the other hand, are aspects of the job that can facilitate the achievement of work goals and reduce the physiological and psychological costs of JD (21). Demerouti et al. (21) posited that JD-R affect work and health through two processes. In the first, the demanding aspects of work lead to exhaustion and burnout. In the second, a lack of resources further exacerbates the challenges experienced in meeting JD, leading to withdrawal, disengagement, and burnout.

The JD-R model has been supported by a plethora of studies that examine samples of different occupational groups (19, 20, 22) and various health- and work-related outcome variables, including psychological distress and mental health (7, 23–27). Cross-cultural studies have also applied the JD-R model and found effects of JD and JR on workers, whereby, through an energy depletion process, JD causes fatigue, and, through a motivation process, JR can buffer JD's effects. Importantly, however, studies have also found that a lack of JR may compound the effects of JD (7, 25, 28–31).

High JD can have severe consequences for individuals, considering that JD, stress, and burnout are positively correlated with one another (7, 10, 32). It has been suggested that the emotional labor required of certain high stress jobs, including those in the social work profession, can cause greater occupational stress and, subsequently, several other negative outcomes (10). A study on 55 hospice social workers in the U.S. found that over half (56.4%) of the sample experienced moderate compassion fatigue, while just over one-fifth (21.8%) experienced high compassion fatigue (32). Among social workers across several cultures, compassion fatigue has been found to be a positive predictor of psychological distress (12–14).

Psychological Distress

Psychological distress is an emotional state that is typically characterized by symptoms of depression and anxiety and even somatic complaints (33). An individual may experience psychological distress when they encounter a stressor that is difficult to cope with or to overcome (33, 34). While stress itself is not inherently negative and can be associated with positive emotions and coping, when an individual fails to cope with stress and experiences psychological distress, they are at risk for a plethora of negative behavioral, health, and work outcomes (35-38). Further, psychological distress is a strong predictor of serious mental illnesses, including mood and anxiety disorders (35, 37), and suicidal behavior (39, 40). It follows, then, that understanding the antecedents of psychological distress among social workers, professionals who work, daily, with vulnerable populations, is of utmost importance to develop appropriate interventions that sustain their well-being and prevent the escalation of psychological distress.

JD and JR have been shown to be related to psychological distress, albeit in opposite directions (18, 24, 28). In a survey of 7,800 people from different occupations, Oshio et al. (24) found JD, such as workload, was positively corelated with psychological distress (r = 0.26, p < 0.001) and JR, such as coworker support, was negatively correlated with psychological distress (r = -0.21, p < 0.001). Notably, JD and psychological distress have been found to be positively correlated with one another (r = 0.39, p < 0.001) in a sample of over 600 social workers in Israel (28), indicating a need to further examine the underlying mechanism between JD-R and psychological distress in social workers.

Positive Affect and Negative Affect (PA and NA)

Over the years, scholars have come to understand subjective wellbeing as a multi-dimensional construct. In one conceptualization, subjective well-being is comprised of two independent dimensions (41): positive affect and negative affect (PA and NA). Broadly, affect can be described as the experience of any feeling or emotion (American Psychological Association, 2021). Characteristics related to PA include confidence, optimism, sociability, effective coping, and flexibility (42). Fredrickson's (43) broaden-and-build theory posits that PA may broaden



momentary thought-action repertoire, allowing people to accrue enduring personal physical, psychological, and social resources that, in turn, facilitate success. Indeed, PA is associated with success across life domains such as work performance, income, and health, among many others (42). Studies that apply the broaden-and-build theory have indicated that PA significantly reduces emotions and stress symptoms, turnover intentions, maladaptive coping, and depression and anxiety (44, 45).

By contrast, NA is characterized by guilt, anxiety, and fear and is associated with physical and mental health outcomes such as emotion dysregulation and psychiatric symptoms (46-49). Weiss and Cropanzano's (50) affective events theory explains that employees' internal influences (e.g., emotions) and reactions to the work environment can affect job performance and satisfaction. Research has found evidence that is consistent with this theory (49, 51, 52). For example, NA is predictive of workplace deviance, including absenteeism, theft, and poor job performance, as well as low well-being (49, 51, 52). Notably, Chen et al. (49) found that PA and NA mediated the relations between work conditions and well-being. Taken together, these studies, along with others, reflect that PA and NA play a significant role in shaping cognition, behavior, and well-being (53, 54), especially in the workplace. Thus, PA and NA may play a role in the relation between JD-R and psychological distress.

Empirical studies which apply the JD-R model, the broadenand-build theory, and affective events theory have primarily used Western samples. These studies have shown that JD-R has a significant consequence for psychological distress in individuals. Some evidence suggests that PA and NA may mediate this relation, but the current state of knowledge on PA and NA's mediating effects is still quite preliminary. Further, we currently lack scholarship on whether the relation between JD-R and psychological distress is mediated by PA and NA among human service workers, such as social workers. The present study thus examines the effects of JD-R on psychological distress—and whether PA and NA mediate this relation—in a sample of Chinese social workers. The findings of this paper may contribute to the understanding of how JD-R affect psychological distress through PA and NA in a rapidly developing occupational group with a high turnover rate in China.

CONCEPTUAL MODEL AND HYPOTHESES

Based on the JD-R framework (21), the broaden-and-build theory (43), and affective events theory (50), a conceptual model involving JD-R, PA, and NA, and psychological distress was proposed to examine the mediational pathways between JD-R and psychological distress *via* PA and NA, as shown in **Figure 1**. Specifically, we hypothesize that:

- 1) JD is negatively associated with PA.
- 2) JD is positively associated with NA.
- 3) JR is positively associated with PA.
- 4) JR is negatively associated with NA.
- 5) PA is negatively associated with psychological distress.
- 6) NA is positively associated with psychological distress.
- 7) JD has an indirect effect on psychological distress *via* PA and NA, indicating partial mediation pathways.
- 8) JR has an indirect effect on psychological distress *via* PA and NA, indicating partial mediation pathways.

METHODS

Data and Sample

The data for this study were collected from social workers in Chengdu, China, *via* an anonymous web-based survey. Chengdu

TABLE 1 | Profile of the sample.

	Mean (S.D.)
Gender [%]	
Female	78.3
Male	21.7
Age	31.8 (7.3)
Education achievement [%]	
Below college	45.4
College and above	54.6

N = 897.

is the capital city of Sichuan province and has seen rapid development in social work. Within the past decade, the number of employed social workers in Chengdu has multiplied 31.8 times, from 553 in 2010 to 17,622 in 2020 (55). At the same time, however, turnover rates in Chengdu and other big cities have been high, around 20-30% between 2015 and 2020 (56, 57). We randomly selected two districts out of the 22 city districts in Chengdu. We then contacted social work professional associations and agencies that employ social workers within the two districts in order to recruit participants. Each district has around 600 social workers. Members of these organizations were invited to participate in the survey starting May 5, 2021. One and two weeks after the initial invitation, we sent reminders to participate. 915 social workers responded to the survey between May 5, 2021, and May 29, 2021. We excluded 18 surveys from our final analysis due to incomplete data, leaving a final analytic sample of 897. The survey response rate was 75%. An informed consent process was implemented prior to the survey. Participants were compensated 5 RMB (1 USD) after finishing the survey. Further, participants were informed that their participation in the survey was voluntary and that they could choose to discontinue the survey at any point. This research protocol was approved by the institutional review board at one of the co-authors' university in China. About 78% of the sample were female. The average age of the sample was 31.8. A majority of the sample had a at least a college degree (54.6%) and a social work license (52.3%), as shown in Table 1.

Measures

The dependent variable, psychological distress, was assessed by the Kessler 6 Psychological Distress Scale (K6) (37, 58), a 6-item scale that measures psychological distress with high validity and reliability (24, 37, 59). The items in the scale ask respondents about past 30-day prevalence of psychological distress, such as feelings of nervousness, hopelessness, restlessness, worthlessness, and depression. An item in the scale asks about the frequency to which the respondent felt as though "everything was an effort" (37, 58). Items are rated on a 5-point scale which ranges from 0, indicating "none of the time," to 4, indicating "all of the time." Psychological distress is represented by the sum of responses to all items, which could range 0 to 24. The severity of psychological distress was according to the K6 has been identified through past calibration studies (35, 58, 60, 61). Scores of 7 and below indicate low psychological distress. Scores between 8 and 12 indicate moderate psychological distress. Scores 13 and above indicate high psychological distress. In this study, the K6 scale had a Cronbach's alpha value of 0.94.

PA and NA were measured *via* the short form version of the International Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (I-PANAS-SF) (62), a 10-item scale that has demonstrated cross-sample stability, internal reliability, temporal stability, cross-cultural factorial invariance, and convergent and criterion-related validity (62–64). The I-PANAS-SF asks respondents to report on the frequency at which they felt the emotions—such as hostile, upset, inspired, and determined—in the past 2 weeks. Possible responses ranged 1, "never," to 5, "always." We summed up the scores of the items that correspond to PA and to NA. Possible PA and NA scores ranged from 5 to 25. In this study, the PA subscale had Cronbach's alpha of 0.76, while the NA subscale had a Cronbach's alpha of 0.87.

Measures for JD-R came from the Questionnaire sur les Ressources et Contraintes Professionnelles (ORCP), a multidimensional scale developed by Lequeurre et al. (31). Given the work of social workers in China, we selected two dimensions of JD (workload and emotional workload) and two dimensions of JR (relationship with colleagues and information) as the measurements for JD and JR in this study. Workload is defined as the sense of having too much work to do in the time available, while emotional workload characterizes emotional job demands, such as needing to cope job-inherent emotions and/or maintaining organizationally desired emotions. Relationship with colleagues refers to team atmosphere and the potential to receive social support from co-workers. Information refers to the availability of information to employees, specifically feedback regarding job performance. Each dimension is measured with 4 items (31). Respondents answered each item on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1, "never," to 7, "always." Higher scores indicated higher levels of JD or JR. The possible range for each dimension's total score ranged 4 to 28. JD was calculated by summing up the scores of workload and emotional workload, while JR was calculated by calculating the sum of relationships with colleagues and information. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha value of the JD subscale was 0.82. The JR subscale had a Cronbach's alpha of 0.91.

Analytical Approach

We conducted descriptive and Pearson's correlation analyses to observe the sample characteristics and the correlations among all variables. Then, we conducted structural equation modeling (SEM) analysis to examine the relations among JD-R, PA, and NA, and psychological distress. We selected SEM over regression techniques because it allows for the simultaneous examination of direct and indirect effects through mediating variables (65). STATA software 16.0 was used for all analyses. Results of regression analyses (not shown) using extensive covariates (e.g., personal and family characteristics) indicated that the relations among JD-R, PA, and NA, and psychological distress were similar to those reported here. These results are available upon request.

	Cronbach's Alpha	Mean (S.D.)	1	2	3	4	5
1. Psychological distress [0–24]	0.94	7.2 (5.2)	-				
2. Positive affect [5-25]	0.76	15.7 (3.2)	-0.19***	-			
3. Negative affect [5–25]	0.87	12.1 (4.2)	0.44***	0.15***	-		
4. Job demands [8–56]	0.82	38.5 (6.6)	0.15***	0.08*	0.23***	_	
5. Job resources [18–56]	0.91	40.8 (6.9)	-0.24***	0.31***	-0.21***	0.30***	-

N = 897. Numbers in parentheses show ranges of the variables.*p < 0.05,***p < 0.001.

RESULTS

Table 2 presents the descriptive statistics of the variables. The sample had an average psychological distress score of 7.2 (SD = 5.2). The average PA and NA scores were 15.7 and 12.1, respectively. The sample reported relatively high JD (M = 38.5, SD = 6.5) and JR (M = 40.8, S.D. = 7.0).

The Pearson's correlation analysis indicated a positive association between JD and NA (r = 0.23, p < 0.001) and between JD and psychological distress (r = 0.23, p < 0.001). Meanwhile, JR was positively associated with PA (r = 0.31, p < 0.001) and negatively associated with NA (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and psychological distress (r = -0.24, p < 0.001). PA and NA were significantly correlated with psychological distress (r = -0.19, p < 0.001; r = 0.44, p < 0.001). Surprisingly, JD was positively correlated with PA (r = 0.08, p < 0.05). Finally, JD and JR were highly positive correlated with each other (r = 0.30, p < 0.001). Further regression analysis suggests that the positive correlation between JD and PA was driven by JR.

The results of hypothesis testing are presented in **Table 3**. **Figure 2** presents the standardized coefficients of the SEM model. JD had no significant association with PA and was negatively associated with NA ($\beta = -0.32$, p < 0.001). These results do not support Hypothesis 1 but confirm Hypothesis 2. JR was positively associated with PA ($\beta = 0.31$, p < 0.001) and negatively associated with PA ($\beta = -0.31$, p < 0.001). These results support Hypotheses 3 and 4. In addition, both JR ($\beta = -0.11$, p < 0.01) and PA ($\beta = -0.23$, p < 0.001) significantly reduced psychological distress, while JD ($\beta = 0.10$, p < 0.01) and NA ($\beta = 0.43$, p < 0.001) significantly increased psychological distress. These results support Hypotheses 5 and 6.

The total effect of JD on psychological distress was 0.25 (p < 0.001) and the indirect effects of JD through PA and NA, together, was 0.14 (p < 0.001). Although JD did not have a direct effect on PA, JD had a significant effect on NA, which in turn had a significant effect on psychological distress. Thus, JD had a significant indirect effect on psychological distress through PA and NA. Proportionately, PA and NA mediated 0.56 (0.14/0.25) of JD's effect on psychological distress. This result provides support for Hypothesis 7. The total effect of JR on psychological distress through PA and NA (combined) was -0.20 (p < 0.001), or 0.63 of the total effect (-0.20/-0.32). These results support Hypothesis 8.

TABLE 3 | Results of hypothesis testing.

Hypothesis	Beta	Р
H1: JD -> PA	-0.02	
H2: JD -> NA	0.32	***
H3: JR -> PA	0.31	***
H4: JR -> NA	-0.31	***
H5: PA -> PD	-0.23	***
H6: NA -> PD	0.43	***
H7: Indirect effect of JD on PD via PA and NA	0.14	***
H8: Indirect effect of JR on PD via PA and NA	-0.20	***

 $N = 897.^{***}p < 0.001.$

DISCUSSION

Given that much of the empirical evidence showing JD-R's effects on work and health outcomes has come from studies focused on Western samples (21, 31, 49, 66), this study extends the literature by investigating JD-R's effects on a sample of Chinese social workers. We applied the JD-R model to examine how JD-R affect psychological distress and whether these relations are mediated by PA and NA. Based on the results of descriptive statistics, the sample of social workers in this study experience high JD in their roles; at the same time, they have considerable JR at their disposal. The SEM results provided support for the hypothesized dual processes by which JD-R affect psychological distress in social workers in China. High JD was associated with high NA and, subsequently, high psychological distress, indicating an energy depletion process (Hypotheses 2 and 6; 21). However, we did not find that JD have effect on PA (Hypothesis 1). Together, the results of JD on PA and NA suggest that JD influence affect through energy depletion process rather than motivational one for this sample. Meanwhile, JR was positively associated with high PA and low NA (Hypotheses 3 and 4), which were both associated with psychological distress (Hypotheses 5 and 6). This indicated a motivational process (21) which protects against psychological distress. The significant indirect effects of JD and JR on psychological distress through PA and NA indicate that PA and NA partially mediated the association between JD-R and psychological distress (Hypotheses 7 and 8). The magnitude of the estimates from our results show that JR have greater effects on PA and NA and psychological distress than JD had on NA and psychological distress. Together, these findings are consistent with and expand upon previous findings with the JD-R model



(19–21). Our results show that JD-R are significant predictors of PA and NA and psychological distress, and the underlying energy depletion and motivational processes do not appear to differ between social workers and other professionals.

Based on the findings of our study, we offer a few practice and research suggestions for organizations that employ social workers and researchers who seek to further investigate social workers' occupational well-being or who seek to examine the JD-R model's underlying processes. According to descriptive statistics, the study sample reported high JD. Given that JD significantly and positively predicts NA and psychological distress, employers of social workers in China may seek to focus on both reducing JD and increasing JR to mitigate NA and psychological distress. Descriptive statistics also showed that the sample had considerable JR at their disposal; this shows great promise, given JR's ability to increase PA, reduce NA, and reduce psychological distress. Social work agencies and other employers will need to maintain the availability of JR to their social workers.

Importantly, PA and NA were found to act as mediators of the relations between JD-R and psychological distress, pointing to PA and NA as key points of intervention. To apply this finding, employers may implement a number of interventions that seek to promote PA while reducing NA. For example, studies on mindfulness-based interventions have provided evidence of mindfulness's effectiveness in improving PA and reducing NA (67–69). Moreover, mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR), mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT), and mindfulnessbased interventions (MBI) all can effectively reduce psychological distress and promote mental health and well-being (70–72).

While these findings offer a starting point for interventions that bolster the psychological well-being of social workers, they also can act as a guide for further study. Perhaps most notably, our variables of interest—JD-R, PA, and NA, and psychological distress—are all multidimensional constructs that have been measured and operationalized differently throughout the past decades of study. Due to resource constraints, we only used two dimensions to measure JD and JR. While these two dimensions have been found to be significant predictors of workers' outcomes (31), it is necessary that future studies examine the effects of other JD-R dimensions on PA and NA and psychological distress. For example, Demerouti's (21) framework conceptualizes JD with 5 underlying dimensions and JR with 6 underlying dimensions. In Lequeurre et al.'s (31) JD-R framework, JD and JR each consist of 7 dimensions. It is likely that the various dimensions of JD-R and PA and NA will differentially affect each of the psychological distress dimensions, warranting further research.

The results of this study should be considered within the context of several limitations. First, since we collected cross-sectional data from our sample, the results can only approximate associative relations among our variables. To address this limitation, researchers may use a longitudinal design to better examine the causal relations among JD-R, PA, and NA, and psychological distress. Second, our dataset relied on self-reporting from respondents, which leaves the data subject to unintended and intended reporting errors. Social desirability bias, for example, may lead the sample to underreport psychological distress, given the prevalence of stigma related to mental illness in Chinese society (73). Future studies might consider the use of data triangulation, using sources such as colleague reports, employers, and family members. Third, unobserved variables, which were not included in this study, could have influenced on the observed relationships among JD-R, PA, and NA, and psychological distress. For example, we collected data during the global COVID-19 pandemic. Although the COVID-19 cases were under control in China in May 2021,

to the extent of ongoing COVID-19 pandemic might have effects on above relationships in Chinese social workers is unknown. Finally, while the sample size and response rate in this study increase our confidence in the results, the generalizability of the findings to all social workers in China is unknown. Our sample was drawn from two districts in Chengdu, one of China's most populous cities [9.3 million in 2021; (74)]. Meanwhile, however, the development and professionalization of social work in China varies by region, due to differences in educational policies and resource allocation (75). Thus, future experimental design should emphasize recruiting a representative sample, as well as examining whether being employed in a rural or urban region may moderate the effects of JDR on PA and NA and psychological distress.

CONCLUSION

Applying the JD-R model, this study found that JD and JR affect Chinese social workers' psychological distress through PA and NA. These results add to the growing body of crosscultural research that supports the dual process by which JD-R affects the well-being of various occupational groups. Social workers have been shown to be a vulnerable occupational group, particularly due to the significant emotional job demands that are characteristic of their work (10, 12–14). We provide evidence of a partial mediation pathway between JD-R and psychological distress through PA and NA, suggesting that PA and NA may be effective points of intervention. The implementation of interventions that reduce NA may serve to buffer against JD's

REFERENCES

- 1. Gallie D. The quality of work in a changing labour market. Soc. Policy Administr. (2017) 51:226-43. doi: 10.1111/spol.12285
- Steiber N, Pichler F. Trends in work stress and exhaustion in advanced economies. Soc Indic Res. (2015) 121:215–39. doi: 10.1007/s11205-014-0633-7
- Weigl M, Stab N, Herms I, Angerer P, Hacker W, Glaser J. The associations of supervisor support and work overload with burnout and depression: a cross-sectional study in two nursing settings. J Adv Nurs. (2016) 72:1774– 88. doi: 10.1111/jan.12948
- 4. Huhtala M, Geurts S, Mauno S, Feldt T. Intensified job demands in healthcare and their consequences for employee well-being and patient satisfaction: a multilevel approach. *J Adv Nurs.* (2021) 1:1–15. doi: 10.1111/jan.14861
- Heikkilä K. Work stress and adverse health behaviors. handbook of socioeconomic determinants of occupational health: from macro-level to micro-level. *Evidence*. (2020) 1:1–13. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-05031-3_29-1
- 6. Leka S, Jain A. *Health Impact of Psychosocial Hazards at Work: An Overview.* Geneva: World Health Organization. (2010).
- Hussein S. Work engagement, burnout and personal accomplishments among social workers: a comparison between those working in children and adults' services in England. Administr Policy Ment Health Ment Health Serv Res. (2018) 45:911–23. doi: 10.1007/s10488-018-0872-z
- Magnavita N, Capitanelli I, Garbarino S, Pira E. Work-related stress as a cardiovascular risk factor in police officers: a systematic review of evidence. *Int Archiv Occupat Environ Health.* (2018) 91:377–389. doi: 10.1007/s00420-018-1290-y
- Jetelina KK, Beauchamp AM, Reingle Gonzalez JM, Molsberry RJ, Bishopp SA, Lee SC. Cumulative, high-stress calls impacting adverse events among law enforcement and the public. *BMC Public Health*. (2020) 20:219. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09219-x

effect on psychological distress as well as to strengthen JR's effect on psychological distress.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Review Committee, Research Institute of Social Development, Southwestern University of Finance and Economics. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CH and XX: conceptualization and resources. CH, XX, SC, and YZ: methodology and software, validation, formal analysis, and writing—original draft preparation. CH, XX, and YZ: investigation and data curation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research and the APC were funded by National Social Science Foundation, China, Grant Number 16BZZ058.

- Johnson S, Cooper C, Cartwright S, Donald I, Taylor P, Millet C. The experience of work-related stress across occupations. J Manager Psychol. (2005) 20:178-87. doi: 10.1108/02683940510579803
- Gómez-García R, Alonso-Sangregorio M, Llamazares-Sánchez M. Burnout in social workers and socio-demographic factors. J Soc Work. (2020) 20:463– 82. doi: 10.1177/1468017319837886
- Adams RE, Boscarino JA, Figley CR. Compassion fatigue and psychological distress among social workers: a validation study. *Am J Orthopsychiatr.* (2006) 76:103–8. doi: 10.1037/0002-9432.76.1.103
- Kagan M, Itzick M. Work-related factors associated with psychological distress among social workers. *Euro J Soc Work*. (2019) 22:30–42. doi: 10.1080/13691457.2017.1357021
- Rossi A, Cetrano G, Pertile R, Rabbi L, Donisi V, Grigoletti L, et al. Burnout, compassion fatigue, and compassion satisfaction among staff in community-based mental health services. *Psychiatr Res.* (2012) 200:933– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.07.029
- Chan CLW, Leung JCB, Min J, Xu YX. China: from ideological focused education to professional social work education. In: Sajid SM, Baiady R, Sheng-Li C, and Sakaguchi H, editors. The Palgrave Handbook of Global Social Work Education. *Palgrave Macmillan* (2020). p. 61–77.
- Li Y, Han WJ, Huang CC. Development of social work education in China: Background, current status, and prospects. J Soc Work Educ. (2012) 48:635– 53. doi: 10.5175/JSWE.2012.201100049
- Lizano EL. Examining the impact of job burnout on the health and well-being for human service workers: a systematic review and synthesis. *Hum Serv Organiz Manage Leadership Govern.* (2015) 39:167–81. doi: 10.1080/23303131.2015.1014122
- Sánchez-Moreno E, Roldán INDLF, Gallardo-Peralta LP, de Roda ABL. Burnout, informal social support and psychological distress among social workers. Br J Soc Work. (2015) 45:2368–86. doi: 10.1093/bjsw/bcu084

- Bakker AB, Demerouti E, Schaufeli WB. Dual processes at work in a call centre: An application of the job demands-resources model. *Euro J Work* Organizat Psychol. (2003) 12:393–417. doi: 10.1080/13594320344000165
- Hakanen JJ, Schaufeli WB, Ahola K. The job demands-resources model: a three-year cross-lagged study of burnout, depression, commitment, and work engagement. Work Stress. (2008) 22:224–41. doi: 10.1080/02678370802379432
- Demerouti E, Bakker AB, Nachreiner F, Schaufeli WB. The job demands-resources model of burnout. J Appl Psychol. (2001) 86:499–512. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.86.3.499
- Luo M, Lei J. Using the JD-R Model to predict the organizational outcomes of social workers in Guangzhou, China. J Soc Social Work Res. (2021) 12:349– 69. doi: 10.1086/714311
- Grover SL, Teo STT, Pick D, Roche M. Mindfulness as a personal resource to reduce work stress in the job demands-resources model. *Stress Health*. (2017) 33:426–36. doi: 10.1002/smi.2726
- Oshio T, Inoue A, Tsutsumi A. Associations among job demands and resources, work engagement and psychological distress: fixed-effects model analysis in Japan. J Occupat Health. (2018) 60:254–62. doi: 10.1539/joh.2017-0293-OA
- Ren H, Bolino MC, Shaffer MA, Kraimer ML. The influence of job demands and resources on repatriate career satisfaction: A relative deprivation perspective. J World Bus. (2013) 48:149–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jwb.2012.06.015
- Schaufeli WB, Bakker AB, van Rhenen W. How changes in job demands and resources predict burnout, work engagement, and sickness absenteeism. J Organ Behav. (2009) 30:893–917. doi: 10.1002/job.595
- 27. Schaufeli WB, Taris TW. A critical review of the job demands-resources model: Implications for improving work and health. In G. F. Bauer and O. Hämmig editors. *Bridging Occupational, Organizational and Public Health: A Transdisciplinary Approach* (New York, NY: Springer Science + Business Media) (2014), p. 43–68.
- Ben-Ezra M, Hamama-Raz Y. Social workers during COVID-19: Do coping strategies differentially mediate the relationship between job demand and psychological distress? *Br J Soc Work*. (2020) 20:205. doi: 10.1093/bjsw/bcaa210
- Hakanen JJ, Bakker AB, Schaufeli WB. Burnout and work engagement among teachers. J Sch Psychol. (2006) 43:495–513. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2005.11.001
- Hu Q, Schaufeli WB, Taris TW. The job demands-resources model: An analysis of additive and joint effects of demands and resources. J Vocat Behav. (2011) 79:181–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.12.009
- 31. Lequeurre J, Gillet N, Ragot C, Fouquereau E. Validation of a French questionnaire to measure job demands and resources. *Revue Internationale de Psychologie Sociale*. (2013) 26:93–124. Available online at: https://www.cairn. info/revue-internationale-de-psychologie-sociale-2013-4-page-93.htm
- Pelon SB. Compassion fatigue and compassion satisfaction in hospice social work. J Soc Work End-of-Life Palliat Care. (2017) 13:134–50. doi: 10.1080/15524256.2017.1314232
- Arvidsdotter T, Marklund B, Kylén S, Taft C, Ekman I. Understanding persons with psychological distress in primary health care. *Scand J Caring Sci.* (2016) 30:687–94. doi: 10.1111/scs.12289
- Ridner SH. Psychological distress: concept analysis. J Adv Nurs. (2004) 45:536–45. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02938.x
- 35. Furukawa TA, Kessler RC, Slade T, Andrews G. The performance of the K6 and K10 screening scales for psychological distress in the Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Well-Being. *Psychol Med.* (2003) 33:357–62. doi: 10.1017/S0033291702006700
- Hardy GE, Woods D, Wall TD. The impact of psychological distress on absence from work. J Appl Psychol. (2003) 88:306– 314. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.88.2.306
- 37. Kessler RC, Green JG, Gruber MJ, Sampson NA, Bromet E, Cuitan M, et al. Screening for serious mental illness in the general population with the K6 screening scale: results from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) survey initiative. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2010) 19:4–22. doi: 10.1002/mpr.310
- Levesque A, Roy E, Jutras-Aswad D, Zang G, Artenie AA, Bruneau J. Examining the link between psychological distress, mental health disorders and sharing behaviors among cocaine users. *Addict Behav.* (2016) 62:54– 59. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.06.004
- Eskin M, Sun JM, Abuidhail J, Yoshimasu K, Kujan O, Janghorbani M, et al. Suicidal behavior and psychological distress in

university students: A 12-nation study. Archiv Suicide Res. (2016) 0:1–20. doi: 10.1080/13811118.2015.1054055

- Tang F, Byrne M, Qin P. Psychological distress and risk for suicidal behavior among university students in contemporary China. J Affect Disord. (2018) 228:101–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.12.005
- Diener E, Emmons RA. The independence of positive and negative affect. J Personal Soc Psychol. (1984) 47:1104–17. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.47.5.1105
- Lyubomirsky S, King L, Diener E. The benefits of frequent positive affect: does happiness lead to success? *Psychol Bull.* (2005) 131:803– 55. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.131.6.803
- Fredrickson BL. The role of positive emotions in positive psychology: the broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *Am Psychol.* (2001) 56:218– 26. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.56.3.218
- Gloria CT, Steinhardt MA. Relationships among positive emotions, coping, resilience and mental health: positive emotions, resilience and health. *Stress Health.* (2016) 32:145–56. doi: 10.1002/smi.2589
- Siu OL, Cheung F, Lui S. Linking positive emotions to work wellbeing and turnover intention among Hong Kong police officers: the role of psychological capital. J Happin Stud. (2015) 16:367–80. doi: 10.1007/s10902-014-9513-8
- 46. Jonas BS, Lando JF. Negative affect as a prospective risk factor for hypertension. *Psychosomat Med.* (2000) 62:188– 96. doi: 10.1097/00006842-200003000-00006
- Bradley B, DeFiFe JA, Guarnaccia C, Phifer J, Fani N, Ressler KJ, et al. Emotion dysregulation and negative affect: association with psychiatric symptoms. J Clinic Psychiatr. (2011) 72:685–91. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10m06409blu
- Wilkes CM, Wilson HW, Woodard JL, Calamari JE. Do negative affect characteristics and subjective memory concerns increase risk for late life anxiety? J Anxiety Disord. (2013) 27:608–18. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2013.03.008
- Chen Y, Zhang F, Wang Y, Zheng J. Work-family conflict, emotional responses, workplace deviance, and well-being among construction professionals: a sequential mediation model. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6883. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17186883
- Weiss HM, Cropanzano R. "Affective events theory: a theoretical discussion of the structure, causes and consequences of affective experiences at work," In B. M. Staw and L. L. Cummings editors, *Research in Organizational Behavior: An Annual Series of Analytical Essays and Critical Reviews* (London: Elsevier Science/JAI Press), (1996), p. 1–74.
- Aquino, K., Lewis, M. U., and Bradfield, M. Justice constructs, negative affectivity, and employee deviance: A proposed model and empirical test. J Occupay Behav. (1999) 20:1073– 91. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(199912)20:7&dt;1073::AID-JOB943>3.0.CO;2-7
- Chen R, Sun C, Chen JJ, Jen HJ, Kang L, Kao CC, et al. A largescale survey on trauma, burnout, and posttraumatic growth among nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Mental Health Nurs*. (2021) 30:102– 16. doi: 10.1111/inm.12796
- Weiss HM. Deconstructing job satisfaction: separating evaluations, beliefs, and affective experiences. *Hum Resour Manage Rev.* (2002) 12:173– 94. doi: 10.1016/S1053-4822(02)00045-1
- Zacher H, Rudolph CW. Individual differences and changes in subjective wellbeing during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Am Psychol.* (2020) 20:702. doi: 10.1037/amp0000702
- Chengdu Department of Civil Affairs. Statistics on the Number of Licensed Social Workers in Chengdu, 2010-2020. Chengdu Department of Civil Affairs, Chengdu, China. [in Chinese] (2021).
- 56. Xie X. Personal communication with Lingxu Zhou, Founder of Xinjiyuan Social Work Service Center in Chengdu (2021).
- 57. Zeng S, Li X, He X, Chen W. Chinese Social Workers' turnover intention and its impacting factors. *J Chongqing Technol Bus Univ.* (2019) 36:1–10.
- Kessler RC, Barker PR, Colpe LJ, Epstein JF, Gfroerer JC, Hiripi E, et al. Screening for serious mental illness in the general population. *Archiv General Psychiatr.* (2003) 60:184–189. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.2.184
- Twenge J, Joiner TE. Mental distress among U.S. adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Clinic Psychol. (2020) 76:2170–182. doi: 10.1002/jclp. 23064
- 60. Fushimi M, Saito S, Shimizu T, Kudo Y, Seki M, Murata K. Prevalence of psychological distress, as measured by the Kessler 6 (K6), and related

factors in Japanese employees. Commun Ment Health J. (2012) 48:328-35. doi: 10.1007/s10597-011-9416-7

- Kessler RC, Andrews G, Colpe LJ, Hiripi E, Mroczek DK, Normand SLT, et al. Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in non-specific psychological distress. *Psychol Med.* (2002) 32:959– 76. doi: 10.1017/S0033291702006074
- Thompson ER. Development and validation of an internationally reliable short-form of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS). J Cross-Cult Psychol. (2007) 38:227–42. doi: 10.1177/0022022106297301
- Jovanovic V, Joshanloo M, Martín-Carbonell M, Caudek C, Espejo B, Checa I, et al. Measurement invariance of the scale of positive and negative experience across 13 countries. *Assessment*. (2021) 21:1494. doi: 10.1177/10731911211021494
- 64. Liu JD, You RH, Liu H, Chung PK. Chinese version of the International Positive and Negative Affect Schedule Short Form: Factor structure and measurement invariance. *Health Qual Life Outcom.* (2020) 18:285. doi: 10.1186/s12955-020-01526-6
- Gunzler D, Chen T, Wu P, Zhang H. Introduction to mediation analysis with structural equation modeling. *Shanghai Archiv Psychiatr.* (2013) 25:390– 94. doi: 10.3969%2Fj.issn.1002-0829.2013.06.009
- Bakker AB, Demerouti E. The job demands-resources model: state of the art. J Manager Psychol. (2007) 22:309–28. doi: 10.1108/02683940710733115
- Colgan DD, Klee D, Memmott T, Oken B. Perceived stress mediates the relationship between mindfulness and negative affect variability: A RCT among middle-aged to older adults. *Stress Health.* (2019) 35:89– 97. doi: 10.1002/smi.2845
- Montero-Marin J, Tops M, Manzanera R, Demarzo MMP, Alvarez de Mon M, Garcia-Campayo J. Mindfulness, resilience, and burnout subtypes in primary care physicians: the possible mediating role of positive and negative affect. *Front Psychol.* (2015) 6:1895. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 01895
- Vinci C, Peltier MR, Shah S, Kinsaul J, Waldo K, McVay MA, et al. Effects of a brief mindfulness intervention on negative affect and urge to drink among college student drinkers. *Behav Res Therapy*. (2014) 59:82– 93. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2014.05.012
- 70. Lomas T, Medina JC, Ivtzan I, Rupprecht S, Eiroa-Orosa FJ. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of mindfulness-based interventions

on the wellbeing of healthcare professionals. *Mindfulness*. (2019) 10:1193–216. doi: 10.1007/s12671-018-1062-5

- 71. Suleiman-Martos N, Gomez-Urquiza JL, Aguayo-Estremera R, Canadas-De La Fuente GA, De La Fuente-Solana EI, Garcia-Albendin L. The effect of mindfulness training on burnout syndrome in nursing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Adv Nurs. (2020) 76:1124–40. doi: 10.1111/jan.14318
- Zoogman S, Goldberg SB, Hoyt WT, Miller L. Mindfulness interventions with youth: a meta-analysis. *Mindfulness*. (2014) 6:290-302. doi: 10.1007/s12671-013-0260-4
- Young DKM, Ng PYN. The prevalence and predictors of self-stigma of individuals with mental health illness in two Chinese cities. *Int J Soc Psychiatr.* (2016) 62:176–85. doi: 10.1177/0020764015614596
- World Population Review. Chengdu Population 2021. World Population Review. (2021). Available online at: https://worldpopulationreview.com/ world-cities/chengdu-population. (accessed July 15, 2021).
- Liu M, Sun F, Anderson S. Challenges in social work field education in China: Lessons from the western experience. *Social Work Educ.* (2013) 32:179– 96. doi: 10.1080/02615479.2012.723682

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Huang, Xie, Cheung and Zhou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Trajectories of Mental Health Status Among Police Recruits in Sweden

Mikael Emsing^{1,2*}, Mojgan Padyab^{1,3,4}, Mehdi Ghazinour¹ and Anna-Karin Hurtig²

¹ Police Education Unit, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden, ² Department of Epidemiology and Global Health, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden, ³ Department of Social Work, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden, ⁴ Centre for Demographic and Ageing Research, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden

Background: The stressful and complex nature of police work and its adverse effects on mental health are well-documented in police research. The mental health of police students however, has not been given the same attention. To the best of our knowledge, studies on the mental health of Swedish police recruits have not been undertaken since 2010.

Objectives: The present study aims to examine whether there are differences in the mental health between two cohorts (2009 and 2020) of Swedish police recruits, as well as to compare the mental health of both cohorts with the general population data collected in 2002.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Leah Okenwa Emegwa, Swedish Red Cross University College, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Muhammad Rehan Masoom, United International University, Bangladesh Aries Susanty, Diponegoro University, Indonesia

> ***Correspondence:** Mikael Emsing mikael.emsing@umu.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 09 August 2021 Accepted: 30 December 2021 Published: 03 February 2022

Citation:

Emsing M, Padyab M, Ghazinour M and Hurtig A-K (2022) Trajectories of Mental Health Status Among Police Recruits in Sweden. Front. Psychiatry 12:753800. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.753800 **Methods:** Data was collected using the SCL-90-R survey. Data was analyzed using multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) and independent sample T-tests. Bi-variate analyses including *t*-test and chi-square were used to examine differences in sociodemographic variables between the two cohorts.

Results: A total of 376 police recruits participated in the study. Results indicated no significant differences between the cohorts with regards to the three global indices of the SCL-90-R: Global Severity Index (GSI), Positive Symptom Total (PST), and Positive Symptom Distress Index (PSDI). Recruits with a college degree had lower scores on GSI and PSDI, similar to respondents that where in a relationship vs. singles. A total of 15 (four female) recruits had GSI scores above the Swedish patient mean. Compared with the general population, males and females from the 2009, as well as females from the 2020 cohorts had lower or insignificantly different mean scores on all global indices, with males from the 2020 cohort having a significantly lower PST score.

Conclusions: While the vast majority of recruits had results that where indicative of a low prevalence and intensity with regards to mental health disorders, some recruits did score above the Swedish patient mean. While mental preparedness is part of the curriculum for Swedish police recruits, interventions targeting the stigmas of poor mental health could be of value. The fact that educational attainment appears to have a positive impact on the mental health of police recruits, could be taken in to consideration when recruiting future police officers.

Keywords: police, education, mental health, law enforcement, police training

INTRODUCTION

The stressful and complex nature of police work is wellestablished in police research (1-7). Police officers are confronted with not only organizational stressors, such as lack of support from leadership, time pressure, and staff shortages, but also taskrelated strains, such as potential violence, threats, and exposure to unknown situations and interpersonal conflicts, which have been established since the infancy of police-related research (8-11). To handle the situations police officers are not only faced with but are required to manage, officers are given farreaching mandates, including the lawful right to use force when conducting their duties. Given the power vested in the police, the discretion with which officers use this power is of great importance not only to the individuals with which they interact but also to public perceptions of trust in the justice system (12). With these mandates and the importance of discretion as a point of departure, the factors of conflict management and behavior play an important role. Notably, this is an area where officers have a breadth of possible approaches or behaviors ranging from the misuse of power to withdrawing from engaging in conflicts, and where a range of factors appear to affect the propensity of officers to use force (9, 13, 14). Notwithstanding the several investigations on different aspects of police work, less attention has been paid to the context of police education and how police officers are prepared for challenges they will meet in the line of duty. The lack of knowledge about police education might depend on variations in police education structures with regards to length and content in many countries, as well as the fact that police research is a relatively novel area of research.

BACKGROUND

Basic Training for Police Officers

In Sweden, police officers go through 2 years (four terms) of formal training at one of the universities that have a basic training program for police officers. After graduation, future officers go through 6 months of probationary training, whereafter (if given a passing grade), they are hired as sworn officers.

Since 2006, and the inception of the *National Basic Tactics* [Nationell Bastaktik], all recruits and officers have received training in a mental preparedness program, which includes basic knowledge of stress and reactions to stress, coping, mental preparedness (short- and long-term), mental training through mental and muscular relaxation, and methods for improving sleep quality (15). The training to be a police officer is conducted at five universities and is regulated in broad terms by an education plan provided by the Swedish Police. Therefore, the material described above can be supplemented by other sources, as long as they are in line with the goals and contents of the plan (16) and the competency profile for police officers (17).

Declines in Mental Health Status – From Recruitment to Officer

Corollary to the aforementioned demands and strains, as well as the power vested in them, aspiring officers generally go through rigorous testing. Although recruitment processes and methods of

testing differ, commonly used test batteries include personality tests, such as the MMPI-2 (3) and the NEO-PI (18), physical fitness tests (19), and medical screening. Therefore, it is perhaps not surprising that, compared to the general population, police recruits at a group level are in good health upon admission (20, 21). However, research on the overall health of police officers shows that despite strong baseline results (i.e., upon admission to the academies), there appears to be a marked decline in the mental and physical health of police officers (1, 19, 22). Evidence has suggested that among the negative effects of police work are anxiety, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (1, 7, 23, 24), burnout (10, 25), and substance abuse (26). It is wellknown that mental health conditions, such as those described above, can be severely debilitating, significantly increase the risk of premature morbidity, and account for a large proportion of the burden of disease globally (27, 28). Mental health conditions have also been shown to have significant comorbidity with other non-communicable diseases ranging from (but not limited to) cardiovascular disease to oral health (29, 30). As already mentioned there appears to be less known about the mental health status of police recruits than about police officers. In reviewing previous research on mental health among police recruits a literature search was conducted in PubMed using the search terms ((mental health) OR (mental status) OR (stress) OR (psych*)) AND (Police/education[MeSH]). A similar search was conducted in ERIC and ASE using the search terms: (police education OR police recruit* OR police trainee* OR police student*) AND (mental health OR mental status OR psych*) with Subject terms: police, police education and higher education.

The absolute majority of the articles that were found examined various forms of training interventions for officers, and in some cases recruits, aimed at handling people suffering from poor mental health, or psychiatric disorders and *Crisis Interventions Teams* (CIT). Research in to the mental health of police recruits were however scarce. One study examined the association of mental status of police recruits and periodontal health (29) with other (N = 3) examining the associations of personality and mental health (20, 21, 31). In other studies coping behaviors of police recruits during training have been examined, suggesting that the training is a potentially stressful environment (32, 33), with recruits reporting an increase in alcohol consumption in part to cope with stress (33). However, little remains known about the mental health and symptoms of distress among police recruits.

Mental Health and Police Officer Performance

The deleterious effects of mental health conditions mentioned above are however not limited to the individual, and in the case of police officers, these effects can be amplified by their work context. As already stated, conflicts and confrontations are omnipresent features of police work and need to be handled in a professional manner (34). Extant research on the mental health conditions described above shows that, for example, PTSD and burnout can have significant negative effects on conflict and conflict management behavior and performance (10, 35, 36). Finally, the deleterious effects of poor mental health on police officers could further be amplified by limited leeway in terms of feasible alternatives for coping strategies and help-seeking, where officers are: (1) required to face conflicts and other stressors daily (thus limiting the possibility of situational coping); (2) the stigmas surrounding mental health issues among police officers appear to be strong (1, 37, 38); and (3) police cultures where the potential dangers facing police officers are emphasized, adding an impetus for the development of a view of the world as a dangerous place where a "warrior" or "combat mindset" is necessary (39, 40) and where fearlessness and stoicism is encouraged (41).

Thus, the poor mental health of police officers and declines that have been shown in terms of mental health (42) and the negative effects that are perhaps particularly salient among police officers compared to the general public make police officer mental health a public health issue that should be paid great attention, especially in the recruitment process and training of police officers. Physical fitness plays an important role in resilience to stressors and positive effects on mental health (43) and performance, already in training (44), as well as good baseline values in terms of mental health. Even small negative changes in mental health could have negative effects on job performance and resilience among police officers.

Relevance of the Study

The present study is part of an ongoing research project that started in 2018 with the aim of understanding the interplay between conflict management and mental health among Swedish police officers and recruits. To the best of our knowledge, the most recent research on the mental health of police recruits in Sweden (post-admission) was conducted in 2010. During this time, changes in society and recruitment have occurred that could affect the mental health of police recruits. For example, in Sweden, recent studies have shown that while overall rates of homicides in Sweden have decreased since the 1990s, gunrelated homicides and attempts to kill have gone up among males, with indications that the increase in part is attributable to gang-related conflicts (45). According to official statistics, the rate of gun-related homicides has seen an approximately two-fold increase between 2011 and 2018, with Sweden having comparatively higher per capita rates of individuals killed due to gun violence than almost all other European countries (46, 47). Sweden has also seen an increase in the use of hand grenades and explosive devices (48). These changes could have an adverse effect on the perceived dangers of the task environments that officers are required to operate within, thus affecting the mental health of future officers.

In addition, in recent years, the Swedish Police Authority has faced difficulties recruiting new, potential police officers. For example, between 2019 and 2020, several positions at the schools were not filled. This raises the question of whether less competition for places at the academy could have had a negative effect on the health of those who have been admitted to the schools. Furthermore, the criteria for admission have undergone changes between the last study in 2010 and the present day, most notable among these changes are perhaps a lowered minimum age for admission from 20 to 18, removed language test (17, 49), and lowered minimum score on the UNIQ-test, which is intended to measure the *g*-factor (50); the minimum score for admission has been lowered from 4 to 3, thus requiring a score lower than the population mean (51).

In the present study, data from a cohort from 2009 were compared to data collected from another cohort in 2020. While the cross-sectional design precludes causal inferences between the changes now described and differences in symptoms of psychological distress among recruits, the aforementioned changes make comparisons between the cohorts relevant (52). Moreover, while it can be assumed that police recruits, given the recruitment process they have undergone, are likely to have a lower prevalence of mental health disorders, keeping in mind the responsibilities that come with the job and the challenges that officers face-simply assuming is not enough. Given that very little attention has been given to the mental health and distress among police recruits, there appears to be a gap in knowledge as to if the negative effects of police work are present already during training when students are faced with the potential dangers and risks with their future work.

Research Aims and Questions

The overall aim of the present study is to examine if there are any differences in the psychological distress of police recruits in two cohorts, as well as in comparison with the general population, in order to deepen our understanding and knowledge of the importance of mental health and its potential negative consequences on police recruits. The control variables include age, gender, and educational attainment.

METHODS

Data Collection

In the present study, two cohorts of police recruits, one from 2009 and one from 2020, will comprise the study sample; the duration and overall contents in terms of mental preparedness training were the same for both cohorts. Respondents in the 2009 cohort were recruited from one of three universities in Sweden that, at the time, provided basic training programs for police officers. Respondents in the 2020 cohort were recruited from four out of five universities that currently provide basic training programs for police officers. Participation was voluntary for both cohorts, and all respondents received information on the aim and scope of the respective studies. Respondents were also asked to fill out a written consent form before completing the included surveys. Both cohorts filled out sociodemographic questionnaires as well as the Symptom Checklist (SCL-90-R).

Data collection for the 2020 cohort was initiated in early 2020; initially, the data collection was intended to include more recruits as well as police officers in Sweden. However, the COVID-19 pandemic forced a halt to data collection through face-to-face meetings, and instead the surveys were transferred to an online survey platform: LimeSurvey. Recruits were then contacted through their respective schools and asked to participate in the study. Recruits were asked to complete the same survey, and written consent was obtained through the LimeSurvey platform. Data collection for the 2009 cohort was conducted during faceto-face meetings.

Survey Measures

Sociodemographic Questionnaires

The sociodemographic questionnaires were developed independently and contained questions specific to each one. Both questionnaires included information on age (continuous), gender ("male," "female"), marital status ("single," "other," and "married"), educational attainment ("high school" or "college"), and children ("parent" or "no children"), which could thereafter be compared between the two cohorts.

SCL-90

The SCL-90 was developed by Derogatis and Cleary (53) as an instrument to assess psychological problems and symptoms of psychopathology in both patient and general populations. The instrument consists of 90 items, with each item scored on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 0 = "not at all" to 4 "extremely." In the present study, a Swedish translation of the instrument was used. The Swedish version of the instrument has been validated and psychometrically evaluated, and normative data from both patients (N = 1,782) and the general population (n = 1,016) are available (54). For the present study one justification for using the SCL-90 was the availability of previous data in a comparable cohort, thus enabling comparisons between both general population as well as a similar cohort (20). The SCL-90 measures nine dimensions of symptoms: somatization, obsessive-compulsive symptoms, interpersonal sensitivity, hostility, depression, anxiety, paranoid ideation, phobic anxiety, and psychoticism. Results from the SCL-90 can also be divided into three global indices that are indicative of psychopathology and level of distress: the Global Severity Index (GSI), Positive Symptom Index (PST), and Positive Symptom Distress Index (PSDI). The GSI reflects overall psychological distress, regardless of dimension, and Positive Symptom Total (PST) is the number of items answered positively (above 0). The PSDI indicates the intensity of symptoms, and it is calculated by dividing the total score by the number of positive items (54, 55). Previous studies on psychometric properties of the instrument have shown mixed results in terms of the factor structure of the nine subscales, limiting its use for more detailed discrimination between symptom groups. However, several studies have verified its usefulness as a screening tool, as well as for between-group comparisons in both clinical and research settings, with the global indices (GSI, PST, and PSDI) being particularly useful for assessing mental distress and the presence of symptoms of psychopathology (54, 56, 57).

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval for the present study was obtained from the Swedish Ethical Review Authority, with protocol number 2019-05208 for the 2020 cohort, and the Ethics Committee at Umea University approved the study protocol (Dnr 08-018M) for the 2009 cohort.

 TABLE 1 | Distribution of sociodemographic characteristics by cohort.

Characteristic	N	Overall, $N = 376$	2020, N = 376	2009, <i>N</i> = 101	p-Value
		N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
Gender	376				0.09
Male		246 (65%)	180 (65%)	66 (65%)	
Female		130 (35%)	95 (35%)	35 (35%)	
Degree	376				< 0.001
High school		256 (68%)	210 (76%)	46 (46%)	
College		120 (32%)	65 (24%)	55 (54%)	
Marital status	376				0.4
Single		164 (44%)	116 (42%)	48 (48%)	
Relationship		133 (35%)	103 (37%)	30 (30%)	
Other		79 (21%)	56 (20%)	23 (23%)	
Parent	376				0.044
No		315 (84%)	224 (81%)	91 (90%)	
Yes		61 (16%)	51 (19%)	10 (9.9%)	
		(mean/±SD)	(mean/±SD)	(mean/±SD)	
Age	376	27.1 (5.2)	27.9 (5.5)	25.1 (4.0)	<0.001

P-values indicate differences between cohorts.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using R (58) and STATA (59). We applied bivariate analyses, including *t*-tests and chi-square tests, to examine the differences in continuous and categorical sociodemographic variables, respectively, between the two cohorts (**Table 1**). Cohen's *d* was used to assess the magnitude of differences (60). We used the values originally stipulated by Cohen as a rough guideline in determining magnitude with the following levels of *d*: 0.2, 0.5, and 0.8 indicative of small, medium and large effects, respectively (60, 61). Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted with cohort, gender, parent, and educational attainment as independent variables and the three global indices (GSI, PST, and PSDI) as dependent variables to assess differences between cohorts and sociodemographic factors.

Prior to running the MANOVA, data were explored to ensure that the necessary assumptions for the test were met. To detect multivariate outliers, Mahalanobis distances were calculated (p = 0.001 and DF = 5). A number of outliers were found in both cohorts (n = 6 for 2020 and n = 3 for 2009) and were removed from the subsequent analysis. Data from both cohorts were also compared to general population data using gender-stratified one-sample *t*-tests, and data from the general population were collected from Fridell et al. (54).

RESULTS

The sample for the study consisted of two cohorts of police recruits (2009 and 2020) with a total of 376 police recruits from a Swedish basic training program for police officers (see **Table 1**).

TABLE 2 | SCL90 means.

Subscale	Male					Female				
	General pop.	2009	d	2020	d	General pop.	2009	d	2020	d
Som	0.41	0.28	-0.40	0.25	-0.51	0.49	0.27	-1.05	0.32	-0.502
Sub2	0.48	0.64	0.31	0.54		0.57	0.58		0.69	0.225
Sub3	0.33	0.31		0.41	0.21	0.49	0.40		0.46	
Sub4	0.39	0.48		0.46	0.16	0.72	0.56	-0.36	0.64	
Sub5	0.33	0.34		0.40	0.20	0.56	0.39	-0.54	0.48	
Sub6	0.29	0.10	-1.25	0.17	-0.52	0.34	0.08	-1.61	0.15	-0.896
Sub7	0.09	0.06	-0.25	0.11		0.18	0.09	-0.68	0.17	
Sub8	0.32	0.20	-0.41	0.35		0.38	0.17	-0.66	0.32	
Sub9	0.12	0.16		0.16	0.16	0.18	0.16		0.19	
GSI	0.33	0.32		0.36		0.45	0.33	-0.48	0.44	
PST	23.4	18.9	-0.31	20.7	0.16	26.5	19.9	-0.56	20.6	-0.369
PSDI	1.38	1.41		1.33		1.43	1.42		1.42	

General population data from Fridell et al. (54). Bold text indicates significant p-value (p < 0.05) for mean-differences between general population and respective cohort.

The original dataset contained 400 respondents in total, but 24 were removed because of missing sociodemographic variables.

Mental Health Compared to General Population

Data from the present study were compared to general population data (from 2002) by gender and cohort in the corresponding age groups. In the 2009 cohort, both males and females had lower or insignificantly different mean scores than the general population. Males scored higher on obsessive compulsion than the general population (t = 2.4794, p =0.0158, effect size = 0.31). As for the 2020 cohort, females similar to the 2009 cohort had lower or insignificantly different mean scores across the subscales and global indices, except for obsessive compulsion with borderline significant results (t =1.9882, p = 0.05, effect size = 0.23). Their male counterparts had less homogenous differences, with significantly lower scores in interpersonal sensitivity, hostility, and PST, and significantly higher scores in psychoticism, anxiety, and depression (see Table 2). Thus, males from the 2020 cohort stood out when compared to the general population of the same gender, even though females in both cohorts as well as females in the general population overall had higher means in all sub-scales as well as global indices compared to their male counterparts.

MANOVA

A one-way MANOVA was performed to assess differences in mental health between the cohorts. Box's M was used to check the homogeneity of covariance assumption, with a given *p*-value < 0.001, indicating that the assumption was violated. Therefore, Pillai's Trace was used, as it is robust to such violations (62). Pillai's Trace with only cohort as the fixed factor showed a significant difference between with only cohort as the fixed factor showed a significant difference between the two cohorts [V = 0.027, $F_{(3,327)} = 3.042$, p = 0.029]. A test of between-subjects effects, however, showed that the differences for GSI and PSDI were insignificant (p= 0.242 and 0.343,

TABLE 3 | MANOVA (Crude and adjusted means).

			Indices			
	GSI		PSDI		PST	
	Crude mean	Adjusted mean	Crude mean	Adjusted mean	Crude mean	Adjusted mean
Cohort						
2009	0.327	0.179	1.374	1.284	19.701	11.808
2020	0.368	0.205	1.338	1.263	23.081	14.066
Gender						
Male	0.348	0.289	1.332	1.314	21.892	18.469
Female	0.375	0.309	1.383	1.363	22.602	18.789
Degree		0.240				
High school	0.395	0.144	1.342	1.261	24.467	15.889
College	0.272**	k	1.362***	1.286	16.904	9.986
Parent						
No	0.374	0.229	1.356	1.295	23.011	14.933
Yes	0.253	0.155	1.301	1.252	16.667	10.942
Marital status						
Relationship	0.301*	0.162	1.341*	1.288	19.220	11.234
Single	0.425	0.261	1.380	1.313	25.564	16.308
Other	0.297*	0.153	1.288*	1.219	19.297	11.269

*p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001.

respectively) with PSDI being borderline significant (p = 0.053). Subsequent MANOVAs using Pillai's Trace and the remaining sociodemographic variables, as fixed factors, showed significant differences in educational attainment [V = 0.046, $F_{(3,321)} = 6.627$, $p \le 0.001$] and marital status [V = 0.046, $F_{(3,322)} = 1.329$, p = 0.02]. The main effects were significant for GSI (p = 0.008) and PSDI ($p \le 0.001$), with respondents with a college degree having lower means than those with a high school degree. The mean PST did not show statistical difference between categories of educational attainment (p = 0.542) (**Table 3**). Regarding marital status, the main effect was similarly significant for GSI and PSDI (p = 0.007 for both) and insignificant for PST (p = 0.136). Being in a relationship (married or living together with a partner) or otherwise (in a partnership but not living together, unmarried) were associated with lower GSI and PSDI and insignificant differences for PST.

Scores Above Cut-Off for Swedish Patient Data

Using the mean scores of the Swedish normative data for the patient group as a cut-off, respondents with scores above the patient level for GSI (1.02 for males and 1.21 for females, respectively) were extracted from the data. A total of four females (all in the 2020 cohort) and 11 males (n = 3, 2009) were identified. Given the low numbers, statistical comparisons within the group were not deemed relevant, but interestingly, only one individual had a college degree, none had children, and one respondent was aged > 30. Scores among the respondents ranged between 1.1 and 1.8 for males and 1.2 and 1.6 for females.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we aimed to examine the differences between two cohorts of Swedish police recruits, using control variables such as age, gender, children, and educational attainment. The study has some limitations that should be addressed when analyzing the results. The SCL-90-R measures psychological distress and symptoms of psychopathology at a very limited time (7 days). Thus, the results are at least on an individual level more sensitive to being affected by temporary fluctuations in psychological distress and therefore represents a snapshot of the psychological distress of the recruits. Also, the differences in the size of the samples could be a factor in the results, with smaller group sizes yielding less power in the analysis. However, given the lack of previous research on the topic, the results can be of importance not least for future research.

While the multivariate analysis between the two cohorts was significant, follow-up univariate analysis showed that only the difference in the number of positive symptoms (PST) was borderline significant at p = 0.053. This despite the fact that, at a societal level, there has been an increase in mental health disorders in the period of 2006–2020, in the comparable age group of 16–29 years old (63). These differences could be mitigated by the tests that the recruits go through before admission, despite the changes in recruitment and the increase in the number of recruits admitted.

Educational attainment appeared to have a positive effect on the psychological distress of police recruits, with significant differences for both the GSI and PST indices. While this study does not provide answers as to why educational attainment appears to be a protective factor in terms of prevalence of symptoms of mental health disorders, the results can still be of interest in terms of how to recruit police officers, and the value of higher education for police officer performance and longevity. This also adds to extant research on police officer performance in conflict situations, where educational attainment has been shown to have a positive effect on the use of force and verbal communication, where officers with a higher education degree are less likely to use coercive communication, use of force, and are less likely to receive complaints from the public (64, 65).

Compared with the general public normative data from 2002, recruits from both cohorts had mean GSI scores that were insignificantly different (lower for 2009 males and females, higher for 2020 males) from the Swedish general population, except for females in the 2009 cohort that had a significantly lower mean. Recruits from both cohorts, regardless of gender, also reported fewer psychopathological symptoms than their general population counterparts. This is perhaps not surprising, given that recruits have undergone rigorous testing, including psychological evaluations. The fact that the male 2020 cohort scored significantly higher on some subscales than their male counterparts from the general population is, however, something that could warrant further attention, even when taking the small effect sizes in to account. For example, with the exception of females in the 2009 cohort, the mean scores for obsessive compulsion were higher than the general population in the corresponding age group. This could for example be indicative of an educational climate that fosters fear of making mistakes and hampers the ability to take initiative and think freely. On a positive note, the low score across both cohorts, regardless of gender, with regard to hostility compared to the general population, could have several positive effects. Notably, previous studies have shown a relationship between anger/hostility and vulnerability to PTSD (36). A possible alternative explanation for this finding is that the subjects included in the present investigation are amidst their education and have not yet been faced with the challenges present in the line of duty. Future studies should examine how these scores change when police officers face the darker sides of police work and society.

While the number of respondents who scored above the cutoff for Swedish patient means, and therefore showed symptoms indicative of psychological distress, was low (n = 15), it was still noteworthy and could have implications not only for the respondents in question, but for those that they will possibly interact with in the future. As police officers, these individuals will be exposed to high levels of stress, shift-work, and other risk correlates of serious mental health issues, such as suicide, in which police officers and other emergency personnel have been shown to have increased risks (66).

The fact that there were more males than females with these high scores could perhaps be indicative of a lower propensity to actively seek help for these issues, which could increase the severity of the symptoms in the long term. This finding is in line with extant research on police help-seeking behaviors that have shown considerable stigmas surrounding mental health issues and a macho-culture associated with police work, where even officers with suicidal ideation rarely sought psychological help (37, 67, 68). It is vital that police education programs effectively identify individuals who already suffer from mental health disorders during their educational time, and that these are given proper attention and support. Previous research has shown that one reason for maladaptive help-seeking behaviors could be because officers are under constant (perceived) scrutiny, and that fear of, for example, being disarmed, could lead to individuals hiding symptoms of mental health disorders (69). If mental health-related issues are addressed in an open and effective manner, police work is also rich in protective factors, such as camaraderie and support (66). However, for these protective factors to be effective, the stigmas need to be removed, thereby hindering social withdrawal and covering up symptoms of mental health issues. To our knowledge, the help-seeking behaviors and attitudes toward mental health issues among recruits have not been explored to the same extent as among police officers, and the results of the present study warrant further investigation into these issues.

Prospective, longitudinal studies following recruits from admission and into their careers could provide important answers on how these individuals are supported, to what extent they are discovered during training, and what implications the presence of psychopathology during training has for their future careers.

CONCLUSIONS

While the vast majority of recruits in the sample studied had results on the SCL-90-R that were indicative of low prevalence and intensity with regard to psychological distress, a number of recruits reported scores above the Swedish patient mean. While studies focusing on psychological distress among police recruits are rare, these results add to previous studies that identify the time in training as a potentially stressful environment even for the recruits (33). In addition, with the data available in the present study, mean scores appeared to be affected by educational attainment as well as the relationship status of the respondents. This finding could be useful for the recruitment of officers, where educational attainment has previously been shown to positively influence conflict behaviors, but could also positively affect the mental health of future officers. Further studies should be conducted with regard to the help-seeking behaviors of police recruits and the educational climate at the schools, where recruits appear to be under a lot of pressure, evident in high scores on obsessive compulsion, for example. While, at least in the Swedish context, mental preparedness is, in fact a part of the curriculum, interventions targeting the stigmas of poor mental health and the

REFERENCES

- Jetelina KK, Molsberry RJ, Gonzalez JR, Beauchamp AM, Hall T. Prevalence of mental illness and mental health care use among police officers. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2019658. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.19658
- Kanvinde V. Examining the relationship between control-balance and cynicism using a sample of law enforcement officers. *Police Pract Res.* (2021). 2021:1–11. doi: 10.1080/15614263.2021.1894144
- Marshall RE, Milligan-Saville JS, Mitchell PB, Bryant RA, Harvey SB. A systematic review of the usefulness of pre-employment and pre-duty screening in predicting mental health outcomes amongst emergency workers. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 253:129–37. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.03.047
- 4. Maslach C, Jackson SE. Burned out cops and their families. *Psychol Today*. (1979) 12:58–62.

importance of seeking help could be of value. Such interventions, aimed at college students, have been shown to have positive effects both in the short- and long-term (70). While the studies on the topic of interventions aimed at resilience training for police recruits are scarce, previous studies have suggested that such interventions are likely most effective already early in the training of the recruits (71). While the declines in mental health of police officers are well-documented, our study - in line with the few previous studies that have been conducted on the topic, suggest that more research is needed and that this decline could start already during academy training.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Swedish Ethical Review Authority and the Ethics Committee at Umea University. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ME, MG, and MP conceived the study and where responsible for the first draft. MG, MP, and A-KH contributed by commenting on the manuscript and approved the final version. ME and MP conducted the data analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study is part of a Ph.D. research project funded by Umeå School of Education, Umeå University, and the Unit for Police Education, Umeå University.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the respondents for generously taking time to participate.

- Ménard KS, Arter ML. Police officer alcohol use and trauma symptoms: associations with critical incidents, coping, and social stressors. *Int J Stress Manag.* (2013) 20:37–56. doi: 10.1037/a0031434
- van der Velden PG, Rademaker AR, Vermetten E, Portengen M-A, Yzermans JC, Grievink L. Police officers: a high-risk group for the development of mental health disturbances? A cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2013) 3:e001720. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001720
- Violanti JM, Charles LE, McCanlies E, Hartley TA, Baughman P, Andrew ME, et al. Police stressors and health: a state-of-the-art review. *Policing.* (2017) 40:642–56. doi: 10.1108/PIJPSM-06-2016-0097
- 8. Bard M, Zacker J. The Police and Interpersonal Conflict Third Party Intervention Approaches. Police Foundation. (1976).
- 9. Emsing M, Hansson J, Sundqvist J. Swedish police officers' perceptions of conflict management training in school and probationary training.

Nord J Polic Stud. (2020) 7:80–98. doi: 10.18261/issn.1894-8693-202 0-02-02

- Kop N, Euwema M, Schaufeli W. Burnout, job stress and violent behaviour among Dutch police officers. Work Stress. (1999) 13:326–40. doi: 10.1080/02678379950019789
- Shane JM. Organizational stressors and police performance. J Crim Justice. (2010) 38:807–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2010.05.008
- Donner CM. Does low self-control contribute to police officers' procedurally unjust treatment of citizens? A unique test of Gottfredson and Hirschi's generality hypothesis. *Police Pract Res.* (2020). 22:1–17. doi: 10.1080/15614263.2020.1821679
- Hine KA, Porter LE, Westera NJ, Alpert GP, Allen A. What were they thinking? Factors influencing police recruits' decisions about force. *Polic Soc.* (2019) 29:673–91. doi: 10.1080/10439463.2018.1432612
- Staller MS, Müller M, Christiansen P, Zaiser B, Körner S, Cole JC. Ego depletion and the use of force: investigating the effects of ego depletion on police officers' intention to use force. *Aggress Behav.* (2019) 45:161–8. doi: 10.1002/ab.21805
- 15. The Swedish Police Authority. *Polisiär Konflikthantering (POLKON) [Police Conflict Management]*. Stockholm (2014).
- 16. The Swedish Police Authority. Utbildningsplan för polisprogrammet [Educationplan for the Police Program]. Stockholm (2020).
- The Swedish Police Board. Kompetensprofil för Nyutbildad Polis Samt Profil för Antagning till polisutbildningen [Comepetency Profile for Newly Graduated Police Officers and Profile for Admission to the Police Education] (2012).
- Detrick P, Chibnall JT. Revised neo personality inventory normative data for police officer selection. *Psychol Serv.* (2013) 10:372. doi: 10.1037/a0 031800
- Lonsway KA. Tearing down the wall: problems with consistency, validity, and adverse impact of physical agility testing in police selection. *Police Q.* (2003) 6:237–77. doi: 10.1177/1098611103254314
- Ghazinour M, Lauritz LE, Du Preez E, Cassimjee N, Richter J. An investigation of mental health and personality in Swedish police trainees upon entry to the police academy. *J Police Crim Psychol.* (2010) 25:34–42. doi: 10.1007/s11896-009-9053-z
- Ghazinour M, Padyab M, Lauritz L-E, Richter J. Personality and mental health changes throughout the course of university police training in Sweden. Nord Polit. (2019) 6:7–23. doi: 10.18261/issn.1894-8693-2019-01-03
- 22. Schilling R, Colledge F, Ludyga S, Pühse U, Brand S, Gerber M. Does cardiorespiratory fitness moderate the association between occupational stress, cardiovascular risk, and mental health in police officers? *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:2349. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16132349
- Regehr C, Carey MG, Wagner S, Alden LE, Buys N, Corneil W, et al. A systematic review of mental health symptoms in police officers following extreme traumatic exposures. *Police Pract Res.* (2021) 22:225–39. doi: 10.1080/15614263.2019.1689129
- 24. Syed S, Ashwick R, Schlosser M, Jones R, Rowe S, Billings J. Global prevalence and risk factors for mental health problems in police personnel: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Occup Environ Med.* (2020) 77:737–47. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2020-106498
- Backteman-Erlanson S, Padyab M, Brulin C. Prevalence of burnout and associations with psychosocial work environment, physical strain, and stress of conscience among Swedish female and male police personnel. *Police Pract Res.* (2013) 14:491–505. doi: 10.1080/15614263.2012.736719
- Oehme K, Donnelly EA, Martin A. Alcohol abuse, PTSD, and officer-committed domestic violence. *Policing*. (2012) 6:418–30. doi: 10.1093/police/pas023
- 27. Ferrari AJ, Erskine HE, Charlson FJ, Santomauro DF, Leung J, Whiteford HA. The global burden of mental and substance use disorders. A review of data from the Global Burden of Disease Study. In: Oxford Textbook of Public Mental Health. Bhugra D, Bhui K, Wong SYS, Gilman SE, editors. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press (2018). p. 35–43. doi: 10.1093/med/9780198792994.003.0004
- World Health Organization. Mental Health Action Plan 2013–2020. Geneva: WHO (2013). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/ 10665/89966/9789241506021_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (accessed March 4, 2021).

- Ramlogan S, Raman V, Abraham K, Pierre K. Self-reported stress, coping ability, mental status, and periodontal diseases among police recruits. *Clin Exp Dent Res.* (2020) 6:117–23. doi: 10.1002/cre2.258
- Stein DJ, Benjet C, Gureje O, Lund C, Scott KM, Poznyak V, et al. Integrating mental health with other non-communicable diseases. *BMJ*. (2019) 364:l295. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l295
- du Preez E, Cassimjee N, Lauritz LE, Ghazinour M, Richter J. Personality and mental health: an investigation of South African police trainees. *Psychol Rep.* (2011) 108:301–16. doi: 10.2466/02.09.10.20.PR0.108.1.301-316
- Violanti JM. Coping strategies among police recruits in a highstress training environment. J Soc Psychol. (2001) 132:717–29. doi: 10.1080/00224545.1992.9712102
- Patterson GT. A brief exploratory report of coping strategies among police recruits during academy training. *Psychol Rep.* (2016) 119:557–67. doi: 10.1177/0033294116662685
- van de Klomp M, Stronks S, Adang OMJ, van den Brink GJM. Police and citizens in conflict: exploring post-confrontation interaction from a relational perspective. *Polic Soc.* (2014) 24:459–78. doi: 10.1080/10439463.2013.8 78342
- Burke RJ, Mikkelsen A. Burnout, job stress and attitudes towards the use of force by Norwegian police officers. *Polic Int J Police Strateg Manag.* (2005) 28:269–78. doi: 10.1108/13639510510597906
- Meffert SM, Metzler TJ, Henn-Haase C, McCaslin S, Inslicht S, Chemtob C, et al. A prospective study of trait anger and PTSD symptoms in police. J Trauma Stress. (2008) 21:410–6. doi: 10.1002/jts.20350
- Berg AM, Hem E, Lau B, Ekeberg Ø. Help-seeking in the Norwegian police service. J Occup Health. (2006) 48:145–53. doi: 10.1539/joh. 48.145
- Watson L, Andrews L. The effect of a Trauma Risk Management (TRiM) program on stigma and barriers to help-seeking in the police. *Int J Stress Manag.* (2018) 25:348–56. doi: 10.1037/str0000071
- Koerner S, Staller MS. Commentary: Does the Norwegian Police force need a well-functioning combat mindset? *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:572324. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.572324
- Sierra-Arévalo M. American policing and the danger imperative. *Law Soc Rev.* (2021) 55:70–103. doi: 10.1111/lasr.12526
- Stergiou-Kita M, Mansfield E, Bezo R, Colantonio A, Garritano E, Lafrance M, et al. Danger zone: men, masculinity and occupational health and safety in high risk occupations. Saf Sci. (2015) 80:213–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2015.07.029
- 42. Sundqvist J, Eriksson M, Ghazinour M, Hansson J, Hjertstedt M, Padyab M. Mareld - En Studie av Polisanställdas Hälsa, Arbetsmiljö och Trygghetsskapande Arbete i Särskilt Utsatta Områden i Polisregion Stockholm. [Mareld - A Study of Police Employees Health, Working Environment and Public Order and Security Work in Particularly Vulnerable Areas in Police Region Stockholm]. Umeå: Umeå University (2021).
- Gerber M, Kellmann M, Elliot C, Hartmann T, Brand S, Holsboer-Trachsler E, et al. Perceived fitness protects against stress-based mental health impairments among police officers who report good sleep. *J Occup Health*. (2013) 55:376– 84. doi: 10.1539/joh.13-0030-OA
- Korre M, Loh K, Eshleman EJ, Lessa FS, Porto LG, Christophi CA, et al. Recruit fitness and police academy performance: a prospective validation study. Occup Med. (2019) 69:541–8. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqz110
- Sturup J, Rostami A, Gerell M, Sandholm A. Near-repeat shootings in contemporary Sweden 2011 to 2015. Secur J. (2018) 31:73–92. doi: 10.1057/s41284-017-0089-y
- 46. The Swedish National Council for Crime Prevention. Kriminalstatistik 2019. Konstaterade Fall av Dödligt Våld - En Granskning av Dödligt Våld 2019. [Crime Statistics 2019. Confirmed Cases of Deadly Violence - An Investigation of Reported Deadly Violence in 2019]. Stockholm: The Swedish National Council for Crime Prevention (2020).
- 47. The Swedish National Council for Crime Prevention. *Dödligt Skjutvapenvåld i Sverige Och Andra Europeiska Länder [Deadly Gun-Violence in Sweden and Other European Countries]*. Stockholm (2021) p. 136.
- Sturup J, Gerell M, Rostami A. Explosive violence: a near-repeat study of hand grenade detonations and shootings in urban Sweden. *Eur J Criminol.* (2020) 17:661–77. doi: 10.1177/1477370818820656

- Swedish Government. Police Education of the Future. (2008) p. 182. Report No.: SOU 2008:39.
- Annell S, Sjöberg A, Sverke M. Use and interpretation of test scores from limited cognitive test batteries: how g + Gc can equal g. *Scand J Psychol.* (2014) 55:399–408. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12140
- The Swedish National Service Administration. Statistikuppgifter Avseende Polisprövningar Våren 2016 Med Skolstart Augusti 2016 [Statistics Regarding Police Recruitment, Spring 2016 with School Start August 2016]. (2016).
- Cohen L, Manion L, Morrison K. Research Methods in Education. 8th ed. London; New York, NY: Routledge (2018). p. 916. doi: 10.4324/9781315456539
- Derogatis LR, Cleary PA. Confirmation of the dimensional structure of the scl-90: a study in construct validation. *J Clin Psychol.* (1977) 33:981–9. doi: 10. 1002/1097-4679(197710)33:4<981::AID-JCLP2270330412>3.0.CO;2-0
- 54. Fridell M, Cesarec Z, Johansson M, Malling Thorsen S. SCL-90 Svensk Normering, Standardisering Och Validering av Symptomskalan [SCL-90 Swedish Normation, Standardisation and Validation of the Symptoms Checklist]. Västervik: The Swedish National Board of Institutional Care (2002). Report No.: 4/02.
- 55. Holi M. Assessment of Psychiatric Symptoms using the SCL-90. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Helsinki, Helsinki (2003).
- Holi MM, Sammallahti PR, Aalberg VA. A Finnish validation study of the SCL-90. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1998) 97:42–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1998.tb09961.x
- Siqveland J. Måleegenskaper ved den norske versjonen av Symptom Checklist 90 Revidert (SCL-90-R). p. 51.
- 58. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2014).
- 59. StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software: Release 17. College Station, TX (2021).
- 60. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: L. Erlbaum Associates. (1988) p. 567.
- 61. Howell DC. Statistical Methods for Psychology. 7th ed. Belmont, CA: Thomson Wadsworth. (2010). 768 p.
- Ateş C, Kaymaz Ö, Kale HE, Tekindal MA. Comparison of test statistics of nonnormal and unbalanced samples for multivariate analysis of variance in terms of type-I error rates. *Comput Math Methods Med.* (2019) 2019:2173638. doi: 10.1155/2019/2173638
- The Swedish Public Health Agency. Folkhälsans Utveckling Årsrapport 2021 [The Public Health Development Yearly Report 2021]. Stockholm (2021). p. 55.
- Paoline EA, Terrill W. Police education, experience, and the use of force. Crim Justice Behav. (2007) 34:179–96. doi: 10.1177/00938548062 90239

- 65. Vespucci J. Police Officers and College Education: The Association of Police Officer College Education and the Level of Force Used by a Police Officer in Gaining Compliance in Arrest Situations. Ph.D. thesis, The City University of New York, New York (2019). doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-42 795-5_2
- Stanley IH, Hom MA, Joiner TE. A systematic review of suicidal thoughts and behaviors among police officers, firefighters, EMTs, and paramedics. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2016) 44:25–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2015.12.002
- Burns C, Buchanan M. Factors that influence the decision to seek help in a police population. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6891. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17186891
- 68. White AK. Perceptions of Law Enforcement Officers in Seeking Mental Health Treatment in a Right-to-Work State. (2016). p. 14.
- Lewis-Schroeder NF, Kieran K, Murphy BL, Wolff JD, Robinson MA, Kaufman ML. Conceptualization, assessment, and treatment of traumatic stress in first responders: a review of critical issues. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. (2018) 26:216–27. doi: 10.1097/HRP.000000000000176
- The Swedish Public Health Agency. Psykisk Ohälsa Bland Högskole- Och Universitetsstudenter Kan Förebyggas [Psychological Ill-Health Among College and University Students can be Prevented]. Stockholm (2018) p. 19.
- Ramey SL, Perkhounkova Y, Hein M, Bohr NL, Anderson AA. Testing a resilience training program in police recruits: a pilot study. *Biol Res Nurs.* (2017) 19:440–9. doi: 10.1177/1099800417699879

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Emsing, Padyab, Ghazinour and Hurtig. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Moderating Effects of Social Media Activities on the Relationship Between Effort-Reward Imbalance and Health and Wellbeing: A Case Study of the Oil and Gas Industry in Malaysia

Noreen Kanwal* and Ahmad Shahrul Nizam Isha

Department of Management and Humanities, University of Technology Petronas, Tronoh, Malaysia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sheikh Alif, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Roziana Shaari, University of Technology Malaysia, Malaysia Umair Ahmed, Arab Open University, Bahrain

*Correspondence: Noreen Kanwal kanwalnoreen72@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 30 October 2021 Accepted: 07 February 2022 Published: 18 March 2022

Citation:

Kanwal N and Isha ASN (2022) The Moderating Effects of Social Media Activities on the Relationship Between Effort-Reward Imbalance and Health and Wellbeing: A Case Study of the Oil and Gas Industry in Malaysia. Front. Public Health 10:805733. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.805733 **Background:** Social media activities affect every aspect of human life, be it personal, social or professional. Previous studies have confirmed the role of social media in affecting health in terms of releasing stress and providing social support. Increased occupational health disorders and increased time spent on social media activities motivate us to investigate this phenomenon in the context of occupational health. Therefore, the objective of this study is to measure the effects of social media activities related to personal and social life as well as work-life on health and wellbeing of office employees, on their job efforts and job rewards, and in moderating the effect of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing.

Methods: Initially, to develop constructs related to social media activities, web-based structured interviews were conducted with five office employees working in the oil and gas industry for the last 5 years. Then, using an online questionnaire survey, data was collected from 424 office employees working in the oil and gas industry in Malaysia. Using statistical software for social science (SPSS) and Smart PLS, exploratory factor analysis and confirmatory factor analysis were conducted to identify reliability and validity (discriminant validity, convergent validity and composite validity) of the constructs. Following this, path analysis was conducted and the moderating effects were identified.

Results: Social media activities related to work-life decrease health and wellbeing by 11% and weaken the negative effect of effort-reward-imbalance on health and wellbeing by 17.6% at a 1% level of significance. The results of social media activities related to personal and social life strengthen the negative effect of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing by 12% and negatively affects health and wellbeing and job rewards by 13, 55%, respectively. The direct effect of effort-reward imbalance and job efforts is significantly negative on health and wellbeing by 59 and 10%, respectively.

Conclusion: It is concluded that social media activities of the office employees significantly moderate the effect of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing and intervene in job rewards in the organizations. Hence, the effect of social media activities reduces the health and wellbeing of office employees.

Keywords: effort-reward imbalance, health and wellbeing, social media activities, stress, office employees

INTRODUCTION

A healthy workforce is critical for organizational productivity and sustainability. Psychosocial hazards are the biggest concern for the health and wellbeing of employees worldwide. According to an Alternative International Assignments (AIA) survey (1), more than 50% of Malaysian employees suffer from workrelated stress. Among them, 7% experience moderate to high levels of anxiety, and most of them are aged 18 to 40 years. Referring to the effort-reward imbalance (ERI) model proposed by (2), workers employ great effort but receive little reward and this is stressful for them; this imbalance leads to strain and long-term health concerns, such as hypertension (3, 4).

According to Rugulies, Aust (5), the effort-reward imbalance is the leading cause of mental health disorders. Several studies have identified the effects of effort-reward imbalance on health outcomes, such as sleep disturbance and fatigue (6, 7), suicidal ideation (8, 9), depressive mode and work-life balance (10), and diabetes and obesity (11). Similarly, Juvani et al. (12) found that among work stressors, effort-reward imbalance and injustice increase the risk of disability, while injustice itself leads to effort-reward imbalance. Several investigations have been conducted on the impact of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing (i.e., diabetes, depression, suicidal ideation, hair cortisol, psychological health, and physiological health) (13, 14), but the factors causing effort-reward imbalance have been scarcely investigated. Among them, Heckenberg et al. (15) investigated employee traits, and found that employees with the mindfulness trait are less prone to stress; while Porru et al. (16) argued that employees with over-commitment tend to get more stressed. Therefore, to reduce occupational stress, employees use different tactics, such as smoking (17), alcohol use (18), and medical leave (19, 20).

Of late, social media is being used to release stress (21–23). However, the effect of social media on coping with stress has been investigated in the setting of students and patients only (21–23). None of the studies has identified the role of social media in the context of occupational stress (effort-reward imbalance). According to global social media statistics, about 4.48 billion people are using social media actively in 2021; whereas Malaysian statistics of social media users report 86% of the population is using social media. Social media, in terms of health improvement, is being studied; it includes coping with stress (24, 25), social support (26), stress identifiers (26), and stress releasers (22). Thus, social media is a broad platform, and its effects on occupational stress, such as that caused by effort-reward imbalance, cannot be ignored.

To identify the role of social media activities by employees, the first objective of this study is to measure the effect of stress related to effort-reward imbalance on the health and wellbeing of office employees. We investigated this aspect in the context of office employees because of their online work. They spend most of their time online using laptops and androids/tablets. The second objective of the study is to identify the effect of social media activities on the job reward of office employees.

This study has two major managerial implications. By identifying the negative effect of social media on job reward, the study evinces employee's social life interference in job reward determination. Hence, job reward that is less than the job effort generate stress within employees. Consequently, adverse employee health lowers their productivity, specifically, and the organization, as a whole. However, this managerial problem can be mitigated in two ways: first, organizations can investigate their managerial decisions, which are influenced by the social media activities of employees; and second, managers can ensure necessary measures are taken to separate employee's professional life from their personal and social life. In addition, employees should be briefed about social media usage in safety training, so that their job reward is not influenced by their social media activities.

This study adds to the body of knowledge on social media activities, which can be used by other studies to measure usage of social media and to identify its impact on other relevant constructs, such as organizational performance and organizational goodwill, among others. This study identifies two new relationships: one is between social media activities and job reward, and the other is how social media activities moderate the relationship between effort-reward imbalance and the health and wellbeing of office employees. The underpinning theory in this study is the conservation of resources (COR) theory.

The remainder of the study is organized as follows: in the next section, the background of the study and research hypotheses are given. This is followed by research methodology and data analysis, with the results presented after that. Findings, discussion and conclusion are given in the final section.

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND HYPOTHESES

This study is based on the COR model (27, 28) that has been frequently used to explain the phenomena of stress in a range of settings (29–32). This is a resource-based model and proposes that people are motivated to acquire new resources (acquisition) in addition to retain, accumulate and preserve their existing resources (conservation). Resources are those

things which people value, such as status, energy, condition and objects (33). Resources are divided into four categories (28): energy resources, such as knowledge, money and time; work resources, such as job status and reputation; material resources, such as financial and material stability; and personal resources, such as optimism as well as interpersonal resources, such as friendship and feeling valuable to others (34). This theory supposes that individuals select resources appropriately in order to maximize existing resources and to avoid future loss (27, 28, 35). Several studies have successfully applied the COR theory (36-38). For example, Halbesleben and Bowler (39) demonstrated that a higher stressor generates higher value to obtain resources in which social support is obtained through social exchange. Similarly, individuals acquire social support through social media forums, specifically in response to stress (40). According to the COR theory (41), individuals are goaloriented and have the motivation to acquire resources, likewise, employees are motivated in the organizations to please their superiors / supervisors to gain job rewards, to get relaxation in job efforts, to initiate and maintain relationships, status building, and to release job stress (42, 43). George et al. (44) evinced that social media networking helps individuals to release stress. Specifically, they turn to social media in their down-time (stressed due to effort-reward imbalance). They disclose about themselves on social media (45, 46) for social acceptance and to get sympathy/suggestions (resources) (47). These acquired resources can generate new rewards (resources) as well as replenish expected job rewards (existing resources) (48). Therefore, COR theory supports in modeling the effect of social media activities (acquired resources) on job effort and rewards imbalance (ERI), and in moderating the relationship between ERI and health and wellbeing. Further, it is also concluded that individuals conserve and acquire resources through social media activities and these resources affect their job rewards. The proposed model of this study is as in Figure 1.

Research Hypotheses

Evidence suggests that social networking sites (SNS) is altering social dynamics at both the micro- and macro-levels, with both online and offline consequences (49, 50). Because online social networking has become so prevalent, SNS users report a higher level of emotional support and camaraderie than average Internet users. Social media activities include self-disclosure; expression of feelings, emotions, opinions, anger and happiness; reacting to other social media posts; and reacting to other comments via likes, dislikes and complements (51-55). Social media activities are part of one's private life and individuals use these activities to gain social support and conserve resources (i.e., social capital, social status, and image building through self-disclosure, to gain information etc.). Users engage in social media activities related to personal, social and work life, according to the COR theory (29, 32, 56). In previous studies, it has been found that individuals use social media disclosure to gain social rewards in the form of gratifications and satisfaction (57, 58); and extrinsic and intrinsic rewards (49, 59). Furthermore, social media networking and activities affect peers / colleagues' behavior (60), which consequently affect superior's decisions related to job reward (61). Therefore, it cannot be concluded that user's intention to increase job rewards will actually increase rewards. This depends on user's COR since the theory proposes that individuals lacking in resources are vulnerable to experiencing loss spirals, whereas those with a lot of resources gain even more resources (48). Loss spirals as explained Sayre et al. (62) and Hobfoll (40), occurs when individuals expand resources but these resources are not available to cope with future loss threats. Therefore, in line with previous findings, in this study, we hypothesize that:

H1: Social media activities related to work life affect job reward.

H2: Social media activities related to personal and social life affect job reward.

Job reward lesser than job efforts, lead to effort-reward imbalance (63). Consequently, effort-reward imbalance generates stress (2). To release this stress, in their down-time, firstly, employees seek support from social media (58, 64–66). Through social media activities, individuals make comparisons (67). Subsequently, if individuals find themselves better than others, they feel satisfied, but if they determine their worth as lower than others, they get more depressed (68, 69). Secondly, individuals release stress by sharing their feelings of frustration and suffering on social media networks (70), and get sympathy and suggestions from social media friends (71). Accordingly, they reduce their job efforts, but in some cases, job efforts adversely affect health and wellbeing (72). This shows that social media activities moderate the effects of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing. Therefore, we hypothesize that:

H3: Social media activities related to social and personal life significantly moderate the relationship between effort-reward imbalance and health and wellbeing.

H4: Social media activities related to work life significantly moderate the relationship between effort-reward imbalance and health and wellbeing.

H5: Job effort-reward imbalance has a significantly negative impact on health and wellbeing.

H6: Job effort has a significantly negative effect on health and wellbeing.

H7: Job reward has a significantly positive effect on health and wellbeing.

On the probability of getting benefits or losses from social media activities, the COR theory proposes its effect on health and wellbeing (40). Social media activities involve social comparisons (67, 73-76). The social comparison theory proposes that individuals determine their values based on how they stack up in comparison to others (76). If individuals find themselves deprived of resources, such as income and health during social comparisons, it will have an adverse effect on their health (77). Pham-Kanter (78) argued that during social comparisons, individuals find their relative position and this relative position affects health and wellbeing; it has also been found that very low position leads to cardiovascular morbidity and ulcers; while very high position decreases the probability of hypertension (78). Bao et al. (79) found negative effects of social media on wellbeing. Heidrich and Ryff (80) evinced that the effect of social comparison on health depends on upward and downward



comparisons; further, they added that more frequent social comparisons worsen health. Hence, it is hypothesized that:

H8: Social media activities related to work affect health and wellbeing.

H9: Social media activities related to personal and social life influence health and wellbeing.

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

To achieve the objectives of the study, quantitative research method was used mainly. Therefore, the data was collected through an online survey using a questionnaire. The respondents were approached by online mode through LinkedIn application and emails. But beforehand, in-depth interviews were conducted in order to develop new measurement items and constructs used in this study. Measurement items were developed and the questionnaire was constructed following the guidelines provided by Dillman (81) and Hinkin (82). To measure health and wellbeing, a scale developed by VanderWeele (83) was adopted and extended by adding four items: (i) If you have sleeping disorders, how would you rate it?; (ii) If you have difficulty with remembering, how would you rate it?; (iii) If you have concentration problems, how would you rate it?; and (iv) If you have experienced stomach disorder, how would you rate it? Four items related to mental health were adopted from the questionnaire of Copenhagen psychosocial questionnaire (Version III): (i) If you experienced neck/shoulder pain, how uncomfortable is this?; (ii) If you have experienced lower back pain, how uncomfortable is this?; (iii) If you have experienced eye strain (blurred vision/headache), how uncomfortable is this?; and (iv) If you have experienced leg pain, how uncomfortable is this?." Items related to musculoskeletal health were adopted from a questionnaire from Cornell university (84) and measured on a scale ranging from 0 to 10.

Items related to effort-reward imbalance were adopted from Siegrist, Starke (63). Four items for job effort and seven items for job reward, measured on a 5-point-likert scale, ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree, were adopted from Siegrist et al. (63). Effort-reward imbalance was calculated according to the formula: $e/(r \times c)$, where c is the ratio of the number of items (here: 4/7) (63, 85).

For items related to social media activities, a survey instrument was prepared to measure the following two dimensions of social media activities of employees: social media activities related to personal life; and social media activities related to professional life, based on a comprehensive review of literature. Initially, in-depth interviews were conducted with five office employees from the oil and gas industry in Malaysia. The five interviewees were selected based on their 5 years' experience as office employees in the industry. They provided information based on their actual knowledge and experiences. Then, 12 items were developed based on interviews and literature review.

For content validity, the questionnaire was sent to three industry experts, two policy experts and three academic experts. Based on the expert's evaluation, item content validity (I-CVI) and scale content validity (S-CVI) were calculated and the results were favorable as each item was found to be valid by obtaining a score >0.78 (86). Content validity was 0.94 for relevancy and 0.98 for simplicity, i.e., greater than the standard criteria of 0.90 recommended by Polit and Beck (86).

Then, for content validity, the questionnaire was pilot tested by collecting data from 70 office employees selected randomly. After removing responses with missing values, 66 responses were used to test for reliability of the questionnaire through Cronbach' alpha via SPSS. Reliability of the questionnaire was confirmed through Cronbach's alpha of ≥ 0.75 . After this, stratified random sampling technique was used to collect data from 471 office employees in small, medium and large companies, who carried out operations in exploration, production and development.

SMA Moderating ERI on Office Employees H&W

Responses with missing values and same responses (neutral for each question) were removed from the data. The remaining 424 responses were used for further data analysis. Normality of the data was tested through skewness and kurtosis. Herman's single factor test was used for common method bias (CMB). CMB basically occurs in survey research when all data (independent variables, dependent variables and mediating and moderating variables) are collected using the same method (87, 88). Data free from CMB is necessary for accuracy of the results; otherwise, it can bias the reliability and validity of the measures (89), as well as the estimates of the effects in regression (90).

Exploratory factor analysis was then used to reduce the summarized information contained in the observed variables of health and wellbeing and social media activities, and to identify theoretically meaningful constructs (91, 92).

The factor structure derived from exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was used to specify the measurement model using confirmatory factor analysis (CFA). CFA is a statistical technique which is used to verify the factor structure of a set of observed variables (93, 94). CFA was carried out using SPSS and smart PLS. According to Hubley and Zumbo (95), construct validity comprises convergent and discriminant validity. Therefore, convergent validity was assessed using average variance extracted (AVE), i.e., total of all standardized factor loadings divided by the number of items in each factor (96). Discriminant validity was assessed using the heterotrait-monotrait (HTMT) ratio as suggested by Henseler et al. (97). Finally, through sequential regression, the effect of social media activities on job reward and the effect of job reward on health and wellbeing were measured. Further, the moderating effect of social media activities on the relationship between effort-reward imbalance and health and wellbeing was tested.

RESULTS

Demographic Results

The sample of this study comprises 424 office employees working in the oil and gas industry in Malaysia. Their demographic profile is presented in Table 1. Male respondents constitute 66.7% and female respondents comprise 33.3%. About 97.6% of the respondents are Malaysian nationals, and the remaining (2.4%) are from other countries. As for age group, more than 70% of the respondents are 31 to 50 years. Of this, 41.5% are from the age group of 31 to 40 years; 30.7% are in the 41 to 50 years age group; 17.5% are in the 21 to 30 years age group; and 10.4% are from the age group of 51 to 60 years. Statistics of education show that respondents with bachelor's degree constitute 68.4% and 21% have a master's level of education, while 4.5% have a PhD degree, 2.1% are diploma holders, and 4% have different levels of education, such as foundation and professional qualifications. In terms of job experience, more than 70% of the respondents have more than 8 years, and 12.5% have job experience of 2 to 4 years. Based on the designation, executives account for 41.3% of the study sample; 36.1% are middle managers; 20.8% are top managers; and non-executives comprise 1.9%. About 90.6% of the respondents are permanent employees; and 9.4% work on a contract basis.

TABLE 1 | Respondent's demographic characteristics.

Demographic	Frequency	Percentage
Gender		
Male	283	66.7
Female	141	33.3
Nationality		
Malaysian	414	97.6
Others	10	2.4
Age		
21–30 years	74	17.5
31–40 years	176	41.5
41–50 years	130	30.7
51–60 years	44	10.4
Education		
Diploma	9	2.1
Bachelor degree	290	68.4
Master degree	89	21.0
PhD	19	4.5
Others	17	4.0
Job experience		
<2 years	4	0.9
<2 to 4 years	53	12.5
<4 to 6 years	35	8.3
<6 to 8 years	34	8.0
<8 years	298	70.3
Designation		
Top manager	88	20.8
Middle manager	153	36.1
Executive	175	41.3
Non-executive	8	1.9
Job status		
Permanent	384	90.6
Contract	40	9.4

Exploratory Factor Analysis Results

EFA was used to understand the factor structure and for item reduction (98). Initially, 21 items were used for the factor structure for the health and wellbeing construct (Table 2). This resulted in six factors but three items were interdependent. Therefore, the three items related to the factor of general health were removed and EFA was conducted again using varimax rotation (98) based on eigen value of >1. Consequently, 19 items with six factors (happiness and life satisfaction, character and virtue, close social relationship, mental health, musculoskeletal health, and financial and material stability) were extracted; the factor loading for each item was >0.40 (99, 100). Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) and Barlett's test of Sphericity value of 0.78, which is >0.5, indicates the sample is adequate to conduct EFA (101), which was conducted for the social media activities construct. For this, two factors (social media activities related to personal and social life (five items), and social media activities related to work life (five items), were extracted based on eigen value >1(Table 3). Factor loading was > 0.40 and the sample was adequate

TABLE 2 | Factor loadings by EFA of Health and wellbeing.

Domain	Items	1	2	3	4	5	6
Happiness and life satisfaction	Overall, how satisfied are you with life as a whole these days?	0.853					
	In general, how happy do you usually feel?	0.841					
Character and virtue	I always act to promote good in all circumstances, even in difficult and challenging situations.		0.801				
	I am always able to give up some happiness now for greater happiness later.		0.739				
Close social relationships	I am content with my friendships.			0.899			
	I am content with my relationships.			0.870			
	My relationships are as satisfying as I would want them to be.			0.858			
Mental health	If you have sleeping disorders, how frequently do you experience it?				0.851		
	If you have difficulty with remembering things, how frequently do you experience this?				0.803		
	If you have concentration problem, how frequently do you experience this?				0.694		
	If you experienced eye strain (Blurred vision/headache), how frequently you suffer?				0.668		
Musculoskeletal health	If you experienced neck pain, how would you rate it?					0.925	
	If you experienced upper back pain, how would you rate it?					0.897	
	If you experienced lower back pain, how would you rate it?					0.871	
	If you experienced legs pain, how would you rate it?					0.636	
Financial and material stability	How often do you worry about being able to meet normal monthly living expenses?						0.798
	How often do you worry about safety?						0.794
	How often do you worry about food?						0.778
	How often do you worry about housing?						0.773

to conduct the analysis as the value of KMO and Barlett's test was >0.50 (Table 4).

Confirmatory Factor Analysis Results

Factors identified through CFA were verified. For CFA, the model was fit as a reflective measurement model (**Table 5**). Outer loadings for all the items of >0.40, AVE of >0.50, and reliability measures of >0.70, were found as recommended by Darsono et al. (102).

Reflective Measurement Model

The results of the reflective measurement model presented in Table 5 exhibit the values of outer loading ranged from 0.61

to 0.92 for all the indicators of latent constructs. The outer loadings value > 0.70 indicates reliability of the items in the latent construct (103). However, the values between 0.40 and below 0.70 also considered as reliable if the deletion not leads to an increase in composite reliability and average variance extracted (103). Therefore, the items with outer loadings ranged from 0.61 to below 0.70 were not eliminated from the model because the removal was causing reduction in the overall reliability of the model.

Reliability and Validity Results

Unidimensionality of the constructs were measured through Cronbach's alpha. As shown in **Table 5**, value of Cronbach's alpha
TABLE 3	Factor loadings by EFA of Social media activity.
TADLE 3	Tactor loadings by LLA of Social media activity.

Domain	Items	1	2
Social media activities	I am an active social media user	0.547	
related to personal and	I do share about my interests on social media freely	0.806	
social life	I share my opinions about different things on social media freely	0.814	
	I do not hide my interests on social media	0.724	
	I like reactions by people on my social media posts	0.493	
Social media activities	I often share my work-related happiness on social media		0.599
related to work	I often share my work promotions and achievements on social media		0.669
	I often share work related sufferings on social media		0.847
	I share work related injustice on social media		0.856
	I keep an eye about my workmate's activities on social media		0.907

TABLE 4 | KMO and Bartlett's test.

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure of sampling adequacy.	0.787	
Bartlett's test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	5289.902
	df	171
	Sig.	0.000

is between 0.70 and 0.93. which is greater than the recommended threshold value of 0.70 (101, 104). Composite reliability measures the extent to which a set of construct item's share in measuring the construct. The threshold value for composite reliability is \geq 0.70 (105), and the value of composite reliability in this study ranges from 0.80 to 0.94.

Discriminant validity was assessed through the HTMT ratio (97) for reflective constructs. The value of HTMT ratio should be <0.90 (106) for discriminant validity, and this study met the criteria as shown in **Table 6**.

Moderating Effect

Figure 2 shows that negative relationship between effort-reward imbalance and health and wellbeing is decreased by social media activities related to work life. Whereas, social media activities related to personal and social life strengthen the negative relationship between effort-reward imbalance and health and wellbeing (**Figure 3**).

Common Method Bias

According to Podsakoff and Organ (88), CMB can occur in research if data of all the variables related to one study are collected through the same method. It can affect accuracy and robustness of the results. Therefore, to detect CMB, EFA was used, whereby all the study items were grouped into a single factor (107). It was found that one factor accounts for 14.6% of the variance, which is less than the recommended 50%. Thus, the data used for hypotheses testing in this study does not suffer from CMB.

Path Analysis Results

The results of the structural model show (**Table 7**) that job reward is affected by social media activities related to work and personal and social life. Both the variables account for 28% variation in the job reward. Social media activities related to personal and social life decrease job reward by 55% at the 1% level of significance; while the effect of social media activities on work life increases job reward by 5% but insignificantly.

Job efforts significantly decrease health and wellbeing by 10%; while job reward increases health and wellbeing by 15% significantly. Effort-reward imbalance decreases health and wellbeing by 59%. Social media activities related to work increase the effect of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing by 17.6% significantly; while social media activities related to personal and social life decrease the effect of effortreward imbalance on health and wellbeing by 12% at the 5% level of significance. The R-squared value shows a 63% variation in health and wellbeing due to the independent and moderating variables.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Social media is increasingly penetrating every aspect of people's lives and affects their health and wellbeing (79), be it personal, social or professional (108). In this regard, this study evidenced intervention of employee's personal and social life into their professional lives such as effortreward imbalance through social media activities. The study highlights the rational behavior of the employees on social media in influencing their job rewards. However, it indicates malpractices of rewarding in the organizations, which need to be addressed. Further, this study explains the behavior of the employees on social media in managing their stress related to effort-reward imbalance through online comparisons and underpinning theory of conservation of resources.

Findings from the interviews revealed social media behavior of the office employees. We find that social media has become a necessity. Employees use social media to get information (109– 111) about peers, superiors, bosses and the organization. For this purpose, they follow social media timeline of their workmates

TABLE 5 | Results of reflective measurement model.

Latent variables	Item indicators	Outer loadings	VIF	Cronbach's α	CR	AVE
Social media activities related to	SMArW1	0.659	1.566	0.791	0.852	0.538
work life	SMArW2	0.724	1.808			
	SMArW3	0.862	2.438			
	SMArW4	0.61	1.487			
	SMArW5	0.786	1.465			
Social media activities related to	SMArPS1	0.872	2.978	0.93	0.947	0.78
personal and social life	SMArPS2	0.897	3.384			
	SMArPS3	0.894	3.317			
	SMArPS4	0.873	2.948			
	SMArPS5	0.881	3.112			
Job efforts	JE1	0.755	1.369	0.699	0.8	0.501
	JE2	0.676	2.091			
	JE3	0.709	2.037			
	JE4	0.688	1.077			
Job rewards	JR1	0.858	3.095	0.916	0.933	0.666
	JR2	0.75	2.014			
	JR3	0.752	1.863			
	JR4	0.819	2.291			
	JR5	0.853	3.126			
	JR6	0.845	2.93			
	JR7	0.826	2.686			
Effort-reward imbalance	ERI	1	1	1	1	1
Health and wellbeing	HW			0.905	0.90	0.509
Happiness and life satisfaction	HW1HLS1	0.931	2.41	0.867	0.937	0.882
	HW2HLS2	0.948	2.41			
Character and virtue	HW3CV1	0.891	1.635	0.768	0.896	0.811
	HW4CV2	0.910	1.635			
Close social relationships	HW5CSR1	0.869	1.781	0.797	0.908	0.831
	HW6CSR2	0.898	1.781			
	HW7CSR3	0.922	3.716			
Financial and material stability	HW8FMS1	0.848	1.99	0.863	0.907	0.708
	HW9 FMS2	0.842	2.077			
	HW10FMS3	0.880	2.344			
	HW11FMS4	0.795	1.851			
Mental health	HW12MH1	0.725	1.354	0.831	0.889	0.667
	HW13MH2	0.797	1.889			
	HW14MH3	0.885	3.184			
	HW15MH4	0.851	2.542			
Musculoskeletal health	HW16MsH1	0.898	2.396	0.812	0.889	0.73
	HW18MsH3	0.919	3			
	HW19MsH4	0.676	1.525			

and other people of interest. Related to their behavior of sharing / disclosing on social media, it is found that individuals freely share about their personal lives (happiness, sufferings and other activities) whereas they are careful in sharing about their work life. Thus, it demonstrates that individual's social media activities differ in terms of personal and work life. This is supported by the results of exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis, the tests for validating the questionnaire.

Through path analysis, we find that social media activities related to personal and social life increase the effect of stress related to job effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing. One of the potential reasons could be social comparisons on social media (68, 69, 112). This is because when people compare their lives with others on social media, and find themselves not better off in terms of income, reputation and enjoyment, they feel dissatisfied. Dissatisfaction increases stress and deteriorate

TABLE 6 | Hetrotrait-monotrait ratio.

	CSR	CV	ERI	FMS	HLS	нพ	JE	JR	МН	MSH	SMArPS	SMArPS*ERI	SMArW	SMArW*ERI
CSR														
CV	0.614													
ERI	0.361	0.404												
FMS	0.251	0.229	0.304											
HLS	0.555	0.688	0.547	0.318										
HW	0.801	0.762	0.744	0.628	0.794									
JE	0.394	0.451	0.16	0.118	0.292	0.43								
JR	0.344	0.439	0.468	0.214	0.428	0.566	0.39							
МН	0.446	0.443	0.677	0.134	0.446	0.867	0.372	0.513						
MSH	0.159	0.103	0.545	0.091	0.193	0.638	0.137	0.279	0.578					
SMArPS	0.425	0.484	0.477	0.23	0.401	0.618	0.524	0.573	0.576	0.302				
SMArPS*ERI	0.12	0.038	0.069	0.058	0.109	0.135	0.102	0.122	0.083	0.116	0.237			
SMArW	0.313	0.239	0.052	0.125	0.165	0.27	0.505	0.141	0.16	0.081	0.358	0.164		
SMArW*ERI	0.087	0.109	0.282	0.039	0.046	0.084	0.131	0.043	0.036	0.056	0.114	0.425	0.091	





health. On the other hand, social media activities related to personal and social life decrease job reward; this may be due to employees sharing their personal and social life and their perception of superiors on social media. This perception could be due to the personality of the employee depicted through social media, whereby the boss does not consider him or her suitable for promotion to a higher post. Another reason could be the jealousy factor raised by making his/her life's comparison with the employee's personal and social life. This affects superior's decisions in terms of obliging employees, such as granting vacation and promotion to the employee.

Social media activities related to work life reduce stress related to effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing. It shows that employees release stress by sharing their sufferings related to job, looking at peer's social media posts and by receiving sympathies to their own social media sharing. Therefore, through social media activities employees build personal relations to the superiors and via this unofficial forum convey their messages related to injustice in balancing job effort-rewards. Which, decreases the effects (68, 69) of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing. Another reason could be the age of employees, as it has also been posited by other studies that stress among young adults is greater (113) than older adults, where more than 50% of the respondents were young adults in this study with the age group of 21 to 40 years.

Further, in this study, the results of effort-reward imbalance and job efforts affecting health and wellbeing negatively, are consistent with previous findings, such as Leineweber et al. (19), Siegrist and Li (114), Sparks et al. (115) and Haley and Miller (116). The results of the positive relationship between job reward and health and wellbeing are in line with other studies (117–120). However, in this study, we find both financial and non-financial job rewards affect health and wellbeing positively; whereas in the previous mentioned studies, only financial incentives were studied as job reward. Therefore, this study validates the findings of Giles, Becker (117); Paul-Ebhohimhen and Avenell (119);

TABLE 7 | Structural model results.

Hypothesis	STD coefficient (β)	SE	R ²	Results
$H_1:SMArW \rightarrow JR$	0.050	0.048	0.28	Rejected
$H_2{:}SMArPS{\rightarrow} JR$	-0.55*	0.042		Accepted
$H_3:SMArW^*ERI \rightarrow HW$ (Moderating effect)	0.176*	0.047	0.63	Accepted
${\rm H_4{:}ERI{\rightarrow}~HW}$	-0.59*	0.042		Accepted
${\rm H_5:JE}{\rightarrow}~{\rm HW}$	-0.10*	0.034		Accepted
${\rm H_6:JR}{\rightarrow}~{\rm HW}$	0.15*	0.039		Accepted
$H_7:SMArPS^*ERI \rightarrow HW$ (Moderating effect)	-0.12**	0.046		Accepted
$H_8{:}SMArPS{\rightarrow}HW$	-0.13*	0.042		Accepted
$H_9 : SMArW \rightarrow HW$	-0.11*	0.040		Accepted

*1% level of significant, **5% level of significant.

Giles, Robalino (118) and Wall, Mhurchu (120), in the context of office employees in Malaysia.

Hence, it is concluded that social media activities affect health and wellbeing of office employees as well as cause occupational stress, which arises through effort-reward imbalance; while the effect of social media activities in moderating the effect of effortreward imbalance on health and wellbeing is different for social media activities related to work life and social media activities related to personal and social life. Further, the effect of social media activities related to personal and social life on job rewards indicates employee's private life intervenes in their professional life, which is a major risk to social freedom, and to the health and wellbeing of employees.

Theoretical Implications

This study expands the underpinning theory of COR. Previously, it was found that social media activities, such as networking, sharing of feelings, disclosing about oneself, and relationship building, serve as an energy resource to obtain valued resources in response to stress (56, 70). However, these social media resources returned in the form of compliments negatively affect health and wellbeing of the employees. As for experiencing loss spirals (40), it occurs when resources are expanded but are not available to cope with future loss threats and can potentially lead to further loss (48). Similarly, this study identifies the increasing effects of effort-reward imbalance on health and wellbeing, moderated by social media activities related to personal and social life.

Managerial Implications

The study findings are critical for health and wellbeing of the employees, employers and the policy makers. This study identified effort-reward imbalance which has negative effect on health and wellbeing of the office employees in oil and gas industry Malaysia. Therefore, appropriate measures should be taken to balance the job efforts and job rewards, and to improve health and wellbeing of the office employees. Moreover, management can balance the efforts and reward by reducing job efforts through improvements in job design. The negative effect of social media activities on health and wellbeing embodies problematic social media behavior of the employees, which needs to be investigated in future academic research and by the department of research and development in the organization.

Furthermore, significant moderating effect of social media activities on the relationship between effort-reward imbalance and health and wellbeing indicates intervention of employee's personal life into professional life. Such as positive effect of social media activities related work life increases job rewards. On the other hand, social media activities related to personal and social life decreases job rewards. Therefore, necessary measures should be taken by the employer to reduce the intervention of employee's personal life into work life. In this regard, firstly, the study suggests monitoring of superior's behavior in managing organizational employees at each level, especially in determining job rewards. Secondly, organizations need to ensure employee's professional life is separated from their personal and social life, so that employees can concentrate on their office work without having the tension of integrating private life into professional life. Thirdly, the subject of safe social media behavior must be included in trainings related to safety behavior in the organization, so that stress among employees generated from social media activities, for example, by social comparisons, misleading information and fake compliments, could be minimized.

The study produces the prevalent factors of psychosocial hazards in existing practices of the office employees and the management. Such as social media activities related to personal, social and professional life in effecting effort-reward imbalance and moderating its effect on health and wellbeing. Role of social media activities which is intervening personal and social lives of the employees into professional lives, can be addressed in the health and safety policies of the organizations. So, that we can remove the association of social media activities and management decisions, that is increasing the effect of psychosocial hazards (effort-reward imbalance) on health and wellbeing.

Limitations and Future Research

This study could be enhanced in future by investigating and validating the moderating effect of social media activities related to personal, social and work life, on the relationship between effort-reward imbalance and health and wellbeing, in different cultural settings, organizations, and level of employees in the organization. This study was conducted in the context of office employees, as they have more likelihood of engaging with social media activities due to the nature of office work being online for them. Secondly, this study is cross-sectional; the results of this study can be validated in longitudinal study settings and by increasing sample size.

Further, in this study, respondents aged 21 to 40 years are vulnerable social media users. The results for older

employees may be different because they are prostrate in social media networking, and this can be investigated in future for additional findings.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee Management and Humanities, University Technology PETRONAS, Malaysia. The patients/participants provided their written informed

REFERENCES

- survey AIAA. Malaysia's Healthiest Workplace. (2019). Available online at: https://healthiestworkplace.aia.com/malaysia/eng/ (accessed December 31, 2021).
- Siegrist J, Li J. Work stress and altered biomarkers: a synthesis of findings based on the effort-reward imbalance model. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2017) 14:1373. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14111373
- Siegrist J, Wahrendorf M. Work Stress and Health in a Globalized Economy. Springer (2016). doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-32937-6
- Ren C, Li X, Yao X, Pi Z, Qi S. Psychometric properties of the effort-reward imbalance questionnaire for teachers (teacher ERIQ). *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:2047. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02047
- Rugulies R, Aust B, Madsen IE. Effort-reward imbalance at work and risk of depressive disorders. a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Scan J Work Environ Health.* (2017) 43:294–306. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3632
- Cho E, Chen T-Y. The bidirectional relationships between effort-reward imbalance and sleep problems among older workers. *Sleep Health.* (2020) 6:299–305. doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2020.01.008
- Fahlén G, Knutsson A, Peter R, Åkerstedt T, Nordin M, Alfredsson L, et al. Effort-reward imbalance, sleep disturbances and fatigue. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health.* (2006) 79:371–8. doi: 10.1007/s00420-005-0063-6
- Mo PKH, Cheng Y, Lau JTF. Work-related factors on mental health among migrant factory workers in China: application of the demand-control and effort-reward imbalance model. *Health Soc Care Community*. (2020) 30:656– 67. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13176
- Zhuo L-B, Yao W, Yan Z, Giron MST, Pei J-J, Wang H-X. Impact of effort-reward imbalance at work on suicidal ideation in ten European countries: the role of depressive symptoms. J Affect Disord. (2020) 260:214– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.09.007
- Lim H-m, Park C-j, Yook J-h, Kim M-s, Kim H-y, Hong Y-C. The association between effort-reward imbalance, work-life balance and depressive mood in Korean wage workers: the 4th Korean working conditions survey. *Ann Occup Environ Med.* (2021) 33:e2. doi: 10.35371/aoem.2021.33.e2
- 11. Shih DP, Lin PY, Liang WM, Tseng PC, Kuo HW, Wang JY. Sleep duration and effort-reward imbalance (ERI) associated with obesity and type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) among Taiwanese middle-aged public servants. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:6577. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17186577
- Juvani A, Oksanen T, Virtanen M, Salo P, Pentti J, Kivimäki M, et al. Clustering of job strain, effort-reward imbalance, and organizational injustice and the risk of work disability. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2018) 44:485–95. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3736
- Nordentoft M, Rod NH, Bonde JP, Bjorner JB, Madsen IEH, Pedersen LRM. Study protocol: effort-reward imbalance at work and risk of type 2 diabetes-a prospective study linking survey and register data. *Figshare*. (2018) 10:m9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2019.109867

consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NK contributed in write-up, literature review, data collection, and data analysis. AI reviewed, funded, and supervised the research work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research work is funded by YUTP research grant no. 015LC0-269.

- Penz M, Siegrist J, Wekenborg MK, Rothe N, Walther A, Kirschbaum C. Effort-reward imbalance at work is associated with hair cortisol concentrations: prospective evidence from the Dresden burnout study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2019) 109:104399. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104399
- Heckenberg RA, Hale MW, Kent S, Wright BJ. Trait mindfulness and the effort-reward imbalance workplace stress model: higher trait mindfulness is associated with increased salivary immunoglobulin A. *Behav Brain Res.* (2020) 377:112252. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2019.112252
- Porru F, Robroek SJW, Bültmann U, Portoghese I, Campagna M, Burdorf A. Mental health among university students: the associations of effort-reward imbalance and overcommitment with psychological distress. *J Affect Disord*. (2021) 282:953–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.183
- Kouvonen A, Kivimäki M, Virtanen M, Pentti J, Vahtera J. Work stress, smoking status, and smoking intensity: an observational study of 46,190 employees. *J Epidemiol Commun Health.* (2005) 59:63–9. doi: 10.1136/jech.2004.019752
- Skogen JC, Thørrisen MM, Bonsaksen T, Vahtera J, Sivertsen B, Aas RW. Effort-reward imbalance is associated with alcohol-related problems. WIRUS-screening study. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:1–10. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02079
- Leineweber C, Eib C, Bernhard-Oettel C, Nyberg A. Trajectories of effortreward imbalance in Swedish workers: differences in demographic and workrelated factors and associations with health. *Work Stress.* (2020) 34:238–58. doi: 10.1080/02678373.2019.1666434
- Nielsen MBD, Madsen IEH, Aust B, Burr H, Rugulies R. Effort-reward imbalance at work and the risk of antidepressant treatment in the Danish workforce. J Affect Disord. (2016) 196:248–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.02.038
- Johnshoy Q, Moroze E, Kaser I, Tanabe A, Adkisson C, Hutzley S, et al. Social media use following exposure to an acute stressor facilitates recovery from the stress response. *Physiol Behav.* (2020) 223:113012. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.113012
- Rus HM, Tiemensma J. Social media as a shield: facebook buffers acute stress. *Physiol Behav.* (2018) 185:46–54. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017. 12.021
- Zhen A, Carrillo MA, Mu W, Rezek V, Martin H, Hamid P, et al. Robust CAR-T memory formation and function via hematopoietic stem cell delivery. *PLoS Pathog.* (2021) 17:e1009404. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009404
- Lin S, Lin J, Luo X, Liu S. Juxtaposed effect of social media overload on discontinuous usage intention: the perspective of stress coping strategies. *Inf Process Manag.* (2021) 58:102419. doi: 10.1016/j.ipm.2020.102419
- Tower M, Blacklock E, Watson B, Heffernan C, Tronoff G. Using social media as a strategy to address 'sophomore slump' in second year nursing students: a qualitative study. *Nurse Educ Today*. (2015) 35:1130–4. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2015.06.011
- 26. Liyanagamage R, Kitchilan S, Maddumage R, Kitchilan S, Kumarasinghe N, Fernando S, et al. Hybrid agent system to detect stress using emotions and

social media data to provide coping methodologies. Commun Comput Inf Sci. (2019) 890:235–55. doi: 10.1007/978-981-13-9129-3_17

- Hobfoll SE. Conservation of resources. A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. Am Psychol. (1989) 44:513–24. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513
- Hobfoll SE. The influence of culture, community, and the nested-self in the stress process: advancing conservation of resources theory. *App Psychol.* (2001) 50:337–421. doi: 10.1111/1464-0597.00062
- Chen L, Hannon PA, Laing SS, Kohn MJ, Clark K, Pritchard S, et al. Perceived workplace health support is associated with employee productivity. *Am J Health Promot.* (2015) 29:139–46. doi: 10.4278/ajhp.131216-QUAN-645
- 30. Layne CM, Hobfoll S. Understanding Post-Traumatic Adjustment Trajectories in School-Age Youth: Supporting Stress Resistance, Resilient Recovery, and Growth. Supporting and educating traumatized students: A guide for school-based professionals, 2nd ed. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2020). p. 75-97. doi: 10.1093/med-psych/9780190052737.003.0005
- Snyder JD, Boan D, Aten JD, Davis EB, Van Grinsven L, Liu T, et al. Resource loss and stress outcomes in a setting of chronic conflict: the conservation of resources theory in the Eastern Congo. J Trauma Stress. (2020) 33:227–37. doi: 10.1002/jts.22448
- Zhang Y, Ramsey JR, Lorenz MP. A conservation of resources schema for exploring the influential forces for air-travel stress. *Tour Manag.* (2021) 83:104240. doi: 10.1016/j.tourman.2020.104240
- 33. Hobfoll SE. The Ecology OF Stress. Philadelphia, PA: Taylor & Francis (1988).
- 34. Sanders JS, Wong T. International partner selection among higher education institutions in Hong Kong, Singapore and Japan: a resource-based view. J High Educ Policy Manag. (2021) 43:214–29. doi: 10.1080/1360080X.2020.1774097
- Sadiq M. Policing in pandemic: is perception of workload causing workfamily conflict, job dissatisfaction and job stress? J Public Aff. (2020) 20:e2486. doi: 10.1002/pa.2486
- Grandey AA, Cropanzano R. The conservation of resources model applied to work–family conflict and strain. J Vocat Behav. (1999) 54:350–70. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.1998.1666
- Halbesleben JRB, Harvey J, Bolino MC. Too engaged? a conservation of resources view of the relationship between work engagement and work interference with family. J Appl Psychol. (2009) 94:1452–65. doi: 10.1037/a0017595
- Lapierre LM, Allen TD. Work-supportive family, family-supportive supervision, use of organizational benefits, and problem-focused coping: implications for work-family conflict and employee well-being. J Occup Health Psychol. (2006) 11:169–81. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.11.2.169
- Halbesleben JR, Bowler WM. Emotional exhaustion and job performance: the mediating role of motivation. J Appl Psychol. (2007) 92:93–106. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.92.1.93
- Hobfoll SE. Stress, culture, and community: the psychology and philosophy of stress. *Am Physcol Assoc.* (1998) xvi:296-xvi. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4899-0115-6
- Hobfoll SE, Shirom A, Golembiewski R. Conservation of Resources Theory. Handbook of Organizational Behavior. (2000). p. 57–81.
- 42. Cauberghe V, Van Wesenbeeck I, De Jans S, Hudders L, Ponnet K. How adolescents use social media to cope with feelings of loneliness and anxiety during COVID-19 lockdown. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2021) 24:250–7. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2020.0478
- Karami M, Nazer TH, Liu H. Profiling Fake News Spreaders on Social Media through Psychological and Motivational Factors. (2021). doi: 10.1145/3465336.3475097
- 44. George DR, Dellasega C, Whitehead MM, Bordon A. Facebookbased stress management resources for first-year medical students: a multi-method evaluation. *Comput Human Behav.* (2013) 29:559–62. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.12.008
- Chen B, Marcus J. Students' self-presentation on facebook: an examination of personality and self-construal factors. *Comput Human Behav.* (2012) 28:2091–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.06.013
- Christofides E, Muise A, Desmarais S. Information disclosure and control on facebook: are they two sides of the same coin or two different processes? *CyberPsychol Behav.* (2009) 12:341–5. doi: 10.1089/cpb.20 08.0226

- Iannacci F, Fearon C, Pole K. From acceptance to adaptive acceptance of social media policy change: A set-theoretic analysis of B2B SMEs. *Inform Syst Front*. (2021) 23:663–80. doi: 10.1007/s10796-020-09988-1
- Buchwald P, Schwarzer C. Impact of assessment on students' test anxiety. In: Peterson P, Baker E, McGaw B, editors. *International Encyclopedia of Education 3rd Ed.* Oxford: Elsevier (2010). p. 498–505. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-044894-7.00304-3
- Hallam C, Zanella G. Online self-disclosure: the privacy paradox explained as a temporally discounted balance between concerns and rewards. *Comput Human Behav.* (2017) 68:217–27. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.11.033
- Subrahmanyam K, Reich SM, Waechter N, Espinoza G. Online and offline social networks: use of social networking sites by emerging adults. J Appl Dev Psychol. (2008) 29:420–33. doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2008.07.003
- Lee E, Lee J-A, Moon JH, Sung Y. Pictures speak louder than words: motivations for using instagram. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2015) 18:552–6. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2015.0157
- 52. Moon JH, Lee E, Lee JA, Choi TR, Sung Y. The role of narcissism in self-promotion on Instagram. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2016) 101:22–5. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.05.042
- 53. North G. Social media likes and dislikes. *Curr Biol.* (2013) 23:R461. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.04.073
- Sheldon P, Bryant K. Instagram: motives for its use and relationship to narcissism and contextual age. *Comput Human Behav.* (2016) 58:89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.12.059
- 55. Stsiampkouskaya K, Joinson A, Piwek L, Ahlbom CP. Emotional responses to likes and comments regulate posting frequency and content change behaviour on social media: an experimental study and mediation model. *Comput Human Behav.* (2021) 124:106940. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2021.106940
- 56. Hobfoll SE, Freedy J. Conservation of Resources: A general stress theory applied to burnout. Professional Burnout: Recent Developments in Theory and Research. Series in Applied Psychology: Social Issues and Questions. Philadelphia, PA: Taylor & Francis (1993). p. 115–33. doi: 10.4324/9781315227979-9
- Maclean J, Al-Saggaf Y, Hogg R. Instagram photo sharing and its relationships with social rewards and well-being. *Hum Behav Emerg Technol.* (2020) 2:242–50. doi: 10.1002/hbe2.207
- Oh HJ, Ozkaya E, LaRose R. How does online social networking enhance life satisfaction? the relationships among online supportive interaction, affect, perceived social support, sense of community, and life satisfaction. *Comput Human Behav.* (2014) 30:69–78. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.07.053
- Shibchurn J, Yan X. Information disclosure on social networking sites: an intrinsic-extrinsic motivation perspective. *Comput Human Behav.* (2015) 44:103–17. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.10.059
- Nesi J, Rothenberg WA, Hussong AM, Jackson KM. Friends' alcoholrelated social networking site activity predicts escalations in adolescent drinking: mediation by peer norms. *J Adolesc Health.* (2017) 60:641–647. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.01.009
- Gilman JM, Treadway MT, Curran MT, Calderon V, Evins AE. Effect of social influence on effort-allocation for monetary rewards. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e26656. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0126656
- Sayre GM, Chi N-W, Grandey AA. Investment in Emotional Labor: Daily Resource Spirals and Recovery. NY: Academy of Management Briarcliff Manor (2021). doi: 10.5465/AMBPP.2021.14316abstract
- Siegrist J, Starke D, Chandola T, Godin I, Marmot M, Niedhammer I, et al. The measurement of effort-reward imbalance at work: European comparisons. *Soc Sci Med.* (2004) 58:1483–99. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00351-4
- 64. Ahmad NS, Hussain Z, Abd Hamid HS, Khairani AZ. Roles of social media and counselling support in reducing anxiety among Malaysian during Covid-19 pandemic. *Int J Disaster Risk Reduct.* (2021) 63:102456. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdrr.2021.102456
- 65. Brailovskaia J, Ozimek P, Bierhoff H-W. How to prevent side effects of social media use (SMU)? relationship between daily stress, online social support, physical activity and addictive tendencies – a longitudinal approach before and during the first Covid-19 lockdown in Germany. J Affect Disord Rep. (2021) 5:100144. doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100144
- 66. Islam AKMN, Mäntymäki M, Laato S, Turel O. Adverse consequences of emotional support seeking through social network sites in coping

with stress from a global pandemic. Int J Inf Manage. (2022) 62:102431. doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2021.102431

- Fardouly J, Diedrichs PC, Vartanian LR, Halliwell E. Social comparisons on social media: the impact of facebook on young women's body image concerns and mood. *Body Image*. (2015) 13:38–45. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2014. 12.002
- Latif K, Weng Q, Pitafi AH, Ali A, Siddiqui AW, Malik MY, et al. Social comparison as a double-edged sword on social media: the role of envy type and online social identity. *Telemat Inform.* (2021) 56:101470. doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2020.101470
- 69. Wang W, Wang M, Hu Q, Wang P, Lei L, Jiang S. Upward social comparison on mobile social media and depression: the mediating role of envy and the moderating role of marital quality. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 270:143–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.173
- Zhang S, Kwok RCW, Lowry PB, Liu Z, Wu J. The influence of role stress on self-disclosure on social networking sites: a conservation of resources perspective. *Inform Manag.* (2019) 56:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.im.2019. 02.002
- Krasnova H, Spiekermann S, Koroleva K, Hildebrand T. Online social networks: why we disclose. J Inform Technol. (2010) 25:109–25. doi: 10.1057/jit.2010.6
- Nakata A, Takahashi M, Irie M. Effort-reward imbalance, overcommitment, and cellular immune measures among white-collar employees. *Biol Psychol.* (2011) 88:270–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.08.012
- 73. Fardouly J, Pinkus RT, Vartanian LR. The impact of appearance comparisons made through social media, traditional media, and in person in women's everyday lives. *Body Image.* (2017) 20:31–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2016.11.002
- Midgley C, Thai S, Lockwood P, Kovacheff C, Page-Gould E. When every day is a high school reunion: social media comparisons and self-esteem. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2020). doi: 10.31234/osf.io/a24sv
- Scully M, Swords L, Nixon E. Social comparisons on social media: online appearance-related activity and body dissatisfaction in adolescent girls. *Ir J Psychol Med.* (2020) 37:1–12. doi: 10.1017/ipm.2020.93
- Buunk BP, Gibbons FX, Buunk A. Health, Coping, and Well-Being. Perspectives From Social Comparison Theory. Psychology Press (2013). doi: 10.4324/9780203774106
- 77. Kondo N, Kawachi I, Subramanian SV, Takeda Y, Yamagata Z. Do social comparisons explain the association between income inequality and health?: relative deprivation and perceived health among male and female Japanese individuals. *Soc Sci Med.* (2008) 67:982–7. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.06.002
- Pham-Kanter G. Social comparisons and health: can having richer friends and neighbors make you sick? Soc Sci Med. (2009) 69:335–44. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.05.017
- 79. Bao T, Liang B, Riyanto YE. Unpacking the negative welfare effect of social media: Evidence from a large scale nationally representative time-use survey in China. *China Econ Rev.* (2021) 69:101650. doi: 10.1016/j.chieco.2021.101650
- Heidrich SM, Ryff CD. The role of social comparisons processes in the psychological adaptation of elderly adults. J Gerontol. (1993) 48:P127–36. doi: 10.1093/geronj/48.3.P127
- Dillman DA. Mail and Internet Surveys: The Tailored Design Method 2007 Update with New Internet, Visual, and Mixed-Mode Guide. 2nd ed. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons (2011).
- Hinkin TR. A brief tutorial on the development of measures for use in survey questionnaires. Organ Res Methods. (1998) 1:104–21. doi: 10.1177/109442819800100106
- VanderWeele TJ. On the promotion of human flourishing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. (2017) 114:8148–56. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1702996114
- University C. Cornell Musculoskeletal Discomfort Questionnaires (CMDQ). Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Ergonomics Web (1994).
- Cho E, Chen M, Toh SM, Ang J. Roles of effort and reward in well-being for police officers in Singapore: the effort-reward imbalance model. *Soc Sci Med.* (2021) 277:113878. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113878
- Polit DF, Beck CT. The content validity index: are you sure you know what's being reported? critique and recommendations. *Res Nurs Health.* (2006) 29:489–97. doi: 10.1002/nur.20147

- Jordan PJ, Troth AC. Common method bias in applied settings: the dilemma of researching in organizations. *Aust J Manag.* (2019) 45:3–14. doi: 10.1177/0312896219871976
- Podsakoff PM, Organ DW. Self-reports in organizational research: problems and prospects. J Manage. (1986) 12:531–44. doi: 10.1177/014920638601200408
- Le H, Schmidt FL, Putka DJ. The multifaceted nature of measurement artifacts and its implications for estimating construct-level relationships. *Organ Res Methods*. (2009) 12:165–200. doi: 10.1177/10944281073 02900
- Podsakoff PM, MacKenzie SB, Podsakoff NP. Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2011) 63:539–69. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-1 00452
- Goldberg LR, Velicer WF. Principles of exploratory factor analysis. In: Strack S, editor. *Differentiating Normal and Abnormal Personality, 2nd edn.* New York, NY: Springer (2006). p. 209–237.
- Watkins MW. Exploratory factor analysis: a guide to best practice. *J Black Psychol.* (2018) 44:219–46. doi: 10.1177/00957984187 71807
- McKenzie K, Metcalf DA, Saliba A. Validation of the food technology neophobia scale in a Chinese sample using exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis. *Food Qual Prefer.* (2021) 89:104148. doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2020.104148
- Ali MA, Ting DH, Ahmad-ur-Rahman M, Ali S, Shear F, Mazhar M. Effect of online reviews and crowd cues on restaurant choice of customer: moderating role of gender and perceived crowding. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:5183. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.780863
- Hubley AM, Zumbo BD. A dialectic on validity: where we have been and where we are going. J Gen Psychol. (1996) 123:207–15. doi: 10.1080/00221309.1996.9921273
- Hair JF, Ringle CM, Sarstedt M. Partial least squares structural equation modeling: rigorous applications, better results and higher acceptance. *Long Range Plann.* (2013) 46:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.lrp.2013.01.001
- Henseler J, Ringle CM, Sarstedt M. A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. *J Acad Market Sci.* (2015) 43:115–35. doi: 10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8
- Fabrigar LR, Wegener DT, MacCallum RC, Strahan EJ. Evaluating the use of exploratory factor analysis in psychological research. *Psychol Methods*. (1999) 4:272. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.4.3.272
- Comrey AL, Lee HB. A First Course in Factor Analysis. Psychology press (2013). doi: 10.4324/9781315827506
- 100. Maskey R, Fei J, Nguyen H-O. Use of exploratory factor analysis in maritime research. Asian J Shipp Logist. (2018) 34:91–111. doi: 10.1016/j.ajsl.2018.06.006
- 101. Hair JF. Multivariate Data Analysis: A Global Perspective 7th ed. Upper Saddle River: Prentice Hall Print (2009).
- 102. Darsono N, Yahya A, Muzammil A, Musnadi S, Anwar C, Irawati W. Consumer actual purchase behavior for organic products in Aceh, Indonesia. *Adv Soc Sci Educ Human Res.* (2018) 292:265–75.
- Hair Jr JF, Matthews LM, Matthews RL, Sarstedt M. PLS-SEM or CB-SEM: updated guidelines on which method to use. *Int J Multi Data Analysis*. (2017) 1:107–23. doi: 10.1504/IJMDA.2017.10008574
- Nunnally JC. Psychometric theory 3E. Tata McGraw-hill education (1994). p. 752.
- Fornell C, Larcker DF. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J Market Res. (1981) 18:39– 50. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104
- 106. Voorhees CM, Fombelle PW, Gregoire Y, Bone S, Gustafsson A, Sousa R, et al. Service encounters, experiences and the customer journey: defining the field and a call to expand our lens. J Bus Res. (2017) 79:269–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.04.014
- 107. Fuller CM, Simmering MJ, Atinc G, Atinc Y, Babin BJ. Common methods variance detection in business research. J Bus Res. (2016) 69:3192–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.12.008
- 108. Rozgonjuk D, Sindermann C, Elhai JD, Montag C. Fear of missing out (FoMO) and social media's impact on daily-life and productivity at work: do whatsapp, facebook, instagram, and snapchat use

disorders mediate that association? *Addict Behav.* (2020) 110:106487. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106487

- 109. Näsi M, Tanskanen M, Kivivuori J, Haara P, Reunanen E. Crime news consumption and fear of violence: The role of traditional media, social media, and alternative information sources. *Crime Delinquency*. (2021) 67:574–600. doi: 10.1177/0011128720922539
- 110. Zhao J, Han H, Zhong B, Xie W, Chen Y, Zhi M. Health information on social media helps mitigate Crohn's disease symptoms and improves patients' clinical course. *Comput Human Behav.* (2021) 115:106588. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020.106588
- 111. Chan AKM, Nickson CP, Rudolph JW, Lee A, Joynt GM. Social media for rapid knowledge dissemination: early experience from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Wiley Online Library.* (2020) 75:1579–82. doi: 10.1111/anae.15057
- 112. Yue Z, Zhang R, Xiao J. Passive social media use and psychological wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic: the role of social comparison and emotion regulation. *Comput Human Behav.* (2022) 127:107050. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2021.107050
- 113. Jones A, Hook M, Podduturi P, McKeen H, Beitzell E, Liss M. Mindfulness as a mediator in the relationship between social media engagement and depression in young adults. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2022) 185:111284. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2021.111284
- Siegrist J, Li J. Effort-Reward Imbalance and Occupational Health. Handbook of Socioeconomic Determinants of Occupational Health: From Macro-level to Micro-level Evidence. (2020). p. 355–82. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-31438-5_14
- 115. Sparks K, Cooper C, Fried Y, Shirom A. The effects of hours of work on health: a meta-analytic review. J Occup Organ Psychol. (1997) 70:391–408. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.1997.tb00656.x
- 116. Haley MR, Miller LA. Correlates of flexible working arrangements, stress, and sleep difficulties in the US workforce: does the flexibility of the flexibility matter? *Empir Econ.* (2015) 48:1395–418. doi: 10.1007/s00181-014-0836-4

- 117. Giles EL, Becker F, Ternent L, Sniehotta FF, McColl E, Adams J. Acceptability of financial incentives for health behaviours: a discrete choice experiment. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e157403. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157403
- Giles EL, Robalino S, McColl E, Sniehotta FF, Adams J. The effectiveness of financial incentives for health behaviour change: systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e90347. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090347
- Paul-Ebhohimhen V, Avenell A. Systematic review of the use of financial incentives in treatments for obesity and overweight. *Obes Rev.* (2008) 9:355– 67. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00409.x
- 120. Wall J, Mhurchu CN, Blakely T, Rodgers A, Wilton J. Effectiveness of monetary incentives in modifying dietary behavior: a review of randomized, controlled trials. *Nutr Rev.* (2006) 64:518–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2006.tb00185.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Kanwal and Isha. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Attention to Progression Principles and Variables of Exercise Prescription in Workplace-Related Resistance Training Interventions: A Systematic Review of Controlled Trials

Gerrit Stassen*, Lukas Baulig, Ole Müller and Andrea Schaller

Working Group Physical Activity-Related Prevention Research, Institute of Movement Therapy and Movement-Oriented Prevention and Rehabilitation, German Sport University Cologne, Cologne, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danijela Gasevic, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Karen Søgaard, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark José Antonio De Paz, Universidad de León, Spain

*Correspondence: Gerrit Stassen g.stassen@dshs-koeln.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Occupational Health and Safety, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 09 December 2021 Accepted: 08 February 2022 Published: 25 March 2022

Citation:

Stassen G, Baulig L, Müller O and Schaller A (2022) Attention to Progression Principles and Variables of Exercise Prescription in Workplace-Related Resistance Training Interventions: A Systematic Review of Controlled Trials. Front. Public Health 10:832523. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.832523 **Background:** The workplace is an important setting for adult health promotion including exercise training such as resistance training (RT). Since the reporting of exercise training interventions is generally inconsistent, the objective of this systematic review was to investigate the attention to principles of RT progression and variables of RT exercise prescription in workplace-related RT interventions.

Methods: A systematic literature search was conducted in the databases LIVIVO, PubMed, SPORTDiscus, and Web of Science (2000–2020). Controlled trials with apparently healthy "employees" and a main focus on RT were included. RT principles and variables were extracted and rated by two reviewers (reported, not reported, or unclear). Sum scores for each RT intervention and percentages regarding each principle and variable were calculated.

Results: Overall, 21 articles were included (18 primary studies, 3 protocols). Summarized narratively, the interventions showed different positive effects on strength- or performance-related and/or health- or complaint-related outcomes. The reporting of the RT principles and variables was varied [progressive overload: 94% of the studies, specificity: 78%, variation (periodization): 39%, muscle action: 94%, loading: 94%, volume; 67%, exercise selection: 89%, exercise order: 47%, rest periods between sets: 33%, rest periods between exercises: 27%, repetition velocity: 44%, and frequency: 100%].

Conclusion: Several key RT principles and variables were reported inconsistently, reducing reproducibility and pointing to the need for standardized RT intervention reporting in workplace-related interventions. Exercise science and workplace promotion should be further linked, since accurate reporting is a prerequisite for transferring robust findings into practice.

Keywords: health promotion, workplace, resistance training, reporting, transfer

80

INTRODUCTION

For years, the workplace has developed into an important setting regarding adult health promotion, as it is one setting of everyday life where health is created and lived (1). Since working adults spend almost half of their waking hours at work (2), large and diverse groups of the population can be reached there. Accordingly, the workplace also offers an environment for health-promoting exercise training (3).

In general, the multiple positive health benefits of physical activity (PA) and fitness training are well documented (4–8). In this respect, workplace-related PA interventions conducted directly at the workplace and, where appropriate, also during working hours, have shown positive effects on, e.g., activity behavior, physical fitness and cardio-metabolic health, musculoskeletal disorders, and the prevention of work-related pain (9–13). They improve overall well-being and work ability, reduce sickness absenteeism and sick leave, and can generate a positive financial return (14–16).

Besides the general health-promoting effects of PA, scientific findings emphasize the independent positive effects of resistance training (RT) on health (17, 18). RT attenuates the age-related decrease in muscle mass and strength (19, 20), improves health-related quality of life (21), and there is an inverse association of muscular strength and fitness with all-cause mortality, even after adjusting for cardiorespiratory fitness or proven risk factors (22–25). Considering the workplace setting, the "medicine" RT (26, 27) shows inter alia positive effects on physical (e.g., pain reduction) and work-related (e.g., productivity) factors of employees (28–33).

However, the mode of exercise training seems to be decisive for achieving positive effects, which is why optimal planning is essential (33). The proper application of training principles leads to improvements of components of fitness or health through physical adaptions. In order to optimize effectiveness so that improvements occur, targeted (resistance) training is supposed to be designed according to basic principles (34-36). A RT program should be systematically altered according to the foremost principles of RT progression to make the body adapt to changing stimuli: progressive overload, specificity, and variation (periodization) (37, 38). Furthermore, proper RT exercise prescription involves several key variables: muscle action, loading, volume, exercise selection, exercise order, rest periods between sets and exercises, repetition velocity, and frequency (37-39). Nevertheless, systematic reviews show that the application and reporting of principles and guidelines of exercise training is inconsistent and could be improved in intervention studies in general (40-45) and in RT studies in particular (46-48).

Given the great potential of workplace-related interventions to reach diverse adult target groups in the context of health promotion, RT interventions in this setting should be reported as comprehensively as possible to facilitate replicability and thus transfer of promising approaches. Thus, based on the outlined state of research, the question of this systematic review was: How are the principles of RT progression and variables of RT exercise prescription applied in studies involving workplacerelated RT interventions?

METHODS

This systematic review was conducted in accordance with the PRISMA-recommendations (49, 50).

Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

The studies were selected according to the PICOS criteria (participants, interventions, comparators, outcomes, study design) (50) as well as setting, language and time frame.

Intervention studies with apparently healthy "employees" (defined as working-age adults in full- or part-time-employment) without restrictions regarding sex or job/type of occupation were taken into account, while studies with specific patient populations or populations focusing on specific diseases or comorbidities were not. To be included, studies must have examined an intervention with at least one study arm with main focus on RT (mentioned in the rationale, hypothesis and/or methods section) conducted within the workplacecontext and/or at the workplace ("workplace-related") and had other training forms included for warm-up or cooldown only. Studies with alternative PA interventions without a main RT focus (general fitness training, other training forms, mixed PA interventions) and multicomponent interventions were excluded. Due to the review focus, no restrictions were placed on the comparison groups (no intervention, non-RT intervention, minimal intervention, waitlist control etc.) and the outcome measurements.

Therefore, any prospective research study (experimental design) with a workplace-related RT intervention and a comparator group [randomized controlled trials (RCTs), Cluster RCTs, controlled trials] with no limitation on the length of the intervention or a follow-up was considered. RCTs are generally the most powerful experimental design but to include them alone may be too restrictive to investigate workplace-related RT interventions as many studies occur in naturalistic workplace settings where RCTs are not always possible (51). The language limitation was English or German and the time limitation was from January 2000 to December 2020 due to past developments in the field of health promotion and especially workplace health promotion [e.g., Jakarta Declaration on Leading Health Promotion into the 21st Century (52) and Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion (53)].

Information Sources and Search

A computerized systematic literature search was conducted in LIVIVO, PubMed, SPORTDiscus, and Web of Science at the end of January 2021. Search terms related to workplace interventions (e.g., "worker*," "employe*," and "workplace"), RT (e.g., "resistance," "weight," or "strength" and "training" or "exercise") and controlled trials (e.g., "controlled study" OR "RCT") were used with operators ("OR," "AND," and "NOT) and truncations ("*") with appropriate adjustments for each database (**Supplementary Table 1**).

Study Selection

Articles were imported into the literature management program Rayyan (54). After removing all duplicates, two reviewers (GS and LB) independently screened all titles/abstracts in a first step and full texts in a second step based on the inclusion/exclusion criteria. Any disagreements were resolved by consensus or consulting with a third reviewer (OM). If the full texts were secondary analyses, the corresponding primary studies were additionally searched for and included instead (if eligible and not already included). If underlying study protocols were mentioned, these were additionally used for data collection regarding the RT intervention.

Data Collection and Items

On a first constructed form, the following study characteristics were extracted: name of first author and year, study design, study sample [including occupation description, baseline sample size, sex, and age (years)], RT intervention (general description of all study interventions and period, frequency and duration, location, and supervision of the RT study arm). In addition, significant effects of the included RT interventions were listed with respect to the control group with a focus on the intervention period only (without considering possible follow-ups).

Using a second constructed form, principles of RT progression (37, 38) and variables of RT exercise prescription (37–39) were extracted from the methods sections of the included articles or additionally from the underlying study protocols, respectively, and rated independently by two reviewers (GS and LB) according to the working understandings (**Tables 1, 2**). Principles and

TABLE 1 | Principles of resistance training progression (working understandings).

Principle	Working understanding
Progressive overload (prog over)	Gradually and systematically increasing the stress on the body during training by changing one or more training variables, which is necessary for further improvement
Specificity (spec)	Specificity is the physiological adaptation to the type of stimulus applied, which is why effective programmes are designed to target-specific training goals
Variation (periodization) (per)	Training variation, or periodization, describes the systematic process of making changes to one or more program variables over time to keep the training stimulus challenging and effective
Classical	High training volume and low intensity at the beginning, while in the course of the training the volume decreases and the intensity increases
Reverse	Intensity is initially at its highest and volume at its lowest, while the intensity decreases and the volume increases as the training progresses
Undulating	Allows variation of volume and intensity by rotating different protocols to train different components of neuromuscular performance within one cycle

variables were rated as follows: yes (+) "reported/applied," no (-) "not reported/not applied," or unclear (?) if it was unclear or inconsistent whether a principle/variable was reported/applied. "Not applicable" (na) was recorded for "exercise order" and "rest between exercises" if only one exercise was used and for "rest between sets" if only single sets were used. Disagreements were resolved through personal communication or consulting with a third reviewer (OM).

Study Quality

All included studies were subjected to the Effective Public Health Practice Project's (EPHPP) quality assessment tool for quantitative studies (55, 56). Two reviewers (LB and OM) independently assessed the quality of the studies reaching consensus through discussion [consulting a third reviewer in case of uncertainties (GS)]. According to the EPHPP

TABLE 2 | Variables of resistance training exercise prescription (working understandings).

Variable		Working understanding
Muscle action (m act)		Most resistance training programs primarily involve dynamic repetitions with both concentric and eccentric muscle actions (whereas isometric actions play a secondary role)
Loading (load)		Proper loading increase follows e.g. one or more of the following schemes: based on a percentage of the one-repetition maximum, based on a targeted repetition number, or within a prescribed repetition zone
Volume (vol)		Summation of the total number of repetitions and sets performed during one training sessio (thus also determined by the number of exercises)
Exercise selection (ex sel)		Selection based on multiple modalities (single- and multiple-joint, unilateral and bilateral, and, e.g., free weights or machines etc.) with corresponding exercise specifications
Exercise order (ex ord)		Sequence of exercises, e.g., using a precise scheme (whole-body training, upper/lower body split training and muscle group split training)
Rest periods (r per)	Between sets (bet s)	Varying according to the complexity of the exercise, the training goal (objective for incorporating the exercise into the program) and the training status of the individual
	Between exercises (bet ex)	
Repetition velocity (vel)		Speed at which dynamic exercises are performed, which is given in seconds and the relationship is between the concentric and eccentric phases
Frequency (freq)		Frequency describes the number of workouts within a period of time (depending on several factors such as intensity, volume, training level training goals, and recovery ability)

Compare Ratamess et al. (37) and Kraemer and Ratamess (38).

Compare Ratamess et al. (37), Kraemer and Ratamess (38), and Bird et al. (39).

dictionary (57), the first six components were included in the assessment (selection bias, study design, confounders, blinding, data collection methods, and withdrawals and dropouts) and rated as weak, moderate or strong. Since it is impossible to blind participants and instructors in RT studies, blinding according to the EPHPP is assessed on two levels: whether the outcome assessor(s) were aware of the intervention or exposure status of participants and whether the study participants were aware of the research question (55). The assessment is based on the extent to which both, one or none are fulfilled (57).

Data Analysis and Synthesis of Results

The significant effects of the study arm(s) with RT in the intervention studies (pre-post, compared to the control group) were summarized narratively.

Reported/applied (+) principles of RT progression and variables of RT exercise prescription were given a score of "1," not reported/not applied (-) and unclear (?) a "0," and not applicable (na) no score. Sum scores of progression principles and exercise prescription variables were calculated and corrected for the number of "na." Percentages of RT intervention descriptions reporting/applying each principle and variable were also calculated (proportion relative to the total number).

RESULTS

Study Selection

The systematic search resulted in 7.427 articles and after removing duplicates and screening titles/abstracts a total of 105 potentially relevant articles were assessed for eligibility. Based on the full-text assessments, 1 additional primary study and 3 study protocols were added, resulting in 21 articles remaining for the qualitative synthesis (18 studies, 3 protocols) (**Figure 1**).

Study Characteristics

Table 3 presents the characteristics of the 18 included primary studies. The majority were RCTs [9 studies (58, 59, 64–67, 69, 70, 73, 74)] and another described as feasibility study (71). Furthermore, there was one non-randomized CT (62) and 6 cluster RCTs (60, 61, 63, 68, 72, 75), with 2 each evaluating a subgroup of the intervention groups in an overarching study (60, 63).

The target groups were diverse in terms of types of occupation, with employees in inactive work environments (e.g., white collar/office desk work, laboratory technicians), physically active jobs (hospital porters, firefighters, army employees, musicians) or also blue collar workers (manufacturing, slaughterhouse, bus drivers). Some studies specified eligible participants in terms of health status or physical complaints (e.g., neck/shoulder or low back pain) whereas others targeted employees generally. The baseline sample size in the studies ranged from 23 (71) to and 549 (61) participants, with four studies including females only (58, 67) or predominantly females (>80%) (59, 75) and 5 studies males only (65, 74) or predominantly males (66, 68, 70), respectively. The majority of studies had, on average, middle-aged samples.

The RT interventions used different materials or equipment, such as dumbbells, elastic bands or machines, in different organizational forms [ranging from, e.g., training consisting of only one exercise or even one single set (59, 65, 66) to circuit training in groups (62)] with the sessions being supervised to varying extents (fully, alternating to minimal, and not at all). The majority of studies were conducted directly at the workplace, although three studies had the option of exercising at home (64, 67, 71). Interventions that included training in groups and/or used larger equipment took place in associated training/therapy departments (65, 66) or in fitness centers/training facilities within the workplace (69, 72, 74) or in close proximity (62), respectively. The intervention periods were between 6 weeks (67) and 12 months (61) with a frequency of at least 1-2 times/week (60, 65) up to sometimes several times/day (60, 72), with most interventions conducting RT 2-3 times/week.

Study Quality and Results

Overall, with 9 out of 18 studies, the majority of studies were rated as moderate (59, 62, 64–66, 68–70, 75), six studies were again rated as weak (58, 60, 61, 63, 71, 74), and the remaining three studies were rated as strong (67, 72, 73) (**Table 3**). In summary, study design and data collection methods were rated as the strongest across all studies, while the distribution of the other components was more varied (weak/moderate/strong) (**Supplementary Table 2**).

Within the workplace-related RT interventions, different positive effects (pre-post-intervention) were reported (**Table 3**).

Significant improvements in (muscular) strength- or performance-related outcomes as a result of RT intervention were reported in 10 studies. Upper limb strength (neck, shoulder, or wrist) after an specific RT program was examined in four studies (58, 59, 67, 73). Comparable to this, four studies examined the strength/endurance of the back or trunk (64–66, 68). The other two studies performed multi-joint exercises to assess strength/performance effects to correspond to the whole-body training conducted in the interventions (62, 74).

Significant improvements regarding pain- or complaintrelated outcomes were reported in 13 studies. Most frequently, the intensity and/or duration of neck or upper back/limb pain or headache was examined (eight studies) (58–61, 63, 70, 73, 75), often using variants of a visual analog scale. The other studies assessed either complaints in the lower back or lower extremities or a general pain condition without specifying more precisely the body region (62, 64, 67, 71, 74).

Further different outcomes assessed for which significant improvements were shown included muscle tenderness (59), functional status or mobility (65, 66, 69), well-being (62, 72), work-related outcomes such as disability, functionality, satisfaction, impairment, or abseentism (60, 62, 70, 73, 74).

In two studies, pre-post improvements also occurred in the control groups, as these were a comparison with regular physiotherapy (66) or a comparison with low-intensity strength training, respectively, although in the latter study, only the high-intensity intervention group also showed significant effects regarding strength (65).



Stassen et al.

TABLE 3 | Included primary studies.

No	References	Study design	Study	sample		Intervention	Significant effects (RT, pre-post-intervention)	Study quality (EPHPP)ª
			Occupation	Total: a) baseline sample size, b) sex, c) age (years) Intervention groups: a) baseline sample size, b) sex, c) age (years)	General descriptions of interventions	descriptions of a) intervention period		
	Andersen et al. (58)	Randomized controlled trial	Employees with monotonous and repetitive tasks (computer work common) and chronic neck muscle pain	Total: a) $n = 48$, b) 100% \wp , c) not sp. IG1:a) $n = 18$, b) 100% \wp , c) 44 ± 9 IG2: a) $n = 16$, b) 100% \wp , c) 45 ± 9 CG: a) $n = 14$, b) 100% \wp , c) 42 ± 8	IG1: high-intensity specific strength training for the neck and shoulder muscles (dumbbell exercises) IG2: high-intensity general fitness training (bicycle ergometer) CG: health counseling on a group level and an individual level, not offered any physical training	a) 10 weeks b) 3 × 20 min/week c) at the workplace d) supervised	Muscle strength (shoulder) ↑ Trapezius muscle pain (general pain since the last training session) ↓ Trapezius muscle pain (worst pain since the last training session) ↓	Weak
	Andersen et al. (59)	Randomized controlled trial	Employees (white-collar organizations) with frequent neck/shoulder pain	Total: a) $n = 198$, b) 88% ç, c) not sp. IG1: a) $n = 66$, b) 88% ç, c) 44 \pm 11 IG2: a) $n = 66$, b) 88% ç, c) 42 \pm 11 CG: a) $n = 66$, b) 88% ç, c) 43 \pm 10	IG1: resistance training (shoulder abductions/lateral raises with elastic bands) (2 min sessions) IG2: resistance training (shoulder abductions/lateral raises with elastic bands) (12 min sessions) CG: information on general health (weekly e-mailed information and provision of internet links)	 a) 10 weeks b) 5 × 2 or 5 × 12 min/week, respectively c) at the workplace d) unsupervised (initial training instruction and explanation, optional help available) 	Muscle strength (shoulder) ↑ (both IGs) Neck/shoulder pain intensity ↓ (both IGs) Neck/shoulder muscle tenderness ↓ (both IGs)	Moderate

(Continued)

Workplace-Related Resistance Training: Reporting

No	References	Study design	Study	sample		Intervention	Significant effects (RT, pre-post-intervention)	Study quali (EPHPP) ^a
	Andersen et al. (60)	Cluster randomized controlled trial	Office workers (national public administrative authority) with and without neck and/or shoulder pain	Total: a) $n = 449$, b) 62% ç, c) 46 ± 10 IG1: a) $n = 116$, b) 62% ç, c) 47 ± 10 IG2: a) $n = 126$, b) 69% ç, c) 46 ± 10 IG3: a) $n = 106$, b) 58% ç, c) 45 ± 10 CG: a) $n = 101$, b) 58% ç, c) 46 ± 10	IG1: specific strength training for the neck and shoulder muscles (dumbbell exercises) (once/week) IG2: same as IG1 (3 times/week) IG2: same as IG1 (9 times/week) CG: not offered any physical training	 a) 20 weeks b) 1 × 60 or 3 × 20 or 9 × 7 min/week, respectively. c) at the workplace d) every other training session supervised 	Neck and shoulder pain intensity (last 3 months) ↓ (all three IGs) Work disability ↓ (IG1 and IG2)	Weak
	Blangsted et al. (61)	Cluster randomized controlled trial	Office workers (public administration)	Total: a) $n = 549$, b) $64\% \circ c$, c) n.r. IG 1: a) $n = 180$, b) $70\% \circ c$, c) n.r. IG2: a) $n = 187$, b) $64\% \circ c$, c) n.r. CG: a) $n = 182$, b) $59\% \circ c$, c) n.r.	IG1: specific resistance training for the muscles in the shoulder and neck region (dumbbells, static exercises, rowing and kayaking ergometer) IG2: all-round physical exercise (physical exercises introduced at the worksite, mixture of activities) CG: encouraged to form groups to improve existing nonoptimal health and work conditions (not performing additional physical activity)	a) 12 months b) 3 × 20 min/week c) at the workplace d) 2/3 supervised	Neck and shoulder symptoms intensity (last 3 months) ↓ Neck and shoulder symptoms duration (last 3 months) ↓	Weak
	Escriche-Escuder et al. (62)	Non-randomized controlled trial	Hospital porters (university clinic) with at least one episode of musculoskeletal pain during the last month	Total: a) $n = 37$, b) 73% φ , c) n.r. IG: a) $n = 19$, b) 89% φ , c) 53 \pm 9 CG: a) $n = 18$, b) 56% φ , c) 49 \pm 11	IG: brief whole-body resistance training in groups in circuit (elastic band and body weight exercises) CG: maintenance of usual activity	a) 9 weeks b) 5 × 15 min/week c) site close to the workplace d) supervised	Muscle strength (push-ups) ↑ Back muscular endurance ↑ Pain overall status ↓ Pain intensity (hips/thighs and ankles/feet, last three months) ↓ Well-being ↑ Work satisfaction ↑ Work impairment ↓ Desire exercising ↑ Energy ↑	Moderate

(Continued)

Workplace-Related Resistance Training: Reporting

Stassen et al.

No	References	Study design	Study	sample		Intervention	Significant effects (RT, pre-post-intervention)	Study qualit (EPHPP) ^a
6	Gram et al. (63)	Cluster randomized controlled trial	Office workers (national public administrative authority) [same target group as in (60)]	Total: a) $n = 351$, b) $62\% \circ \circ$, c) n.r. IG1: a) $n = 126$, b) $69\% \circ \circ$, c) 46 ± 10 IG2: a) $n = 124$, b) $58\% \circ \circ$, c) 45 ± 11 CG: a) $n = 101$, b) $58\% \circ \circ$, c) 46 ± 10	IG1: specific strength training for the neck and shoulder muscles (dumbbell exercises), regularly supervised [same group as IG2 in (60)] IG2: same as IG1, minimally supervised CG: not offered any physical training	a) 20 weeks b) 3 × 20 min/week c) at the workplace d) every other training session supervised or minimally supervised (only initial instructions for two sessions), respectively	Neck pain intensity (last 7 days) ↓ (IG2 vs. CG) Headache intensity (last month) ↓ (both IGs) Days with headache (last month) ↓ (both IGs)	Weak
7	Haufe et al. (64)	Randomized controlled trial	Employees from medium-sized companies (desk work and manufacturing)	Total: a) $n = 226$, b) 60% σ , c) 43 \pm 10 IG: a) $n = 112$, b) 57% σ , c) 44 \pm 10 CG: a) $n = 114$, b) 62% σ , c) 42 \pm 11	IG: exercises without equipment particularly for the trunk musculature CG: asked to continue the current lifestyle	a) 5 months b) 3 × 20 min/week c) at the workplace or at home d) initial instruction and supervision once a month	Muscle strength (back extension) ↑ Low back pain (last 7 days) ↓	Moderate
3	Helmhout et al. (65)	Randomized controlled trial	Army employees with non-specific low back pain (longer than 12 weeks)	Total: a) $n = 81$, b) 100% σ^{*} , c) n.r. IG: a) $n = 41$, b) 100% σ^{*} , c) 41 ± 10 CG: a) $n = 40$, b) 100% σ^{*} , c) 40 ± 9	IG1: high-intensity training program of the isolated lumbar extensor muscle groups (lower back machine) CG: non- progressive, low-intensity resistance protocol (lower back machine) (below strength training stimulus)	a) 12 weeks b) 1 × 5-10 min/week (weeks 1-2) and 2 × 5-10 min/week (weeks 3-12), respectively c) associated training/therapy department d) supervised	Comparable positive effects in both IG and CG (functional disability due to low back pain, self-experienced health, fear of movement) with back extension strength ↑ in IG	Moderate
9	Helmhout et al. (66)	Randomized controlled trial	Army employees (predominantly male soldiers) with non-specific non-acute low back pain	Total: a) $n = 127$, b) 97% σ^{a} , c) not sp. IG: a) $n = 71$, b) 97% σ^{a} , c) 37 \pm 11 CG: a) $n = 56$, b) 96% σ^{a} , c) 35 \pm 11	IG: lumbar extensor strength training program (lower back machine) CG: regular physical therapy (exercise therapy and aerobic activities)	a) 10 weeks b) 2 × 5-10 min/week c) associated training/therapy department d) supervised	Positive effects comparable to those of CG (on back extension strength, low-back specific functional status, patient-specific functional status, and global perceived effect)	Moderate

Workplace-Related Resistance Training: Reporting

Stassen et al.

No	References	Study design	Study	sample		Intervention	Significant effects (RT, pre-post-intervention)	Study qualit (EPHPP) ^a
10	Li et al. (67)	Randomized controlled trial	Employees (monotonous jobs, daily computer use) with chronic work-related neck pain	Total: a) $n = 109$, b) 100% \wp , c) n.r. IG1: a) $n = 38$, b) 100% \wp , c) 36 ± 8 IG2: a) $n = 35$, b) 100% \wp , c) 34 ± 9 CG: a) $n = 36$, b) 100% \wp , c) 34 ± 8	IG1: neck resistance training (progressive) (elastic bands) IG2: neck resistance training (fixed load) (elastic bands) CG: health-related information, discussions, and presentations	 a) 6 weeks b) at least 3 times/week (duration n.r.) c) both at the workplace and at home d) supervision once a week 	Neck muscle strength (flexion, extension, lateral flexion) ↑ (both IGs) Pain intensity ↓ (both IGs, greater effect in IG1) Pain threshold ↓ (both IGs) Neck disability ↓ (both IGs)	Strong
11	Mayer et al. (68)	Cluster randomized controlled trial	Full-duty career firefighters (fire stations of a municipal fire department)	Total: a) $n = 96$, b) $91\% \sigma^{*}$, c) 35 ± 9 IG: a) $n = 54$, b) $82\% \sigma^{*}$, c) 38 ± 10 CG: a) $n = 42$, b) $96\% \sigma^{*}$, c) 31 ± 8	IG: exercise (mat-based core exercises and back extension exercise on a Roman chair) plus usual physical fitness routine CG: usual physical fitness routine alone	a) 24 weeks b) 2 × 10 min/week c) at the workplace d) supervised	Back muscular endurance ↑ Core muscular endurance ↑	Moderate
2	Mulla et al. (69)	Randomized controlled trial	Office employees (automotive industry)	Total: a) $n = 43$, b) 63% \wp , c) n.r. IG: a) $n = 21$, b) 57% \wp , c) 44 \pm 11 CG: a) $n = 22$, b) 68% \wp , c) 43 \pm 10	IG: leg- strengthening classes (exercises to target major muscle groups) CG: maintenance of usual activity	a) 12 weeks b) 3 × 45 min/week c) on site gymnasium/fitness center d) supervised	Lower extremity functionality ↑ Mobility ↑ (walk test ↓, stair climbing test ↓)	Moderate
13	Muñoz-Poblete et al. (70)	Randomized controlled trial	Manufacturing workers exposed to excessive effort and repetitive tasks principally with the upper limbs (furniture manufacturing)	Total: a) $n = 109$, b) not sp., c) not sp. IG: a) $n = 52$, b) 79% σ , c) 29 \pm 5 CG: a) $n = 53$, b) 83% σ , c) 28 \pm 5 (data only available for completers)	IG: resistance-based exercise program for the upper limbs (elastic bands) CG: stretching exercises	a) 16 weeks b) 3 × 15 min/week c) at the workplace d) supervised	Upper limb pain intensity ↓ Work functionality ↑	Moderate
14	Nygaard Andersen et al. (71)	Randomized controlled feasibility study	Professional symphony orchestra musicians	Total: a) $n = 23$, b) 61% \wp , c) n.r. IG: a) $n = 12$, b) 67% \wp , c) 45 \pm 11 CG: a) $n = 11$, b) 55% \wp , c) 47 \pm 8	IG: high-intensity specific strength training, focusing on the neck and shoulder muscles (dumbbell exercises)	a) 9 weeks b) 3 × 20 min/week c) at the workplace or at home d) supervised	Pain intensity (last 7 days) ↓	Weak

Stassen et al.

(Continued)

No	References	Study design	Study	sample		ntervention	Significant effects (RT, pre-post-intervention)	Study qua (EPHPP) ^a
					CG: high-intensity general fitness training for the legs only (bicycle ergometer)			
5	Sjögren et al. (72)	Cluster randomized controlled trial (cross-over)	Office workers (public administration)	Total: a) $n = 90$, b) 73% φ , c) 46 \pm 9 IG: a) $n = 55$, b) 84% φ , c) n.r. CG: a) $n = 35$, b) 57% φ , c) n.r.	IG1: light resistance training (six dynamic symmetrical movements, air resistance equipment) CG: same as IG after 15 week no-intervention (cross over)	 a) 15 weeks b) 5 × 6 min/week (weeks 1-5) and 7-8 × 8 min/week (weeks 6-15), respectively c) training facility of the workplace d) non-supervised (guidance in three group sessions at 5-week intervals) 	Subjective physical well-being ↑	Strong
16	Sundstrup et al. (73)	Randomized controlled trial	Slaughterhouse workers with chronic pain in the shoulder, elbow/forearm, or hand/wrist, and work disability	Total: a) $n = 66$, b) 77% σ , c) n.r. IG: a) $n = 33$, b) 76% σ , c) 48 \pm 9 CG: a) $n = 33$, b) 79% σ , c) 43 \pm 9	IG: high-intensity resistance training for the shoulder, arm, and hand muscles (small training equipment) CG: ergonomic training and education	a) 10 weeks, b) 3 × 10 min/week c) at the workplace d) supervised	Muscle strength (wrist and shoulder) ↑ Pain intensity (shoulder, elbow/forearm, and hand/wrist) (last 7 days) ↓ Work disability ↓	Strong
7	Zavanela et al. (74)	Randomized controlled trial	Bus drivers	Total: a) <i>n</i> = 132, b) 100% ♂, c) n.r. IG: a) <i>n</i> = 60, b) 100% ♂, c) n.r. CG: a) <i>n</i> = 72, b) 100% ♂, c) n.r.	IG: resistance training (whole- body program) CG: maintaining normal daily activities	a) 24 weeks b) 3 times/week (weeks 1-8) and 4 times/week (weeks 9-24) (duration n.r.), respectively c) on site gymnasium/fitness center d) supervised	Muscle strength (bench press, leg press) ↑ Muscular endurance (sit-ups, push-ups, trunk flexibility) ↑ Pain incidence (back, legs, arms, shoulders, and head) (last 2 weeks) ↓ Blood pressure ↓ Worker abseentism ↓	Weak
8	Zebis et al. (75)	Cluster randomized controlled trial	Industrial workers (laboratory technicians, repetitive tasks and data processing)	Total: a) $n = 537$, b) n.r., c) n.r. IG: a) $n = 282$, b) 89% ç, c) 42 ± 11 CG: a) $n = 255$, b) 80% ç, c) 42 ± 10	IG: high-intensity strength training for the neck and shoulders (dumbbell exercises) CG: advice to stay physically active and supervisor consultation (once a week)	a) 20 weeks b) 3 × 20 min/week c) at the workplace d) every other training session supervised	Neck pain intensity (last 7 days) ↓	Moderate

IG, intervention group; CG, control group; n.r., not reported. \uparrow or \downarrow , outcome increased or decreased ($p \leq 0.05$). ^aSee **Supplementary Table 2** for the quality assessment of all EPHPP components.

Workplace-Related Resistance Training: Reporting

Resistance Training Intervention Reporting

The rating of the RT interventions in terms of attention to principles of progression and variables of exercise prescription is listed in **Table 4** and reported in detail in **Supplementary Table 3**. For the assessment, protocols could also be taken into account for 4 of the 18 primary studies, as one protocol (76) refers to the two aforementioned studies that each evaluate a subset of the intervention groups in an overarching study (60, 63).

Principles of Resistance Training Progression

Overall, 70 % of the principles of RT progression (Table 1) were reported in the included studies (38/54), ranging from 1 to 3 principles with 6 of the 18 studies reporting all 3 principles (58, 60, 63, 71, 73, 75) (Table 4). The principle of progressive overload was explicitly stated in all but one study (94%, 17/18). Specificity, in turn, was documented for 78% (14/18), whereby the four studies classified as "unspecific" were rated as "unclear" as they reasoned whole-body trainings with its impact on, among other things, musculoskeletal pain (62), subjective physical well-being (72) or absenteeism (74), or investigated a specific osteoarthritis training in a general target group (69). The least documented principle is variation understood as systematic variation of both intensity and volume over the course of training (periodization) (Table 1) with 39% (7/18) describing classical (58, 62, 71, 73) or classical/undulating (60, 63, 75) models, respectively. Two studies were rated as unclear because in the first case, training was only performed at a lower intensity and a higher volume in the first 2 of the 12 intervention weeks and the change after week 3 does not appear to be systematic (65) [moreover, the same research group did not apply any periodization in another included subsequent study (66)] and in the second case, although an increase in volume is indicated to some extent by increased duration and number of repetitions, no change in intensity is described (69).

Variables of Resistance Training Exercise Prescription

Overall, 69% of all variables of resistance training exercise prescription (Table 2) were reported in the included studies (103/150, corrected for the number of "not applicable") (Table 4). The variable muscle action is reported in 94% (17/18), describing concentric, eccentric as well as isometric muscle action, with the only missing studies most likely using dynamic exercises but not explicitly stating this (74). Loading is applied in 94% (17/18) and was predefined as, e.g., prescribed repetition range for an exercise or a session (59, 65, 66, 68), as a percentage of a certain repetition maximum or the maximal strength (58, 60-63, 67, 71, 73-75), based on a rating of perceived exertion (69, 72), or as a fixed weight during a defined intervention phase (70). The only "unclear" study indicated load adjustments by therapists on site without explaining the procedure in more detail (64). The training volume, which can be recognized by an indication of the number of exercises, sets and repetitions, was given in 67% (12/18). The exercise selection was named in 89% (16/18) of the studies, while the exact exercise order was only clearly described in 47% (7/15) (corrected for single exercise interventions), as in some cases it remained unclear whether the order or numbering in the article texts remained the same throughout the intervention phase. Corrected for single exercise interventions and single set interventions, rest periods between exercises and between sets were also reported comparatively infrequently at 33% (4/12) and 27% (4/15) respectively, which also applies to the repetition velocity (given in seconds) [44% (8/18)]. Finally, all studies 100 % (18/18) applied the frequency of the training sessions (compare also **Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this review is the first to specifically address attention to progression principles and variables of exercise prescription in workplace-related RT interventions. The main finding of the analysis was that several important RT principles and variables were inconsistently reported. While the goal of this systematic review was not to evaluate whether general RT recommendations were followed, the results do highlight some gaps in reporting (and potential for intervention planning).

The principle of progressive overload was mentioned in almost all studies indicating that there is agreement on the importance of increasing the stress to achieve adaptations and improvements. Due to the often limited time available for interventions at the workplace (79, 80), progressive overload provides the foremost basis for effective but also efficient interventions.

The principle of specificity was rated as unclear in four studies, as these (62, 69, 72, 74) used a more general training approach. Specific training should ensure that the most optimal type of exercise is chosen for a desired outcome (e.g., specific neck and shoulder training to prevent or reduce pain). Nonetheless, non-specific whole-body training could be reasoned from a primary prevention perspective since regular RT has a wide range of health-enhancing effects (17, 26, 81, 82). Depending on possibly rather broader intervention goals in the context of workplace health promotion (such as increasing well-being, reducing physical complaints, increasing or maintaining work ability), the exact specificity of RT may seem less necessary than, e.g., in rehabilitation or high-performance sports.

It is noticeable that the majority of the studies did not specify a periodization model, which not only represents a reporting gap but also a potential for intervention optimization from the perspective of exercise science. Research shows that systematic variation in both intensity and volume leads to increased adaptation over time (83–85), which is therefore relevant in recreational or health promotion contexts. Additionally, changing one or more variables over time could have a motivating effect (86) and might have a positive influence on adherence, especially in rather less training-experienced target groups in the workplace context.

Commonly reported variables of RT exercise prescription in the included studies were muscle action, load, volume, and frequency. Therefore, in general, it was reported what was exercised, how often and with what load. Especially the determination (and continuous realization) of an appropriate load is the prerequisite for training progression.

No	References		Principle		Sum score ^a					Variable					Sum score ^b
		Prog over	Spec	Per		M act	Load	Vol	Ex sel	Ex ord	R	per	Vel	Freq	
											Bet s	Bet ex			
1	Andersen et al. (58)	(+)	(+)	(+)	3/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	()	()	(?)	(+)	6/9
2	Andersen et al. (59)	(+)	(+)	()	2/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(na)	(+)	(na)	(+)	(+)	7/7
3	Andersen et al. (60) [protocol: (76)]	(+)	(+)	(+)	3/3	(+)	(+)	(?)	(+)	(+)	(+)	()	()	(+)	6/9
4	Blangsted et al. (61)	(+)	(+)	()	2/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(?)	()	()	()	(+)	5/9
5	Escriche-Escuder et al. (62)	(+)	(?)	(+)	2/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(na)	(+)	(+)	(+)	8/8
6	Gram et al. (63) [protocol: (76), same as (60)]	(+)	(+)	(+)	3/3	(+)	(+)	(?)	(+)	(+)	(+)	()	()	(+)	6/9
7	Haufe et al. (64)	()	(+)	()	1/3	(+)	(?)	(?)	(?)	()	()	()	(?)	(+)	2/9
8	Helmhout et al. (65)	(+)	(+)	(?)	2/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(na)	(na)	(na)	(+)	(+)	6/6
9	Helmhout et al. (66) [protocol: (77)]	(+)	(+)	()	2/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(na)	(na)	(na)	(+)	(+)	6/6
10	Li et al. (67)	(+)	(+)	()	2/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(?)	(na)	()	(+)	(+)	6/8
11	Mayer et al. (68)	(+)	(+)	()	2/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(?)	(na)	(+)	(+)	(+)	7/8
12	Mulla et al. (69)	(+)	(?)	(?)	1/3	(+)	(+)	()	(?)	()	()	()	()	(+)	3/9
13	Muñoz-Poblete et al. (70)	(+)	(+)	()	2/3	(+)	(+)	()	(+)	(?)	()	(?)	(+)	(+)	5/9
14	Nygaard Andersen et al. (71)	(+)	(+)	(+)	3/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	()	()	()	(+)	6/9
15	Sjögren et al. (72)	(+)	(?)	()	1/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(na)	(+)	(+)	(+)	8/8
16	Sundstrup et al. (73) [protocol (78)]	(+)	(+)	(+)	3/3	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	()	()	(?)	(+)	6/9
17	Zavanela et al. (74)	(+)	(?)	()	1/3	(?)	(+)	(+)	(+)	(?)	(+)	(+)	()	(+)	6/9
18	Zebis et al. (75)	(+)	(+)	(+)	3/3	(+)	(+)	(?)	(+)	(?)	()	()	(?)	(+)	4/9
Prop	portion	94% (17/18)	78% (14/18)	39% (7/18)	70% (38/54)	94% (17/18)	94% (17/18)	67% (12/18)	89% (16/18)	47% (7/15)	33% (4/12)	27% (4/15)	44% (8/18)	100% (18/18)	69% (103/150)

prog over, progressive overload; spec, specificity; per, variation (periodization); m act, muscle action; load, loading; vol, volume; ex sel, exercise selection; ex ord, exercise order; r per, rest periods (bet s = between sets, bet ex, between exercises); vel, repetition velocity; freq, frequency; RT, resistance training. See **Supplementary Table 3** for the citations or text passages on which the decisions were based. Note: ^a Possible maximum score = 3. ^b Possible maximum score = 9 (depending on the correction for the number of "na").

Although the load is generally specified in almost all studies (Supplementary Table 3), the exact procedures for load determination often remain rather unclear. A more precise description of the protocols or test methods used, e.g., to determine the RM or the maximal strength, would increase transparency beyond the mere mention of load and provide added value in terms of practice transfer. Moreover, with regard to training conduction, it would be critical to question the extent to which study participants are able to continuously manage the load when interventions consist of (sometimes predominantly) unsupervised training sessions (59-61, 63, 64, 67, 72, 75). As an example, the included study by Andersen et al. in which the two intervention groups performed lateral raises with elastic bands (one single-set and one multi-set group) can be referred to (59). In the associated process evaluation, 40% of participants with low adherence responded, among other things, that they felt the load progression was too fast (87). Particularly in conjunction with lower adherence, this could influence the effectiveness. For workers-some of whom may have little experience with exercise training-it may be difficult to self-direct load to, e.g., predefined repetition ranges in such a way that a constant impactful stress is ensured over the course of the intervention.

The selection of exercises was usually shown in the corresponding descriptions and illustrations, while the order of the exercises remained unclear in some studies. As complex exercises were not performed in all studies, a specific sequence, e.g., multi-joint to single-joint exercises within a session (37, 39), appears negligible in some cases, although research suggests that the exercise order should be based on priority with respect to the program goal and regardless of whether the exercise involves a relatively large or small muscle group (88). However, the intervention transparency could easily be improved by a short textual reference. Moreover, the more precise implementation (rest periods between the exercises and the sets and repetition velocity) remained partly unclear. From an exercise science perspective, rest periods in particular are important for both training planning and management (89, 90). Also, rest periods are relevant from a transfer point of view, as they determine the detailed implementation in practice, and already brief descriptions (e.g., timing or autoregulatory) would facilitate intervention replication.

In summary, reporting of RT in workplace-related interventions appears inconsistent, which is in line with reviews in, e.g., rehabilitative contexts (46-48), hindering both the replication and validation of results in follow-up studies and the implementation of successful interventions. Therefore, the use of standardized exercise-reporting tools should be further encouraged. Current guidelines from the equator network, such as the consensus on exercise reporting template (CERT) (91) or the template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) (92), provide comprehensive guidance and were developed to address the issues outlined above. The CERT, e.g., does not only refer to the intervention itself, but also to the actual conduction (including individualization or adverse events) and implementation (including teaching/supervising expertise or setting in which exercise training is performed) (93). Thus, further important contextual factors would be captured in a more comprehensive description.

Regardless of the reporting analysis, the included studies illustrate the multifaceted nature of potential workplace-related RT interventions for adult health promotion. RT represents a promising health promotion intervention component in many respects for a wide variety of target populations (27, 33, 82, 94, 95) (for employees with, e.g., different gender, age, occupational background, or exercise experience). Most of the included studies used only small equipment such as elastic bands or dumbbells, which basically allows exercise to be performed on site (or at home) without major organizational hurdles. For interventions again with group trainings or using machines, facilities are needed to keep distances short (fitness center or training facility in the building or in close proximity). However, given the small number of exercises in most studies (Supplementary Table 3) and the small amount of time required (session duration) combined with reduced or minimal supervision, the possibility of implementing RT interventions at the workplace is generally emphasized.

Strengths and Limitations

The main strength of the present review is the emphasis on the fundamentals of RT progression and exercise prescription (37–39). The assessment approach—oriented on a protocol by Westra et al. on the quality of RT description in COPD trials (96)—is comparatively comprehensive in terms of analyzing the reporting of RT interventions and provides a more detailed insight than, e.g., analyzing according to the so-called FITT-VP components (frequency, intensity, time, type of exercise, volume, and progression).

Since the main purpose of the review was not to investigate whether the reporting influences the intervention effects, the narrative analysis of the significant effects can be seen as a limitation. Determining the extent to which progression principles and variables of exercise prescription are attended is a critical first step in advancing knowledge of workplace-related RT interventions. Their impact on effectiveness should be explored in future analyses.

The main limitation of the review was the strict limitation to studies with a main focus on RT. During the full-text assessments, 28 studies alone were excluded that had a RT component within an intentionally mixed or multicomponent intervention. These studies would have required detailed analysis of all components (e.g., training principles for other training forms, theoretical basis for educational programs), which would have exceeded the review focus. Nevertheless, the present results should raise awareness for improved reporting not only for interventions with a main focus on RT. Future challenges will lie in the comparable reporting of training principles in more individualized or tailored approaches (33, 97) that take into account individual prerequisites and workloads in training planning and management. In addition, some studies did not definitively identify the extent to which they were workplace-related indicating the need for a better contextual description (such as location and integration into the working day).

CONCLUSIONS

Based on the great health-promoting potential of workplacerelated interventions and the often limited time available for interventions at the workplace, RT interventions in this setting should be designed to be as effective as possible. However, without comprehensive information on the actual design of workplace-related RT interventions, it remains difficult to implement optimally dosed interventions for a desired benefit in different employee target groups. Therefore, a detailed description is also relevant from a transfer perspective.

In order to increase the reproducibility of RT interventions, exercise-reporting tools should be applied more frequently (98). Furthermore, findings from exercise science should be increasingly incorporated into RT interventions in the context of workplace-related health promotion. There is still potential, especially in the integration of periodization models and the reporting of rest periods.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. *Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion*. World Health Organization (1986).
- Tudor-Locke C, Leonardi C, Johnson WD, Katzmarzyk PT. Time spent in physical activity and sedentary behaviors on the working day: the American time use survey. J Occup Environ Med. (2011) 53:1382– 7. doi: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e31823c1402
- Søgaard K, Sjøgaard G. Physical activity as cause and cure of muscular pain: evidence of underlying mechanisms. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* (2017) 45:136– 45. doi: 10.1249/JES.00000000000112
- Löllgen H, Böckenhoff A, Knapp G. Physical activity and all-cause mortality: an updated meta-analysis with different intensity categories. *Int J Sports Med.* (2009) 30:213–24. doi: 10.1055/s-0028-1128150
- Lee I-M, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:219– 29. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9
- Sassen B, Cornelissen VA, Kiers H, Wittink H, Kok G, Vanhees L. Physical fitness matters more than physical activity in controlling cardiovascular disease risk factors. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil.* (2009) 16:677– 83. doi: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e3283312e94
- Kodama S, Saito K, Tanaka S, Maki M, Yachi Y, Asumi M, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2009) 301:2024–35. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.681
- Pedersen BK, Saltin B. Exercise as medicine evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in 26 different chronic diseases. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. (2015) 25(Suppl 3):1–72. doi: 10.1111/sms.12581
- Proper KI, Koning M, van der Beek AJ, Hildebrandt VH, Bosscher RJ, van Mechelen W. The effectiveness of worksite physical activity programs on physical activity, physical fitness, and health. *Clin J Sport Med.* (2003) 13:106–17. doi: 10.1097/00042752-200303000-00008
- Prieske O, Dalager T, Herz M, Hortobagyi T, Sjøgaard G, Søgaard K, et al. Effects of physical exercise training in the workplace on physical fitness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* (2019) 49:1903– 21. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01179-6
- Mulchandani R, Chandrasekaran AM, Shivashankar R, Kondal D, Agrawal A, Panniyammakal J, et al. Effect of workplace physical activity interventions on the cardio-metabolic health of working adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2019) 16:134. doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0896-0

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GS: conceptualization, writing—original draft, visualization, and project administration. GS and LB: methodology. GS, LB, and OM: formal analysis and investigation. AS: resources and supervision. LB, OM, and AS: writing—review and editing. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.832523/full#supplementary-material

- Maher CG. A systematic review of workplace interventions to prevent low back pain. Austral J Physiother. (2000) 46:259– 69. doi: 10.1016/S0004-9514(14)60287-7
- Burn NL, Weston M, Maguire N, Atkinson G, Weston KL. Effects of workplace-based physical activity interventions on cardiorespiratory fitness: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. *Sports Med.* (2019) 49:1255–74. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01125-6
- Pronk NP. Physical activity promotion in business and industry: evidence, context, and recommendations for a national plan. J Phys Activity Health. (2009) 6(Suppl 2):S220-35. doi: 10.1123/jpah.6.s2.s220
- Kuoppala J, Lamminpää A, Husman P. Work health promotion, job wellbeing, and sickness absences - a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Occup Environ Med. (2008) 50:1216–27. doi: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e31818 dbf92
- Abdin S, Welch RK, Byron-Daniel J, Meyrick J. The effectiveness of physical activity interventions in improving well-being across office-based workplace settings: a systematic review. *Public Health.* (2018) 160:70– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2018.03.029
- Feigenbaum MS, Pollock ML. Prescription of resistance training for health and disease. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (1999) 31:38– 45. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199901000-00008
- Stamatakis E, Lee I-M, Bennie J, Freeston J, Hamer M, O'Donovan G, et al. Does strength-promoting exercise confer unique health benefits? A pooled analysis of data on 11 population cohorts with all-cause, cancer, and cardiovascular mortality endpoints. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2018) 187:1102– 12. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwx345
- Distefano G, Goodpaster BH. Effects of exercise and aging on skeletal muscle. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2018) 8:a029785. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a029785
- 20. Woo J. Sarcopenia. Clin Geriatr Med. (2017) 33:305– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2017.02.003
- Hart PD, Buck DJ. The effect of resistance training on health-related quality of life in older adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Promot Perspect.* (2019) 9:1–12. doi: 10.15171/hpp.2019.01
- Volaklis KA, Halle M, Meisinger C. Muscular strength as a strong predictor of mortality: a narrative review. *Eur J Intern Med.* (2015) 26:303– 10. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2015.04.013
- FitzGerald SJ, Barlow CE, Kampert JB, Morrow JR, Jackson AW, Blair SN. Muscular fitness and all-cause mortality: prospective observations. J Phys Activity Health. (2004) 1:7–18. doi: 10.1123/jpah.1.1.7
- 24. Abramowitz MK, Hall CB, Amodu A, Sharma D, Androga L, Hawkins M. Muscle mass, BMI, and mortality among adults in the

United States: a population-based cohort study. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:1-16. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198318

- Jochem C, Leitzmann M, Volaklis K, Aune D, Strasser B. Association between muscular strength and mortality in clinical populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2019) 20:1213– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2019.05.015
- Westcott WL. Resistance training is medicine: effects of strength training on health. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* (2012) 11:209– 16. doi: 10.1249/JSR.0b013e31825dabb8
- Shaw BS, Shaw I, Brown GA. Resistance exercise is medicine: strength training in health promotion and rehabilitation. *Int J Ther Rehabil.* (2015) 22:385– 9. doi: 10.12968/ijtr.2015.22.8.385
- van Eerd D, Munhall C, Irvin E, Rempel D, Brewer S, van der Beek AJ, et al. Effectiveness of workplace interventions in the prevention of upper extremity musculoskeletal disorders and symptoms: an update of the evidence. Occup Environ Med. (2016) 73:62–70. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2015-10 2992
- Skamagki G, King A, Duncan M, Wåhlin C. A systematic review on workplace interventions to manage chronic musculoskeletal conditions. *Physiother Res Int.* (2018) 23:e1738. doi: 10.1002/pri.1738
- Sundstrup E, Seeberg KG, Bengtsen E, Andersen LL. A systematic review of workplace interventions to rehabilitate musculoskeletal disorders among employees with physical demanding work. *J Occup Rehabil.* (2020) 30:588-612. doi: 10.1007/s10926-020-09879-x
- Proper KI, van Oostrom SH. The effectiveness of workplace health promotion interventions on physical and mental health outcomes - a systematic review of reviews. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2019) 45:546– 59. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3833
- Frutiger M, Borotkanics R. Systematic review and meta-analysis suggest strength training and workplace modifications may reduce neck pain in office workers. *Pain Pract.* (2020) 21:100-31. doi: 10.1111/papr. 12940
- 33. Sjøgaard G, Christensen JR, Justesen JB, Murray M, Dalager T, Fredslund GH, et al. Exercise is more than medicine: The working age population's well-being and productivity. J Sport Health Sci. (2016) 5:159–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2016.04.004
- Baechle TR, Earle RW, Wathen D. Resistance training. In: Baechle TR, Earle RW, editors. *Essentials of Strength Training and Conditioning*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics (2008). p. 381–412.
- Fleck SJ, Kraemer WJ. Designing Resistance Training Programs. Champaign, Ill.: Human Kinetics (2014). p. 507.
- Kasper K. Sports training principles. Curr Sports Med Rep. (2019) 18:95– 6. doi: 10.1249/JSR.00000000000576
- Ratamess NA, Alvar BA, Evetoch TK, Housh TJ, Kibler WB, Kraemer WJ, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2009) 41:687–708. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31819 15670
- Kraemer WJ, Ratamess NA. Fundamentals of resistance training: progression and exercise prescription. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2004) 36:674–88. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000121945.36635.61
- Bird SP, Tarpenning KM, Marino FE. Designing resistance training programmes to enhance muscular fitness: a review of the acute programme variables. *Sports Med.* (2005) 35:841– 51. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200535100-00002
- Ammann BC, Knols RH, Baschung P, Bie RA de, Bruin ED de. Application of principles of exercise training in sub-acute and chronic stroke survivors: a systematic review. *BMC Neurol.* (2014) 14:167. doi: 10.1186/s12883-014-0167-2
- Baschung Pfister P, Bruin ED de, Tobler-Ammann BC, Maurer B, Knols RH. The relevance of applying exercise training principles when designing therapeutic interventions for patients with inflammatory myopathies: a systematic review. *Rheumatol Int.* (2015) 35:1641–54. doi: 10.1007/s00296-015-3343-9
- Campbell KL, Neil SE, Winters-Stone KM. Review of exercise studies in breast cancer survivors: attention to principles of exercise training. *Br J Sports Med.* (2012) 46:909–16. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2010-082719

- 43. Winters-Stone KM, Neil SE, Campbell KL. Attention to principles of exercise training: a review of exercise studies for survivors of cancers other than breast. *Br J Sports Med.* (2014) 48:987–95. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091732
- 44. Neil-Sztramko SE, Winters-Stone KM, Bland KA, Campbell KL. Updated systematic review of exercise studies in breast cancer survivors: attention to the principles of exercise training. *Br J Sports Med.* (2019) 53:504– 12. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-098389
- Neil-Sztramko SE, Medysky ME, Campbell KL, Bland KA, Winters-Stone KM. Attention to the principles of exercise training in exercise studies on prostate cancer survivors: a systematic review. *BMC Cancer.* (2019) 19:321. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-5520-9
- 46. Fairman CM, Hyde PN, Focht BC. Resistance training interventions across the cancer control continuum: a systematic review of the implementation of resistance training principles. Br J Sports Med. (2017) 51:677– 85. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096537
- Minshull C, Gleeson N. Considerations of the principles of resistance training in exercise studies for the management of knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2017) 98:1842–51. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2017.02.026
- Hendrey G, Holland AE, Mentiplay BF, Clark RA, Williams G. Do trials of resistance training to improve mobility after stroke adhere to the American College of Sports Medicine Guidelines? A systematic review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2018) 99:584-97.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2017.06.021
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ.* (2009) 339:b2535. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ*. (2009) 339:b2700. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700
- Schelvis RM, Oude Hengel KM, Burdorf A, Blatter BM, Strijk JE, van der Beek AJ. Evaluation of occupational health interventions using a randomized controlled trial: challenges and alternative research designs. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2015) 41:491–503. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3505
- 52. World Health Organization. *Jakarta Declaration on Leading Health Promotion into the 21st Century*. World Health Organization (1997).
- 53. European Network for Workplace Health Promotion. *Luxembourg* Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion in the European Union. European Network for Workplace Health Promotion (1997).
- Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyana web and mobile app for systematic reviews. *Syst Rev.* (2016) 5:210. doi: 10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4
- Effective Public Health Practice Project. Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies. Available online at: https://www.ephpp.ca/PDF/Quality %20Assessment%20Tool_2010_2.pdf (accessed September 30, 2021).
- Thomas BH, Ciliska D, Dobbins M, Micucci S. A process for systematically reviewing the literature: providing the research evidence for public health nursing interventions. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs.* (2004) 1:176– 84. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-475X.2004.04006.x
- Effective Public Health Practice Project. Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies Dictionary. Available online at: https://www.ephpp.ca/ PDF/QADictionary_dec2009.pdf (accessed September 30, 2021).
- Andersen LL, Kjaer M, Søgaard K, Hansen L, Kryger AI, Sjøgaard G. Effect of two contrasting types of physical exercise on chronic neck muscle pain. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2008) 59:84–91. doi: 10.1002/art.23 256
- Andersen LL, Saervoll CA, Mortensen OS, Poulsen OM, Hannerz H, Zebis MK. Effectiveness of small daily amounts of progressive resistance training for frequent neck/shoulder pain: randomised controlled trial. *Pain*. (2011) 152:440–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.11.016
- Andersen CH, Andersen LL, Gram B, Pedersen MT, Mortensen OS, Zebis MK, et al. Influence of frequency and duration of strength training for effective management of neck and shoulder pain: a randomised controlled trial. *Br J Sports Med.* (2012) 46:1004–10. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2011-090813
- 61. Blangsted AK, Søgaard K, Hansen EA, Hannerz H, Sjøgaard G. One-year randomized controlled trial with different physical-activity programs to reduce musculoskeletal symptoms in the neck and

shoulders among office workers. Scand J Work Environ Health. (2008) 34:55-65. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.1192

- Escriche-Escuder A, Calatayud J, Andersen LL, Ezzatvar Y, Aiguadé R, Casaña J. Effect of a brief progressive resistance training program in hospital porters on pain, work ability, and physical function. *Musculoskelet Sci Pract.* (2020) 48:102162. doi: 10.1016/j.msksp.2020.102162
- 63. Gram B, Andersen C, Zebis MK, Bredahl T, Pedersen MT, Mortensen OS, et al. Effect of training supervision on effectiveness of strength training for reducing neck/shoulder pain and headache in office workers: cluster randomized controlled trial. *Biomed Res Int.* (2014) 2014:693013. doi: 10.1155/2014/693013
- 64. Haufe S, Wiechmann K, Stein L, Kück M, Smith A, Meineke S, et al. Low-dose, non-supervised, health insurance initiated exercise for the treatment and prevention of chronic low back pain in employees. Results from a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0178585. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178585
- 65. Helmhout PH, Harts CC, Staal JB, Candel MJ, Bie RA de. Comparison of a high-intensity and a low-intensity lumbar extensor training program as minimal intervention treatment in low back pain: a randomized trial. *Eur Spine J.* (2004) 13:537–47. doi: 10.1007/s00586-004-0671-y
- 66. Helmhout PH, Harts CC, Viechtbauer W, Staal JB, Bie RA de. Isolated lumbar extensor strengthening versus regular physical therapy in an army working population with nonacute low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2008) 89:1675–85. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2007. 12.050
- Li X, Lin C, Liu C, Ke S, Wan Q, Luo H, et al. Comparison of the effectiveness of resistance training in women with chronic computer-related neck pain: a randomized controlled study. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*. (2017) 90:673– 83. doi: 10.1007/s00420-017-1230-2
- Mayer JM, Quillen WS, Verna JL, Chen R, Lunseth P, Dagenais S. Impact of a supervised worksite exercise program on back and core muscular endurance in firefighters. *Am J Health Promot.* (2015) 29:165– 72. doi: 10.4278/ajhp.130228-QUAN-89
- 69. Mulla DM, Wiebenga EG, Chopp-Hurley JN, Kaip L, Jarvis RS, Stephens A, et al. The effects of lower extremity strengthening delivered in the workplace on physical function and work-related outcomes among desk-based workers: a randomized controlled trial. *J Occup Environ Med.* (2018) 60:1005–14. doi: 10.1097/JOM.00000000001408
- Muñoz-Poblete C, Bascour-Sandoval C, Inostroza-Quiroz J, Solano-López R, Soto-Rodríguez F. Effectiveness of workplace-based muscle resistance training exercise program in preventing musculoskeletal dysfunction of the upper limbs in manufacturing workers. J Occup Rehabil. (2019) 29:810– 21. doi: 10.1007/s10926-019-09840-7
- Nygaard Andersen L, Mann S, Juul-Kristensen B, Søgaard K. Comparing the impact of specific strength training vs general fitness training on professional symphony orchestra musicians: a feasibility study. *Med Probl Perform Art.* (2017) 32:94–100. doi: 10.21091/mppa.2017.2016
- 72. Sjögren T, Nissinen KJ, Järvenpää SK, Ojanen MT, Vanharanta H, Mälkiä EA. Effects of a physical exercise intervention on subjective physical wellbeing, psychosocial functioning and general well-being among office workers: a cluster randomized-controlled cross-over design. *Scand J Med Sci Sports.* (2006) 16:381–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2005.00516.x
- Sundstrup E, Jakobsen MD, Andersen CH, Jay K, Persson R, Aagaard P, et al. Effect of two contrasting interventions on upper limb chronic pain and disability: a randomized controlled trial. *Pain Phys.* (2014) 17:145– 54. doi: 10.36076/ppj.2014/17/145
- 74. Zavanela PM, Crewther BT, Lodo L, Florindo AA, Miyabara EH, Aoki MS. Health and fitness benefits of a resistance training intervention performed in the workplace. J Strength Cond Res. (2012) 26:811–7. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e318225ff4d
- Zebis MK, Andersen LL, Pedersen MT, Mortensen P, Andersen CH, Pedersen MM, et al. Implementation of neck/shoulder exercises for pain relief among industrial workers: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. (2011) 12:205. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-12-205
- 76. Andersen LL, Zebis MK, Pedersen MT, Roessler KK, Andersen CH, Pedersen MM, et al. Protocol for work place adjusted intelligent physical exercise reducing musculoskeletal pain in shoulder and neck (VIMS): a

cluster randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. (2010) 11:173. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-11-173

- Helmhout PH, Harts CC, Staal JB, Bie RA de. Rationale and design of a multicenter randomized controlled trial on a 'minimal intervention' in Dutch army personnel with nonspecific low back pain [ISRCTN19334317]. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. (2004) 5:40. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-5-40
- Sundstrup E, Jakobsen MD, Andersen CH, Jay K, Persson R, Aagaard P, et al. Participatory ergonomic intervention versus strength training on chronic pain and work disability in slaughterhouse workers: study protocol for a single-blind, randomized controlled trial. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. (2013) 14:67. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-14-67
- Hunter JR, Gordon BA, Bird SR, Benson AC. Perceived barriers and facilitators to workplace exercise participation. *IJWHM*. (2018) 11:349– 63. doi: 10.1108/IJWHM-04-2018-0055
- Kruger J, Yore MM, Bauer DR, Kohl HW. Selected barriers and incentives for worksite health promotion services and policies. *Am J Health Promot.* (2007) 21:439–47. doi: 10.4278/0890-1171-21.5.439
- Kraemer WJ, Ratamess NA, French DN. Resistance training for health and performance. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* (2002) 1:165–71. doi: 10.1249/00149619-200206000-00007
- Mcleod JC, Stokes T, Phillips SM. Resistance exercise training as a primary countermeasure to age-related chronic disease. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10:645. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00645
- Rhea MR, Alderman BL. A meta-analysis of periodized versus nonperiodized strength and power training programs. *Res Q Exerc Sport.* (2004) 75:413– 22. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2004.10609174
- Williams TD, Tolusso DV, Fedewa MV, Esco MR. Comparison of periodized and non-periodized resistance training on maximal strength: a metaanalysis. *Sports Med.* (2017) 47:2083–100. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-07 34-y
- Lorenz DS, Reiman MP, Walker JC. Periodization: current review and suggested implementation for athletic rehabilitation. *Sports Health.* (2010) 2:509–18. doi: 10.1177/1941738110375910
- Baz-Valle E, Schoenfeld BJ, Torres-Unda J, Santos-Concejero J, Balsalobre-Fernández C. The effects of exercise variation in muscle thickness, maximal strength and motivation in resistance trained men. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0226989. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226989
- Andersen LL, Zebis MK. Process evaluation of workplace interventions with physical exercise to reduce musculoskeletal disorders. *Int J Rheumatol.* (2014) 2014;761363. doi: 10.1155/2014/761363
- Simão R, Salles BF de, Figueiredo T, Dias I, Willardson JM. Exercise order in resistance training. Sports Med. (2012) 42:251–65. doi: 10.2165/11597240-000000000-00000
- Salles BF de, Simão R, Miranda F, Novaes Jd, Lemos A, Willardson JM. Rest interval between sets in strength training. Sports Med. (2009) 39:765– 77. doi: 10.2165/11315230-00000000-00000
- Grgic J, Schoenfeld BJ, Skrepnik M, Davies TB, Mikulic P. Effects of rest interval duration in resistance training on measures of muscular strength: a systematic review. *Sports Med.* (2018) 48:137–51. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0788-x
- Slade SC, Dionne CE, Underwood M, Buchbinder R. Consensus on exercise reporting template (CERT): explanation and elaboration statement. *Br J Sports Med.* (2016) 50:1428–37. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096651
- Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ*. (2014) 348:g1687. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g1687
- Slade SC, Dionne CE, Underwood M, Buchbinder R, Beck B, Bennell K, et al. Consensus on exercise reporting template (CERT): modified delphi study. *Phys Ther.* (2016) 96:1514–24. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20150668
- 94. Winett RA, Carpinelli RN. Potential health-related benefits of resistance training. *Prev Med.* (2001) 33:503–13. doi: 10.1006/pmed.2001.0909
- Hass CJ, Feigenbaum MS, Franklin BA. Prescription of resistance training for healthy populations. *Sports Med.* (2001) 31:953– 64. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200131140-00001
- 96. Westra B, Wolf S de, Bij de Vaate E, Legemaat M, Nyberg A, Klijn P. Quality of resistance training description in COPD trials: study protocol for a

systematic review. BMJ Open. (2019) 9:e025030. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025030

- 97. Sjøgaard G, Justesen JB, Murray M, Dalager T, Søgaard K. A conceptual model for worksite intelligent physical exercise training–IPET– intervention for decreasing life style health risk indicators among employees: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health*. (2014) 14:652. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-652
- Slade SC, Keating JL. Exercise prescription: a case for standardised reporting. Br J Sports Med. (2012) 46:1110–3. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2011-090290

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Stassen, Baulig, Müller and Schaller. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Effects of Workplace Gossip on Employee Mental Health: A Moderated Mediation Model of Psychological Capital and Developmental Job Experience

Sheng Cheng^{1*}, Chien-Chih Kuo¹, Huai-Chieh Chen², Mei-Chi Lin¹ and Vincent Kuo³

¹ Department of Psychology, National Chengchi University, Taipei, Taiwan, ² School of Business, Huaiyin Institute of Technology, Huaiyin, China, ³ Department of Entrepreneurship, Marketing and Management Systems, Nottingham University Business School China, Ningbo, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danijela Gasevic, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Charles Weizheng Chen, Sichuan University, China Yanzhen He, School of Management Xiamen University Xiamen, China

*Correspondence:

Sheng Cheng xenes9358@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Occupational Health and Safety, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 08 November 2021 Accepted: 21 March 2022 Published: 12 April 2022

Citation:

Cheng S, Kuo C-C, Chen H-C, Lin M-C and Kuo V (2022) Effects of Workplace Gossip on Employee Mental Health: A Moderated Mediation Model of Psychological Capital and Developmental Job Experience. Front. Public Health 10:791902.

doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.791902

Research has demonstrated the effects of workplace gossip on employees' work attitudes and behaviors. However, little emphasis has been placed on the psychological influence of workplace gossip on employees. The present study investigated the relationships among workplace gossip, psychological capital, and individual mental health. Data were collected in three waves from 222 full-time employees of a Taiwanese tourism company to explore the effect of workplace gossip on employees' mental health. The results suggested that workplace gossip was associated with employees' mental health through psychological capital. Moreover, developmental job experience plays a moderator role in the relationships among workplace gossip, psychological capital, and mental health. A moderated mediation model was also proposed in this study.

Keywords: workplace gossip, psychological capital (PsyCap), developmental job experience, mental health, mediated moderation model

INTRODUCTION

Workplace gossip (WG) is a frequent occurrence in organizations (1). An employee "producing, listening to, or otherwise participating in evaluative comments" of work-related issue about an absent person would be classified as a WG participant (2). Specifically, researchers have classified WG into two types (1, 3): workplace positive gossip (WPG) and workplace negative gossip (WNG). Participating in these two types of WG can have opposite effects on employee work attitudes, work behaviors, and work outcomes (4). For example, engaging in WPG is positively related to organizational citizenship behaviors (3) and negatively associated with gossiper's employee cynicism (2), whereas participating in WNG may decrease gossipers' work-related in-role performance and job-related well-being (3) or increase employee deviance workplace behaviors (3) and cynicism toward organization (2). Although prior studies have identified WG as a crucial factor that could significantly influence employee work-related attitudes and outcomes in the workplace, little is known about the psychological influences and processes of WG on employees. The present study was designed to uncover the effects and psychological mechanisms of WG on employee mental health (MH).

We sought to explain the relationship between WG and individual MH by employing psychological capital theory, in contrast to previous studies that have shown scant interest in WG as a psychological resource. The psychological capital theory argues that psychological capital (PsyCap) is a type of psychological resource that determines individuals' psychological well-being and behaviors (5). Previous work suggested that WG could be a social cue for an individual to shape the meaning of social information concerning their experiences in specific environments (1, 6), which implies WG could be regarded as a personal resource that individuals use to understand the work environment. Furthermore, cognitive appraisal theory (7) suggests that these personal resources may trigger psychological states of emotion. Thus, the present study tested the hypothesis that WG is a type of social cue implying personal psychological resource consumption when interpreting social information (6), and resource obtainment when exchanging social information (8). When an employee participates in WG, PsyCap dynamics may be influenced, which then affects individuals' MH.

Few studies have investigated the moderating effect of different variables on the relationship between WG and outcomes. Here we probed the boundary effect of developmental job experience (DJE), which refers to self-development opportunities at work (9). Prior studies have demonstrated that individuals with DJE are more sensitive to social information and interpret social cues from a more systematic perspective (10), which may interact with WG interpretation. Specifically, employees with high DJE would be better able to comprehend the social cues of WG than those employee with low DJE. Thus, we hypothesized that DJE could be a key moderating factor, which suggests there is a practical implication for organizations to strengthen the positive effects of WG on employee PsyCap and MH (through PsyCap) or counteract negative effects by helping employees to cope with WG.

THEORY AND HYPOTHESES

Relationship Between Workplace Gossip and Mental Health

WG is defined as idle talk that involves the exchange of personal information and judgments about colleagues who are not present (11). It is considered a type of social interaction and a source of social information (2). Previous research categorized WG into two types (1, 3). WPG refers to positive statements about an absent colleague, such as their achievements, promotions, or receipt of praise from supervisors. Conversely, WNG is negative statements about the gossip target, such as their deviant behaviors, demotions, or inadequate work abilities. Engaging in WPG and WNG leads to different employee reactions and outcomes in organizations. For instance, Kuo et al. (1) suggested that employees engaging in WPG are exposed to more positive social cues, thereby facilitating their psychological attachment and considerably reducing workplace cynicism. In contrast, employees engaging in WNG experience an unpleasant atmosphere and decreased psychological attachment, which in turn, increases the frequency and tendency of employee cynicism. Therefore, the two types of WG can shape different employee attitudes toward the organization.

Studies have identified WG as channels of informal communication (2) for casual or unconstrained social information (12), even if the information is inaccurate or incomplete. Thus, gossip fulfills a social function by creating close bonds and enforcing workplace norms (3). Moreover, Kuo et al. (1) identified WG as a type of social information that conveys social cues to individuals. WG participants receive specific social cues about their discussion targets when they gossip. These social cues influence an individual's attitude, behavior, and needs through construction of meaning with socially acceptable reasoning, which can provide information on salient expectations and logic (13). Cognitive appraisal theory suggested that the personal mental state of emotion is affected by appraising or evaluating received information (7, 14, 15). Following this reasoning, gossipers engaging in WPG are exposed to positive social cues; gossipers who are interpreting, appraising, or evaluating these social cues may positively enhance their mental states of emotion, feelings, attitudes, and behaviors at work. For example, when employees receive positive social cues, they exhibit higher psychological affect and more positive emotions (16), which may increase their positive MH (17). Conversely, WNG participants receive negative social cues of deleterious information that may have adverse psychological effects. That is, gossipers may negatively interpret, appraise, or evaluate these social cues when participating in WNG, which may exacerbate their mental states. Researchers demonstrated that individuals exposed to negative social cues experience higher work strain, stress, and depression (18) and have lower psychological wellbeing (19) in the workplace, and this could negatively affect their MH.

When employees engage in WG, specific social cues affect their MH. However, positive gossip implies more affirming social cues, so employees may receive more positive information that improves their MH. Conversely, WNG delivers deleterious information, resulting in more negative social cues and information that adversely affect MH. Accordingly, the following are proposed in this paper:

Hypothesis 1a: Participating in WPG is positively correlated with gossiper's MH.

Hypothesis 1b: Participating in WNG is negatively correlated with gossiper's MH.

Relationship Between Workplace Gossip and Psychological Capital

PsyCap is defined as a positive psychological state that helps achieve positive organizational behaviors with four dimensions: self-efficacy, hope, optimism, and resilience (5). In the context of cognitive appraisal theory, the social cues of WG may affect the personal positive psychological state of PsyCap by interpreting, appraising, or evaluating the relevant information (15). In addition, PsyCap can also be regarded as a psychological resource (20) that provides a competitive advantage and a subjective sense of well-being (5). Following this logic, WG serves as a kind of social cue that requires psychological resources to interpret, but it also shapes an individual's sense of reality and their perception of the meaning of individuals or organizations (1). Thus, psychological resources are spent to interpret, attribute, and cope with social cues from WG (21). WG is also a way to obtain social information and exchange social resources (22) that individuals use to facilitate personal capabilities in social systems such as workplaces (8). In other words, WG both provides social cues that individuals can leverage to gain social resources from information exchange and simultaneously depletes psychological resources to interpret them. Accordingly, this article proposes that there is a dynamic relationship between WG and PsyCap from the following perspectives.

First, WG affects an employee's self-efficacy and hope. Informal work-related social cues provided by WG represent individual opinions and others' perspectives on work-related information in the organization, serving as reference points and adjusting individuals' self-efficacy (23). Based on cognitive appraisal theory, when personal emotion is evoked by interpreting, appraising, or evaluating the relevant information, an individual will adopt a coping strategy to strengthen or erase the mental states of emotion (7, 14, 15). When gossipers interpreting social cues from idle talk, they engage in the social information process (13), leading them to make social comparisons between themselves and the gossip target (3) and gain or lose personal resources from the social information (24). For example, WPG enhances the reputation of the absent target by highlighting exemplary behaviors or praising persons in the organization. These positive social cues and information may evoke individual positive mental states of emotion (7, 15). To strengthen this positive mental state (14), employees who participate in WPG may regard gossip targets as role models for social learning and hope to mimic them to also reach positive achievements. Therefore, WPG enhances one's desires to improve capabilities and increases their motivation to attain desired outcomes (12). Although WPG participants consume their resources to interpret the social information cues, they also obtain more positive psychological resources of self-efficacy and hope. Thus, participating in WPG positively affects an individual's self-efficacy and hope of PsyCap to achieve positive outcomes.

Conversely, WNG refers to negative evaluation about the absent target's reputation. Kuo et al. (1) posited that work-related WNG can be a sign of an awareness that the WNG target does not reach the expectations of their work tasks assigned by an organization or supervisors. Thus, individuals engaging in such negative chatter imply that the gossip targets are inferior in their capabilities and behaviors when dealing with work-related duties. In other words, these negative evaluations imply that the gossip target needs to improve their capabilities to meet the task or challenge. Based on cognitive appraisal theory, these negative evaluations of a colleague may also evoke the gossiper's negative mental states when they interpreting, appraising, or evaluating the WNG information (7, 14, 15). Specifically, WNG implies that everyone is uncertain how his or her performance would be evaluated by others. Ashford (25) contended that individuals become more cautious and unconfident about how their behaviors or results will be evaluated by others under a high degree of uncertainty. Brady et al. (3) demonstrated that when there is an unknown range of performance evaluation, individuals adopt social comparisons to compare themselves with others when engaging in WNG. Therefore, due to the uncertainties of evaluation from others, a WNG gossiper is not sure if their capabilities are definitely better than the gossip target in the social comparison process. In other words, the WNG gossiper becomes anxious about his or her own capabilities with regard to others' perspectives. Moreover, WNG participants may have less confidence and experience more pressure to identify whether they could better complete the task assigned by their organization or supervisors due to the uncertainty of their performance when delivering others' negative evaluations; otherwise, they may fall victim to negative gossip (1). Therefore, WNG participants may experience more pressure at work and decreased self-efficacy and hope in work-related tasks due to fear of failure. Furthermore, research has demonstrated a strong negative direct effect of WNG on employees' self-efficacy and motivation for success (3, 26). Thus, WNG participants consume their resources to interpret WNG and also experience reduced self-efficacy and hope.

Second, WG may affect employee optimism and resilience. Studies have suggested that employees engage in WG to gain social resources (8). Gossip provides social support by establishing social bonds and trust relationships (22), which may influence individual optimism (27) and resilience (28). Thus, a social resource exchange may exist during WG. From the cognitive appraisal perspective (14), gossipers engaging in WPG may receive positive social information that yields more social support resources in the form of inspiration and energy to reach a positive mental state of emotion (29). Accordingly, individuals with more social support resources have more optimism towar life (30) and more resilience when facing difficulties (31). In contrast, WNG would evoke a individual negative mental state of emotion (15), Turner et al. (32) pointed out that participating in WNG may ruin relationships due to the negative information intended to depreciate others. Moreover, the gossiper may be regarded as a non-credible communicator if the information is rumored (33). Thus, when an individual with poor relationships is regarded as non-credible in the workplace, he or she may be ostracized by other colleagues and receive few social resources or less social support (34), which can ultimately diminish their optimism about work and reduce their resilience following a work setback.

Here we argue that WG may offer positive and negative social information cues for employees to adjust their attitudes and behaviors due to upward and downward comparisons, affecting individuals' self-efficacy and hope for positive outcomes. WG may also provide or block social resources that influence employees' optimism and resilience at work. Thus, this study proposes the following:

Hypothesis 2a: Participating in WPG is positively correlated with gossiper's PsyCap.

Hypothesis 2b: Participating in WNG is negatively correlated with gossiper's PsyCap.

Relationship Between Psychological Capital and Mental Health

Positive psychological resources are the core construct of PsyCap (35), and individuals require these resources to maintain and develop their psychological well-being (36). Studies have identified that individuals with greater PsyCap experience less stress (37), anxiety (38), and depression (39). Moreover, researchers have determined that increases in individuals' PsyCap enhance the perception of well-being and reduce symptoms of mental illness (40). This study followed previous work to verify the relationship between PsyCap and MH and proposed the following:

Hypothesis 3: PsyCap is positively correlated with MH.

Mediating Role of Psychological Capital

Furthermore, this study proposed that WG may affect MH through PsyCap. WG frequently occurs with informal social interactions when people can deliver or exchange social cues for informal social resources (8). Such exchanged informal social resources can result in personal resource spending on interpreting WG social cues (1), but they also confer the resource gains of social information and social support (8). Specifically, gossipers determine the reliability and value of WG from other employees' perspectives, which costs personal social and psychological resources and unscrambles the social cues from their own perspectives. When gossipers interpret WG from their unique perspective, they could acquire social and psychological resources that affect their PsyCap. However, participating in different types of WG would cause different results of the PsyCap dynamic.

WPG enhances gossipers' hope and self-efficacy by motivating them to reach similar achievements as those of the gossip target due to social comparison (3). Furthermore, WPG participants can gain a sense of trust and social support from others because of the positive information transmission (29), thereby enhancing individuals' optimism and resilience. Therefore, participating in WPG would have positive effects on gossiper's PsyCap. In contrast, WNG participation may reduce gossipers' self-efficacy and hope due to exposure of the negative social cues of fear of being negatively evaluated by others (25). In addition, when the negative evaluation of WNG is fake or exaggerated, the gossiper may affect the relationships among gossipers, gossipees, and gossip targets, which could also damage the gossiper's reputation or trustworthiness. Therefore, WNG gossipers may lose social resources and support from others after they speak ill of others, thereby affecting their optimism and resilience. Therefore, PsyCap is affected when individuals' self-efficacy, hope, optimism, and resilience change from participating in WG.

When employees' PsyCap is influenced by WG, it may continue to affect their MH. The conservation of resources theory suggested that individuals could acquire, maintain, and foster psychological resources from WG to prevent future resource depletion (36), implying that PsyCap is a key factor for individuals to maintain and protect their mental well-being from threat or loss (37), burnout (38), and illness (40). Here we further propose that when employee gaining PsyCap from engaging in WPG, there are indirect positive effects on gossipers' MH. In other words, PsyCap from WPG would serve as a positive influence on participants" MH, while participating in WNG would cause gossipers to lose PsyCap and indirectly and negatively affect gossipers' MH. Therefore, besides the direct effect of WG on PsyCap, we expect that WG may have indirect effects on participators' MH through PsyCap.

In summary, we predicted that PsyCap plays a mediator role in the relationship between WG and individuals' MH. Thus, this study proposed the following:

Hypothesis 4a: PsyCap mediates the positive relationship between WPG and MH.

Hypothesis 4b: PsyCap mediates the negative relationship between WNG and MH.

Moderating Effect of Developmental Job Experience

As opposed to organizations' and managers' attempts to minimize the influence of WG on employee (41), this study seeks to use the function of work itself to help employees cope with WG. DJE is a process of self-development in which employees learn, growth, and improve their capabilities through effectively accomplishing their role task or achieving their goals (9). We choose three suitable dimensions identified by McCauley et al. (9) for staff members (rather than top-level leadership) to measure DJE. The first is unfamiliar responsibilities that require an employee to take on different or new roles and tasks and are often assigned when the organization implements a job transition. The second is high-level responsibility for assigned tasks that are highly visible to management and substantially affect high-level stakeholders or the organization. The third is working across boundaries that an employee with little formal authority may be asked to coordinate with other internal peers, departments, and supervisors or individuals external to the organization. Previous studies have reported that DJE has significant effects on individuals' information processing (42). Therefore, we expect that the interaction between WG and DJE would have a moderating effect on PsyCap and MH.

WG is a type of informal information resource with uncertain reliability and validity (1, 8) that might interact with DJE. For instance, employees with relatively high boundaries of DJE have a superior background in interacting with others and processing ambiguous information (42) and are better able to judge WG reliability and accuracy. Furthermore, an employee with a higher unfamiliar responsibilities of DJE has higher comprehensive abilities, interpersonal capabilities, and adaptability (10), which could help that individual to view gossip from a systematic perspective (43). Moreover, employees with significant high-level responsibility of DJE exercises would accomplish their role tasks with this in full consideration. As a result, they would view WG more critically and identify underlying causes and consequences (44) rather than accepting it at face value.

When employees with high DJE participate in positive gossip, they critically think about the reasons for the gossip targets' positive outcomes (42) and learn from their successes. Therefore, they would obtain more self-efficacy, hope, and motivation from WPG if they have high DJE. Such employees thus interpret WPG as a valuable learning resource that provides psychological support to help them acquire higher achievement. However, employees with lower DJE obtain fewer resources to learn from WPG. That is because that lower DJE employees take WPG at face value, they lack sufficient experience to excavate the deeper meaning in WPG about one's achievement. Similarly, when employees with high DJE engage in WNG, they critically think about the underlying causes (42, 43) of mistakes and how to correctly view and treat negative results realized by the gossip target. WNG thus provides more optimism and resilience for those with high DJE, helping them learn from and avoid the negative gossip targets' failures. In other words, employees with high DJE interpret WNG as a warning to avoid making the same mistakes, or they seek resources to overcome the negative results. In contrast, employees with lower DJE lack sensitivity to these negative results as a sign to consider making the same mistake and thus receive few resources for facing the same problems. Moreover, employees with lower DJE may even spend resources to erase the fear of being next negative gossip target if they do not achieve the expected task results. Thus, the following hypothesis is proposed:

Hypothesis 5a: DJE moderates the relationship between WPG and PsyCap such that the effect of WPG on PsyCap is stronger with higher DJE.

Hypothesis 5b: DJE moderates the relationship between WNG and PsyCap such that the effect of WNG on PsyCap is stronger with lower DJE.

Based on the discussion of the relationships among WG, PsyCap, MH, and DJE, the present study predicted that the moderating effect of DJE has far reaching effects on employees' MH through PsyCap, which means that DJE moderates the indirect effect of WG on MH through PsyCap. Thus, this research further proposes a moderated mediation model as follows:

Hypothesis 6a: DJE moderates the relationship between WPG and MH through PsyCap such that the effect of WPG on MH is stronger with higher DJE.

Hypothesis 6b: DJE moderates the relationship between WNG and MH through PsyCap such that the effect of WNG on MH is stronger with lower DJE.

METHODS

Participants and Procedures

Participants were full-time employees working in the same company in the tourism industry in Taiwan. Data were collected with anonymous paper questionnaires with supervisor cooperation at a travel agency in Taiwan. A collection approach of three waves over 3 months was adopted to minimize the single time-point method bias (45). Each participant was assigned a random identity code for their questionnaires. Instructions and return envelopes were also provided to participants. Furthermore, researchers provided an NT\$150 gift voucher to participants who completed all items in the three waves of data collection to increase their motivation. At Time 1, researchers distributed 300 copies of Wave 1 questionnaires and received 262 responses. One month later, researchers sent out Wave 2 questionnaires to participants who had answered questionnaires in Wave 1 and collected 239 responses. A month later, researchers distributed the final wave of questionnaires to participants who had completed Waves 1 and 2. This study collected 222 responses (74.00% response rate). The sample demographics were as follows: 167 women (75.20%) and 55 men (24.80%), mean age of 36.82 (SD = 7.54), the majority held a bachelor's degree (83.80%), the average employee average tenure was 10.24 years (SD = 7.17), 137 were married (61.70%), and 146 participants were staff (65.80%).

Measures

WG (Wave 1)

WG was measured in Wave 1 using a 12-item questionnaire on work-related gossip, with six items for WPG and six for WNG developed by Kuo et al. (1). A sample item for WPG is "Have you recently gossiped about a colleague's excellent job performance?" A sample for WNG is "Have you recently gossiped about a colleague's carelessness and poor work engagement?" All items in this research were scored using six Likert-type response options ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 6 (*strongly agree*).

DJE (Wave 1)

This study assessed DJE with the 20-item Job Challenge Profile (46) in Wave 1. A sample item is "This job asks you to manage something with which you are unfamiliar."

PsyCap (Wave 2)

This study measured PsyCap using the 24-item Psychological Capital Questionnaire (5) in Wave 2. A sample item is "If I find myself in a jam at work, I could think of many ways to get out of it."

MH (Wave 3)

The 12-item version of the General Health Questionnaire Scale (47) was used to assess MH in Wave 3. A sample item is "Have you been able to face your problems?" Furthermore, this study used a scoring system wherein a higher score implying better MH.

Control Variables (Wave 1)

The study controlled for several factors to minimize the effect of demographic variables (gender, age, educational level, job tenure, marital status, and position). We also controlled for job stress, with a single item from the study by Elo et al. (48), as it may be related to PsyCap (49) and MH (50).

RESULTS

Table 1 presents the means, standard deviations, bivariate correlations, and Cronbach's alpha values. The results indicates that WPG was positively correlated with MH (r = 0.15, p < 0.05) and PsyCap (r = 0.24, p < 0.001). PsyCap was significantly positively correlated with MH (r = 0.54, p < 0.001). WNG negatively correlated with MH (r = -0.24, p < 0.001) and

Variables	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1. Gender [†]	0.25	0.43												
2. Age	36.82	7.54	-0.01											
3. Education [†]	2.91	0.39	0.11	-0.17**										
4. Tenure (years)	10.24	7.17	0.02	0.81***	-0.14*									
5. Marital status [†]	0.38	0.49	0.15*	0.32***	-0.01	0.22**								
6. Position [†]	1.44	0.69	0.21**	0.48***	0.03	0.54***	0.24***							
7. Job stress	4.23	1.15	0.04	0.05	-0.09	0.06	-0.04	0.03						
8. WPG	4.52	0.68	0.12	0.00	0.08	0.04	-0.02	0.16*	-0.05	(0.70)				
9. WNG	3.28	1.01	-0.09	0.09	-0.09	0.13	-0.01	0.10	-0.02	0.41***	(0.83)			
10. PsyCap	4.45	0.46	0.18**	0.12	-0.03	0.16*	0.19**	0.18**	0.05	0.24***	-0.18**	(0.90)		
11. MH	4.28	0.58	0.12	0.06	0.09	0.04	0.14*	0.16**	-0.29***	0.15*	-0.23***	0.54***	(0.83)	
12. DJE	3.88	0.55	0.17*	0.05	-0.01	0.11	0.02	0.18**	0.14*	0.35***	0.16**	0.24***	-0.09	(0.78)

Cronbach's alpha, α is presented in the diagonal

[†]Gender (0, female; 1, male); Education [1, junior high school or below; 2, (vocational) senior high school; 3, bachelor's degree; and 4, master or above]; Marital status (0, single; 1, married); Position (1, staff; 2, junior manager; 3, mid-level manager; and 4, senior manager).

 $^{*}p < 0.05, \,^{**}p < 0.01, \,and \,^{***}p < 0.001.$

TABLE 2 | Results of confirmatory factor analyses of the measures (N = 222).

Model	Factors	χ ²	df	$\Delta \chi^2/df$	CFI	IFI	RMSEA
Hypothetical model	5 factors	274.43	109		0.90	0.91	0.08
Model 1	4 factors	323.16	113	12.18	0.88	0.88	0.09
Model 2	3 factors	567.24	116	41.83	0.73	0.74	0.13
Model 3	2 factors	692.25	118	46.42	0.66	0.67	0.15
Model 4	1 factor	1,216.07	119	121.61	0.35	0.37	0.20

Hypothetical model (5 factors: workplace positive gossip; workplace negative gossip; psychological capital; mental health; developmental job experience).

Model 1 (4 factors: workplace positive gossip and workplace negative gossip merged; psychological capital; mental health; developmental job experience).

Model 2 (3 factors: workplace positive gossip, workplace negative gossip and developmental job experience merged; psychological capital; mental health).

Model 3 (2 factors: workplace positive gossip, workplace negative gossip and developmental job experience merged; psychological capital and mental health merged).

Model 4 (1 factor: all variables are merged into one factor).

PsyCap (r = -0.18, p < 0.01). The correlation coefficient results initially support H1, H2, and H3.

Model Analyses

The study used confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) in AMOS 21 software with parceling rules (51) to test the fit of the hypothesized model. The overall CFA results indicated that the hypothetical five-factor model demonstrated a good fit with the data [$\chi^2 = 274.43$, comparative fit index (CFI) = 0.90, incremental fit index (IFI) = 0.91 root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) = 0.08]. This study also tested four other alternative-factor models. Other models' goodness-of-fit statistical results indicated that the hypothetical five-factor model had a better fit for data (**Table 2**). In sum, model comparison results suggested that the hypothetical constructs were a good fit for statistical significance.

Hypothesis Testing

PROCESS macro software (52) is used to analyze complicated research models. In this study, we used three existing model syntaxes of constructions (mediation, moderation, and moderated) in the PROCESS macros to perform hypothesis testing.

Hypotheses 1a and 1b stated that WG would correlate with MH. The results of simple linear regression test in PROCESS macro software are presented in **Table 3**. The study controlled for demographic variables and job stress. WPG positively correlated with MH ($\beta = 0.21$, p < 0.001), and WNG negatively correlated with MH ($\beta = -0.20$, p < 0.001), which supported Hypotheses 1a and 1b. Similarly, Hypotheses 2a and 2b were also supported by positively correlated ($\beta = 0.25$, p < 0.001) and WNG and PsyCap were negatively correlated ($\beta = -0.16$, p < 0.001) As shown in **Table 3**, the findings also supported Hypothesis 3, which proposed that PsyCap has a positive relationship with MH. When this study regressed PsyCap and MH ($\beta = 0.69$, p < 0.001).

This study further used mediation testing in PROCESS macro software to test the mediating effect of Hypotheses 4a and 4b, and the results illustrated that PsyCap mediates the relationship between WG and MH. As mentioned previously, WG, PsyCap, and MH were positively (WPG) and negatively (WNG) correlated. Therefore, we regressed WPG on MH while controlling for PsyCap. The results revealed that the standardized coefficient was significantly lower ($\beta = 0.06, p > 0.05$). Moreover, the standardized coefficient significantly decreased for WNG

TABLE 3 | Regression results for simple mediation (N = 222).

Variables			В	SE	t	р
Direct and total	effects					
$WPG \rightarrow MH$			0.21	0.06	3.68	0.000
$WNG \rightarrow MH$			-0.20	0.04	-5.09	0.000
WPG → PsyCa	p		0.25	0.05	5.33	0.000
WNG \rightarrow PsyCa	р		-0.16	0.03	-5.08	0.000
$PsyCap \to MH$			0.69	0.07	9.98	0.000
$PsyCap \to MH$	(controlling for WPG and W	NG)	0.62	0.07	8.46	0.000
WPG \rightarrow MH (co	ntrolling for PsyCap)		0.06	0.05	1.09	0.28
WNG \rightarrow MH (cc	ontrolling for PsyCap)		-0.10	0.04	-2.76	0.006
	Value	SE	LL 95% CI		UL 95% CI	
Indirect effect a	nd significance of WPG of	on MH				
Bootstrap	0.15	0.04	0.09		0.24	
Indirect effect a	nd significance of WNG of	on MH				
Bootstrap	-0.10	0.02	-0.15		-0.06	

Standardized regression coefficients are reported. Bootstrap sample size = 50,000.

LL, lower limit; Cl, confidence interval; UL, upper limit.

 $(\beta = -0.10, p < 0.01)$. The aforementioned evidence initially supported that PsyCap had a mediating effect on the relationship between WG and MH. We also estimated indirect effects using a bootstrap approach with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). The results in **Table 3** indicate that PsyCap mediated the relationship between WG and MH ($\beta = 0.15$ for WPG, $\beta = -0.10$ for WNG). Ultimately, the results of bootstrap testing revealed that the 95% CIs did not contain zero for WPG (0.09, 0.24) or WNG (-0.15, -0.06) analyses. Overall, Hypotheses 4a and 4b were supported.

Hypotheses 5a and 5b proposed that DJE moderates the relationship between WG and PsyCap. Table 4 presents the results of a simple moderating effect using the moderation test in the PROCESS macro software. The interaction of DJE and WG was statistically significant for both WPG ($\beta = 0.23, p < 0.001$) and WNG ($\beta = 0.14$, p < 0.01). The 95% CIs showed that neither WPG \times DJE (0.12, 0.36) nor WNG \times DJE (0.05, 0.24) contained zero. Furthermore, this study examined conditional effects by dividing DJE into three groups at the mean and one standard deviation above and below the mean to represent low-, medium-, and high-level moderators. The results of the conditional effects of each group on DJE (Table 4) show that the effect of WPG on PsyCap was positively statistically significant at the high level (β = 0.33, p < 0.001) but not at the low level ($\beta = 0.08, p > 0.05$). The moderated effect of WNG on PsyCap was significant at the low level ($\beta = -0.23$, p < 0.001) but not at the high level ($\beta =$ -0.07, p > 0.05). Figures 1, 2 present the moderating effects of DJE on the relationship between WG and PsyCap. Hypotheses 5a and 5b were supported by our findings.

Hypotheses 6a and 6b stated that DJE moderates the mediated relationship between WG and MH through PsyCap. Hypotheses 6a and 6b were examined using the moderated mediation model test in the PROCESS software, which assessed the conditional indirect effect of DJE at different levels. **Table 4** presents the moderated mediation results for MH. The results indicated that the index of conditional indirect effects of moderated mediation ($\beta = 0.15$ for WPG, $\beta = 0.10$ for WNG) were significant in WPG (0.06, 0.27) and WNG (0.03, 0.18), as they did not contain zero at the 95% CI level. We also tested the moderated mediation effect at all levels of means in two types of WG (**Table 4**). As for WPG, the moderated mediation effect was significant at a high level ($\beta = 0.22$) for the 95% CIs (0.14, 0.33); WNG was significant at a low level ($\beta = -0.16$), with 95% CIs not containing zero (-0.23, -0.11). Hence, Hypothesis 6a and 6b were supported.

DISCUSSION

This study was designed to explore the effect of WG on participators' MH by assessing PsyCap as the underlying mediated mechanism and investigated the moderating effect of DJE. This study conducted three waves of data collection with 222 full-time employees from a Taiwanese tourism company who were invited to participate. The results revealed that WPG and WNG positively and negatively affected participators' MH, respectively. The two relationships were differentially mediated by PsyCap. Furthermore, employees with higher DJE exhibited greater capacity to positively interpret WPG and cope with WNG, which ultimately affected individual's PsyCap and had indirect effects on individual's MH. Therefore, DJE played a moderating role among WG, PsyCap, and MH.

Theoretical Implications

The study makes four contributions to the literature on WG. First, this study determined that WG would affect individuals' psychological health, which have rarely been investigated. Moreover, we observed that WPG enhances MH, whereas WNG has a negative impact. The results also showed that both types of

Values of moderators in Simple moderated effect	Conditional effect	SE	Boot LL 95% CI	Boot UL 95% CI	р
DJE × WPG	0.23	0.06	0.12	0.36	0.000
-1 SD (3.33)	0.08	0.06	-0.04	0.20	0.19
M (3.88)	0.20	0.05	0.12	0.30	0.000
+1 SD (4.42)	0.33	0.06	0.23	0.45	0.000
$DJE \times WNG$	0.14	0.05	0.05	0.24	0.003
-1 SD (3.33)	-0.23	0.04	-0.32	-0.16	0.000
M (3.88)	-0.15	0.03	-0.22	-0.09	0.000
+1 SD (4.42)	-0.07	0.04	-0.16	0.02	0.088
Moderated mediation results for MH (WPG)					
Values of moderators in Moderated mediation effect	Conditional indirect effect	SE	Boot LL 95% CI	Boot UL 95% CI	
-1 SD (3.33)	0.06	0.48	-0.04	0.15	
M (3.88)	0.14	0.04	0.07	0.22	
+1 SD (4.42)	0.22	0.05	0.14	0.33	
Index of moderated mediation	Index	SE	Boot LL 95% CI	Boot UL 95% CI	
DJE (WPG)	0.15	0.05	0.06	0.27	
Moderated mediation results for MH (WNG)					
-1 SD (3.33)	-0.16	0.03	-0.23	-0.11	
M (3.88)	-0.10	0.02	-0.15	-0.07	
+1 SD (4.42)	-0.05	0.03	-0.11	0.01	
Index of moderated mediation	Index	SE	Boot LL 95% CI	Boot UL 95% CI	
DJE (WNG)	0.10	0.04	0.03	0.18	

Standardized regression coefficients are reported. Bootstrap sample size = 50,000.

LL, lower limit; CI, confidence interval; UL, upper limit.



WG should be assessed (2, 3), and although WPG is a deviant behavior, it has potential for serving a social function at work.

Second, the present study proposed an alternative psychological mechanism of PsyCap to explain the underlying effects of WG on participators' MH. Although previous studies have described possible mechanisms from cognitive, affective, emotional, or psychological perspectives (4), few studies have conceived of WG as a personal resource that may affect individual MH from a psychological resources perspective. The findings suggested that individuals engaging in different types of WG may cause different dynamic changes in PsyCap based on their interpretation of WG social cues (1), which might differentially affect gossipers' MH. Furthermore, our results suggest that engaging in WG can be a channel for individuals



to exchange personal resources, and further explained how and why WG can be interpreted as a psychological resource to affect gossiper's MH through PsyCap.

Third, this study identified the boundary conditions for the effect of WG on participators' MH. The results highlight an important moderator of both WPG and WNG. Our findings of moderated effects reaffirm prior studies demonstrating that employees with high DJE tend to have a more sensitive and systematic approach to social cue interpretation (9, 10). Specifically, our results showed that the direct effects of WPG on PsyCap and indirect effects of WPG or MH through PsyCap would be strengthened for employees with high DJE. Moreover, an employee with significant DJE would attenuate the negative effects of WNG on PsyCap or MH through PsyCap, which means that high DJE would provide a coping mechanism for them to mitigate the negative effects of WNG engagement. Thus, this study identified that DJE could interact with individuals' social information processing (13) and demonstrated the individual differences of DJE during social cue interpretation (42). In summary, this study identified a valuable boundary condition in the relationships among WG, PsyCap, and MH.

Practical Implications

In practical terms, WG frequently occurs in daily conversations (19), so it is important for employees, managers, and organizations to realize its meaning in organizational settings (1). The findings of the present study suggest the following implications.

Firstly, as indicated in previous studies, WG cannot be viewed only as deviant behavior but as one that offers the positive functions of enhancing information exchange in organizations, facilitating friendships, or providing entertainment (2, 11). Specifically, WPG participation positively correlates to participators' PsyCap and MH (through PsyCap), whereas engaging in WNG is negatively related to gossipers 'PsyCap and MH (through PsyCap). Thus, the first intervention for managers is to guide employees to talk about more positive gossip when they engage in idle talk behaviors. For example, managers can encourage employees to discuss others' positive evaluations during break times or post bulletin board notices in the break room. Moreover, managers could also offer public praise for outstanding employee performance (53), which could provide a topic for informal chats. However, our results do not indicate that managers should intentionally create opportunities for positive gossip to improve employees' MH. While managers cannot completely prevent WNG (21, 26, 29), they can minimize its occurrence (41). Liu et al. (21) suggested that organizations can establish a zero-tolerance organizational culture or issue rules and norms for WNG. Moreover, managers can educate employees (19) about why and how negative gossip can diminish PsyCap and exacerbate MH issues.

Secondly, this research revealed the moderating effect of DJE, which can help individuals intensify the positive effects of WPG and cope with the negative effects of WNG. As for interventions, managers can assign extra challenge tasks or implement job transitions that help employees develop new skills (46). Managers could also assign employees a highly interactive recurrent task in cooperation with peers, supervisors, and colleagues in other departments or provide task opportunities to deal with government officials or suppliers. By meeting these challenges, employees could enhance their DJE. Organizations could also communicate the meaning of DJE by encouraging employees to voluntarily accept challenging tasks (10).

Limitations and Future Directions

This study also has limitations. First, due to convenience sampling, this study only tested one specific industry. Hence, this study did not test the effects of industry differences on hypotheses. The service industry, like the tourism industry, provides more opportunities for employees to interact at work or interact with suppliers, customers, or other companies outside the organization than the manufacturing industry (54). Therefore, the tourism industry may have a higher frequency of WG and higher perception and sense of DJE than manufacturing. In the future, researchers could investigate industry differences in WG and DJE to provide holistic and robust perspectives.

Second, we considered gossiper's PsyCap but neglected to control for other relevant contextual variables such as other job resources and job demands (8, 21). Furthermore, we may have overlooked the effects of some personality dispositions (1), a consideration that may have yielded stronger evidence for the predictive power of gossip. Future work should consider controlling for these variables to yield more robust results regarding the effects of WG on employees.

Third, this study only stressed the importance of the moderated effect of DJE, indicating its different functions when coping with the two types of WG. Future investigations can examine more boundary conditions or other multilevel perspectives to clarify other moderating effects of WG on employee attitudes and behaviors.

Forth, this research model only tested the individuallevel model. Others have indicated that cross- or multilevel approaches of WG are alternative perspectives for investigating organizational phenomena (1) and suggested that WG can create a social context for employees. Thus, future study can collect and analyze WG from a multilevel perspective to explore the organizational effect on employees' outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Kuo C-C, Chang K, Kuo T-K, Cheng S. Workplace gossip and employee cynicism: the moderating role of dispositional envy. *Chin J Psychol.* (2019) 62:537–52. doi: 10.6129/CJP.202012_62(4)0.0005
- 2. Kuo C-C, Lu C-Y, Kuo T-K. The impact of workplace gossip on organizational cynicism: insights from the employment relationship perspective. In: *International Conference on Cross-Cultural Design* (Berlin), (2013).
- Brady DL, Brown DJ, Liang LH. Moving beyond assumptions of deviance: the reconceptualization and measurement of workplace gossip. J Appl Psychol. (2017) 102:1–25. doi: 10.1037/apl0000164
- Taylor SE. Asymmetrical effects of positive and negative events: the mobilization-minimization hypothesis. *Psychol Bull.* (1991) 110:67–85. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.110.1.67
- 5. Luthans F, Youssef CM, Avolio BJ. *Psychological Capital: Developing the Human Competitive Edge*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2007).
- Wu X, Kwan HK, Wu L-Z, Ma J. The effect of workplace negative gossip on employee proactive behavior in China: the moderating role of traditionality. J Busin Ethics. (2018) 148:801–15. doi: 10.1007/s10551-015-3006-5
- Smith CA, Ellsworth PC. Patterns of cognitive appraisal in emotion. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1985) 48:813–38. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.48.4.813
- Martinescu E, Janssen O, Nijstad BA. Gossip as a resource: how and why power relationships shape gossip behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. (2019) 153:89–102. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.05.006
- McCauley CD, Ruderman MN, Ohlott PJ, Morrow JE. Assessing the developmental components of managerial jobs. J Appl Psychol. (1994) 79:544– 60. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.79.4.544
- Dong Y, Seo M-G, Bartol KM. No pain, no gain: an affect-based model of developmental job experience and the buffering effects of emotional intelligence. *Acad Manag J.* (2014) 57:1056–77. doi: 10.5465/amj.2011.0687

CONCLUSION

This study indicated the effects two types of WG on participators' MH and highlighted the mechanism of the psychological process. WPG (WNG) can be a positive (negative) trigger to enhance (reduce) employee psychological resources. Furthermore, these results revealed a moderating effect on employees with high DJE who have better capabilities to absorb the positive energy of WPG and cope with WNG.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SC, C-CK, and VK contributed to conception and design of the study. H-CC organized the database. SC and M-CL performed the statistical analysis. SC wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors revamped sections of the manuscript and contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The work was funded by Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan 108-2410-H-004-090.

- Foster EK. Research on gossip: taxonomy, methods, future directions. *Rev Gen Psychol.* (2004) 8:78–99. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.8.2.78
- Kurland NB, Pelled LH. Passing the word: toward a model of gossip and power in the workplace. *Acad Manag Rev.* (2000) 25:428–38. doi: 10.2307/259023
- Salancik GR, Pfeffer J. A social information processing approach to job attitudes and task design. *Adminis Sci Q.* (1978) 23:224– 53. doi: 10.2307/2392563
- 14. Lazarus RS. *Emotion and Adaptation*. New York: Oxford University Press (1991).
- Roseman IJ. Cognitive determinants of emotion: a structural theory. *Rev Pers Soc Psychol.* (1984) 5:11–36.
- Walter F, Bruch H. The positive group affect spiral: a dynamic model of the emergence of positive affective similarity in work groups. J Organ Behav. (2008) 29:239–61. doi: 10.1002/job.505
- Llorens S, Schaufeli W, Bakker A, Salanova M. Does a positive gain spiral of resources, efficacy beliefs and engagement exist? *Comput Hum Behav.* (2007) 23:825–41. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2004.11.012
- Darr W, Johns G. Work strain, health, and absenteeism: a meta-analysis. J Occup Health Psychol. (2008) 13:293–318. doi: 10.1037/a0012639
- Tan N, Yam KC, Zhang P, Brown DJ. Are you gossiping about me? The costs and benefits of high workplace gossip prevalence. J Busin Psychol. (2020) 36:1–18. doi: 10.1007/s10869-020-09683-7
- Fischer AS, Ellwood-Lowe ME, Colich NL, Cichocki A, Ho TC, Gotlib IH. Reward-circuit biomarkers of risk and resilience in adolescent depression. J Affect Disord. (2019) 246:902–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.104
- Liu X-Y, Kwan HK, Zhang X. Introverts maintain creativity: a resource depletion model of negative workplace gossip. *Asia Pac J Manag.* (2020) 37:325–44. doi: 10.1007/s10490-018-9595-7
- 22. Rosnow RL. "Rumor and gossip in interpersonal interaction and beyond: a social exchange perspective," in *Behaving Badly: Aversive Behaviors in*

Interpersonal Relationships, ed. Kowalski, R.M. (American Psychological Association) (2001), p. 203-32.

- Korman AK. Toward an hypothesis of work behavior. J Appl Psychol. (1970) 54:31–41. doi: 10.1037/h0028656
- 24. Miller NE, Dollard J. Social Learning and Imitation. New Haven: Yale University Press (1941).
- 25. Ashford SJ. Feedback-seeking in individual adaptation: a resource perspective. Acad Manag J. (1986) 29:465–87. doi: 10.5465/256219
- Zhou A, Liu Y, Su X, Xu H. Gossip fiercer than a tiger: effect of workplace negative gossip on targeted employees' innovative behavior. Soc Behav Pers Int J. (2019) 47:1–11. doi: 10.2224/sbp.5727
- 27. Karademas EC. Self-efficacy, social support and well-being: the mediating role of optimism. *Pers Individ Differ.* (2006) 40:1281–90. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.10.019
- Dumont M, Provost MA. Resilience in adolescents: protective role of social support, coping strategies, self-esteem, and social activities on experience of stress and depression. J Youth Adolesc. (1999) 28:343–63.
- Ellwardt L, Labianca GJ, Wittek R. Who are the objects of positive and negative gossip at work? A social network perspective on workplace gossip. *Soc Netw.* (2012) 34:193–205. doi: 10.1016/j.socnet.2011.11.003
- Symister P, Friend R. The influence of social support and problematic support on optimism and depression in chronic illness: a prospective study evaluating self-esteem as a mediator. *Health Psychol.* (2003) 22:123– 9. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.22.2.123
- Ozbay F, Johnson DC, Dimoulas E, Morgan CA III, Charney D, Southwick S. Social support and resilience to stress: from neurobiology to clinical practice. *Psychiatry (Edgmont)*. (2007) 4:35–40.
- Turner MM, Mazur MA, Wendel N, Winslow R. Relational ruin or social glue? The joint effect of relationship type and gossip valence on liking, trust, and expertise. *Commun Monogr.* (2003) 70:129–41. doi: 10.1080/0363775032000133782
- 33. Rysman A. How the "gossip" became a woman. J Commun. (1977).
- Zhang X, Dai L. The relationship between neuroticism and experience of workplace ostracism in new employees. Open J Soc Sci. (2015) 3:80– 7. doi: 10.4236/jss.2015.32011
- Luthans F, Luthans KW, Luthans BC. Positive psychological capital: beyond human and social capital. *Business Horizon*. (2004) 47:45– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2003.11.007
- 36. Hobfoll SE. Conservation of Resources Theory: Its Implication for Stress, Health, and Resilience. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2011).
- Avey JB, Luthans F, Jensen SM. Psychological capital: a positive resource for combating employee stress and turnover. *Hum Resour Manag.* (2009) 48:677–93. doi: 10.1002/hrm.20294
- Demir S. The relationship between psychological capital and stress, anxiety, burnout, job satisfaction, job involvement. *Eurasian J Educ Res.* (2018) 75:137–53. doi: 10.14689/ejer.2018.75.8
- Rahimnia F, Mazidi A, Mohammadzadeh Z. Emotional mediators of psychological capital on well-being: the role of stress, anxiety, and depression. *Manag Sci Lett.* (2013) 3:913–26. doi: 10.5267/j.msl.2013.01.029
- 40. Finch J, Farrell LJ, Waters AM. Searching for the HERO in Youth: does Psychological Capital (PsyCap) Predict Mental Health Symptoms and Subjective Wellbeing in Australian School-Aged Children and Adolescents? *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2020) 51:1025–36. doi: 10.1007/s10578-020-01023-3
- 41. Danziger E. (1988) Minimize Office Gossip. ACC Communications INC.
- DeRue DS, Wellman N. Developing leaders via experience: the role of developmental challenge, learning orientation, feedback availability. J Appl Psychol. (2009) 94:859–75. doi: 10.1037/a0015317

- Mumford MD, Zaccaro SJ, Harding FD, Jacobs TO, Fleishman EA. Leadership skills for a changing world: solving complex social problems. *Leadersh Q*. (2000) 11:11–35. doi: 10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00041-7
- Jacobs TO, Jaques E. Leadership in complex systems. *Hum Prod Enhancement*. (1987) 2:7–65.
- Podsakoff PM, MacKenzie SB, Lee J-Y, Podsakoff NP. Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. J Appl Psychol. (2003) 88:879–903. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010. 88:5.879
- McCauley CD, Ohlott P, Ruderman M. Job Challenge Profile: Facilitator's Guide and Participant's Workbook. Greensboro, NC: Center for Creative Leadership (1999).
- Goldberg DP, Hillier VF. A scaled version of the General Health Questionnaire. *Psychol Med.* (1979) 9:139–45.
- Elo AL, Leppänen A, Jahkola A. Validity of a single-item Measure of Stress Symptoms. Scand J Work Environ Health. (2010) 29:444– 51. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.752
- 49. Li X, Kan D, Liu L, Shi M, Wang Y, Yang X, et al. The mediating role of psychological capital on the association between occupational stress and job burnout among bank employees in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health. (2015) 12:2984–3001. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1203 02984
- Cooper CL, Sutherland VJ. Job stress, mental health, and accidents among offshore workers in the oil and gas extraction industries. *J Occup Environ Med.* (1987) 29:119–25.
- Marsh HW, Lüdtke O, Nagengast B, Morin AJ, Von Davier M. Why item parcels are (almost) never appropriate: Two wrongs do not make a right— Camouflaging misspecification with item parcels in CFA models. *Psychol Methods*. (2013) 18:257. doi: 10.1037/a0032773
- Hayes AF. Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. New York: Guilford publications. (2017).
- Handgraaf MJ, de Jeude MAVL, Appelt KC. Public praise vs. private pay: effects of rewards on energy conservation in the workplace. *Ecol Econ.* (2013) 86:86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.11.008
- Ahmad S, Schroeder RG. The impact of human resource management practices on operational performance: recognizing country and industry differences. J Oper Manag. (2003) 21:19– 43. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6963(02)00056-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Cheng, Kuo, Chen, Lin and Kuo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.


Do Differences in Drinking Attitudes and Alcohol-Related Problems Explain Differences in Sick Leave? A Multilevel Analysis of 95 Work Units Within 14 Companies From the WIRUS Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sheikh Alif, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Siti Munira Yasin, MARA University of Technology, Malaysia Nuhu Amin, University of Technology Sydney, Australia

*Correspondence:

Neda S. Hashemi neda.hashemi@uis.no Randi Wågø Aas randi.aas@uis.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Occupational Health and Safety, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 18 November 2021 Accepted: 10 May 2022 Published: 31 May 2022

Citation:

Hashemi NS, Dalen I, Skogen JC, Sagvaag H, Gimeno Ruiz de Porras D and Aas RW (2022) Do Differences in Drinking Attitudes and Alcohol-Related Problems Explain Differences in Sick Leave? A Multilevel Analysis of 95 Work Units Within 14 Companies From the WIRUS Study. Front. Public Health 10:817726. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.817726 Neda S. Hashemi^{1*}, Ingvild Dalen^{2,3}, Jens Christoffer Skogen^{1,4,5}, Hildegunn Sagvaag¹, David Gimeno Ruiz de Porras^{6,7,8} and Randi Wågø Aas^{1,9*}

¹ Department of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Stavanger, Stavanger, Norway, ² Department of Research, Section of Biostatistics, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway, ³ Department of Quality and Health Technology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Stavanger, Stavanger, Norway, ⁴ Department of Health Promotion, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Bergen, Norway, ⁵ Alcohol and Drug Research Western Norway, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway, ⁶ Southwest Center for Occupational and Environmental Health, Department of Epidemiology, Human Genetics, and Environmental Sciences, School of Public Health in San Antonio, The University of Texas Health Science at Houston, San Antonio, TX, United States, ⁷ Center for Research in Occupational Health (CiSAL), Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain, ⁸ Consortium for Biomedical Research in Epidemiology and Public Health (CIBER en Epidemiología y Salud Pública-CIBERESP), Barcelona, Spain, ⁹ Department of Occupational Therapy, Prosthetics and Orthotics, Faculty of Health Sciences, OsloMet – Oslo Metropolitan University, Oslo, Norway

Background: Systematic reviews have shown a strong relationship between alcohol consumption and sick leave. The effect of alcohol consumption on sick leave may, however, vary according to the work environment. While attitudes toward drinking may impact sick leave, there is little research on the contribution of drinking attitudes to sick leave. Moreover, alcohol-related problems and drinking attitudes may be influenced by the broader sociocultural contexts of the organizational units where people work.

Objectives: This study aimed to explore the relationship of alcohol-related problems and drinking attitudes with sick leave while considering the nesting of employees within working units within companies.

Method: Data from the WIRUS (Workplace Interventions preventing Risky alcohol Use and Sick leave) study were linked to company-registered sick leave data for 2,560 employees from 95 different work units in public (n = 9) and private companies (n = 5) in Norway. Three-level (employee, work unit, and company) negative binomial regression models were estimated to explore the 12-month prospective association of alcohol-related problems and drinking attitudes with four measures of sick leave (one-day, short-term, long-term, and overall sick leave days). Models were adjusted for gender, age, cohabitation status, educational attainment, work position, and employment sector.

Results: We observed higher variation of one-day, short-term, and overall sick leave days between companies than between work units within companies (15, 12, and 30% vs. 0, 5, and 8%, respectively). However, neither alcohol-related problems nor drinking attitudes were associated with sick leave and, thus, those variations in sick leave were not explained by alcohol-related problems or drinking attitudes.

Conclusion: Our findings suggest company-level differences are more important than within company differences when explaining differences in sick leave. While alcohol-related problems or drinking attitudes were not associated with sick leave, future studies may need to explore the role of company policies, practices, or social norms in variations in sick leave rates.

Keywords: alcohol consumption, workforce, public health, attitudes, absenteeism, presenteeism

INTRODUCTION

Health-related leaves have been linked to lifestyle behaviors, with alcohol consumption playing a major role (1-6). Risky alcohol use [i.e., a drinking pattern that raises the likelihood of medical, social, occupational, and economic problems (7)] increases the risk of long-standing illnesses and injuries (8-10) as well as mortality. For instance, in Europe, about 800 daily deaths are attributable to alcohol use and abuse (11). Alcohol consumption is not equal across Europe and, for instance, in 2018, one to three out of ten Norwegian employees were found to be characterized as risky drinkers (12). Norway's alcohol consumption (7.5 liters per capita in 2017) is higher than the average worldwide consumption of 6.4 liters per capita per year (13). Recent studies from Norway on alcohol and work impairment have found that alcohol consumption diminishes work performance (i.e., presentism) (3, 14). Risky alcohol use also can increase the risk of work-related injuries (15) and sick leave (16-18). One study on Norwegian employees found an increase of 13% in sick leave when the total alcohol consumption increased by one liter (19). Moreover, an Australian study reported that employees with monthly risky drinking patterns are about 8.7 times more likely to report alcohol-related sick leave than employees with low-risk drinking patterns (20).

The impact of alcohol consumption on sick leave could result in one or just a few days of absence due to alcohol intoxication and hangovers. For instance, employees are more likely to take a sick leave after consuming alcohol the previous night (21-23). The impact can also be related to longterm sick leave due to negative health and social effects of alcohol consumption over time (24, 25). However, the evidence on the relationship between alcohol consumption and sick leave is mixed. Several studies have found sick leave to be more likely to occur among individuals with alcohol-related problems (6, 19, 26-36), others report U-shaped associations (2, 24, 37, 38), and others have found no association (39-42) or negative associations (43), so that sick leave would be less common among those with higher levels of alcohol consumption. Some of the disparity in findings may be due to methodological differences in the operationalization of alcohol consumption and sick leave, or in the adjustment for confounders.

Sick leave imposes practical as well as financial burdens for individuals, businesses, and societies (5, 44, 45). Employees may face layoff consequences. Businesses may be forced to reschedule or reassign work duties to other existing employees or may need to recruiting temporary workers to mitigate the effect of a missing worker. The welfare system may need to absorb the cost of the leave (46-48). Sick leave, both in terms of spells and their duration, may be affected by a wide range of factors, including individual characteristics (e.g., age, gender), health conditions, working conditions, or the organization of work (49-51). Further, workers' decisions about their illness behavior may be affected by the ability to attend due to poor health but also by organizational values (52, 53). The workplace provides a significant cultural and social context in which, through social interaction processes, workers share and acquire knowledge regarding the expected behaviors and attitudes for effective participation in a work setting (54, 55). The interactions between characteristics of individuals and characteristics of working groups matter (56-58). Workgroup norms and attitudes toward drinking are found to be strong predictors of drinking behaviors (59-61) and work impairment (62). Moreover, workgroup norms concerning work attendance are suggested to be significant predictors of sick leave (63-65). Given this evidence, it is surprising that the majority of the prior research has focused mainly on the role of individual determinants. To fully understand the relationship between alcohol behavior and sick leave, it is important to assess the potential determinants at the individual (e.g., sociodemographic, drinking behaviors) and group levels (e.g., social norms and attitudes toward drinking). In addition, sick leave may also vary by business given differences in workplace's policies and practices regarding accruing and use of sick leave. Thus, there is a need to consider individual, group, and employer-level differences when studying the relationship between alcohol and sick leave.

Moreover, differences in sick leave also exist by country. These differences are related to variation in the definition of sick leave, culturally determined behaviors, and sick leave benefits schemes, which makes international comparisons challenging (66, 67).

Alcohol-Related Individual Differences and Sick Leave

Even between Scandinavian countries, known by their similar approach to the welfare state (68), there are also differences, with Norway showing the highest rate of sick leave (46) before the COVID-19 pandemic started. During the COVID-19 pandemic, Norway still had the highest sick leave rate in the European Union (5.7%) (69, 70). Further, binge drinking is also frequent in Norway, which is a risk factor for short- and long-term health issues and social problems (11). The most recent study in Norway estimated that alcohol-related absence constitutes about 1% of the total sick leave and about 3% of short-term sick leave (71). However, no recent research has explored the relationship between drinking attitudes and sick leave in Norway.

Therefore, given the gaps identified in the literature, this study aimed to explore the relationship of alcohol-related problems and drinking attitudes with sick leave, while considering the nesting of employees within working units within companies in Norway.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design

This study is part of the Norwegian national WIRUS (Workplace Intervention preventing Risky Use of Alcohol and Sick leave) project and was designed as a cohort study on a sample of employees in 14 companies in Norway. More details and other results from the WIRUS project are published elsewhere (3, 12, 14, 59, 72–80).

Sample and Data Collection

Employees (blue, white, or pink-collar worker, or manager, i.e., a salaried worker) from 95 different work units were recruited from nine public and five private companies in Norway. These companies were categorized in accordance to the European Classification of Economic Activities (81), including: transportation and storage (n = 1), manufacturing (n = 3), public administration (n = 5), health care service (n = 3), accommodation (n = 1), and education (n = 1). The average work unit size had 27 employees (min. 10, max. 50).

A total of 17,855 employees from 19 companies were invited to participate in a web-based survey via their employerprovided e-mail addresses. Altogether, 5,076 employees accepted to complete the survey (28.5% response rate). WIRUS screening data regarding the included companies were collected from June 15, 2015 to 14 December, 2017. In 2020, company-registered sick leave data was collected for the 12-month follow-up period after each individual's baseline WIRUS screening (i.e., 2016 to 2018). Given delays due to the COVID-19 situation, data from five of the companies (n = 1,794 employees) was not available and, thus, these employees were excluded from the study. Further, after excluding participants without valid information on the key variables (e.g., alcohol-related problems, drinking attitudes, and sick leave), the final sample included 2,560 employees (50.4%) from 14 companies. Characteristics of the study sample are shown in Table 1.

The final sample was predominantly female (n = 1,685; 65.8%), with more than two-thirds aged 40 or older, 14% reporting living alone, three out of four having completed university/college education, and approximately two out of

TABLE 1 | Study sample characteristics (N = 2,560).

Characteristics	Study sample n (%)
Gender	
Male	875 (34.2)
Female	1,685 (65.8)
Age	
≤39	780 (30.5)
≥40	1,780 (69.5)
Cohabitation status	
Living alone	357 (14.0)
Living with others	2,203 (86.0)
Educational attainment	
Primary/lower secondary	66 (2.6)
Upper secondary	568 (22.2)
University/college	1,926 (75.2)
Work position	
Worker ^a	2,062 (80.5)
Middle manager/senior executive	498 (19.5)
Branches	
Transport	62 (2.4)
Manufacturing	184 (7.2)
Public administration	1,647 (64.3)
Health care services	528 (20.6)
Accommodation	26 (1.0)
Education	113 (4.5)
Employment sector	
Private	275 (10.7)
Public	2,285 (89.3)

^a Including blue, white- and pink-collar workers.

ten being managers. Most respondents in the final sample (89.3%) were employed within the public sector companies (manufacturing, public administration, health care, and education), while the remaining were employed within private sector companies (transport, manufacturing, public administration, and health care). After comparing the study sample with the invited sample, only the proportion of employees age \geq 40 was somewhat higher in the study sample (69.5 vs. 64.5%).

Measures

Alcohol-Related Problems

The ten-item Norwegian translation of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) were used to measure alcoholrelated problems. The AUDIT was developed by the World Health Organization (WHO) and is widely used to assess alcohol consumption and related problems in a wide range of settings and populations (7, 82). Each of the ten item is scored from 0 to 4, so the total score can range from 0 to 40. AUDIT covers three key domains including alcohol intake (items 1–3), dependence on alcohol (items 4–6), and alcohol-related harms (items 7–10). There is support for considering AUDIT as a one-factor tool indicating different levels of alcohol-related problems, as a two factor (drinking patterns and consequences) tool, or as three factors (drinking habits, alcohol dependence, and harmful alcohol use) (83, 84). However, the most recent confirmatory factor analysis of AUDIT based on WIRUS data (74) supports the use of AUDIT as a unidimensional measure of alcohol-related problems and so we used it as such in the present study. AUDIT's internal consistency in the present sample was acceptable (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.78$). For this study, we treated the AUDIT scores as a continuous sum score measure where higher scores indicate higher levels of alcohol-related problems.

Drinking Attitudes

Drinking attitudes were measured using the Norwegian translation of the Drinking Norms Scale (DNS) (85). The DNS is a 7-item scale addressing attitudes toward drinking in general (three items) and work-related drinking (four items). Earlier psychometric analyses have suggested using DNS as a unidimensional measure (85) and so we did in this study. Each item was coded on a 4-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = agree; 4 = strongly agree). Negatively worded items (i.e., items 6 and 7) were reverse scored, and the total sum score for all seven items was calculated so that higher scores indicated more positive/liberal drinking attitudes. The DNS's internal consistency in the present sample was acceptable (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.73$).

Sick Leave

The primary outcome was the number of company-registered days of sick leave during the 12-month follow-up after the baseline WIRUS screening. Leaves due to maternity, pregnancyrelated reasons, and non-health reasons (e.g., vacation) were excluded. We created three sick leave measures based on the total number of days on sick leave during the 12-month follow-up period (i.e., length of sick leave): short-term sick leave (i.e., ≤ 14 days, n = 1607, 62.7%, median: 5.0, IQR: 3.0-8.0), long-term sick leave (≥ 15 days, n = 348, 13.6%, median: 42.0, IQR: 21.0-89.0), and total sick leave as the total number of sick leave days within the 12 months of follow-up (n = 1632, 63.0%, median: 7.0, IQR: 3.0-25.0). In addition, for one-day sick leaves, the actual number of hours of sick leave taken within a day was registered. In Norway, the hours per week to which a full-time position equates is 37.5 and, so, a full-time working day would be 7.5 hours (86). Therefore, we created a 'one-day sick leave hours' measure summing up the number of hours between 1 and 7.5 for all sick leaves which duration was no longer than 1 day (n = 1081, 42.0%, median: 11.0, IQR: 8.0-19.0).

For sensitivity analyses, we created additional metrics: for sick leaves of 14 days or less, we calculated an approximate number of days at risk (i.e., 365 minus total number of days of sick leave lasting longer than 14 days, assuming there could be a difference between a person who has only two short-term sick leaves (\leq 14 days) during the 12-month follow-up, and another who has several short-term sick leaves within 5 weeks but no long-term sick leave (\geq 15 days). In addition, we created four measures of sick leave spells [i.e., episodes (87)]: one-day hour (i.e., number of times a person had 1-day h sick leave, median:

2.0, IQR: 1.0–3.0), short-term spells (i.e., frequency of the short-term sick leave days, median: 3.0, IQR: 1.0–5.0), long-term spells (i.e., frequency of the long-term sick leave days, median: 2.0, IQR: 1.0–3.0), and total sick leave spells (i.e., frequency of having sick leave days of any durations, median: 3.0, IQR: 1.0–6.0).

Covariates

Based on prior research (88–91), we included the following co-variables: gender (male, female), age (continuous), cohabitation status (living alone, living with others), educational attainment levels (primary/lower secondary, upper secondary, university/college), work position (employee, middle manager or senior executive), and employment sector (public, private).

Analysis

Descriptive statistics are presented as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables, as means and standard deviations (SDs) for symmetrically distributed continuous variables, and as medians and interquartile ranges (IQRs) for asymmetric continuous variables.

Negative binomial (NB) regression models, crude and adjusted for gender, age, cohabitation status, educational attainment, work position, and employment sector, were used to assess the associations (incidence rate ratios or IRRs, with corresponding 95% confidence intervals or CIs) of alcoholrelated problems and drinking attitudes with sick leave. Threelevel random intercepts models were used to allow for intracluster correlation resulting from clustering of individuals within work units within companies. Sensitivity analyses were performed for short-term sick leave days by including the approximate number of days at risk as an exposure variable. In addition, the same analyses were performed for sick leave spells (87) to make sure that the results are consistent.

All descriptive analyses were performed using IBM SPSS, version 26. Multi-level regression models were running in Stata/SE version 17.0 (92), with function *menbreg*. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

Ethics

The study was approved to collect and store sensitive data by the Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics in Norway (REK) (approval no. 2014/647). Participants received an invitation letter and were informed about the overall aims of the WIRUS study and were assured that their participation was voluntary. All participants provided written informed consent prior to participation and were informed that they could withdraw their consent at any given time without any consequences. Respondents were treated according to the World Medical Association's Declaration of Helsinki (93).

RESULTS

The relationship of alcohol-related problems and attitudes with sick leave are shown in **Table 2**. Adjusting for gender, age [as a continuous variable], cohabitation status, educational attainment, work position and employment sector, alcohol-related problems showed no association with one-day (IRR =

1.00; 95% CI: 0.97–1.04), short-term (IRR = 0.99; 95% CI: 0.98– 1.01), long-term (IRR = 0.96; 95% CI: 0.89–1.03), or overall sick leave days (IRR = 0.98; 95% CI: 0.95–1.00) on work units within companies. Similarly, drinking attitudes were not associated with one-day (IRR = 0.99; 95% CI: 0.96–1.04), short-term (IRR = 0.99; 95% CI: 0.96–1.01), and long-term days (IRR = 0.94; 95% CI: 0.88–1.01) on work units within companies. However, we found a slightly negative association between higher scores on drinking attitudes and taking sick leave (IRR = 0.97; 95 % CI: 0.95–0.99), indicating that one-unit higher score on drinking attitude was associated with 3% less sick leave days.

The association between the covariates and sick leave is shown in **Supplementary Table 1**. Compared with males, females had higher one-day (IRR = 1.56; 95% CI: 1.27–1.92), short-term (IRR = 1.70; 95% CI: 1.44–2.00), long-term (IRR = 2.24; 95% CI: 1.61–3.11), and overall sick leave days (IRR = 1.66; 95% CI: 1.46–1.89) and age showed a slightly positive association with long-term days (IRR = 1.02; 95% CI: 1.01–1.03). Public sector employees had higher rate of taking sick leave than private sector employees and higher educational levels (i.e., upper secondary and university/college) was associated with less one-day, shortterm, and overall sick leave days compared to lower educational levels (i.e., primary/lower secondary).

Sensitivity analysis showed that adjusting for days at risk did not affect the results noticeably (data not shown), nor did adjusting for age in two categories rather than continuously (shown in **Table 1**). Finally, using sick leave spells as the outcome measure rather than days did not alter the results (**Supplementary Table 2**).

All sick leave metrics showed statistically significant variation across companies, with short-term and overall sick leave also showing variation across work units within companies (Supplementary Table 3; Model 0). Between companies' variance in sick leave amounted to 15% of the total variance in one-day sick leave, and 12, 30, and 30% of the variance in short-term, long-term, and overall sick leave days, respectively. The variances in sick leave between work units within companies were generally lower. The co-variables (gender, age, cohabitation status, educational attainment, work position, and employment sector) explained much of the variation between companies, in particular for one-day and short-term sick leave (Model 1). The alcohol-related variables, on the other hand, explained little to none of the variation in sick leave (Models 2-3), and there were still substantial amounts of unexplained variation in long-term and overall sick leave days between companies in the fully adjusted model. The same results were obtained when adjusting for days at risk (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to explore the relationship of alcoholrelated problems and drinking attitudes with sick leave, while considering the nesting of employees within working units within companies. The following main findings will be discussed: (i) most of the variance in sick leave (12–30% depending on the sick leave measure) was found between companies, while no more than 8% of the variance was found between work units within companies, (ii) alcohol-related problems showed no association with sick leave days, and (iii) drinking attitude showed no association with sick leave days, but showed a slightly negative association between higher scores on drinking attitudes and overall sick leave days between work units within companies.

The observed higher variation of sick leave between companies than between work-units within companies may be explained by differences in sick leave culture [i.e., self-awareness of others' or one's own attendance behavior or being agreed on a proper level of absence (94)] and social context, outside and inside the workplace (67, 95). Consistent with this notion, shared beliefs about absence and employment, and cultural salience (e.g., absence control system, existing technology, social ecology, friendship patterns, and communication) may be sensible reasons for variations in sick leave (95). For instance, compared to employees with higher empowerment in their jobs, employees having a lower sense of empowerment in their jobs have a stronger feeling of external control and, accordingly, have a concrete perception of taking sick leave (95, 96). However, organizational aspects such as colleagues' and supervisors' behaviors (1, 2, 97-99), the physical and mental load of the job (100, 101), workforce's downsizing (4), ethnic composition (102), job satisfaction (103), and psychiatric morbidity (104) may also contribute to the variation in sick leave between and within companies and their work units. Sick leave due to these factors can be considered as work-related sick leave and may have a greater need for being away from work than sick leave due to nonwork-related factors (e.g., sick kids, flu) (105). Further, some of these factors may affect sick leave indirectly through the influence of health behaviors. For instance, colleagues' and supervisors' behaviors or job stress can influence a worker's consumption level of alcohol, which in turn may increase sick leave (1, 99).

Although several studies have explored the association of organizational culture and attitudes with sick leave (65, 106, 107), this study was the first to explore the association between drinking attitudes and sick leave. However, neither alcoholrelated problems nor drinking attitudes explained sick leave in our study and drinking attitudes even showed a slightly negative association with overall sick leave. One may assume that companies characterized by more positive drinking attitudes can be characterized by more permissive absence norms, as they may take a more laissez-faire approach to control employees' behavior. However, as no association between alcohol-related problems and sick leave measures was found, finding no association between drinking attitudes and sick leave was unsurprising. In addition, as this study is the first to explore the association between drinking attitudes and sick leave, we thus cannot compare our observed results with other studies.

The lack of association between alcohol-related problems and sick leave is at odd with prior literature showing an alcohol-sick leave association, both among Norwegian employees (19, 22, 23, 29) and other populations (28, 30–36). However, our results are in agreement with other studies reporting no alcohol-sick leave association (39–42), including studies from Norway (39, 40). Overall, our study did not contribute to clarify the relationship between alcohol consumption and sick leave. Discrepancies TABLE 2 | Association^a of alcohol-related problems and attitudes with sick leave duration (one-day, short-term, long-term, and overall sick leave days), for 2,560 employees in 95 work units within 14 companies in the WIRUS study.

		Sick leave							
Alcohol-related variable	s	One-day hours	Short-term days	Long-term days	Total days on sick leave				
Alcohol-related problems (continuous scores) ^e	IRR ^b _{crude}	1.01	0.98	0.95	0.97 *				
	IRR ^c adjusted	1.00	0.99	0.96	0.98				
	95% Cl ^d	0.97-1.04	0.96-1.01	0.89-1.03	0.95-1.00				
	Likelihood ratio $X^2 p$ -value	72.57 < 0.001	111.41 < 0.001	19.82 < 0.05	97.87 < 0.001				
Drinking-attitudes (continuous scores) ^f	IRR ^b _{crude}	0.99	0.98	0.94	0.96**				
	IRR ^c adjusted	0.99	0.99	0.94	0.97				
	95% Cl ^d	0.96-1.02	0.96-1.01	0.88-1.01	0.95–0.99				
	Likelihood ratio $X^2 p$ -value	72.64 < 0.001	111.90 < 0.001	20.34 < 0.05	99.76 < 0.001				

^a Results from multilevel negative binomial regression analyses; ^b IRR_{crude} = incidence rate ratio, bivariate association; ^c IRR_{adjusted} = incidence rate ratio, adjusted association adjusted for gender, age, cohabitation status, educational attainment, work position, and employment sector; ^d Cl = confidence intervals; ^e Composite score of the ten AUDIT items, potential range = 0–40, higher score indicates presence of alcohol-related problems; ^f Composite score of the seven DNS items, higher score indicates positive/liberal drinking attitudes; ^{*} p < 0.05; ^{**} p < 0.01.

in the literature may be attributed to several factors, mainly about differences in the measurement of exposure and outcome, the type of the organizations studied, or differences in study populations, which also make any direct national or international comparisons complicated.

Compared to other studies, different metrics of alcohol drinking levels and sick leave duration models were employed while referring to the same measure. For instance, in studies reporting an alcohol-sick leave association, short-term sick leave had been measured as ≤ 3 days (31), ≤ 7 days (32, 33), with self-reported measures (22, 29, 31), combined with other health issues as mental disorders or anxiety (30, 40). In some cases, there were differences in the measurement of alcohol consumption (e.g., average weekly volume, or alcohol use disorder) (28, 40). Moreover, although our results were consistent with some Norwegian studies (39, 40), those results were focused on individual-level factors and not company-level determinants.

Another reason for the existing discrepancy of findings regarding the association between alcohol-related individual differences and sick leave could be related to the work settings being studied. Some of the prior studies reporting an association between alcohol consumption and sick leave were using a sample of manual employees (19), non-industrial civil servants (32), police officers (34, 35), farm industry employees (36), or public sector employees (31). Although in the present study we used a sample from a wide variety of work settings, almost nine out of ten employees were employed within the public sector in a variety of occupations and industry settings. Some specific work settings may attract individuals with certain attitudes but, also, some shared attitudes and behaviors may form in such settings (65). Moreover, work settings reporting an alcohol-sick leave association may also be affected by the existing alcohol policies in place, birth cohort effect, social regulations, or alcohol availability at work.

Finally, the low participation rate in our study may have biased the associations toward the null. The healthy worker effect may have been compounded with the also known effect of non-responders in health surveys being generally less healthy than responders (108). People with drinking problems may be less prone to participate in surveys or to be in the workforce altogether (109) but also to provide inaccurate self-reports of alcohol consumption (110). Unfortunately, we were not able to control for any of these factors in our study, so more research would be needed to elucidate the true relationship of alcoholproblems and drinking attitudes with sick leave.

Methodological Considerations

This study has several strengths. First, by using multilevel models, we were able to take into account the grouping of individuals within work units and companies. Second, we used company-registered sick leave data, which is considered a "gold standard" (111–114), one found to be valid and more reliable than self-reported sick leave data (46, 111, 115). However, there are some limitations to be considered when interpreting our results.

First, despite the large sample (n = 2,560), the study's response rate was low (14.3%), which may have implications for the representativeness of our study (116). Also, WIRUS study (3, 12, 59, 76) has an overrepresentation of females, employees with university/college education, employees age ≥ 40 , and employees in the public sector compared with the overall Norwegian workforce. Studies state that health surveys have generally been skipped or underreported by (younger) men, individuals with lower socioeconomic status, and those having drinking problems (117–119), which may lead to an underestimation of the effect of alcohol on sick leave.

Second, alcohol-screening data was self-reported, which may have been affected by social desirability responses (SDR) as people tend to display a favorable image of themselves on surveys (120). However, SDR behavior does not undervalue employed validated and reliable alcohol measurement instruments (e.g., AUDIT). Another potential issue is recall bias. Shorter reference period may lead to more precise answers but reduce the ability to estimate one's typical alcohol consumption through a year (7, 121–123). Longer reference period (e.g., 1 year) are also recommended (121, 122) when using the AUDIT instrument.

Third, although the AUDIT is a -ecognize scale, other measures of alcohol such as the frequency or quantity of alcohol consumption may be related to sick leave. WIRUS did not included such measures so we could not compare our results with those studies measuring the amount of alcohol consumption.

Finally, although the results out of this study were adjusted for potential confounders, there might be other unmeasured factors of interest (e.g., mental health, diet, smoking, stress, or work conflict) (1, 24, 124, 125).

Implications for Future Research

This study highlights the need for more refined measures and inclusion of other unmeasured factors to confirm the lack of associations of alcohol-related problems, drinking attitudes with sick leave. Also, one may clarify whether the existing high variation of sick leave between companies than between work units within companies is work-related or not. The attributable proportion of taking sick leave is reported to be higher for work-related sick leave factors than for lifestyle-related sick leave factors (124). Hence, knowing this difference may have significant implications not only for occupational risk prevention but also for the reduction of sick leave-related economic outcomes.

Moreover, more work is needed regarding the interaction between the type of employment, as well as the type of job position, and sick leave. Permanent employees tend to report more sick leave than non-permanent employees (49, 126), and employees in managerial positions report less sick leave, but more presentism, than other employees without such positions and responsibilities (127).

Therefore, further research is encouraged since the most recent study on the changes in alcohol consumption, among Norwegians, during the COVID-19 pandemic, has found a notable increase in proportion of heavy drinkers (128).

CONCLUSIONS

Sick leave, which depends on multiple individual and contextual factors, is a key aspect of occupational health. Our study highlights the importance of between company-level differences over between work-units within company differences in relation

REFERENCES

 Bacharach SB, Bamberger P, Biron M, Bacharach SB, Bamberger P, Biron M. Alcohol consumption and workplace absenteeism: the moderating effect of social support. *J Appl Psychol.* (2010) 95:334–48. doi: 10.1037/a001 8018 to sick leave. The observed lack of associations between alcoholrelated individual differences and sick leave suggests factors beyond individual characteristics such as organizational culture and the social context may play a role in the occurrence of sick leave. Hence, further research is needed to confirm or refute our findings in different settings while taking into consideration specific company policies or group norms.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics in Norway (approval no. 2014/647). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RA: conceptualization, project administration and funding acquisition. NH, ID, and RA: methodology and validation. NH and ID: formal analysis and data curation. NH: writing—original draft preparation. RA, JS, and HS: supervision. All authors: writing—review and editing. All authors have read and agreed, and supervision to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The study was funded by the Norwegian Directorate of Health and the Research Council of Norway (Grant No. 260640). The funding bodies had no role in the design of study. DG was partly supported by the Southwest Center for Occupational and Environmental Health (SWCOEH), the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Education and Research Center (T42OH008421) at The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston (UTHealth) School of Public Health: T42OH008421.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.817726/full#supplementary-material

- Vahtera J, Poikolainen K, Kivimäki M, Ala-Mursula L, Pentti J. Alcohol intake and sickness absence: a curvilinear relation. Am J Epidemiol. (2002) 156:969–76. doi: 10.1093/aje/ kwf138
- 3. Aas RW, Haveraaen L, Sagvaag H, Thørrisen MM. The influence of alcohol consumption on sickness presenteeism

and impaired daily activities. The WIRUS screening study. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0186503. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 186503

- Blank N, Diderichsen F. Short-term and long-term sick-leave in Sweden: relationships with social circumstances, working conditions and gender. *Scand J Soc Med.* (1995) 23:265–72. doi: 10.1177/140349489502300408
- Marmot M, Feeney A, Shipley M, North F, Syme SL. Sickness absence as a measure of health-status and functioning - from the UK Whitehall-II study. *J Epidemiol Commun H*. (1995) 49:124–30. doi: 10.1136/jech.49.2.124
- Johansson E, Bockerman P, Uutela A. Alcohol consumption and sickness absence: evidence from microdata. *Eur J Public Health*. (2009) 19:19– 22. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckn116
- Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle JC, Saunders JB, Monteiro MG. AUDIT: The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: Guidelines for Use in Primary Health Care. 2nd ed: Geneva: WHO/MSD/MSB/01.6 World Health Organization (2001). 41 p.
- Collaborators GBDRF. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2016. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:1345– 422. doi: 10.22540/JFSF-03-114
- Tembo C, Burns S, Kalembo F. The association between levels of alcohol consumption and mental health problems and academic performance among young university students. *Plos ONE*. (2017) 12:8142. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178142
- 10. Summerill ANDSHS. National drug strategy household survey: detailed report 2013. Australian Institute of H, Welfare, National Drug S, Australia Dept of H, Ageing, editors Canberra: Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2014).
- WHO. Fact sheet on alcohol consumption, alcohol-attributable harm and alcohol policy responses in European Union Member States, Norway and Switzerland. (2018). Available online at: https://www.euro.who.int/__data/ assets/pdf_file/0009/386577/fs-alcohol-eng.pdf (accessed June, 2021).
- 12. Thørrisen MM, Skogen JC, Aas RW. The associations between employees' risky drinking and sociodemographics, and implications for intervention needs. *BMC Public Health*. (2018) 18:735. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5660-x
- World Health Organization (WHO). Global status report on alcohol and health (2018). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ 9789241565639
- Thørrisen MM, Bonsaksen T, Hashemi N, Kjeken I, van Mechelen W, Aas RW. Association between alcohol consumption and impaired work performance (presenteeism): a systematic review. *BMJ Open.* (2019) 9:e029184. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029184
- Ragland DR, Krause N, Greiner BA, Holman BL, Fisher JM, Cunradi CB. Alcohol consumption and incidence of workers' compensation claims: a 5year prospective study of urban transit operators. *Alcohol: Clin Exper Res.* (2002) 26:1388–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2002.tb02683.x
- Schou L, Moan IS. Alcohol use-sickness absence association and the moderating role of gender and socioeconomic status: a literature review. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* (2016) 35:158–69. doi: 10.1111/dar.12278
- Marzan M, Callinan S, Livingston M, Leggat G, Jiang H. Systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis on the relationship between alcohol consumption and sickness absence. *Alcohol Alcohol.* (2021). doi: 10.4135/9781529744576
- Amiri S, Behnezhad S. Alcohol consumption and sick leave: a meta-analysis. J Addict Dis. (2020) 38:100–12. doi: 10.1080/10550887.2020.1724606
- Norstrom T, Moan IS. Per capita alcohol consumption and sickness absence in Norway. *Eur J Public Health.* (2009) 19:383–8. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckp044
- Roche AM, Pidd K, Berry JG, Harrison JE. Workers' drinking patterns: the impact on absenteeism in the Australian work-place. *Addiction*. (2008) 103:738–48. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2008.02154.x
- McFarlin SK, Fals-Stewart W. Workplace absenteeism and alcohol use: a sequential analysis. *Psychol Addict Behav.* (2002) 16:17–21. doi: 10.1037/0893-164X.16.1.17
- Schou L, Storvoll EE, Moan IS. Alcohol-related sickness absence among young employees: gender differences and the prevention paradox. *Eur J Public Health*. (2014) 24:480–5. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cku035

- Østby KA, Czajkowski N, Knudsen GP, Ystrøm E, Gjerde LC, Kendler KS, et al. Does low alcohol use increase the risk of sickness absence? A discordant twin study. *BMC Public Health.* (2016) 16:825. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3502-2
- Salonsalmi A, Laaksonen M, Lahelma E, Rahkonen O. Drinking habits and sickness absence: the contribution of working conditions. *Scand J Public Healt.* (2009) 37:846–54. doi: 10.1177/1403494809350519
- Buvik K, Moan IS, Halkjelsvik T. Alcohol-related absence and presenteeism: beyond productivity loss. Int J Drug Policy. (2018) 58:71–7. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.05.005
- Kaila-Kangas L, Koskinen A, Leino-Arjas P, Virtanen M, Härkänen T, Lallukka T. Alcohol use and sickness absence due to all causes and mentalor musculoskeletal disorders: a nationally representative study. *BMC Public Health.* (2018) 18:152. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5059-8
- 27. Norstrom T. Per capita alcohol consumption and sickness absence. *Addiction.* (2006) 101:1421-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01446.x
- Landberg J, Hemmingsson T, Syden L, Ramstedt M. The contribution of alcohol use, other lifestyle factors and working conditions to socioeconomic differences in sickness absence. *Eur Addict Res.* (2020) 26:40–51. doi: 10.1159/000504437
- Edvardsen HME, Moan IS, Christophersen AS, Gjerde H. Use of alcohol and drugs by employees in selected business areas in Norway: a study using oral fluid testing and questionnaires. J Occup Med Toxicol. (2015) 10:87. doi: 10.1186/s12995-015-0087-0
- Silva-Junior JSd, Fischer FM. Long-term sickness absence due to mental disorders is associated with individual features and psychosocial work conditions. *Plos ONE*. (2014) 9:e115885. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115885
- Ervasti J, Kivimaki M, Pentti J, Halonen JI, Vahtera J, Virtanen M. Changes in drinking as predictors of changes in sickness absence: a case-crossover study. *J Epidemiol Commun H.* (2018) 72:61–7. doi: 10.1136/jech-2017-209777
- North F, Syme SL, Feeney A, Head J, Shipley MJ, Marmot MG. Explaining socioeconomic differences in sickness absence: the Whitehall II Study. *BMJ* (*Clinical Research Ed)*. (1993) 306:361–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.306.6874.361
- Morois S, Airagnes G, Lemogne C, Leclerc A, Limosin F, Goldberg S, et al. Daily alcohol consumption and sickness absence in the GAZEL cohort. *Eur J Public Health.* (2017) 27:482–8. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckx012
- 34. Ovuga E, Madrama C. Burden of alcohol use in the Uganda Police in Kampala district. Afr Health Sci. (2006) 6:14– 20. doi: 10.5555/afhs.2006.6.1.14
- Richmond RL, Kehoe L, Hailstone S, Wodak A, Uebel-Yan M. Quantitative and qualitative evaluations of brief interventions to change excessive drinking, smoking and stress in the police force. *Addiction.* (1999) 94:1509–21. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.1999.941 015097.x
- Mekonnen TH, Lamessa SK, Wami SD. Sickness-related absenteeism and risk factors associated among flower farm industry workers in Bishoftu town, Southeast Ethiopia, 2018: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Res Notes*. (2019) 12:181. doi: 10.1186/s13104-019-4223-2
- Marmot MG, North F, Feeney A, Head J. Alcohol consumption and sickness absence: from the Whitehall II study. *Addiction*. (1993) 88:369– 82. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb00824.x
- Upmark M, Möller J, Romelsjö A. Longitudinal, populationbased study of self reported alcohol habits, high levels of sickness absence, and disability pensions. J Epidemiol Commun H. (1999) 53:223–9. doi: 10.1136/jech.53.4.223
- Lund I, Moan IS, Edvardsen HME. The relative impact of smoking, alcohol use and drug use on general sickness absence among Norwegian employees. *BMC Public Health*. (2019) 19:6891. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6891-1
- Torvik FA, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Gjerde LC, Knudsen GP, Ystrom E, Tambs K, et al. Mood, anxiety, and alcohol use disorders and later causespecific sick leave in young adult employees. *BMC Public Health*. (2016) 16:3427. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3427-9
- 41. Kujala V, Tammelin T, Remes J, Vammavaara E, Ek E, Laitinen J. Work ability index of young employees and their sickness absence during the following year. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2006) 32:75–84. doi: 10.5271/sjw eh.979
- 42. Hensing G, Holmgren K, Mårdby AC. Harmful alcohol habits were no more common in a sample of newly sick-listed Swedish women and men

compared with a random population sample. *Alcohol Alcoholism.* (2011) 46:471–7. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agr033

- Lund I, Moan IS. The role of alcohol use and cigarette smoking in sickness absence: are there social inequalities? *Int J Drug Pol.* (2021) 94:103190. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2021.103190
- Alexopoulos EC, Merekoulias G, Tanagra D, Konstantinou EC, Mikelatou E, Jelastopulu E. Sickness absence in the private sector of Greece: comparing shipyard industry and national insurance data. *Int J Env Res Pub He.* (2012) 9:1171–81. doi: 10.3390/ijerph9041171
- Feeney A, North F, Head J, Canner R, Marmot M. Socioeconomic and sex differentials in reason for sickness absence from the Whitehall II Study. Occup Environ Med. (1998) 55:91–8. doi: 10.1136/oem.55.2.91
- Thorsen SV, Friborg C, Lundstrøm B, Kausto J, Örnelius K, Sundell T, et al. Sickness Absence in the Nordic Countries Nordic Social Statistical Committee (NOSOSCO). Copenhagen: Nordic Social Statistical Committee (Nososco). (2015).
- Sieurin L, Josephson M, Vingard E. Positive and negative consequences of sick leave for the individual, with special focus on part-time sick leave. Scand J Public Healt. (2009) 37:50–6. doi: 10.1177/1403494808097171
- Kocakülâh MC, Kelley AG, Mitchell KM, Ruggieri M. Absenteeism problems and costs: causes, effects and cures. *Int Bus Econom Res J (IBER)*. (2016) 15:89–96. doi: 10.19030/iber.v15i3.9673
- Gimeno D, Benavides FG, Amick BC, Benach J, Martínez JM. Psychosocial factors and work related sickness absence among permanent and non-permanent employees. J Epidemiol Commun H. (2004) 58:870– 6. doi: 10.1136/jech.2003.016634
- Grønstad A, Kjekshus LE, Tjerbo T, Bernstrøm VH. Organizational change and the risk of sickness absence: a longitudinal multilevel analysis of organizational unit-level change in hospitals. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2019) 19:895. doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4745-2
- Duijts SF, Kant I, Swaen GM, van den Brandt PA, Zeegers MP, A. metaanalysis of observational studies identifies predictors of sickness absence. J Clin Epidemiol. (2007) 60:1105–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2007.04.008
- Steers RM, Rhodes SR. Major influences on employee attendance: a process model. J Appl Psychol. (1978) 63:391–407. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.63.4.391
- 53. Rhodes SR, Steers RM. *Managing Employee Absenteeism*. Boston, MA: Addison-Wesley (1990).
- Liu S, Wang M, Bamberger P, Shi J, Bacharach S. The dark side of socialization: a longitudinal investigation of newcomer alcohol use. *Aca Manag J.* (2015) 58:334–55. doi: 10.5465/amj.2013.0239
- 55. Weick KE, Sutcliffe KM, Obstfeld D. Organizing and the process of sensemaking. Org Sci. (2005) 16:409–21. doi: 10.1287/orsc.1050.0133
- Diez-Roux AV. Multilevel analysis in public health research. Annu Rev Public Health. (2000) 21:171–92. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.21.1.171
- Anderton DL, Sellers DE, A. Brief review of contextualeffect models and measurement. *Hist Method.* (1989) 22:106– 15. doi: 10.1080/01615440.1989.10594184
- Diprete TA, Forristal JD. Multilevel models methods and substance. Annu Rev Sociol. (1994) 20:331–57. doi: 10.1146/annurev.so.20.080194.001555
- Hashemi NS, Thørrisen MM, Skogen JC, Sagvaag H, Gimeno Ruiz de Porras D, Aas RW. Gender differences in the association between positive drinking attitudes and alcohol-related problems. the WIRUS study. *Int J Env Res Pub He.* (2020) 17:65949. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17165949
- Bacharach SB, Bamberger PA, Sonnenstuhl WJ. Driven to drink: managerial control, work-related risk factors, and employee problem drinking. *Aca Manag J.* (2002) 45:637–58. doi: 10.5465/3069302
- 61. Cooke R, Dahdah M, Norman P, French DP. How well does the theory of planned behaviour predict alcohol consumption? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Health Psychol (2016) 10:148-67. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2014. Rev. 947547
- Frone MR, Brown AL. Workplace substance-use norms as predictors of employee substance use and impairment: a survey of US workers. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs.* (2010) 71:526–34. doi: 10.15288/jsad.2010. 71.526
- Bamberger P, Biron M. Group norms and excessive absenteeism: the role of peer referent others. Organ Behav Hum Dec. (2007) 103:179– 96. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2007.03.003

- Jourdain G, Chênevert D. The Moderating influence of perceived organizational values on the burnout-absenteeism relationship. *J Bus Psychol.* (2015) 30:177–91. doi: 10.1007/s10869-014-9346-9
- Hauge KE, Ulvestad M. Having a bad attitude? The relationship between attitudes and sickness absence. *IZA J Labor Policy*. (2017) 6:1– 27. doi: 10.1186/s40173-017-0088-y
- 66. EUROFOND. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions. Absence from work. Available online at: http:// eurofound.europa.eu/observatories/eurwork/comparative/information/ absence-from-work2010; https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/ report/2010/absence-from-work (accessed June, 2021).
- Whitaker SC. The management of sickness absence. Occup Environ Med. (2001) 58:420–4. doi: 10.1136/oem.58.6.420
- 68. Martela F, Greve B, Rothstein B, Saari J. The Nordic Exceptionalism: What Explains Why the Nordic Countries Are Constantly Among the Happiest in the World: World Happiness Report (2020). Available online at: https:// worldhappiness.report/ed/2020/the-nordic-exceptionalism-what-explainswhy-the-nordic-countries-are-constantly-among-the-happiest-in-theworld/#fnref1 (accessed June, 2021).
- Bruer-Skarsbøø. Sykefraværet øker igjen: Statitics Norway (2020). Available online at: https://www.ssb.no/arbeid-og-lonn/artikler-og-publikasjoner/ sykefravaeret-oker-igjen (accessed June, 2021).
- 70. Eurostat. Absences From Work Quarterly Statistics. Eurostat Statistics Explained (2020).
- 71. Moan IS, Halkjelsvik T. Alkohol og arbeidsliv: En undersøkelse blant norske arbeidstakere. *Oslo: Folkehelseinstituttet.* (2016).
- Nordaune K, Skarpaas LS, Sagvaag H, Haveraaen L, Rimstad S, Kinn LG, et al. Who initiates and organises situations for work-related alcohol use? The WIRUS culture study. *Scand J Public Healt*. (2017) 45:749– 56. doi: 10.1177/1403494817704109
- 73. Thørrisen MM, Skogen JC, Kjeken I, Jensen I, Aas RW. Current practices and perceived implementation barriers for working with alcohol prevention in occupational health services: the WIRUS OHS study. *Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy.* (2019) 14:30. doi: 10.1186/s13011-019-0217-2
- Skogen JC, Thørrisen MM, Olsen E, Hesse M, Aas RW. Evidence for essential unidimensionality of AUDIT and measurement invariance across gender, age and education. Results from the WIRUS study. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* (2019) 202:87–92. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.06.002
- Sagvaag H, Rimstad SL, Kinn LG, Aas R. Six shades of grey: Identifying drinking culture and potentially risky drinking behaviour in the grey zone between work and leisure. The WIRUS culture study. *Public Health Res.* (2019) 8:1585. doi: 10.4081/jphr.2019.1585
- Skogen JC, Boe T, Thørrisen MM, Riper H, Aas RW. Sociodemographic characteristics associated with alcohol consumption and alcohol-related consequences, a latent class analysis of The Norwegian WIRUS screening study. *BMC Public Health*. (2019) 19:7648. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7648-6
- Bonsaksen T, Thørrisen MM, Skogen JC, Aas RW. Who reported having a high-strain job, low-strain job, active job and passive job? The WIRUS Screening study. *PloS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0227336-e. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227336
- Skogen JC, Thørrisen MM, Bonsaksen T, Vahtera J, Sivertsen B, Aas RW. Effort-reward imbalance is associated with alcoholrelated problems. WIRUS-screening study. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:2079. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02079
- Aas RW, Thørrisen MM, Innerby CK, Skogen JC. Alcohol and impairments at work and home: how much matters more than how often? *J Drug Abuse*. (2018) 4:3. doi: 10.21767/2471-853X.100070
- Hashemi NS, Skogen JC, Sevic A, Thørrisen MM, Rimstad SL, Sagvaag H, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis uncovering the relationship between alcohol consumption and sickness absence. When type of design, data, and sickness absence make a difference. *PLOS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0262458. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0262458
- 81. NACE. Statistical Classification of Economic Activities in the European Community, Rev. 2. Eurostat. (2008).
- Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, Delafuente JR, Grant M. Development of the alcohol-use disorders identification test (audit) - who collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol-consumption. *Addiction.* (1993) 88:791–804. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x

- Blair AH, Pearce ME, Katamba A, Malamba SS, Muyinda H, Schechter MT, et al. The alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT): exploring the factor structure and cutoff thresholds in a representative postconflict population in Northern Uganda. *Alcohol Alcohol.* (2017) 52:318– 27. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agw090
- Moehring A, Krause K, Guertler D, Bischof G, Hapke U, Freyer-Adam J, et al. Measurement invariance of the alcohol use disorders identification test: establishing its factor structure in different settings and across gender. *Drug Alcohol Depen.* (2018) 189:55–61. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.05.002
- Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Gimeno D, Mangione TW, Harrist RB, Amick BC. Drinking social norms and drinking behaviours: a multilevel analysis of 137 workgroups in 16 worksites. *Occup Environ Med.* (2007) 64:602– 8. doi: 10.1136/oem.2006.031765
- 86. Skatteetaten. No. of hours per week to which a full-time position equates. Skatteetaten (the Norwegian tax administration) (2018). Available online at: https://www.skatteetaten.no/en/business-and-organisation/employer/the-a -melding/the-a-melding-guide/employment/information-on-employment/ no.-of-hours-per-week-to-which-a-full-time-position-equates/#: ~ :text=I f%20the%20number%20of%20hours%20for%20a%20full%2Dtime%20posi tion%20is%20unknown,-You%20can%20use&text = You%20should%20n ot%20state%200,normal%20working%20week%20in%20Norway (accessed June, 2021).
- Gunnel H. The measurements of sickness absence A theoretical perspective. Norsk Epidemiologi. (2010) 19:584. doi: 10.5324/nje.v19i2.584
- Mangione TW, Howland J, Amick B, Cote J, Lee M, Bell N, et al. Employee drinking practices and work performance. J Stud Alcohol. (1999) 60:261– 70. doi: 10.15288/jsa.1999.60.261
- Farrell D, Stamm CL. Meta-analysis of the correlates of employee absence. Hum Relat. (1988) 41:302. doi: 10.1177/001872678804100302
- Price James L, A. role for demographic variables in the study of absenteeism and turnover. *Int J Career Manag.* (1995) 7:26–32. doi: 10.1108/09556219510093302
- Webb GR, Redman S, Hennrikus DJ, Kelman GR, Gibberd RW, Sanson-Fisher RW. The relationships between high-risk and problem drinking and the occurrence of work injuries and related absences. *J Stud Alcohol.* (1994) 55:434–46. doi: 10.15288/jsa.1994.55.434
- 92. StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software: Release 17. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC. 2021.
- WMA (World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki): ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *Jama*. (2013) 310:2191–4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053
- Patton E, Johns G. Context and the social representation of absenteeism: absence in the popular press and in academic research. *Hum Relat.* (2012) 65:217–40. doi: 10.1177/0018726711428819
- Nicholson N, Johns G. The absence culture and the psychological contract: who's in control of absence? Aca Manag Rev. (1985) 10:397– 407. doi: 10.5465/amr.1985.4278945
- 96. Kohn ML. Personality, occupation, and social strati- fication: a frame of reference. In D J Treiman & R V Robinson (Eds), Research in social stratification and mobility (Vol 1, pp 267-297). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press. (1981).
- 97. Kivimäki M, Vahtera J, Elovainio M, Lillrank B, Kevin MV. Death or illness of a family member, violence, interpersonal conflict, and financial difficulties as predictors of sickness absence: longitudinal cohort study on psychological and behavioral links. *Psychosom Med.* (2002) 64:817–25. doi: 10.1097/00006842-200209000-0 0015
- Jansen NW, Kant IJ, van Amelsvoort LG, Kristensen TS, Swaen GM, Nijhuis FJ. Work-family conflict as a risk factor for sickness absence. Occup Environ Med. (2006) 63:488–94. doi: 10.1136/oem.2005.02 4943
- Blum TC, Roman PM, Martin JK. Alcohol consumption and work performance. J Stud Alcohol. (1993) 54:61–70. doi: 10.15288/jsa.1993. 54.61
- Vasse RM, Nijhuis FJ, Kok G. Associations between work stress, alcohol consumption and sickness absence. *Addiction*. (1998) 93:231– 41. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.1998.9322317.x

- 101. Voss M, Floderus B, Diderichsen F. How do job characteristics, family situation, domestic work, and lifestyle factors relate to sickness absence? *A Study Based Sweden Post Occu Environ Med.* (2004) 46:1134– 43. doi: 10.1097/01.jom.0000145433.65697.8d
- Bourbonnais R, Vinet A, Meyer F, Goldberg M. Certified sick leave and work load. A case referent study among nurses. *Occu Environ Med.* (1992) 34:69– 74.
- 103. Kristensen T. Sickness absence and work strain among Danish slaughterhouse workers: an analysis of absence from work regarded as coping behaviour. Soc Sci Med. (1982) 1991:32:15-27. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(91)90122-S
- 104. Mather L, Narusyte J, Ropponen A, Bergström G, Blom V, Helgadóttir B, et al. Sick leave due to mental disorders, morbidity and mortality: a prospective study of discordant twin pairs. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2020) 55:25–32. doi: 10.1007/s00127-019-01715-9
- Mehlum I. How much sick leave is work-related? *Tidsskrift for den Norske lægeforening: tidsskrift for praktisk medicin, ny række.* (2011) 131:122–5. doi: 10.4045/tidsskr.10.0665
- 106. Grinyer A, Singleton V. Sickness absence as risk-taking behaviour: a study of organizational and cultural factors in the public sector. *Health Risk & Society* - *HEALTH RISK SOC*. (2000) 2:7–21. doi: 10.1080/136985700111413
- 107. Kangas M, Muotka J, Huhtala M. xe, kikangas A, Feldt T. Is the ethical culture of the organization associated with sickness absence? a multilevel analysis in a public sector Org J Bus Ethics. (2017) 140:131– 45. doi: 10.1007/s10551-015-2644-y
- Altman D. Practical statistics for medical research. Ist ed: CRC Press. (1990). doi: 10.1201/9780429258589
- Johnson TP. Sources of error in substance use prevalence surveys. Int Scholar Res Not. (2014) 2014:923290. doi: 10.1155/2014/923290
- 110. Boniface S, Kneale J, Shelton N. Drinking pattern is more strongly associated with under-reporting of alcohol consumption than socio-demographic factors: evidence from a mixed-methods study. *BMC Public Health.* (2014) 14:1297. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-1297
- 111. Stapelfeldt CM, Jensen C, Andersen NT, Fleten N, Nielsen CV. Validation of sick leave measures: self-reported sick leave and sickness benefit data from a Danish national register compared to multiple workplace-registered sick leave spells in a Danish municipality. *BMC Public Health*. (2012) 12:661. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-661
- 112. Severens JL, Mulder J, Laheij RJ, Verbeek AL. Precision and accuracy in measuring absence from work as a basis for calculating productivity costs in The Netherlands. Soc Sci Med. (2000) 51:243–9. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(99)00452-9
- 113. Hensing G, Wahlström R. Swedish council on technology assessment in health care (SBU). Chapter 7 Sickness absence and psychiatric disorders. *Scand J Public Healt*. (2004) 63:152–80. doi: 10.1080/14034950410021871
- 114. Ferrie JE, Kivimäki M, Head J, Shipley MJ, Vahtera J, Marmot MG, et al. comparison of self-reported sickness absence with absences recorded in employers' registers: evidence from the Whitehall II study. Occup Environ Med. (2005) 62:74–9. doi: 10.1136/oem.2004.013896
- 115. Hensing G. Chapter 4. Methodological aspects in sicknessabsence research. Scand J Public Health. (2004) 32(63_suppl):44– 8. doi: 10.1080/14034950410021844
- Richiardi L, Pizzi C, Pearce N. Commentary: representativeness is usually not necessary and often should be avoided. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2013) 42:1018– 22. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt103
- 117. Knudsen AK, Hotopf M, Skogen JC, Overland S, Mykletun A. The health status of non-participants in a population-based health study: the Hordaland Health Study. Am J Epidemiol. (2010) 172:1306–14. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq257
- 118. Boniface S, Scholes S, Shelton N, Connor J. Assessment of Non-Response Bias in Estimates of alcohol consumption: applying the continuum of resistance model in a general population survey in England. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0170892. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170892
- 119. Korkeila K, Suominen S, Ahvenainen J, Ojanlatva A, Rautava P, Helenius H, et al. Non-response and related factors in a nation-wide health survey. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2001) 17:991–9. doi: 10.1023/A:1020016922473
- 120. Latkin CA, Edwards C, Davey-Rothwell MA, Tobin KE. The relationship between social desirability bias and self-reports of health, substance use, and

social network factors among urban substance users in Baltimore, Maryland. *Addict Behav.* (2017) 73:133–6. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.05.005

- Dawson DA. Methodological issues in measuring alcohol use. Alcohol Research & Health. (2003) 27:18–29.
- Ekholm O. Influence of the recall period on self-reported alcohol intake. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2004) 58:60–3. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601746
- Ekholm O, Strandberg-Larsen K, Grønbæk M. Influence of the recall period on a beverage-specific weekly drinking measure for alcohol intake. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 65:520–5. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2011.1
- 124. Christensen KB, Lund T, Labriola M, Bültmann U, Villadsen E. The impact of health behaviour on long term sickness absence: results from DWECS/DREAM. *Ind Health.* (2007) 45:348–51. doi: 10.2486/indhealth.45.348
- 125. Laaksonen M, Piha K, Martikainen P, Rahkonen O, Lahelma E. Health-related behaviours and sickness absence from work. Occup Environ Med. (2009) 66:840–7. doi: 10.1136/oem.2008.03 9248
- 126. Benach J, Gimeno D, Benavides FG, Martínez JM, Torné Mdel M. Types of employment and health in the European union: changes from 1995 to 2000. Eur J Public Health. (2004) 14:314–21. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/14. 3.314
- 127. Johansen V. Sickness presenteeism in Norway and Sweden. Nordic J Soc Res. (2013) 3:2063. doi: 10.7577/njsr. 2063

128. Rossow I, Bye EK, Moan IS, Kilian C, Bramness JG. Changes in alcohol consumption during the COVID-19 pandemic-small change in total consumption, but increase in proportion of heavy drinkers. *Int J Env Res Pub He.* (2021) 18:4231. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18084231

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Hashemi, Dalen, Skogen, Sagvaag, Gimeno Ruiz de Porras and Aas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Social Support and Coping Style of Medical Residents in China: The Mediating Role of Psychological Resilience

Chao Xu^{1,2}, Yongyi Wang³, Zongqin Wang^{1,2}, Biao Li^{1,2}, Chuandong Yan^{1,2}, Sheng Zhang^{1,2}, Bei Chen^{1,2}, Di Zhang^{1,2} and Juan Peng^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, Wuhan Mental Health Center, Wuhan, China, ² Department of Senile Psychosomatic, Wuhan Hospital for Psychotherapy, Wuhan, China, ³ Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

Objectives: Recent surveys have paid insufficient attention to the psychological status of medical residents, but medical residents, as a special group of medical workers, need to be focused on. This study aimed to investigate medical residents' levels of social support, psychological resilience, and coping style, and explore the mediating role of psychological resilience, which can ultimately provide a new theoretical basis for improving medical residents' psychological status and quality of work and life.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Leah Okenwa Emegwa, Swedish Red Cross University College, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Yasinta Indrianti, Podomoro University, Indonesia Guanyu Cui, Wenzhou University, China

*Correspondence: Juan Peng pengjuan0025@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 March 2022 Accepted: 30 May 2022 Published: 20 June 2022

Citation:

Xu C, Wang Y, Wang Z, Li B, Yan C, Zhang S, Chen B, Zhang D and Peng J (2022) Social Support and Coping Style of Medical Residents in China: The Mediating Role of Psychological Resilience. Front. Psychiatry 13:888024. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.888024 **Methods:** A total of 577 medical residents from China were investigated by an online questionnaire, using convenience sampling. Associations between social support, psychological resilience, and coping styles were assessed using Pearson correlation analysis. The mediating effect of psychological resilience was tested using SPSS Process.

Results: Positive correlations between social support, psychological resilience and coping style were found (r = 0.474, P < 0.001; r = 0.473, P < 0.001; r = 0.353, P < 0.001). The mediating effect of psychological resilience in the relationship between social support and coping style was significant (95% CI: 0.168, 0.384), and accounted for 25.84%.

Conclusion: Attention should be paid to the psychological status of medical residents, and social support and psychological flexibility can be used to increase the enthusiasm for their coping style and promote their mental health.

Keywords: residents, psychological resilience, social support, coping style, mediation

INTRODUCTION

Medical residents are primary care physicians in hospitals, mainly responsible for the basic clinical medical work, including receiving patients, recording the course of the disease, and performing certain clinical operations, but need to receive the guidance and supervision of superior doctors (e.g., attending doctors and above). Medical residents must develop specific skills in their chosen area during their residency to maintain the quality of patient care. However, during this period, they suffer from various problems, such as lack of sleep, heavy workload, and salary dissatisfaction (1). A

119

review study showed that long working hours, as well as their negative impact on personal life, are the most common causes of personnel loss in the department of general surgery (2). Studies have focused on the mental health problems of medical residents and speculated that it may have direct or long-term serious consequences for patients or doctors themselves, but existing research has focused more on occupational burnout (2, 3). The main conclusion was that occupational burnout in medical residents was more severe and higher than that in attendings (2, 4). Occupational burnout was thought to be associated with poor psychological status (3), but few studies have reported the psychological status of medical residents.

Actually, psychological stress should be paid more attention to in the current environment of the coronavirus disease pandemic. The task of preventing and controlling infectious diseases is aggravated, medical human resources are scarce, the pressure on medical staff is higher, and the psychological burden is heavier. Several studies have proposed a potential impact of the pandemic on healthcare professionals' mental health (5–7). It has emphasized that simultaneous mental health informed interventions are necessary to promote coping (7).

Under long-term great pressure, psychological resilience has received some attention as one of the characteristics reflecting psychological status (8, 9). Psychological resilience is the ability to maintain the persistence of one's orientation toward existential purposes (10). It constitutes a horizontal attitude that can be understood as the ability to perseverance overcome difficulties experienced in different areas of one's life and a good awareness of oneself and one's internal coherence by activating a personal growth project (10).

Also, there is evidence that psychological resilience may be associated with coping style and social support (11-13). Coping styles refer to the cognitive and behavioral changes that result from the management of an individual's specific external/internal stressors (12). Social support refers to various types of assistance from social networks and can be formal and/or informal, including emotional and physical support (13). In a crosssectional study, psychological resilience was a significant factor influencing positive coping styles among Chinese undergraduates (12). Psychological resilience can also affect the way diabetic patients solve problems (14). This may be because individuals with high psychological resilience are more likely to show positive cognitive and coping styles in the face of stressful events; conversely, individuals with low psychological resilience are more negative and prone to negative emotions. Alternatively, other evidence suggested that social support provided by families and medical health care personnel can significantly increase psychological resilience in patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery (15). And social support was an important factor in the development of psychological resilience among elderly caregivers in Singapore and groups of breast cancer patients in China (13, 16). Perhaps this is because individuals with high levels of psychological resilience will take the initiative to use the source of support around them to solve the problems encountered. It is worth noting that social support, a psychological and material resource provided by a social network (17), is a strong backing for individuals when faced with stress and difficulties, helping to enhance confidence in coping with frustration and affecting the choice of coping style for individuals. Studies have shown that social support could reduce stress, reduce the impact of stressful situations, prepare individuals for difficult conditions, and enhance their coping ability (18).

The aim of this study was (1) to verify the relationship between medical residents' psychological resilience, social support, and coping style, (2) and to explore what role psychological resilience plays between the two, (3) ultimately provide a new theoretical and practical basis for improving medical residents' psychological status and quality of work and life.

Therefore, the following two hypotheses can be proposed:

Hypothesis 1: Psychological resilience, coping style, and social support of medical residents are associated with each other. **Hypothesis 2**: Medical residents' psychological resilience plays a mediating role between social support and coping styles.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Data Collection

Medical residents were selected using non-probability sampling among the four largest hospitals in Hubei Province. These four hospitals are the largest, highest ranked, with the highest number of beds and outpatient visits in Hubei Province, and also have many relatively standardized medical teams. The questionnaire was released through the online platform and was volunteered by medical residents to participate in the survey. The questionnaire was collected for 2 weeks. To ensure the quality of the questionnaire, questionnaires with an answering time of fewer than 3 mins were excluded, and each IP could only fill in it once, and a total of 577 questionnaires were finally collected.

Tools

Coping Style

The Chinese Trait Coping Style Questionnaire (TCSQ) was used to measure medical residents' coping styles, which included two dimensions: positive and negative coping. Each dimension consists of 10 items on a 5-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 (absolutely no) to 5 (absolutely yes), respectively. The difference was obtained by subtracting the total negative coping style score from the total positive coping style score. When the difference is positive, it indicates that individuals prefer a positive coping style. The validity and reliability of the TCSQ have been verified (17, 19).

Social Support

Social support was measured using the Social Support Rating Scale (SSRS) with 10 items (20). The total SSRS score ranges from 12 to 66 points, and higher scores on this measure indicate a higher level of social support. The validity and reliability of this scale in the Chinese population have been validated (21).

Psychological Resilience

The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) was chosen for this study to measure the level of psychological resilience in medical residents (22). The scale is a self-rating scale that was currently translated into multiple versions and was



TABLE 1 | Sample characteristics and primary variables (N = 577).

	n	Percent (%)/Mean \pm SD
Gender		
Male	285	49.4
Female	292	50.6
Age		22.58±2.944
Marital status		
Married	10	1.7
Unmarried	567	98.3
Only child or not		
Yes	307	53.2
No	270	46.8
Homeland		
Wuhan	65	11.3
Outside Wuhan, Hubei	51	8.8
Outside Hubei	461	79.9
Coping style		7.58 ± 11.038
Social support		27.60 ± 5.121
Psychological resilience		65.08 ± 19.862

widely used for the measurement of psychological resilience in different populations and different situations (23–25). Chinese investigators translated the scale into a Chinese version with internal consistency reliability of 0.91 and Cronbach's α ranging between 0.60 and 0.88 (26). The CD-RISC contains 25 items with responses ranging from 5 points for all items as follows: not true at all (0), rarely true (1), sometimes true (2), usually true (3), and true almost all the time (4). This scale was rated based on how the participant has felt over the past month. The total score ranges from 0 to 100, with a higher score indicating more resilience (22).

Sociodemographic

Sociodemographic data included gender (male = 1, female = 2), age, marital status (married = 1, unmarried = 2), whether they were the only child (yes = 1, no = 2) and hometown (Wuhan = 1, outside Wuhan within Hubei province = 2, outside Hubei province = 3).

Data Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 24. Categorical variables were presented as frequencies and

percentages. Continuous variables were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Associations between variables were assessed using Pearson correlation analysis. The SPSS Process was used to test the effect of social support on coping style through psychological resilience (Model 4). The significance of the mediation effect was tested by Bootstrap and a 95% confidence interval (CI) for the mediation effect was calculated by sampling 5,000 times in the original data using repeated random sampling. If the 95%CI does not include 0, the path is significant. The conceptualized model was shown in **Figure 1**.

RESULT

Detailed descriptions of sociodemographic characteristics and main variables were given in **Table 1**. The main participants in this study were unmarried, with a similar proportion of males (49.4%) and females (50.6%). More than half of the participants were only child (53.2%), and most physicians' hometowns were outside Hubei Province (79.9%).

The results of correlation analysis (**Table 2**) showed that only age was positively correlated with coping style (r = 0.102, P < 0.05). There were positive relationships between social support, psychological resilience and coping style (r = 0.474, P < 0.001; r = 0.473, P < 0.001; r = 0.353, P < 0.001).

Results of mediation analysis were presented in **Table 3**. Social support had a significant effect on psychological resilience ($\beta = 1.385$, P < 0.001) and psychological resilience had a significant effect on coping style ($\beta = 0.192$, P < 0.001). Total effect (95% CI: 0.871, 1.182), direct effect (95% CI: 0.607, 0.916), and indirect effect of psychological resilience (95% CI: 0.168, 0.384) were all significant. And the indirect effect accounted for 25.84%.

DISCUSSION

The level of psychological resilience of medical residents in the present study was 65.08 ± 19.86 , similar to the results of a study of Turkish nurses (64.28 ± 15.99) (27). This study explored the role of psychological resilience in the relationship between social support and coping style in medical residents. And the results showed that social support and psychological resilience were positively correlated with coping style. Psychological resilience played a part of the intermediary role in the relationship between the two. These results support our hypothesis.

Our findings showed that individuals with a high level of social support were more likely to prefer a positive coping style. Social support is widely recognized as a valuable resource, including tangible forms of assistance that individuals receive from family, friends, and others (28). On the one hand, a high level of social support often means that there are more available resources (28); on the other hand, emotional encouragement and understanding derived from family or friends help alleviate emotions (18, 29) and is the hope that people have positive psychological energy (30). During stressful events, including disasters, disasters, and disease outbreaks, social and peer support is an important protective factor for the overall mental health of medical staff themselves (5). Moreover, lack of support and

TABLE 2 | Correlation between sociodemographic data and main variables.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1. Gender	1							
2. Age	0.011	1						
3. Marital status	0.002	-0.444***	1					
4. Only child or not	0.072	0.185***	-0.062	1				
5. Homeland	-0.054	-0.080	0.057	0.087*	1			
6. Coping style	-0.072	0.102*	-0.035	-0.037	-0.032	1		
7. Social support	-0.020	0.048	-0.016	0.055	0.026	0.474***	1	
8. Psychological resilience	-0.066	0.030	-0.029	-0.024	-0.056	0.473***	0.353***	1

*P < 0.05, ***P < 0.001. Significant results between the main variables were shown in bold.

TABLE 3 | Total, direct, and indirect effect of social support on coping style via psychological resilience.

	Coeff./Effect	Р	95%	%CI
			Lower	Upper
$X \rightarrow M$	1.385	<0.001	1.087	1.683
$X \!\! \to Y$	0.761	<0.001	0.607	0.916
$M{\rightarrow}Y$	0.192	<0.001	0.152	0.231
Total effect	1.027	<0.001	0.871	1.182
Direct effect	0.761	<0.001	0.607	0.916
Indirect effect	0.265		0.168	0.384
Proportion	25.84%			

X, social support; M, psychological resilience; Y, coping style.

understanding from family members and relatives, and lack of people's recognition of medical work can affect individuals' coping (8); Clinicians have begun to recognize the importance of social support in the form of family and friends for patients (28). The previous study has included more social support from mast cell patients in adaptive coping strategies, implying the impact of social support on coping (31). At the same time, patients' avoidance-type coping activities are associated with a low frequency of seeking social support (31). Social support was also considered to have a direct and buffering effect on patients' health and emotional adaptation (32) and was one of the effective strategies to improve the coping style and quality of life of cancer patients (32).

Social support has also been shown to influence coping style through psychological resilience. Social support can provide favorable external environmental conditions for the development of psychological resilience, for example, old adults who perceived higher support from social networks could prompt them to actively adapt to stressors resulting from migration and aging rather than avoid them (33). And the current study showed that social media use can enhance psychological resilience and increase the level of perceived social support to meet individuals' psychosocial needs in a fast-paced and rapidly changing world (18). Particularly, in crises, social media plays two important roles: it facilitates timely access to information from informal and official sources, and it also links people with their loved ones and the community who provide relief, help, and support (34). Thus, good social support can give people positive energy and support, promote them to view stress events optimistically, attenuate the negative effects caused by stress events, and improve hardiness. This was consistent with the findings of a study of caregivers of psychiatric patients (35). Providing social support to caregivers of patients with schizophrenia would improve their psychological resilience and may also help to improve their coping with these deficits (35). Studies in the nursing field have also shown that social support was a positive factor in the psychological resilience among midwife candidates, and as psychological resilience increased, self-confidence and problem-solving ability were also enhanced (36). In settings where epidemics are rampant nowadays, psychological resilience has still received continuous attention, suggesting its undeniable importance. Some investigators have recommended the development and implementation of strategies aimed at improving the psychological resilience of HCWs through evidence-based education and training to strengthen HCWs' defense against the various mental and psychological consequences of the pandemic (37, 38). Therefore, the focus of this study is of great significance.

This study has several limitations. First, a cross-sectional study was conducted at a single time point, and no conclusion on causality can be drawn. Second, this study collected data in one city, which may have introduced bias and limited the generalizability of the findings. Therefore, future studies with participants from different regions are warranted. Third, this study employed a self-report questionnaire, which may have contributed to reporting bias.

CONCLUSION

The study focused on medical residents' social support, psychological resilience, and coping style. The results of the study confirmed that there was a significant positive correlation among the three, and at the same time, a mediating effect of psychological resilience was found. Therefore, we believe that attention to the psychological status of medical residents should be strengthened, and attempts should be made to increase social support and psychological resilience to increase the enthusiasm for coping styles and ultimately improve their mental health status.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Wuhan Mental Health Center, Huazhong University of Science and Technology. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CX and JP: conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, methodology, writing-original draft, writing-review and

REFERENCES

- Rodrigues H, Cobucci R, Oliveira A, Cabral JV, Medeiros L, Gurgel K, et al. Burnout syndrome among medical residents: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0206840. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0206840
- Pulcrano M, Evans SR, Sosin M. Quality of life and burnout rates across surgical specialties: a systematic review. JAMA Surg. (2016) 151:970– 8. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2016.1647
- Thomas NK. Resident burnout. JAMA. (2004) 292:2880– 9. doi: 10.1001/jama.292.23.2880
- Mccray LW, Cronholm PF, Bogner HR, Gallo JJ, Neill RA. Resident physician burnout: is there hope? *Fam Med.* (2008) 40:626–32.
- Raudenska J, Steinerova V, Javurkova A, Urits I, Kaye AD, Viswanath O, et al. Occupational burnout syndrome and post-traumatic stress among healthcare professionals during the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol.* (2020) 34:553– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.bpa.2020.07.008
- Danet Danet A. Psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic in Western frontline healthcare professionals. A systematic review Med Clin (Barc). (2021) 156:449–58. doi: 10.1016/j.medcli.2020.11.009
- Bohlken J, Schomig F, Lemke MR, Pumberger M, Riedel-Heller SG. COVID-19 pandemic: stress experience of healthcare workers—a short current review. *Psychiatr Prax.* (2020) 47:190–7. doi: 10.1055/a-1159-5551
- Labrague LJ. Psychological resilience, coping behaviours and social support among health care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review of quantitative studies. *J Nurs Manag.* (2021) 29:1893–905. doi: 10.1111/jonm.13336
- Tay PKC, Lim KK. Psychological resilience as an emergent characteristic for well-being: a pragmatic view. *Gerontology*. (2020) 66:476–83. doi: 10.1159/000509210
- Sisto A, Vicinanza F, Campanozzi LL, Ricci G, Tartaglini D, Tambone V. Towards a transversal definition of psychological resilience: a literature review. *Medicina*. (2019) 55. doi: 10.3390/medicina55110745
- Popa-Velea O, Diaconescu L, Jidveian Popescu M, Trutescu C. Resilience and active coping style: Effects on the self-reported quality of life in cancer patients. *Int J Psychiatry Med.* (2017) 52:124–36. doi: 10.1177/00912174177 20895
- 12. Wu Y, Yu W, Wu X, Wan H, Wang Y, Lu G. Psychological resilience and positive coping styles among Chinese undergraduate students: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychol.* (2020) 8:79. doi: 10.1186/s40359-020-0 0444-y
- Zhang H, Zhao Q, Cao P, Ren G. Resilience and quality of life: exploring the mediator role of social support in patients with breast cancer. *Med Sci Monit.* (2017) 23:5969–79. doi: 10.12659/MSM.907730

editing, validation, and visualization. YW: formal analysis, methodology, writing—original draft, writing—review and editing, validation, and visualization. ZW and BL: data curation, formal analysis, and writing—review and editing. CY, SZ, BC, and DZ: data curation, writing—review and editing, and validation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Wuhan Municipal Health Commission (WX18Q35).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all the participants at four hospitals for their assistance in the study.

- Yi-Frazier JP, Smith RE, Vitaliano PP, Yi JC, Mai S, Hillman M, et al. A personfocused analysis of resilience resources and coping in diabetes patients. *Stress Health.* (2010) 26:51–60. doi: 10.1002/smi.1258
- Çakir H, Küçükakça Çelik G, Çirpan R. Correlation between social support and psychological resilience levels in patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery: a descriptive study. *Psychol Health Med.* (2021) 26:899–910. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2020.1859561
- Ong HL, Vaingankar JA, Abdin E, Sambasivam R, Fauziana R, Tan ME, et al. Resilience and burden in caregivers of older adults: moderating and mediating effects of perceived social support. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2018) 18:27. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1616-z
- Tong X, Chen J, Park SP, Wang X, Wang C, Su M, et al. Social support for people with epilepsy in China. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 64:224– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.08.010
- Asghar MZ, Arif S, Barbera E, Seitamaa-Hakkarainen P, Kocayoruk E. Support through social media and online class participation to enhance psychological resilience. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:11962. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182211962
- Ding Y, Yang Y, Yang X, Zhang T, Qiu X, He X, et al. The mediating role of coping style in the relationship between psychological capital and burnout among Chinese nurses. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e0122128. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0122128
- Hou T, Zhang T, Cai W, Song X, Chen A, Deng G, et al. Social support and mental health among health care workers during Coronavirus Disease 2019 outbreak: a moderated mediation model. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0233831. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0233831
- Lin J, Su Y, Lv X, Liu Q, Wang G, Wei J, et al. Perceived stressfulness mediates the effects of subjective social support and negative coping style on suicide risk in Chinese patients with major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 265:32–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.026
- Connor KM, Davidson JR. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). *Depress Anxiety*. (2003) 18:76– 82. doi: 10.1002/da.10113
- Tourunen A, Siltanen S, Saajanaho M, Koivunen K, Kokko K, Rantanen T. Psychometric properties of the 10-item Connor-Davidson resilience scale among Finnish older adults. *Aging Ment Health.* (2021) 25:99– 106. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2019.1683812
- Blanco V, Guisande MA, Sánchez MT, Otero P, Vázquez FL. Spanish validation of the 10-item Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC 10) with non-professional caregivers. *Aging Ment Health.* (2019) 23:183– 8. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2017.1399340
- Xie Y, Peng L, Zuo X, Li M. The Psychometric evaluation of the connordavidson resilience scale using a Chinese military sample. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0148843. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148843

- Yu X, Zhang J. Factor analysis and psychometric evaluation of the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) with Chinese people. Social Behav Personal. (2007) 35:19–30. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2007.35.1.19
- Kilinç T, Sis Çelik A. Relationship between the social support and psychological resilience levels perceived by nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic: a study from Turkey. *Perspect Psychiatr Care.* (2021) 57:1000– 1008. doi: 10.1111/ppc.12648
- Karahan AY, Kucuksen S, Yilmaz H, Salli A, Gungor T, Sahin M. Effects of rehabilitation services on anxiety, depression, care-giving burden and perceived social support of stroke caregivers. *Acta Med.* (2014) 57:68– 72. doi: 10.14712/18059694.2014.42
- Labrague LJ, De Los Santos JAA, Falguera CC. Social and emotional loneliness among college students during the COVID-19 pandemic: the predictive role of coping behaviors, social support, and personal resilience. *Perspect Psychiatr Care.* (2021) 57:1578–84. doi: 10.1111/ppc.12721
- Yildirim M, Arslan G. Exploring the associations between resilience, dispositional hope, preventive behaviours, subjective well-being, and psychological health among adults during early stage of COVID-19. *Curr Psychol.* (2020) 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s12144-020-01177-2
- Nicoloro-Santabarbara J, Carroll J, Lobel M. Coping, social support, and anxiety in people with mast cell disorders. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2021) 127:435–40. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2021.06.014
- Usta YY. Importance of social support in cancer patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. (2012) 13:3569–72. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2012.13.8.3569
- 33. Kong LN, Zhang N, Yuan C, Yu ZY, Yuan W, Zhang GL. Relationship of social support and health-related quality of life among migrant older adults: The mediating role of psychological resilience. *Geriatr Nurs.* (2021) 42:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2020.10.019
- 34. Taylor M, Wells G, Howell G, Raphael B. The role of social media as psychological first aid as a support to community resilience building : a Facebook study from 'Cyclone Yasi Update'. *Aust J Emerg Manag.* (2012) 27:20–6. Available online at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 291314739_The_role_of_social_media_as_psychological_first_aid_as_a_ support_to_community_resilience_building_A_Facebook_study_from_ %27Cyclone_Yasi_Update%27

- Lök N, Bademli K. The relationship between the perceived social support and psychological resilience in caregivers of patients with schizophrenia. *Commun Ment Health J.* (2021) 57:387–91. doi: 10.1007/s10597-020-00665-w
- Ertekin Pinar S, Yildirim G, Sayin N. Investigating the psychological resilience, self-confidence and problem-solving skills of midwife candidates. *Nurse Educ Today*. (2018) 64:144–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2018.02.014
- Babore A, Lombardi L, Viceconti ML, Pignataro S, Marino V, Crudele M, et al. Psychological effects of the COVID-2019 pandemic: Perceived stress and coping strategies among healthcare professionals. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 293:113366. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113366
- Blanco-Donoso LM, Moreno-Jimenez J, Amutio A, Gallego-Alberto L, Moreno-Jimenez B, Garrosa E. Stressors, job resources, fear of contagion, and secondary traumatic stress among nursing home workers in face of the COVID-19: the case of Spain. J Appl Gerontol. (2021) 40:244–56. doi: 10.1177/07334648209 64153

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Xu, Wang, Wang, Li, Yan, Zhang, Chen, Zhang and Peng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Improving Employee Mental Health: A Health Facility-Based Study in the United States

Gerald Chia Gwain^{1,2}, Hubert Amu^{3*} and Luchuo Engelbert Bain⁴

¹ Department of Nursing, University of New Hampshire, Durham, DH, United States, ² MBI Health Services, Washington, DC, United States, ³ Department of Population and Behavioural Sciences, School of Public Health, University of Health and Allied Sciences, Hohoe, Ghana, ⁴ Lincoln International Institute for Rural Health (LIIRH), College of Social Science, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Background: In the US, over 52.9 million (21%) adults lived with a mental health illness in 2020, with depression, being one of the commonest of these conditions. The World Health Organization ranks depression as the most important contributor to global disability. As frontline workers who are responsible for taking care of a myriad of patients daily, health workers are usually exposed to depressive situations which eventually result in the development of the condition among them. This study, therefore, developed an intervention to reduce depression among workers at the Outpatient Mental Health Clinic in Washington District of Columbia, United States.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Leah Okenwa Emegwa, Swedish Red Cross University College, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Krushna Chandra Sahoo, Regional Medical Research Center (ICMR), India Senhu Wang, National University of Singapore, Singapore

> *Correspondence: Hubert Amu hubertamu@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 12 March 2022 Accepted: 23 May 2022 Published: 21 June 2022

Citation:

Gwain GC, Amu H and Bain LE (2022) Improving Employee Mental Health: A Health Facility-Based Study in the United States. Front. Public Health 10:895048. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.895048 **Methods:** A pre-intervention survey was conducted among 43 employees. The survey used the already validated Patient Health Questionnaire depression scale (PHQ-9) to determine the prevalence of depression. The WHO Healthy Workplace Model was adopted in designing an instrument for the workplace determinants of depression. An mHealth intervention was then developed and implemented among the workers. After this, a post-intervention survey was conducted among the cohort. Descriptive and inferential statistics were adopted in analyzing the data with STATA.

Results: The pre-intervention survey showed a depression prevalence of 30.2% among the employees. The post-intervention survey, however, showed that the prevalence of depression among the employees reduced to 12.6%. The surveys also showed that the majority of employees who felt exposed to workplace hazards including harmful chemicals, expressed feelings of depression (pre-intervention = 53.6%; post-intervention = 80%).

Conclusion: The intervention designed for this study was effective in reducing self-reported depression among employees. Improving employee mental health in health care facilities will require awareness raising among employees, mental health friendly policies, and regular follow up of employee mental health needs. Though this intervention was on a small scale, it shows promise for using cheap mhealth solutions in improving mental health at the work place.

Keywords: depression, facility-based study, mental health, mHealth intervention, United States

INTRODUCTION

Mental health disorders continue to increase globally each year (1) with over 450 million people experiencing these conditions each year (2). They are characterized by a combination of abnormal thoughts, emotions, perceptions, behavior, and relations with other conditions which include autism, bipolar disorder, dementia, schizophrenia, and depression and are responsible for 1 out of 5 years lived with disability worldwide (2). Of the 450 million people who experience mental disorders, about 264 million are due to depression alone. In the US, over 52.9 (21%) million adults lived with a mental health illness in 2020, with depression, being one of the commonest of these conditions (3).

The WHO (4) ranks depression as the most important contributor to global disability. Depression can be recurrent or long-lasting and inhibit people's ability to perform at school or the workplace as well as negatively affect overall daily life. At its peak, depression results in suicide (1, 5) with about 800,000 people committing suicide annually (6). The risk factors of depression entail multifaceted interactions between biological, social, and psychological determinants. Also, life events such as unemployment, loss, and childhood misfortune impact and may facilitate the development of depression (7).

In the United States, depression has been on the ascendency over the past two decades. The National Health Interview Survey posits that in 2019, 18.5% of adults experienced depressive symptoms that were either severe, moderate, or mild for at least 2 weeks (8). Specifically, 11.5% had mild depressive symptoms, 4.2% had moderate symptoms, and 2.8% had severe symptoms. Exacerbated by the emergence of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) global pandemic, the prevalence of depression in the US has become over three times greater during COVID-19 than before the pandemic (9). Despite these statistics, mental health conditions including depression receive less attention compared to other health conditions in the US (10). This is because patients suffering from these conditions rarely seek help, face stigma in obtaining health care, or simply do not consider themselves to be sick (11, 12).

At the workplace, many mental health conditions, most especially depression, go undiagnosed (13). Meanwhile, prevalent undiagnosed depression can be a cause of low productivity (14). A study by Bond et al. (15) for the US Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) indicated that depression constitutes a major leading cause of work absenteeism and responsible for high work disability insurance claims filling in both public and private sectors. The CDC reports that depression interferes with a person's ability to complete physical job tasks about 20% of the time and reduces cognitive performance about 35% of the time. Even after taking other health risks (e.g., obesity and smoking) into account, employees at elevated risk of depression had the highest healthcare costs during the 3 years after an initial health risk assessment.

Depression can be effectively managed, and people can fully recover if treatment interventions are initiated early (15). Early work-based invention is crucial because it helps mitigate devastating effects of depression and improve work performance (15). Besides, early intervention saves employees' employment and prevents consequences of unemployment including alcohol abuse, hopelessness, isolation, decreased self-esteem, increased depression and suicide and long sick leave will reduce employee's likelihood for returning to the same job (15). Active Labor Market Programmes (ALMPs), which form important components of employment support policies around the world, have also been found by the literature, to enhance mental health and wellbeing of individuals. Active Labor Market Programmes (ALMPs), which form important components of employment support policies around the world, have also been found by the literature, to enhance mental health and wellbeing of individuals (16, 17).

Short Messaging Service (SMS) and email messaging are efficient and personal forms of electronic communication, making them ideal for delivering health interventions (18). Also known as mHealth interventions, these strategies have the potential to impact mental health because cell phones and SMS/email messages are widely used around the world. mHealth interventions effectively support health behaviors and have advantages over other types of computerized interventions. Program features that improve user engagement and persuasiveness are suggested to mitigate the effect of SMS intervention (18). Our study, therefore, sought to develop an mHealth intervention to reduce the prevalence of depression among health workers. Our study is essential in that addressing depression would also mean addressing other associated health challenges that employees experience daily at work. It could, therefore, contribute effectively to the design and implementation of interventions toward addressing mental health conditions in the US.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Theoretical Issues

Introduction

The theoretical framework which guided this project was the WHO Healthy Workplace Model (19). A healthy workplace was defined as "one in which workers and managers collaborate to use a continual improvement process to protect and promote the health, safety and well-being of workers and the sustainability of the workplace by considering the following, based on identified needs: health and safety concerns in the physical work environment; health, safety and well-being organization of work and workplace culture; personal health resources in the workplace; and ways of participating in the community to improve the health of workers, their families and other members of the community" (19).

Tenets of the Theory

The key tenets are grouped into four large "avenues of influence." These are the physical work environment, the psychosocial work environment, the personal health resources in the workplace, and enterprise community involvement. These avenues are not mutually exclusive entities. Rather, they overlap and influence one another (**Figure 1**).



The physical work environment content of the model, for instance relates to the part of the workplace facility which includes air, structure, chemicals, furniture, machines, and processes and materials present or that can happen (sometimes introducing hazards) at the workplace, and which can affect mental health including depression. The organization culture and psychosocial work environment includes practices, beliefs, values, and attitudes exhibited at work daily and which have the propensity to affect the mental health of employees leading to depression (19). Similarly, the personal health resources in the workplace (including a support environment, health services, information, and opportunities) and enterprise community involvement (including activities, expertise, and other resources a health entity engages in or provides to the environment within which it operates) could have implications for the development of depression by the employees depending on their levels of engagement in these activities/exposures. The model then offers the opportunity to integrate an intervention needed to address the identified challenges as a step toward reducing the depression levels among employees.

Rugulies (20) described a broadened perspective on the psychosocial work environment to include aspects of the job and work environment such as organizational climate or culture, work roles, interpersonal relationships at work, and the design and content of tasks (variety, meaning, scope, repetitiveness, etc.). The concept of psychosocial factors extends also to the extra-organizational environment, such as domestic demands and aspects of the individual such as personality and attitudes, which may influence the development of stress at work. Frequently, the expressions work organization or organizational factors are used interchangeably with psychosocial factors in reference to working conditions which may lead to stress (20).

Conclusion

The WHO Healthy Workplace Model was adopted as the conceptual framework for this study due to its relevance in outlining the essential workplace determinants of employee mental health. The model is thus, best positioned to provide the basis for the development of the factors influencing depression among health professionals in the current study. By adopting the healthy workplace model, the current study was guided in efficiently identifying the various work-related determinants of mental health and consequently the development of depression by employees.

Study Setting

Our study was conducted at the Outpatient Mental Health Clinic in Washington District of Columbia, US. The Outpatient Mental Health Clinic in Washington District provides services to approximately 4,000 patients. The services offered include psychiatric rehabilitative services, substance abuse and assertive community therapy programs. This project sought to create awareness of employee mental health problems and develop an intervention effective in improving the mental health of all employees at the facility and beyond.

Study Design

Pre-intervention (Baseline) Survey

A baseline survey using the already validated Patient Health Questionnaire depression scale (PHQ-9) developed by Kroenke et al. (21) was carried out to examine the prevalence of depression in the workplace. To ascertain the workplace determinants of depression at the workplace, the WHO Healthy Workplace Model developed by Burton and WHO (19) was adopted. Together with the PHQ-9 and background characteristics, a questionnaire (see **Appendix 1**) was created and administered in the form of Google Forms among the study participants.

Development and Implementation of Intervention

After the baseline survey was conducted, an intervention was developed based on the findings. Specifically, already validated depression-related messages were adapted from Hartnett et al. (22) and Agyapong et al. (23) to constitute the intervention. The intervention had 8 statements as presented in **Table 1**.

Specifically, statements 1, 2, 3, 6, and 7 were adapted from Agyapong et al. (23), while statement 4, 5, and 8 were adapted from Hartnett et al. (22). The intervention was implemented over a 1-month period (October 2021). Using text and email messaging systems, the messages were sent to the employees twice weekly. Thus, one message was sent on Tuesday and the other one was sent on Saturday. The adaptation of these messages was informed by their relative effectiveness upon implementation. The study by Hartnett et al. was a protocol for the one by Agyapong et al. In their study, Agyapong et al. carried out a single-rater-blinded randomized trial involving 73 patients with major depressive disorder. Patients in the intervention group received supportive text messages for 6 months instead

TABLE 1 | Intervention statements for employees.

No Statements

- What lies behind you and what lies before you are tiny matters compared to what lies within you. Have faith in yourself and success can be yours at the work place.
- Letting go of resentment at the workplace is a gift you give yourself, and it will ease your professional journey immeasurably. Make peace with everyone at the work place and happiness will be yours.
- Pay attention to activities that have a positive impact on your mood especially at work. Note these activities and refer to them when you hit a low point to improve your mood at work.
- For today, focus on only what is happening now. Do not entertain negative words, thoughts or actions including those you experience at the workplace.
- 5. By taking care of our physical health, our past hurts, and our present-day stresses, we can overcome low mood especially at the workplace.
- 6. There are 2 days in the week we should not worry about, yesterday and tomorrow. That leaves today, live for today.
- Stumbling blocks can become steppingstones to a better life. You can turn adversities into opportunities.
- 8. Your thoughts affect how you feel. Thoughts are not facts. Notice them and watch them come and go.

of 1 month for the current study. The authors concluded by stating, "Our findings suggest that supportive text messages are a potentially useful psychological intervention for depression...."

Post-intervention (End-Line) Survey

Immediately after the rollout of the intervention (November 2021), a post-intervention survey was carried out to ascertain any changes in the prevalence and determinants of depression among employees. The approach adopted for the baseline survey was repeated and the initial cohort included in the survey was recruited again as part of the end-line survey. Four of the initial participants could, however, not participate in the end-line survey. As such, while the baseline survey had 43 participants, the end-line had 39 participants. The study size was informed by the small number of employees of the surveyed institution (50). As such, a census was conducted and the 43 participants were those who responded to our surveys and also took part in the intervention rollout.

Measurements

To measure the impact of the intervention, findings from the baseline and end-line surveys were compared. Findings from the end-line survey are useful in informing amendments/improvements to the developed intervention. Depression was categorized using a PHQ-9 score of ≥ 10 . Socio-demographic characteristics of the participants in the pre-and post-intervention surveys were also compared. The frequency distribution of major depression and other depression by standard PHQ-9 severity intervals (0–4, 5–9, 10–14, 15–19, & 20–24) as well as the commonly used a cut-off point of ≥ 10 . The scale was measured as Depression Severity: 0–4 none, 5–9 mild, 10–14 moderate, 15–19 moderately severe, 20–27 severe. A dichotomous variable of 0 = depressed, and 1 = Not depressed was then developed as the outcome variable. **TABLE 2** | Background characteristics of employees in the pre- and post-intervention surveys.

Background Characteristics	Pre-intervention $(N = 43) n (\%)$	Post- intervention (N = 39) n (%)
Age		
<30	6 (13.95)	8 (20.51)
30–39	22 (51.16)	19 (48.72)
40–49	12 (27.91)	10 (25.64)
50+	3 (6.98)	2 (5.13)
Sex		
Male	19 (44.19)	21 (53.85)
Female	24 (55.81)	18 (46.15)
Marital status		
Never Married	16 (37.21)	17 (43.59)
Married	23 (53.49)	21 (53.85)
Divorced	3 (6.98)	1 (2.56)
Widowed	1 (2.33)	
Educational level		
No education	1 (2.33)	1 (2.56)
Postsecondary/higher education	38 (88.37)	26 (66.67)
Secondary	4 (9.30)	12 (30.77)
Religion		
Christianity	42 (97.67)	28 (97.44)
Islamic	1 (2.33)	1 (2.56)
Occupation		
Psychiatrists	6 (13.95)	9 (23.08)
Psychiatric Nurses	10 (23.26)	7 (17.95)
Community support workers	10 (23.26)	6 (15.38)
IT personnel	4 (9.30)	5 (12.82)
Other occupations	13 (30.23)	12 (30.77)
Duration of practice (In	years)	
< 1	6 (13.95)	6 (15.38)
1–5	19 (44.19)	18 (46.15)
6–10	14 (32.56)	10 (25.64)
11+	4 (9.30)	5 (12.82)
Duration at facility (In ye	ears)	
< 1	10 (23.26)	10 (25.64)
1–5	22 (51.16)	16 (41.03)
6–10	10 (23.26)	10 (25.64)
11+	1 (2.33)	3 (7.69)
Total	43 (100.00)	39 (100.00)

The depression instrument, background characteristics, and workplace determinants were all put into a questionnaire which was then administered during the pre- and post-intervention surveys (**Appendix 1**).

Data Analysis

Quantitative data collected from the participants were entered and cleaned using Epi data software. The data were then transported into STATA software for analysis. Data collected from the PHQ-9, socio-demographic characteristics and workplace determinants of depression were analyzed using frequency, percentage, bar charts, and chi-square analysis. Statistical significance in the chi-square analysis was determined at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Background Characteristics of Employees

Table 2 presents results of the background characteristics of employees included in the pre-intervention (baseline) and post-intervention (end-line) surveys. Majority of the employees in both surveys were in their 30s. Female workers constituted 55.8% in the baseline while males formed 53.9% in the end-line survey. Most of them (Pre-intervention [Baseline]: 88.4%; Post-Intervention [End-line]: 66.67%) had postsecondary/higher level of education. The majority (97%) were Christians. The respondents were psychiatric Nurses, community support workers, and psychiatrists. The comparative majority had worked for 1–5 years in their respective professions as well as in the facility, for 1–5 years.

Prevalence of Reported Feelings of Depression Among Employees

Depression was measured using the Personal Health Questionnaire Depression Scale (PHQ-9). Figure 2 presents results of the levels of depression in the pre-intervention and post-intervention surveys. Prior to the intervention, the prevalence of reported feelings of depression among the employees was 30.2%. This, however, declined to just 12.6% post-intervention.

Workplace Determinants Depression Among Employees

Table 3 presents a bivariable analysis for the relationship between workplace determinants and depression among employees. In the pre-intervention survey, about 54% of workers who disagreed to the statement that they were always motivated to come to work were those who verbalized feelings of depression. Similarly, about 62% of employees who reported not being comfortable to share their mental health needs with management of their workplace also reported being feelings of depression. The majority (80%) of the employees who had healthy interpersonal relationships with their co-workers and strong and positive support environment at the workplace did not report any feelings of depression.

In the post-intervention survey, there was no significant association between work-related determinants and depression. However, it was noted about 60.0% of workers who disagreed with the statement that access to information is easy at your workplace reported feelings of depression. The majority (85.3%) of the employees who had healthy interpersonal relationships with their co-workers at the workplace did not report any feelings of depression. Similarly, most employees (82.4%) who agreed that work-related values at the workplace were appropriate and promote their mental health did not report feelings of depression.

DISCUSSION

Depression is a serious mental health challenge in the US. It is a result of a complex interaction of biological, psycho-social, and psychological factors. People who have gone through unfavorable life events including unpleasant working environments have high probabilities of developing depression (24). Depression, in turn, leads to stress and dysfunction and aggravates the affected



TABLE 3 | Bivariable relationship between workplace determinants and depression.

Workplace determinants	Pr	e-intervention	survey ($N = 43$)	Post-intervention survey ($N = 39$)			
	Not depressed n (%)	Depressed n (%)	Chi-Square	p-value	Not depressed n (%)	Depressed n (%)	Chi-Square	p-value
Always motivated to come to work			2.95	0.086			0.3123	0.576
Disagree Agree	8 (26.67) 22 (73.33)	7 (53.85) 6 (46.15)			11 (32.35) 23 (67.65)	1 (20.00) 4 (80.00)		
Air quality at the workplace is appropriate for you			0.60	0.439			0.1907	0.662
Disagree Agree	8 (26.67) 22 (73.33)	5 (38.46) 8 (61.54)			10 (29.41) 24 (70.59)	1 (20.00) 4 (80.00)		
Exposed to harmful chemicals and other environmental hazards at the workplace			0.03	0.864			1.0479	0.306
Disagree Agree	13 (43.33) 17 (56.67)	6 (46.15) 7 (53.85)			15 (44.12) 19 (55.88)	1 (20.00) 4 (80.00)		
The furniture you work with is appropriate for your health and posture	. ,	. ,	1.95	0.163			0.0025	0.960
Disagree Agree	11 (36.67) 19 (63.33)	2 (15.38) 11 (84.62)			14 (41.18) 20 (58.82)	2 (40.00) 3 (60.00)		
The attitudes of your co-workers are positive toward you			3.02	0.082			0.8434	0.358
Disagree Agree	6 (20.00) 24 (80.00)	0 (0.00) 13 (100.00)			5 (14.71) 29 (85.29)	0 (0.00) 5 (100)		
The attitude of management is positive toward you and promotes the effective discharge of your duties			0.60	0.439			0.1907	0.662
Disagree Agree	8 (26.67) 22 (73.33)	5 (38.46) 8 (61.54)			10 (29.41) 24 (70.59)	1 (20.00) 4 (80.00)		
Nork-related values at the workplace are appropriate and promote your nental health			0.061	0.804			1.3358	0.248
Disagree Agree	8 (26.67) 22 (73.33)	3 (23.08) 10 (76.92)			6 (17.65) 28 (82.35)	2 (40.00) 3 (60.00)		
Strong and positive support environment at the workplace			0.60	0.443			0.0009	0.976
Disagree Agree	6 (20.00) 24 (80.00)	4 (30.77) 9 (69.23)			7 (20.59) 27 (79.41)	1 (20.00) 4 (80.00)		
Access to information is easy at your workplace			0.45	0.501			3.5511	0.060
Disagree Agree	10 (33.33) 20 (66.67)	3 (23.08) 10 (76.92)			7 (20.59) 27 (79.41)	3 (60.00) 2 (40.00)		
Access to opportunities for personal levelopment abound at the vorkplace			0.22	0.642			0.0025	0.960
Disagree Agree	9 (30.00) 21 (70.00)	3 (23.08) 10 (76.92)			14 (41.18) 20 (58.82)	2 (40.00) 3 (60.00)		
nterpersonal relationships (with co-workers) at the workplace are lealthy			0.13	0.721			0.6202	0.431
Disagree Agree	6 (20.00) 24 (80.00)	2 (15.38) 11 (84.62)			8 (23.53) 26 (76.47)	2 (40.00) 3 (60.00)		
Trust your co-workers when it comes to sharing your mental health needs with them?			0.34	0.559			0.4424	0.506
Disagree Agree	11 (36.67) 19 (63.33)	6 (46.15) 7 (53.85)			19 (55.88) 15 (44.12)	2 (20.00) 3 (60.00)		

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Workplace determinants	Pr	Pre-intervention survey ($N = 43$)			Post-intervention survey ($N = 39$)			
	Not depressed n (%)	Depressed n (%)	Chi-Square	<i>p</i> -value	Not depressed n (%)	Depressed n (%)	Chi-Square	<i>p</i> -value
The design and content of tasks are friendly at your workplace			0.28	0.596			0.1907	0.662
Disagree	4 (13.33)	1 (7.69)			10 (29.41)	1 (20.00)		
Agree	26 (86.67)	12 (92.31)			24 (70.59)	4 (80.00)		
Feeling that the organization takes into consideration your mental health			1.04	0.307			0.0057	0.940
Disagree	9 (30.00)	6 (46.15)			13 (38.24)	2 (40.00)		
Agree	21 (70.00)	7 (53.85)			21 (38.24)	3 (60.00)		
Always comfortable to share your mental health needs with management of your workplace			0.46	0.486			0.6281	0.428
Disagree	15 (50.00)	8 (61.54)			20 (58.82)	2 (40.00)		
Agree	15 (50.00)	5 (38.46)			14 (41.18)	3 (60.00)		
Availability and access to personal health resources at the workplace			0.003	0.960			0.0057	0.940
Disagree	9(30.0 = 0)	4 (30.77)			13 (38.24)	2 (40.00)		
Agree	21 (70.00)	9 (69.23)			21 (61.76)	3 (60.00)		

person's life. As frontline workers who are responsible for taking care of a myriad of patients daily, health workers are usually exposed to depressive situations which eventually results in them developing the mental health condition. Once that happens, interventions are required to reduce the prevalence and toll of the depressive symptoms among them. The purpose of the current project was to develop an intervention which helps to improve employee mental health in healthcare settings with focus on depression and examine workplace factors which influence depression among employees. Using the already validated Patient Health Questionnaire depression scale (PHQ-9) developed by Kroenke et al. (21) and adopting the WHO Healthy Workplace Model developed by Burton and WHO (19), a pre-intervention survey was conducted among employees of the Outpatient Mental Health Clinic in Washington District of Columbia.

Our study showed a reported feelings of depression prevalence of 30.2% among the employees. This prevalence was far more than the average depression levels in the USA as reported by the WHO (4). The survey also showed that while the work environment was generally supportive toward achieving desired mental health state, the employees felt they were exposed to workplace hazards. To address the high level of reported feelings of depression observed in the baseline survey, we designed an mHealth intervention was developed in the form of already validated depression-related messages adapted from Hartnett et al. (22) and Agyapong et al. (23). Using text messaging and email platforms, the messages were sent to employees over a one-month period within regular intervals.

Immediately after the intervention, a post-intervention (endline) survey was carried out to assess its impact in reducing the levels of depression among the employees. The employees included in the baseline survey were the participants in the endline survey as well. The post-intervention survey showed that the prevalence of depression among the employees had reduced to 12.6%. Chi-square analyses conducted, however, showed no statistically significant relationship between depression and the workplace determinants. Further tests of the intervention over longer durations and pre- and post-intervention surveys among higher numbers could, however, improve these associations.

The intervention demonstrated perceived improvements in mental health status through a decline in reported feelings of depression among the employees surveyed. The overall percentage change in the prevalence of between the pre- and post-intervention surveys was 17.6% which is quite significant considering the short duration within which it was carried out. Employee perception of the supportiveness of the work environment also increased, though marginally, in the postintervention survey. This is a further indication of the effectiveness of the intervention. The study by Hartnett et al. (22) and Agyapong et al. (23) was carried out for a longer period compared to this study. They deployed supportive messages for 6 months and suggested that the text messages were a potential psychological intervention for depression in underserved population. The findings from this project following the deployment of messages for a period of 1 month showed a decrease in reported feelings of depression from 30.2% to 12.6%. This means that if the project was to expand for a period of 6 months, the results could have been more positive.

There were some limitations of the study which are worth noting. First of all, the small sample sizes used affected the significance of statistical analyses conducted. All the workplace determinants, therefore, had no statistically significant relationship with the outcome variable (depression). The intervention was carried out within one month. This to the duration of just one month between the pre- and postintervention surveys. Given that the duration of the intervention were about three months for instance, the level of depression experienced in the post-survey could have gone further down as sustainable change usually takes time to happen. Four participants in the pre-intervention survey were lost during the follow-up survey. This could have affected the quality of comparison done in the results. While we acknowledge that the WHO healthy workplace model is appropriate in this study, there are more comprehensive literature on job quaity and mental health and which contains more workplace characteristics that are important for mental health. Our results should, therefore, be interpreted with these limitations in mind.

CONCLUSION

The intervention designed for this project was effective in reducing reported feelings of depression of among employees. Following the pre-intervention and post-intervention survey, we realized that the prevalence of depression among employees declined from 30.2% to just 12.6%. Given that there is a paucity of empirical literature on workplace depression among employees in hospital settings in the US, the project has been instrumental in contributing immensely to the available literature on employee mental health.

For all health professionals in other facilities across the US, the intervention if implemented in such settings, will hopefully improve the levels of workplace related feelings of depression among them, and elevating their perceived supportiveness of the work environment. The overarching implication of this is a major contribution toward efforts at achieving the SDG 3.4 target of promoting mental health and wellbeing of all by the year 2030. The organization where the project was carried out has been

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization (WHO) (2021). *Mental health*. Available online at: https://www.who.int/health-topics/mental-health#tab=tab_2 (accessed October 9, 2021)
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2019). *Mental disorders*. Available online at: https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mentaldisorders (accessed October 9, 2021)
- National Institute of Mental Health (2022). Mental illness (Online). Available online at: https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness#:~:text= Mental%20illnesses%20are%20common%20in,mild%20to%20moderate %20to%20severe (accessed October 9, 2021)
- 4. World Health Organization (WHO). Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates. Geneva (2017).
- Formentos A, Ayuurebobi K, Nyame S, Asante K. Situational analysis of service provision for adolescents with mental and neurological disorders in in two districts of Ghana. *Int J Ment Health Syst.* (2021) 15:1– 21. doi: 10.1186/s13033-021-00457-z
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2021). Mental health and substance use: Suicide data. Available online at: https://www.who.int/teams/mentalhealth-and-substance-use/data-research/suicide-data (accessed October 9, 2021)
- 7. World Health Organization (WHO) & Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation (2014). Social determinants of mental health. Geneva: WHO.
- Villarroel MA, Terlizzi EP. Symptoms of Depression Among Adults: United States, 2019. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics (2020).

experiencing a decrease in productivity. The initiation of this project was timely and caught the attention of the organization's administrators. The findings from this project were presented to the administrators including the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the organization.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GCG conceived the study. GCG, HA, and LEB conducted the analysis and wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors read the final manuscript and approved it.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.895048/full#supplementary-material

- Ettman CK, Abdalla SM, Cohen GH, Sampson L, Vivier PM, Galea S. Prevalence of depression symptoms in US adults before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Network Open.* (2020) 3:e2019686. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.19686
- Tomlinson M, Lund C. Why does mental health not get the attention it deserves? An application of the Shiffman and Smith framework. *PLoS Med.* (2012) 9:e1001178. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001178
- Nyblade L, Stockton MA, Giger K, Bond V, Ekstrand ML, Mc Lean R, et al. Stigma in health facilities: Why it matters and how we can change it. *BMC Med.* (2019) 17:1–15. doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1256-2
- Parcesepe AM, Cabassa LJ. Public stigma of mental illness in the United States: A systematic literature review. *Adm Policy Ment Health.* (2013) 40:384– 99. doi: 10.1007/s10488-012-0430-z
- Brown CR, Hambleton IR, Sobers-Grannum N, Hercules SM, Unwin N, Nigel Harris, et al.; U.S. Caribbean Alliance for Health Disparities Research Group (USCAHDR). Social determinants of depression and suicidal behaviour in the Caribbean: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. (2017) 17:1– 11. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4371-z
- Stander MP, Korb FA, Necker d. e., de Beer M, Miller-Janson JCHE, Moont, R. Depression and the Impact on Productivity in the Workplace: findings from a South African Survey on Depression in the Workplace. J Press Depress Anxiety. (2016) 2:1–8. doi: 10.4172/2167-1044.S2-012
- Bond GR, Lerner D, Drake RE, Reidy C, Choi J. Work-Focused Interventions for Depression: Final Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2019).
- 16. Wang S, Coutts A, Burchell B, Kamerāde D, and Balderson U. Can active labour market programmes emulate the mental health benefits of regular

paid employment? Longitudinal evidence from the United Kingdom. Work, Employment Society. (2021) 35:545–65. doi: 10.1177/0950017020946664

- Sage D. Do active labour market policies promote the well-being, health and social Capital of the Unemployed? Evidence from the UK. *Soc Indic Res.* (2015) 124:319–37. doi: 10.1007/s11205-014-0788-2
- Suffoletto, B. Text message behavioral interventions: from here to where? *Current Opinion Psychol.* (2015) 9:16–21. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.09, 012.
- Burton J, World Health Organization (WHO). WHO Healthy Workplace Framework and Model: Background and Supporting Literature and Practices. Geneva: WHO (2010).
- Rugulies R. What is a psychosocial work environment? Scand J Work Environ Health. (2019) 45:1–6. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3792
- Kroenke K, Strine TW, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Berry JT, Mokdad AH. The PHQ-8 as a measure of current depression in the general population. J Affect Disord. (2009) 114:163–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2008. 06.026.
- 22. Hartnett D, Murphy E, Kehoe E, Agyapong V, McLoughlin DM, Farren C. Supportive text messages for patients with alcohol use disorder and a comorbid depression:a protocol for a singleblind randomised controlled aftercare trial. *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7:e013587. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013587
- 23. Agyapong VI, Juhás M, Ohinmaa A, Omeje J, Mrklas K, Suen VY., et al. Randomized controlled pilot trial of supportive text messages for patients

with depression. BMC Psychiatry. (2017) 17:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1 448-2

 World Health Organization (WHO) (2021). Depression. Geneva: WHO. Available online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ depression

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Gwain, Amu and Bain. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Leave Me Alone With Your Symptoms! Social Exclusion at the Workplace Mediates the Relationship of Employee's Mental Illness and Sick Leave

Benjamin Pascal Frank^{1*}, Clara Magdalena Theil¹, Nathalie Brill¹, Hanna Christiansen², Christina Schwenck³, Meinhard Kieser⁴, Corinna Reck⁵, Ricarda Steinmayr⁶, Linda Wirthwein⁶, Kathleen Otto¹ and the COMPARE-family Research Group¹

¹ Department of Work and Organizational Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Philipps University Marburg, Marburg, Germany, ² Department of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Philipps University Marburg, Marburg, Germany, ³ Department of Special Needs Educational and Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, Faculty of Psychology and Sports Science, Justus-Liebig-University Giessen, Giessen, Germany, ⁴ Department of Medical Biometry, Institute of Medical Biometry and Informatics, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany, ⁵ Department of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Ludwig-Maximilians-University München, Munich, Germany, ⁶ Department of Educational Psychology, Faculty of Education, Psychology, and Sociology, Institute of Psychology, Technical University Dortmund, Dortmund, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Leah Okenwa Emegwa, Swedish Red Cross University College, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Johanna Baumgardt, Vivantes Hospital, Germany Keming Yang, Durham University, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Benjamin Pascal Frank benjamin.frank@uni-marburg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 08 March 2022 Accepted: 22 June 2022 Published: 28 July 2022

Citation:

Frank BP, Theil CM, Brill N, Christiansen H, Schwenck C, Kieser M, Reck C, Steinmayr R, Wirthwein L, Otto K and the COMPARE-family Research Group (2022) Leave Me Alone With Your Symptoms! Social Exclusion at the Workplace Mediates the Relationship of Employee's Mental Illness and Sick Leave.

Front. Public Health 10:892174. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.892174 Although a substantial part of employees suffers from a mental illness, the work situation of this population still is understudied. Previous research suggests that people with a mental illness experience discrimination in the workplace, which is known to have detrimental effects on health. Building on the stereotype content model and allostatic load theory, the present study investigated whether employees with a mental illness become socially excluded at the workplace and therefore show more days of sick leave. Overall, 86 employees diagnosed with a mental disorder were interviewed and completed online-surveys. Path analyses supported the hypotheses, yielding a serial mediation: The interview-rated severity of the mental disorder had an indirect effect on the days of sick leave, mediated by the symptomatic burden and the social exclusion at the workplace. In the light of the costs associated with absenteeism the present paper highlights the harmfulness of discrimination. Organizations and especially supervisors need to be attentive for signs of exclusion within their teams and try to counteract as early as possible.

Keywords: workplace, mental illness, social exclusion, sick leave, discrimination, stereotype content model

INTRODUCTION

Mental illnesses are one of the main causes of disability worldwide (1, 2). Estimates indicate that more than one in six people across the European countries (17.3%) experienced mental health problems in 2016 (3). Besides severe cognitive, emotional, and behavioral impairments for the affected individuals (4-6), mental health problems pose a substantial economic burden on health care systems (7, 8). Since a substantial part of the working population suffers from mental disorders (9, 10), mental illnesses furthermore interfere with the functioning of employees and organizations

as well: Several studies provide evidence for a significant relationship between employees' mental health status and their performance (11–13). Thus, mental disorders contribute to a substantial amount of indirect costs organizations spend, arising from reduced productivity or increased absenteeism of their employees with a mental illness (14, 15).

Despite these consequences of mental disorders on the wellbeing of employees and organizations, the work situation of employees with a mental illness (EMI) still is understudied (16). Investigations suggest that EMI are faced with various barriers at their jobs (17, 18), which in turn could worsen their health status (19). Stigmatization and discrimination of people with a mental illness for instance are not only common in the general public (20, 21), but also appear in organizations, for instance in form of the exclusion from work-related events or the denial of conversation in general (22-24). Discriminative actions as this social exclusion are known to be detrimental for health (25–29) and thus social exclusion might result in increased absenteeism (30). However, to the best of our knowledge, the influence of the mental illness on social exclusion and absenteeism has not been investigated jointly yet. This study is intended to close this research gap and thereby to contribute to a better understanding of the negative effects mental disorders and social exclusion have on employees and organizations, hoping to provide starting points for their mitigation.

In a recent review, Follmer and Jones (16) not only highlight the existence of negative stereotypes about EMI among supervisors and employees, but also the discrimination they experience in the workplace. An explanation why and how such negative stereotypes about people with a mental disorder end up in discriminative behavior provides the stereotype content model (SCM) (31) and its extension, the behaviors from intergroup affect and stereotypes (BIAS) map (32). The SCM proposes that two dimensions are central for the emergence of different group stereotypes: warmth, defined as the perception whether the intent of a certain group toward one self or one's ingroup is either beneficial or malevolent and competence, defined as the perceived capability of the group to pursue and enact those intentions (31, 33). Groups are classified on both dimensions, yielding either thoroughly positive stereotypes (i.e., classified as warm and competent) as e.g., the middle class, thoroughly negative stereotypes (i.e., cold and incompetent) as e.g., poor people, or ambivalent stereotypes (i.e., warm and incompetent or cold and competent) as e.g., elderly or rich people (32, 33). Each of those stereotype-combinations elicits specific emotional reactions toward the classified group (31, 33): Warm and competent groups are admired, cold and incompetent groups elicit contempt, warm but incompetent groups induce pity, and cold but competent groups envy. Those emotional reactions finally end up in specific behavioral tendencies toward the classified group, mediating the effect of the stereotype on the behavior as the BIAS map proposes (32, 33): While admired groups induce active and passive facilitation, the opposite is true for resented groups (i.e., incompetent and cold) which provoke active and passive harm. Envied or pitied groups evoke mixed behavioral patterns (passive facilitation and active harm or active facilitation and passive harm, respectively). A multiplicity of studies investigated the SCM and the BIAS map and found support for their assumptions, also across various nations, including Germany [e.g., (31, 32, 34–36)].

Hence, according to the SCM, emotional reactions and behavioral tendencies toward people with a mental illness depend on the perception whether (a) they want to help or harm oneself and whether (b) they are able to do so. In a systematic literature review, Parcesepe and Cabassa (21) sum up that people with a mental illness are often perceived as being e.g., incompetent, dangerous and criminal, indicating a rather low evaluation on the two dimensions warmth and competence. In a more proximal study on the SCM, Sadler et al. (37) asked participants to rate the warmth and competence of people with a mental disorder as seen by Americans in general: Results confirmed the indirect evidence, showing that people with a mental illness are perceived as equally incompetent and cold as poor people. Accordingly, people tend to react with active harm, e.g., segregation (38, 39), or passive harm, e.g., social distance (20, 21, 38), toward them, as predicted by the SCM.

Although research on employees with a mental illness in general still is scarce [see Follmer and Jones (16) for a recent review], the existing literature indicates that likewise discriminatory behaviors toward people with a mental illness also exist in the workplace [e.g., (17, 18, 22, 24, 40, 41)]. Follmer et al. (23) for instance found that lower ratings of warmth and competence of EMI predict a higher desire to socially distance oneself from a fictious coworker with a mental illness. This confirms investigations on the experiences of EMI, reporting that people at work avoid them due to their mental health problems (24). Thus, people with a mental illness do not only experience discriminatory behavior as social exclusion in the general public, but also in their workplaces.

The evaluation that a specific colleague has a mental health problem and the subsequent exclusion of this colleague by the coworkers however, do not appear out of the blue: First, the coworkers have to notice corresponding peculiar behavior (or in other words: symptoms) that marks the colleague accordingly. Only if the colleague acts strangely (i.e., displays symptoms), an appraisal as being (more or less) mentally ill on the part of the coworkers is possible—followed by the above mentioned perception that the colleague is cold and incompetent [c.f. (37)] and the corresponding behavioral reactions (e.g., social exclusion) toward her/him [c.f. (33)]. Thus, EMI with a higher symptomatic burden (i.e., more and/or stronger symptoms) should be perceived as being more mentally ill—and thus experience more social exclusion at the workplace.

The symptomatic burden on the other hand is inevitably linked to the severity of the mental illness itself: The level of disability and distress patients experience in various life domains, including occupation, increases as the mental health status gets more severe (42, 43). More depressed people for instance spend less time in groups, use more negative emotion words, and feel lonely more often than their less depressed counterparts (44, 45). Thus, an increasing severity of the mental illness should go along with more and/or stronger symptoms—or in other words a higher symptomatic burden. This in turn will be noticed by the coworkers, leading to social exclusion of the EMI. Based on this line of thought we therefore test the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1: The severity of the mental disorder leads to a higher symptomatic burden.

Hypothesis 2: The severity of the mental disorder leads to an increase of experienced social exclusion at the workplace via a higher symptomatic burden.

Social stressors as social exclusion are not only uncomfortable to endure but unfortunately also could have detrimental effects on human body and thus health according to the allostatic load model (46–49). The allostatic load model assumes that physiological reactions mediate the effect of (job) stressors on health outcomes (48, 50). According to the model, different physiological systems in the human body initiate an adaptive response if exposed to a stressor, that is the physiological markers increase (48, 49). This response persists until the stressor vanishes (49). Now the physiological response is stopped and the markers decrease – thus recovery takes place (48, 49). This process of adjustment in order to cope with a stressor fulfilled by different physiological systems is defined as *allostasis* (50, 51).

The described switching on and off of the physiological response is an adaptive and beneficial mechanism—however it can become overstrained with potential detrimental effects on the human body in the long run, a status called *allostatic load* (46–49). The allostatic system for instance may have difficulties to habituate to the same stressor (i.e., the physiological response to the stressor is always equally high) or problems to end the response adequately (i.e., it continues even after the stressor disappears)—both resulting in a hyperactivation of the system (48, 49). McEwen (49) calls these subtypes of allostatic load "lack of adaption" and "prolonged response" and further postulates that the effects of a chronic hyperarousal add up over time and finally result in diseases (47–49).

Unfortunately, social stressors are designated to cause those subtypes of allostatic load: Various psychophysiological studies indicate that even when people are exposed to the same social stressor for several times, the sympathetic response does not significantly change, suggesting poor habituation of the associated system to the stressor [e.g., (52–55)]—or (in the sense of allostatic load theory) a "lack of adaption." Furthermore, employees tend to ruminate in their leisure time when they are confronted with social stressors at work (56-58). Such pondering about a stressor can lead to an extended physiological reaction, as experimental laboratory studies suggest (59)-or in other words can cause a "prolonged response" in the sense of allostatic load theory. Thus, if people are exposed to the same social stressor over and over again-as it can be the case for employees confronted with social exclusion at the workplaceboth mentioned subtypes of allostatic load might occur and finally end up in sickness.

The proposed impact of social exclusion on human health was supported by research from various fields, indicating that isolation in general affects the functioning of the immune system and even mortality rates (27–29). But there also is according evidence in the work environment since socially excluded employees have a higher risk for a long-term sick leave spell

(30), just as victims of workplace bullying do [for a recent review and meta-analysis see (60)]. Thus, it is possible that the influence of the mental illness goes beyond the symptoms a patient suffers from and the social exclusion (s)he experiences thereof at the workplace: The isolation could furthermore lead to an increase of days EMI are sick leaving, yielding a serial mediation of the severity of the mental illness on sick leave via the symptomatic burden and social exclusion at the workplace. While the debarment of EMI as well as the impact of social exclusion on absenteeism has already been under examination (23, 24, 30), no study has ever combined those research lines and investigated the influence of the mental illness on sick leave via social exclusion.

Based on this line of thought we therefore test the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 3: The severity of the mental disorder leads to an increase of sick leave, sequentially via a higher symptomatic burden and more social exclusion at the workplace.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design and Procedure

The data of the present study originate from the COMPAREconsortium (61) standing for "children of mentally ill parents at risk evaluation." The consortium investigates why children of parents with a mental illness are at higher risk of developing mental illnesses themselves and whether a preventive intervention may interrupt this malicious transmission of the parental mental state to the child (61). It consists of a clinical study "COMPARE family" [see (62)] as well as four subprojects named "COMPARE emotion," "COMPARE interaction," "COMPARE work" and "COMPARE school" [see (61)]. In the following we only report the aspects of the COMPARE-consortium which are relevant for the paper at hand. For more details on the consortium and the subprojects we refer to Christiansen et al. (61) and for more information on the clinical study to Stracke et al. (62)¹.

The recruitment for the used partial data set took place from January 2018 to May 2020 in different university outpatient clinics throughout Germany. The clinical study was advertised with e.g., flyers, newspaper articles and information meetings for professionals (e.g., physicians). Persons contacting the clinics asking for psychotherapeutic help were screened for eligibility and interest in participating in the clinical study [c.f. (62)]. After deciding to participate, they signed the informed consent and fulfilled the first assessment, from which the data used in this paper originate.

Every assessment was split in multiple occasions: First, structured interviews were conducted in two sessions on site by trained study personal. After the second interview session, patients received a sheet with a link to the online

¹In the present paper we used data from the clinical study "COMPARE family" [see (62)] and the subproject "COMPARE work" [see (61)]. Since the acquisition of participants in the clinical study is still ongoing, two partial data sets were provided in May 2020 and in February 2021 with the aim to facilitate in advance analysis. The partial data sets contain final, not changeable and completely refined data. In this present paper we used data from the first partial data set provided in May 2020.

questionnaire assessed by "COMPARE family" and were asked to answer it at home [c.f. (62)]. If participants also agreed to take part in "COMPARE work" (or one of the other subprojects) they furthermore received links to the corresponding online questionnaires.

Different criteria had to be met for patients to participate in the clinical study: (1) they had to search for outpatient psychotherapeutic care, (2) they had to fulfill the diagnostic criteria for a DSM-5 disorder (63), and (3) they had to care for at least one child aged between 1.5 and 16 years [c.f. (62)]. Patients were not included in the clinical study if (1) the patient already had been in psychotherapeutic treatment at the present time, (2) the patient needed an acute inpatient treatment, (3) all children fulfilled the criteria for a severe mental illness and furthermore were in need of an immediate treatment, (4) the patient used benzodiazepines regularly (an intermittent use less than once every 2 weeks was allowed) or (5) the family had insufficient German language skills [c.f. (62)]. For the present paper we furthermore excluded patients without a current (selfemployment) as well as patients being on a sick leave for longer than 6 weeks since any item with regard to the current work situation could presumably not have been reasonably answered.

Measures

All data used in this paper have been collected and managed with REDCap (64), standing for "research electronic data capture". As already mentioned, the data—although belonging to one assessment—were partly measured at different events. Thus, in addition to describing the variables used in the present paper we also mention the occasion they were collected in.

Variables Assessed in Interview Sessions Severity of Mental Illness

The Diagnostic Interview for Mental Disorders (DIPS) (65, 66) was conducted with the patients in the first interview session. Trained study personnel executed the DIPS [c.f. (62)] taking between 60 and 120 min [c.f. (65)]. The structured interviews of the DIPS-family are a reliable and valid method for diagnosing mental disorders across the lifespan (65). At the end of the interview, the assessor rates the severity of the main diagnosis on a scale from 0 to 8 with digits between 0 and 3 standing for a subclinical diagnosis and digits between 4 and 8 for a clinical diagnosis [c.f. (65, 66)]. This rating was used as an indicator for the severity of the patients' mental illness in the present study. Since subclinical diagnoses were not sufficient for being enrolled into the clinical study, the rating only varied between 4 and 8 in the present paper.

Variables Assessed in the Questionnaire of "COMPARE Family"

Symptomatic Burden

The Brief Symptom Inventory (67) was used to assess the symptomatic burden of the patient. The inventory is a short form of the Symptom Check-List-90-R (68) and measures the subjective impairment caused by the symptoms of the patient (67). Various studies indicate the reliability and validity of the inventory, especially if the psychopathology is under study (67, 69). The 53 items ask the participant how much (s)he

suffered from different symptoms within the last seven days as, for example, the symptom of "feeling no interest in things" (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.96$). Answers ranged from 0 (*not at all*) to 4 (*very much*) on a Likert-scale with labeled intermediate steps.

Variables Assessed in the Questionnaire of "COMPARE Work"

Social Exclusion

We measured social exclusion with the corresponding scale from Zapf and Holz (70) which is an adaption and further development of Frese's and Zapf (71) scale and has proven to be reliable and valid (71, 72). It consists of four items as "you are being ignored and excluded" (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.82$). Answers ranged from 1 (*does not apply at all*) to 6 (*completely applies*) on a Likert scale with labeled intermediate steps.

Sick Leave

Patients indicated the number of days they were on sick leave by answering the following question: "On how many days have you been absent from work for health reasons in the last 4 weeks (without taking into account the days on which you were missing due to an illness of your child / children)?"

Statistics

To test hypothesis one and two—which stated that patients with a more severe mental illness suffer from more and/or stronger symptoms (H1), and as a result become socially excluded at work more often, yielding an indirect effect (H2)—we conducted a path analysis using the PROCESS macro version 3.4.1 (73) in IBM SPSS Statistics 26 executing Model 4 (simple mediation): First, we regressed the symptomatic burden on the severity of mental illness. Second, we regressed social exclusion on the severity of mental illness and the symptomatic burden simultaneously. Third, we calculated the indirect effect of the severity of the mental illness on social exclusion via the symptomatic burden. Lastly, we regressed social exclusion solely on the severity of mental illness to test for the total effect of the predictor.

To test whether the social exclusion of the patients at work finally results in an increase of absenteeism—yielding a serial mediation with two mediators (H3)—we further conducted a path analysis using Model 6 (serial mediation, two mediators) of the Process macro (73): After rehearsing the first two steps just described we further regressed sick leave on the severity of mental illness, the symptomatic burden and social exclusion simultaneously. Then, we calculated the indirect effect of the severity of mental illness on sick leave via the symptomatic burden and social exclusion. Finally, we regressed sick leave on the severity of mental illness alone to again obtain the total effect model. The significance level (α) was 0.05 for every hypothesis.

As recommended by Hayes (73) the confidence intervals of any indirect effect presented in this paper are percentile bootstrap confidence intervals calculated on the basis of 10,000 bootstrapsamples. We do not report *p*-values of indirect effects since the normal theory approach used for their calculation has different statistical drawbacks and therefore cannot be recommended [e.g., (73)].

TABLE 1 | Sample details.

Variable	М	SD	%
Gender			
Female			77.90
Male			22.10
Age (years)	39.42	6.90	
Working hours per week	29.77	11.15	
Tenure (years)	7.45	7.31	
Contract			
Permanent			84.50
Fixed-term			15.50
Education			
Qualification for university entrance			40.50
Qualification for university of applied science entrance			21.40
General Certificate of Secondary Education			31.00
Certificate of Secondary Education			6.00
Other			1.20
Primary diagnosis			
Affective disorders			46.51
Neurotic, stress-related and somatoform disorders			46.51
Schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorders			2.33
Disorders of adult personality and behavior			2.33
Behavioral syndromes associated with physiological disturbances and physical factors			1.16
Behavioral and emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence			1.16
Additional comorbid diagnoses			63.10

Primary diagnosis refers to the German version of the ICD 10 (74). n = 84-86.

Variable	М	SD	1	2	3	4
1. Severity of mental illness	5.98	0.97	_			
2. Symptomatic burden	0.83	0.55	0.32** [0.11, 0.50]	-		
3. Social exclusion	1.43	0.77	-0.02 [-0.23, 0.20]	0.39*** [0.19, 0.56]	-	
4. Sick leave	2.49	6.05	-0.02 [-0.23, 0.19]	0.04 [-0.18, 0.26]	0.29** [0.09, 0.48]	_

Pearson correlation coefficient with 95%-confidence interval in square brackets. Two-sided testing of significance. n = 82-86. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

RESULTS

Overall, N = 86 patients met the inclusion criteria and answered the questionnaires from "COMPARE work" and "COMPARE family." Details of the sample can be found in **Table 1**.

Preliminary Analysis

Means, standard deviations and correlations between the investigated variables are presented in **Table 2**. As expected, the severity of mental illness had a positive relation with the symptomatic burden of the patient, which in turn correlated positively with social exclusion. Furthermore, sick leave was positively correlated with social exclusion. Thus, the bivariate relations showed the expected pattern.

Test of Hypotheses

The results of our first path analysis which tested the simple mediation model are presented in **Figure 1**: Patients with a more severe mental illness suffered from more and/or stronger symptoms (b = 0.186, p = 0.003, 95% CI [0.064, 0.307]) supporting hypothesis 1. Furthermore, employees with a stronger symptomatic burden reported more experienced social exclusion (b = 0.628, p < 0.001, 95% CI [0.321, 0.935]). There was no direct effect of the severity of the mental illness on social exclusion – neither with (b = -0.117, p = 0.191, 95% CI [-0.294, 0.060]) nor without (b = -0.001, p = 0.995, 95% CI [-0.184, 0.182]) controlling for the symptomatic burden. However, there was an indirect effect: Patients with a more severe mental disorder suffered from a stronger symptomatic burden

and in turn reported more experienced social exclusion at work (b = 0.117, 95% CI [0.028, 0.251]), supporting hypothesis 2.

Figure 2 presents the results of the second path analysis which tested the serial mediation model. In addition to Figure 1, it shows that patients who reported more experienced social exclusion were absent from work more often (b = 2.652, p =0.006, 95% CI [0.800, 4.504]). Neither the symptomatic burden (b = -1.034, p = 0.464, 95% CI [-3.829, 1.761]) nor the degree of the mental illness (no matter whether directly (b = 0.048, p)= 0.948, 95% CI [-1.431, 1.528]) or in total (b = -0.145, p =0.842, 95% CI [-1.584, 1.294])) were associated with the amount of days a patient was sick leaving at work. Instead, as can be seen in Table 3, the severity of the mental illness had an indirect effect on sick leave: Patients with a more severe mental disorder suffered from a stronger symptomatic burden and reported in turn more experienced social exclusion at work which went along with an increase of days a patient was sick leaving (b = 0.309, 95% CI [.022, 0.777]), supporting hypothesis 3. The indirect effects of the severity of the mental illness on absenteeism via the symptomatic burden or social exclusion reclusively were both statistically negligible (see Table 3).



FIGURE 1 | Mediation model showing the impact of the severity of the mental illness on social exclusion via the symptomatic burden (n = 82). The total effect of the severity of the mental illness on social exclusion without controlling for the symptomatic burden is shown in parentheses. Unstandardized regression coefficients. Two-sided testing of significance. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

Additional Analysis

Since the acquisition of patients for the present paper lasted until May 2020, a part of the participants undertook their assessment during the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany. To rule out the possibility that the far-reaching influences of the pandemic on the society did affect the presented results we excluded any patient having participated in the year 2020 and reran the analyses, yielding similar results (c.f. Appendix A of the **Supplementary Material**).

Furthermore, some patients completed the questionnaire of "COMPARE work" (i.e., the questions regarding social exclusion and sick leave) before answering the questionnaire of "COMPARE family" (i.e., the questions regarding the symptomatic burden) resulting in a mixed temporal precedence. Thus, we excluded every participant who answered to "COMPARE work" one or more days before answering to "COMPARE family", which resulted in patients completing the questionnaire of "COMPARE work" 12 days after the questionnaire of "COMPARE family", on average. Afterwards we reran the analyses and obtained similar results (c.f. Appendix B of the **Supplementary Material**).

DISCUSSION

The goal of the present study was to contribute to the scarce literature on employees with a mental illness (EMI) by investigating the impact of the mental illness on sick leave. More specifically, we hypothesized and tested whether the severity of the mental illness has an indirect effect on the days of sick leave sequentially via the symptomatic burden and social exclusion at the workplace. Regression and path analysis supported our hypothesis, indicating that patients with a more severe mental disorder suffer from a stronger symptomatic burden. This in turn increases their experienced exclusion at the workplace, yielding an indirect effect of the severity of the mental illness on social exclusion. Finally, the isolation EMI experience at the workplace leads to an increase of absenteeism, resulting in the hypothesized serial mediation.

Although stigmatization and discrimination of people with a mental illness in general has been the scope of several





Effects	b	SEb	95% CI
$SMI \to SB \to SL$	-0.192	0.268	[-0.735, 0.361]
$SMI \to SX \to SL$	-0.311	0.268	[-0.967, 0.064]
$\text{SMI} \rightarrow \text{SB} \rightarrow \text{SX} \rightarrow \text{SL}$	0.309	0.199	[0.022, 0.777]

Confidence intervals and standard errors are based on 10,000 bootstrap-samples (percentile bootstrap confidence intervals). n = 82. SMI, severity of the mental illness; SB, symptomatic burden; SX, social exclusion; SL, sick leave; SE_b, standard error of the regression coefficient of the indirect effect; CI, confidence interval. Unstandardized regression coefficients.

investigations [for reviews on the topic see e.g., (21, 75, 76)], the work situation of EMI still is understudied (16). Previous investigations indicate that social distancing from people with a mental illness exists – not only in the general public but also in the work context [e.g., (21, 24)]. The resulting isolation is known to have detrimental effects on health [e.g., (27–29)] and thus, social exclusion can contribute to sick leave (30). The present study is the first that connects those findings, demonstrating that EMI show higher rates of absenteeism due to the social exclusion they experience at the workplace. It therefore adds to a better understanding of the experiences people with a mental illness make at the workplace and the consequences evoked thereof.

Deeper insights on the work situation of EMI are necessary since many of the published investigations on this population are descriptive in nature, limiting the possible conclusions drawn from those findings [c.f. (16)]. Thus, the current paper contributes to the scarce literature by applying inferential statistics, allowing more reliable conclusions about the specific work environment of EMI.

The study's findings underline the harmfulness of discrimination in general and social exclusion in particular. Various studies indicate the deleterious effects isolation can have on human health (27–29)—thus it is not surprising that socially excluded employees have a higher risk for a long-term sick leave spell (30). The present study replicates those findings in the population of employees with a mental illness, indicating that the social exclusion of EMI increases the days they are sick leaving. Besides the detrimental effects on the health of the discriminated individual, those results also imply negative consequences for organizations and the society as a whole given the amount of costs employers and states across the European Union spend in relation to absenteeism (77).

Although discriminative actions as social distancing toward EMI have been the scope of investigations before [e.g., (23)], this study is the first to portend that the symptomatic burden caused by the mental illness is crucial for the degree of exclusion EMI experience at their workplaces. Seen through the lens of the stereotype content model (SCM) (31) this finding makes sense: The model and its extension, the BIAS Map (32), propose that groups who are evaluated as being cold and incompetent as e.g., people with a mental illness (37), elicit active and passive harm (e.g., exclusion) (31–33). Thus, employees who are perceived as having more mental health problems should experience more social exclusion. However, to evaluate that a certain coworker has a mental health problem, the colleagues first have to notice corresponding peculiar behavior, that is,

symptoms of a mental disorder. The more symptoms the colleagues notice (or the stronger they are), the higher the attributed mental health problems of the coworker and hence the elicited behavioral reaction will be. Thus, EMI suffering from a high symptomatic burden will be perceived as being more mentally ill by their coworkers in comparison to EMI with a low symptomatic burden, and thus experience more social exclusion. Experimental evidence supports the suggested importance of the symptomatic burden: Muschalla et al. (78) were able to show that the announced willingness of a fictious coworker with a mental illness to work on her mental health problems led to a lower desire for social distance toward that fictious coworker. Thus, even the anticipation of lower symptoms seems to mitigate the desire to socially distance oneself from the EMI.

Limitations

The present paper has several limitations. First of all, crosssectional data assessed at one point of time cannot be interpreted causally, since the temporal precedence remains unclear [c.f. (79)]. In the present study however, this concern can partly be thwarted: Although the variables belong to the same assessment, they have not all been measured at the same time. The predictor (severity of the mental disorder) has been rated by trained study personnel in the first interview session which always took part before the online-questionnaires were dispensed [c.f. (62)]. Furthermore, we found similar results when we reanalyzed the data without participants who answered to the questionnaire of "COMPARE work" one or more days before answering the questionnaire of "COMPARE family," yielding an average of 12 days between the assessment of the first mediator (the symptomatic burden) and the second mediator/the outcome (social exclusion and sick leave). Thus, temporal precedence could at least partly be established.

Despite these efforts to ensure temporal precedence, the results still have to be interpreted with caution: Different investigations suggest that experienced exclusion is not only a consequence of a mental illness but also may contribute to its development [c.f. (80, 81)], making a reversed causation of the presented results possible. Furthermore, mental illnesses go along with an increased risk for physical disorders (82, 83). Thus, it is possible that comorbid physical impairments might have contributed to social exclusion and sick leave as well, confounding the results of the present study. Therefore, future replications applying a cross-lagged panel design and incorporating possible confounders are recommended to gain

more certainty about the direction and validity of the presented effects [c.f. for instance (84)].

As in other clinical trials (85-87) recruitment of patients was difficult, yielding a small sample size in the present paper which bears the risk of a non-representative sample [c.f. for instance (84)]. In the German population, the most prevalent groups of mental disorders are anxiety disorders followed by affective disorders (88, 89). Similar results are found in non-German representative studies on mental illnesses in the working population, showing that simple phobia is the most prevalent mental disorder among the workforce followed by depression [c.f. (10)]. Although the present sample also mostly consists of patients with affective or anxiety disorders, the former are clearly dominating (40 diagnoses of affective disorders vs. 20 diagnoses of anxiety disorders). Thus, our sample is not an optimal representation of the population of employees with a mental illness. Future investigations applying a net onlinequestionnaire, including online screening instruments instead of on-site clinical interviews, could be able to establish a better representation of EMI by lowering the effort for participation.

Besides restrictions in the representativeness, the small sample size also constitutes a problem for the conducted analyses: Complex path models often require more participants than investigated in the present paper [c.f. (90)]. Unfortunately, although recruitment maintained for 17 months, it was not possible to acquire a larger sample-a problem different clinical trials are confronted with [c.f. (85-87)]. Since previous literature already provided support for the individual paths of the mediation model, indicating that a higher severity of the mental illness is associated with a higher symptomatic burden (42-45), that mental illnesses go along with social exclusion [e.g., (20, 21, 24, 38)] and that social exclusion in turn increases the risk for sick leave (30), we are confident that the depicted mediation model represents not merely a chance finding. However, future investigations should try to replicate our results within a larger sample.

Multiple sources of common method biases can operate in any given study and limit the trustworthiness of the results [c.f. (91)]. In the present paper we tried to confine this problem by several ways: First of all, we were able to draw on different assessment-methods (interviews and questionnaires), which might delimitate the risk of a common method bias to some degree [c.f. (91)]. Furthermore, the problem could partly be mitigated by the different contexts some of the variables were assessed in (more specifically, the different questionnaires of "COMPARE family" and "COMPARE work") [c.f. (91)]. At last, the response format used to assess sick leave has been different from the response formats of its predictors which might reduce the risk of common method bias as well (91).

Besides actually being ill, employees may also call in sick for other non-health related reasons, as for instance caring for their ill children. To assure that we only measure the time employees were sick leaving because of their ill health, we explicitly asked for the days they were absent from work due to health reasons and appealed to exclude any days they were missing due to an illness of their children. Lastly, the majority of the participants were female (77.9%). This can be explained by the applied inclusion criteria, only allowing people to participate if they fulfilled the criteria for a mental disorder [c.f. (62)]. In Germany, however, common mental illnesses as affective disorders or anxiety disorders have a higher prevalence in women than in men [c.f. (88, 89)]. Thus, the reason for the predominantly female composition of the sample probably lies in the applied inclusion criteria and mirrors the gender differences in the prevalence of common mental illnesses in Germany.

Practical Implications and Future Research

The results of the present study indicate that the social exclusion of EMI can increase the days they are sick leaving. Thus, not only active forms of discrimination, which are [according to the extension of the SCM (31, 32)] executed with the blatant aim to affect the target group (e.g., bullying), have detrimental effects on the individual [e.g., (60, 92)], but also more passive forms that are marked by less directed effort as e.g., neglecting, ignoring or excluding [c.f. (32)], can affect individuals health and therefore also the organization they work in, e.g., due to indirect costs associated with absenteeism (15). While active forms of discrimination might at first view seem to be more threatening for the organizational health and probably-due to their more directed effort (32)-attract more attention in organizations, it is hence also necessary that supervisors pay attention whether the more passive forms of discrimination take place in their teams and, if so, try to counteract them.

One possibility to mitigate the social exclusion of EMI could be the appliance of workplace interventions. The Mental Health First Aid training (93, 94) for instance can increase the intentions to provide help to a person with mental health problems in general and might also reduce the desire for social distance, as a recent meta-analysis across several settings indicates (95). Although not specifically developed for the workplace (94), a recent randomized controlled trial shows that the training may also increase the willingness to help a fictious coworker with a mental illness among public servants (96). Future randomized controlled trials might investigate whether the training is able to prevent the detrimental process described in this paper, e.g., by reducing the social exclusion EMI experience in the workplace.

Practitioners, responsible for occupational health policies in their organization, should furthermore focus on reducing stigma toward EMI, since the stereotype, that people suffering from a mental illness are cold and incompetent, is responsible for their exclusion, as the SCM proposes [c.f. (31–33)]. According to a recent meta-analysis, the most promising approach to reduce stigma toward people with a severe mental disorder is establish contact and education [c.f. (97)]. Thus, practitioners can implement existing workplace programs as "The Working Mind" (98), which entails elements of education and contact (98, 99) and has proven to reduce mental health stigma (99), in order to counteract social exclusion of EMI at the workplace.

While the group "people with a mental illness" as a whole is perceived as being cold and incompetent in the sense of the SCM, research indicates that the perception on the two SCM-dimensions warmth and competence varies across different psychological disorders (23, 37). Follmer and Jones (23) for instance let participants rate how warm and competent different disorders are perceived in the workplace by society and found that individuals suffering from an anxiety disorder are perceived as being warmer and more competent than people with a depression or a bipolar disorder. As a result, the evoked behavioral response toward people with a mental illness might differ, depending on the disorder [c.f. (32)]: Employers for instance would rather dismiss an employee developing a schizophrenia than an employee developing a depression (17). Thus, it would be interesting to explore whether the presented results vary across different mental illnesses, more specifically, whether the type of disorder (for instance depression vs. anxiety disorder) moderates the effect of the symptomatic burden on social exclusion in the demonstrated process. Yet, when we checked our data, we were not able to find a significant interaction (c.f. Appendix C of the Supplementary Material), which might be caused by the small sample size. However, a better understanding of which subgroups of people with a mental illness are at special risk for social exclusion and the subsequent absenteeism at the workplace would help, e.g.,, for constructing more precise interventions, which is why we encourage further investigations in this regard.

CONCLUSION

In 2016, about every sixth person in the European Union suffered from mental health problems. Besides the detrimental effects that go along with the disorder itself, people with a mental illness also face various hindrances imposed by society, that are known to worsen the overall health status. The present paper demonstrated that those effects also take place within the workforce. Employers therefore need to implement an integrative climate where employees with a mental illness can feel as safe and valued as every other employee – for the sake of their staff's but also their organization's well-being.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data share of all primary data of the COMPARE-consortium is planed after the completion of the projects [see (61)]. Participants were also assured that data would not be shared until the projects were completed. Therefore, since assessments and projects are not yet completed, the data cannot yet be made available.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee at the department of psychology at the Philipps-University Marburg. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

MEMBERS OF THE COMPARE-FAMILY RESEARCH GROUP

Kristin Gilbert, Department of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Philipps University Marburg, Marburg, Germany; Markus Stracke, Department of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Philipps University Marburg, Marburg, Germany; Christina Klose, Department of Medical Biometry, Institute of Medical Biometry and Informatics, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany: Johannes Krisam, Department of Medical Biometry, Institute of Medical Biometry and Informatics, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany; Moritz Pohl, Department of Medical Biometry, Institute of Medical Biometry and Informatics, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany; Claudia Buntrock, Department of Psychology, Chair for Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen-Nüremberg, Erlangen, Germany; David Daniel Ebert, Department of Psychology and Digital Mental Health Care, Faculty of Sports and Health Science, Technical University München, Munich, Germany; Jürgen Margraf, Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Faculty of Psychology, Ruhr-University Bochum, Bochum, Germany; Silvia Schneider, Department of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, Ruhr-University Bochum, Bochum, Germany; Rudolf Stark, Department of Psychotherapy and Systems Neuroscience, Faculty of Psychology and Sports Science, Justus-Liebig-University Gießen, Gießen, Germany; Julia Metzger, Department of Psychotherapy and Systems Neuroscience, Faculty of Psychology and Sports Science, Justus-Liebig-University Gießen, Gießen, Germany; Julia Glombiewski, Department of Biopsychology, Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Faculty of Psycholgy, University Koblenz-Landau, Landau, Germany; Anette Schröder, Department of Biopsychology, Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Faculty of Psycholgy, University Koblenz-Landau, Landau, Germany; Jens Heider, Department of Biopsychology, Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Faculty of Psycholgy, University Koblenz-Landau, Landau, Germany; Winfried Rief, Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Faculty of Psychology, Philipps University Marburg, Marburg, Germany; Pia Eitenmüller, Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Faculty of Psychology, Philipps University Marburg, Marburg, Germany.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BF, CT, KO, and NB generated the idea for the present paper. BF and CT performed the statistical analysis. BF wrote the first draft of the manuscript. CT contributed to sections of the manuscript. CR, CS, HC, KO, LW, MK, and RS designed the COMPARE-Consortium from which the used data originate and thus substantially contributed to the design of the present study. BF and NB were responsible for managing the project COMPARE work. The COMPARE-family research group was responsible for managing the project COMPARE family, for the clinical study monitoring as well as the data acquisition and data management of both projects. All authors revised the manuscript and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The projects COMPARE work (grant number: 01GL1748A) and COMPARE family (grant number: 01GL1748B), from which the

REFERENCES

- Chaudhury PK, Deka K, Chetia D. Disability associated with mental disorders. Indian J Psychiatry. (2006) 48:95–101. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.31597
- Ormel J, Petukhova M, Chatterji S, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Angermeyer MC, et al. Disability and treatment of specific mental and physical disorders across the world. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2008) 192:368–75. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.039107
- 3. OECD/European Union. *Health at a Glace: Europe 2018: State of Health in the EU Cycle.* Paris: OECD Publishing (2018).
- Marwaha S, Parsons N, Broome M. Mood instability, mental illness and suicidal ideas: results from a household survey. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2013) 48:1431–7. doi: 10.1007/s00127-013-0653-7
- Qin P, Nordentoft M. Suicide risk in relation to psychiatric hospitalization: evidence based on longitudinal registers. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2005) 62:427– 32. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.4.427
- Schaefer J, Giangrande E, Weinberger DR, Dickinson D. The global cognitive impairment in schizophrenia: consistent over decades and around the world. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.009
- Oliva-Moreno J, López-Bastida J, Montejo-González AL, Osuna-Guerrero R, Duque-González B. The socioeconomic costs of mental illness in Spain. *Eur J Health Econ.* (2009) 10:361–9. doi: 10.1007/s10198-008-0135-0
- Rice DP, Kelman S, Miller LS. The economic burden of mental illness. *Hosp Community Psychiatry.* (1992) 43:1227–32. doi: 10.1176/ps.43. 12.1227
- Dewa CS, Lesage A, Goering P, Caveen M. Nature and prevalence of mental illness in the workplace. *Healthcare Papers*. (2004) 5:12–25. doi: 10.12927/hcpap..16820
- Sanderson K, Andrews G. Common mental disorders in the workforce: Recent findings from descriptive and social epidemiology. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2006) 51:63–75. doi: 10.1177/070674370605100202
- Adler DA, McLaughlin TJ, Rogers WH, Chang H, Lapitsky L, Lerner D. Job performance deficits due to depression. *AJP*. (2006) 163:1569– 76. doi: 10.1176/ajp.2006.163.9.1569
- Asami Y, Goren A, Okumura Y. Work productivity loss with depression, diagnosed and undiagnosed, among workers in an Internetbased survey conducted in Japan. J Occup Environ Med. (2015) 57:105–10. doi: 10.1097/JOM.000000000000310
- Wright TA, Bonett DG, Sweeney DA. Mental health and work performance: results of a longitudinal field study. J Occup Organ Psychol. (1993) 66:277– 84. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.1993.tb00539.x
- Stewart WF, Ricci JA, Chee E, Hahn SR, Morganstein D. Cost of lost productive work time among US workers with depression. *JAMA*. (2003) 289:3135–44. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.23.3135
- Greenberg PE, Fournier AA, Sisitsky T, Pike CT, Kessler RC. The economic burden of adults with major depressive disorder in the United States (2005 and 2010). J Clin Psychiatry. (2015) 76:155–62. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14m09298
- Follmer KB, Jones KS. Mental illness in the workplace: An interdisciplinary review and organizational research agenda. J Manage. (2018) 44:325– 51. doi: 10.1177/0149206317741194
- Manning C, White PD. Attitudes of employers to the mentally ill. *Psychiatr bull*. (1995) 19:541–3. doi: 10.1192/pb.19.9.541
- Thornicroft G, Brohan E, Rose D, Sartorius N, Leese M. Global pattern of experienced and anticipated discrimination against people with schizophrenia: a cross-sectional survey. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:408– 15. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61817-6

data used in this study originate, are entirely funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.892174/full#supplementary-material

- Dhanani LY, Beus JM, Joseph DL. Workplace discrimination: A meta-analytic extension, critique, and future research agenda. *Pers Psychol.* (2018) 71:147– 79. doi: 10.1111/peps.12254
- Angermeyer MC, Matschinger H. The stigma of mental illness: Effects of labelling on public attitudes towards people with mental disorder. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2003) 108:304–9. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0447.2003.00150.x
- Parcesepe AM, Cabassa LJ. Public stigma of mental illness in the United States: a systematic literature review. *Adm Policy Ment Health.* (2013) 40:384– 99. doi: 10.1007/s10488-012-0430-z
- Baldwin ML, Marcus SC. Perceived and measured stigma among workers with serious mental illness. *Psychiatric services*. (2006) 57:388–92. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.57.3.388
- Follmer KB, Jones KS. Stereotype content and social distancing from employees with mental illness: the moderating roles of gender and social dominance orientation. J Appl Soc Psychol. (2017) 47:492–504. doi: 10.1111/jasp.12455
- Reavley NJ, Jorm AF, Morgan AJ. Discrimination and positive treatment toward people with mental health problems in workplace and education settings: Findings from an Australian national survey. *Stigma and Health*. (2017) 2:254–65. doi: 10.1037/sah0000059
- Pavalko EK, Mossakowski KN, Hamilton VJ. Does perceived discrimination affect health? Longitudinal relationships between work discrimination and women's physical and emotional health. J Health Soc Behav. (2003) 44:18. doi: 10.2307/1519813
- Pascoe EA, Smart Richman L. Perceived discrimination and health: a metaanalytic review. *Psychol Bull.* (2009) 135:531–54. doi: 10.1037/a0016059
- Friedmann E, Thomas SA, Liu F, Morton PG, Chapa D, Gottlieb SS. Relationship of depression, anxiety, and social isolation to chronic heart failure outpatient mortality. *Am Heart J.* (2006) 152:940. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2006.05.009
- Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Garner W, Speicher C, Penn GM, Holliday J, Glaser R. Psychosocial modifiers of immunocompetence in medical students. *Psychosom Med.* (1984) 46:7–14. doi: 10.1097/00006842-1984010 00-00003
- Luo Y, Hawkley LC, Waite LJ, Cacioppo JT. Loneliness, health, and mortality in old age: a national longitudinal study. Soc Sci Med. (2012) 74:907– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.028
- Josephson M, Lindberg P, Voss M, Alfredsson L, Vingård E. The same factors influence job turnover and long spells of sick leave—a 3year follow-up of Swedish nurses. *Eur J Public Health.* (2008) 18:380– 5. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckn009
- Fiske ST, Cuddy AJC, Glick P, Xu J, A. model of (often mixed) stereotype content: competence and warmth respectively follow from perceived status and competition. J Pers Soc Psychol. (2002) 82:878– 902. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.82.6.878
- Cuddy AJC, Fiske ST, Glick P. The BIAS map: behaviors from intergroup affect and stereotypes. J Pers Soc Psychol. (2007) 92:631–48. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.92.4.631
- 33. Cuddy AJC, Fiske ST, Glick P. "Warmth and Competence as Universal Dimensions of Social Perception: The Stereotype Content Model and the BIAS Map". In: Zanna MP, editor. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology. London, UK: Academic Press (2008). p. 61–149.
- 34. Durante F, Fiske ST, Gelfand MJ, Crippa F, Suttora C, Stillwell A, et al. Ambivalent stereotypes link to peace, conflict, and inequality across 38 nations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2017) 114:669–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1611874114

- Cuddy AJC, Fiske ST, Glick P. When professionals become mothers, warmth doesn't cut the ice. J Soc Iss. (2004) 60:701– 18. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-4537.2004.00381.x
- Cuddy AJC, Fiske ST, Kwan VSY, Glick P, Demoulin S, Leyens J-P, et al. Stereotype content model across cultures: towards universal similarities and some differences. *Br J Soc Psychol.* (2009) 48:1–33. doi: 10.1348/014466608X314935
- Sadler MS, Meagor EL, Kaye KE. Stereotypes of mental disorders differ in competence and warmth. Soc Sci Med. (2012) 74:915– 22. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.12.019
- Boysen GA, Isaacs RA, Tretter L, Markowski S. Evidence for blatant dehumanization of mental illness and its relation to stigma. J Soc Psychol. (2020) 160:346–56. doi: 10.1080/00224545.2019.1671301
- Clark K. The effect of mental illness on segregation following institutional misconduct. Crim Justice Behav. (2018) 45:1363– 82. doi: 10.1177/0093854818766974
- Baldwin ML, Marcus SC. Labor market outcomes of persons with mental disorders. *Ind Relat.* (2007) 46:481– 510. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-232X.2007.00478.x
- Yoshimura Y, Bakolis I, Henderson C. Psychiatric diagnosis and other predictors of experienced and anticipated workplace discrimination and concealment of mental illness among mental health service users in England. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2018) 53:1099–109. doi: 10.1007/s00127-018-1561-7
- García-Mieres H, de Jesús-Romero R, Ochoa S, Feixas G. Beyond the cognitive insight paradox: Self-reflectivity moderates the relationship between depressive symptoms and general psychological distress in psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 222:297–303. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.05.027
- Ormel J, von Korff M, Ustun B, Pini S, Korten A, Oldehinkel T. Common mental disorders and disability across cultures: Results from the WHO collaborative study on psychological problems in general health care. *JAMA*. (1994) 272:1741–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.1994.03520220035028
- Lasgaard M, Goossens L, Elklit A. Loneliness, depressive symptomatology, and suicide ideation in adolescence: cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2011) 39:137–50. doi: 10.1007/s10802-010-9442-x
- Baddeley JL, Pennebaker JW, Beevers CG. Everyday social behavior during a major depressive episode. Soc Psychol Personal Sci. (2013) 4:445– 52. doi: 10.1177/1948550612461654
- 46. Seeman TE, Singer BH, Rowe JW, Horwitz RI, McEwen BS. Price of adaptation-Allostatic load and its health consequences: MacArthur studies of successful aging. *Arch Intern Med.* (1997) 157:2259–68. doi: 10.1001/archinte.1997.00440400111013
- McEwen BS, Stellar E. Stress and the individual: Mechanisms leading to disease. Arch Intern Med. (1993) 153:2093– 101. doi: 10.1001/archinte.1993.00410180039004
- McEwen BS, Seeman TE. Protective and damaging effects of mediators of stress: elaborating and testing the concepts of allostasis and allostatic load. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (1999) 896:30–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08103.x
- McEwen BS. Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. N Engl J Med. (1998) 338:171–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199801153380307
- Ganster DC, Rosen CC. Work stress and employee health: a multidisciplinary review. J Manage. (2013) 39:1085–122. doi: 10.1177/0149206313475815
- Sterling P, Eyer J. "Allostasis: A new paradigm to explain arousal pathology". In: Fisher S, Reason J, editors. *Handbook of Life Stress, Cognition, and Health.* New York, NY: Wiley (1988). p. 629–49.
- Jönsson P, Wallergård M, Österberg K, Hansen AM, Johansson G, Karlson B. Cardiovascular and cortisol reactivity and habituation to a virtual reality version of the trier social stress test: a pilot study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2010) 35:1397–403. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.04.003
- Schommer NC, Hellhammer DH, Kirschbaum C. Dissociation between reactivity of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis and the sympatheticadrenal-medullary system to repeated psychosocial stress. *Psychosom Med.* (2003) 65:450–60. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000035721.12441.17
- von Känel R, Kudielka BM, Preckel D, Hanebuth D, Fischer JE. Delayed response and lack of habituation in plasma interleukin-6 to acute mental stress in men. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2006) 20:40–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2005.03.013
- 55. Gerra G, Zaimovic A, Mascetti GG, Gardini S, Zambelli U, Timpano M, et al. Neuroendocrine responses to experimentally-induced

psychological stress in healthy humans. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2001) 26:91–107. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4530(00)00046-9

- Pereira D, Müller P, Elfering A. Workflow interruptions, social stressors from supervisor(s) and attention failure in surgery personnel. *Ind Health.* (2015) 53:427–33. doi: 10.2486/indhealth.2013-0219
- Chen Y, Li S. Relationship between workplace ostracism and unsafe behaviors: The mediating effect of psychological detachment and emotional exhaustion. *Psychol Rep.* (2020) 123:488–516. doi: 10.1177/0033294118813892
- Pereira D, Elfering A. Social stressors at work and sleep during weekends: The mediating role of psychological detachment. *J Occup Health Psychol.* (2014) 19:85–95. doi: 10.1037/a0034928
- Glynn LM, Christenfeld N, Gerin W. The role of rumination in recovery from reactivity: Cardiovascular consequences of emotional states. *Psychosom Med.* (2002) 64:714–26. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000031574.42041.23
- Nielsen MB, Indregard A-MR, Øverland S. Workplace bullying and sickness absence: A systematic review and meta-analysis of the research literature. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* (2016) 42:359–70. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3579
- Christiansen H, Reck C, Zietlow A-L, Otto K, Steinmayr R, Wirthwein L, et al. Children of mentally III parents at risk evaluation (COMPARE): design and methods of a randomized controlled multicenter study-part I. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:128. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00128
- 62. Stracke M, Gilbert K, Kieser M, Klose C, Krisam J, Ebert DD, et al. COMPARE family (children of mentally ill parents at risk evaluation): a study protocol for a preventive intervention for children of mentally Ill parents (Triple P, evidence-based program that enhances parentings skills, in addition to gold-standard cbt with the mentally ill parent) in a multicenter RCT-Part II. *Front Psych.* (2019) 10:54. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00054
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5. 5th ed.* Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013). 947 p.
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap): a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform. (2009) 42:377–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010
- 65. Margraf J, Cwik JC, Pflug V, Schneider S. Structured clinical interviews for mental disorders across the lifespan: psychometric quality and further developments of the DIPS open access interviews. [Strukturierte klinische Interviews zur Erfassung psychischer Störungen über die Lebensspanne] Zeitschrift für Klinische Psychologie und Psychotherapie. (2017) 46:176– 86. doi: 10.1026/1616-3443/a000430
- 66. Margraf J, Cwik JC, Suppiger A, Schneider S. DIPS Open Access: Diagnostic Interview for Mental Disorders. [DIPS Open Access: Diagnostisches Interview bei psychischen Störungen] [Internet]. Bochum: Mental Health Research and Treament Center, Ruhr-Universität Bochum; (2017). 274p. doi: 10.13154/rub.100.89 (accessed February, 2022).
- 67. Kliem S, Brähler E. Brief Symptom Inventory by L. R. Derogatis German Version [Brief Symptom Inventory von L. R. Derogatis Deutsche Fassung]. Frankfurt am Main, Germany: Pearson (2017). 131 p.
- Kliem S, Brähler E. Symptom-Checklist-90-R by L. R. Derogatis German Version [Symptom-Checkliste-90-R von L. R. Derogatis - Deutsche Fassung]. Frankfurt am Main, Germany: Pearson (2016). 334 p.
- Franke GH. Brief Symptom Inventory by LR Derogatis German Version [Brief Symptom Inventory von L R Derogatis - Deutsche Version]. Göttingen, Germany: Beltz Test (2000).
- Zapf D, Holz M. Social Stressors in Organisations The Development of an Instrument. Frankfurt am Main: JWGoethe-Universität: Institut für Psychologie (2002).
- Frese M, Zapf D. A scale measuring social stressors at work [Eine Skala zur Erfassung von Sozialen Stressoren am Arbeitsplatz]. Zeitschrift für Arbeitswissenschaft. (1987) 41:134–41.
- Kern M, Heissler C, Zapf D. Social job stressors can foster employee wellbeing: introducing the concept of social challenge stressors. J Bus Psychol. (2021) 36:771–792. doi: 10.1007/s10869-020-09702-7
- Hayes AF. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. 2nd ed. New York: The Guilford Press (2018). 692 p.
- 74. Graubner B, Auhuber TC. ICD-10-GM 2020 Systematic Catalogue. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems:

10th Revision - German modification [ICD-10-GM 2020 Systematisches Verzeichnis. Internationale statistische Klassifikation der Krankheiten und verwandter Gesundheitsprobleme: 10. Revision - German modification]. Köln, Germany: Deutscher Ärzteverlag (2020). 782 p.

- 75. Overton SL, Medina SL. The stigma of mental illness. *J Counsel Develop*. (2008) 86:143-51. doi: 10.1002/j.1556-6678.2008.tb00491.x
- Sickel AE, Seacat JD, Nabors NA. Mental health stigma update: a review of consequences. Adv Mental Health. (2014) 12:202– 15. doi: 10.1080/18374905.2014.11081898
- 77. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Condition. Absence from work. Available online at: https://www.eurofound. europa.eu/de/publications/report/2010/absence-from-work (2010). 29 p.
- Muschalla B, Fay D, Seemann A. Asking for work adjustments or initiating behavioural changes - what makes a 'problematic co-worker' score Brownie points? An experimental study on the reactions towards colleagues with a personality disorder. *Psychol Health Med.* (2016) 21:856– 62. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2015.1109671
- Steyer R. Theory of Causal Regression Models [Theorie kausaler Regressionsmodelle]. Stuttgart, Germany: Fischer (1992). 248 p.
- Rudert SC, Janke S, Greifeneder R. Ostracism breeds depression: Longitudinal associations between ostracism and depression over a three-year-period. J Affect Disord Reports. (2021) 4:100118. doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100118
- Fung K, Xu C, Glazier BL, Parsons CA, Alden LE. "Research in Clinical Psychology: Social Exclusion and Psychological Disorders". In: Riva P, Eck J, editors. Social Exclusion: Psychological Approaches to Understanding and Reducing Its Impact. Cham, Switzerland: Springer (2016). p. 157-176. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-33033-4_8
- Fan Z, Wu Y, Shen J, Ji T, Zhan R. Schizophrenia and the risk of cardiovascular diseases: a meta-analysis of thirteen cohort studies. J Psychiatr Res. (2013) 47:1549–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.07.011
- Fuller BE, Rodriguez VL, Linke A, Sikirica M, Dirani R, Hauser P. Prevalence of liver disease in veterans with bipolar disorder or schizophrenia. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2011) 33:232–7. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2011.03.006
- Eid M, Gollwitzer M, Schmitt M. Statistics and research methods [Statistik und Forschungsmethoden]. 2nd ed. Weinheim, Germany: Beltz (2011). 1024 p.
- Hunninghake DB, Darby CA, Probstfield JL. Recruitment experience in clinical trials: literature summary and annotated bibliography. *Control Clin Trials.* (1987) 8:6–30. doi: 10.1016/0197-2456(87)90004-3
- Charlson ME, Horwitz RI. Applying results of randomised trials to clinical practice: impact of losses before randomisation. *Br Med J.* (1984) 289:1281– 4. doi: 10.1136/bmj.289.6454.1281
- Howard L, de Salis I, Tomlin Z, Thornicroft G, Donovan J. Why is recruitment to trials difficult? An investigation into recruitment difficulties in an RCT of supported employment in patients with severe mental illness. *Contemp Clin Trials.* (2009) 30:40–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2008.07.007
- 88. Jacobi F, Höfler M, Strehle J, Mack S, Gerschler A, Scholl L, et al. Mental disorders in the general population: Study on the health of adults in Germany and the additional module mental health (DEGS1-MH)[Psychische Störungen in der Allgemeinbevölkerung: Studie zur Gesundheit Erwachsener in Deutschland und ihr Zusatzmodul Psychische Gesundheit (DEGS1-MH)] [Mental disorders in the general population: study on the health of adults in Germany and the additional module mental health (DEGS1-MH)]. Nervenarzt. (2014) 85:77–87. ger. doi: 10.1007/s00115-013-3961-y
- Jacobi F, Höfler M, Strehle J, Mack S, Gerschler A, Scholl L, et al. Erratum to: Mental disorders in the general population: Study on the health of adults in Germany and the additional module mental health (DEGS1-MH) [Erratum zu: Psychische Störungen in der Allgemeinbevölkerung: Studie zur Gesundheit Erwachsener in Deutschland und ihr Zusatzmodul

"Psychische Gesundheit" (DEGS1-MH)] [Erratum to: Mental disorders in the general population. Study on the health of adults in Germany and the additional module mental health (DEGS1-MH)]. *Nervenarzt.* (2016) 87:88– 90. ger. doi: 10.1007/s00115-015-4458-7

- 90. Sim M, Kim SY, Suh Y. Sample size requirements for simple and complex mediation models. *Educ Psychol Meas.* (2022) 82:76–106. doi: 10.1177/00131644211003261
- Podsakoff PM, MacKenzie SB, Lee JY, Podsakoff NP. Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. J App Psychol. (2003) 88:879–903. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879
- Rosenthal L, Earnshaw VA, Carroll-Scott A, Henderson KE, Peters SM, McCaslin C, et al. Weight- and race-based bullying: health associations among urban adolescents. J Health Psychol. (2015) 20:401–12. doi: 10.1177/1359105313502567
- Kitchener BA, Jorm AF, Kelly C. Mental Health First Aid Manual. 4th ed. Melbourne, Australia: Mental Health First Aid Australia (2017). 184 p.
- Kitchener BA, Jorm AF. Mental health first aid training for the public: Evaluation of effects on knowledge, attitudes and helping behavior. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2002) 2:10. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-2-10
- 95. Morgan AJ, Ross A, Reavley NJ. Systematic review and metaanalysis of Mental Health First Aid training: Effects on knowledge, stigma, and helping behaviour. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0197102. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197102
- Reavley NJ, Morgan AJ, Fischer J-A, Kitchener BA, Bovopoulos N, Jorm AF. Effectiveness of elearning and blended modes of delivery of mental health first aid training in the workplace: randomised controlled trial. *BMC Psych.* (2018) 18:312. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1888-3
- Morgan AJ, Reavley NJ, Ross A, San Too L, Jorm AF. Interventions to reduce stigma towards people with severe mental illness: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychiatr Res. (2018) 103:120–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.05.017
- 98. Szeto A, Dobson KS, Luong D, Krupa T, Kirsh B. Workplace antistigma programs at the mental health commission of Canada: part 1. processes and projects. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2019) 64(Supplement 1):5S-12S. doi: 10.1177/0706743719842557
- 99. Dobson KS, Szeto A, Knaak S. The working mind: a meta-analysis of a workplace mental health and stigma reduction program. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2019) 64(Supplement 1):39S-47S. doi: 10.1177/070674371 9842559

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Frank, Theil, Brill, Christiansen, Schwenck, Kieser, Reck, Steinmayr, Wirthwein, Otto and the COMPARE-family Research Group. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in **Public Health**

Explores and addresses today's fast-moving healthcare challenges

One of the most cited journals in its field, which promotes discussion around inter-sectoral public health challenges spanning health promotion to climate change, transportation, environmental change and even species diversity.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



